
Page 1 of 5 

 

                      

TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

AUGUST 04, 2020 
110 EAST MAIN STREET 

LOS GATOS, CA 

                          Marcia Jensen, Mayor  
Barbara Spector, Vice Mayor  
Rob Rennie, Council Member  

Marico Sayoc, Council Member 
Vacant, Council Member 

 

 
PARTICIPATION IN THE PUBLIC PROCESS 

How to participate:  The Town of Los Gatos strongly encourages your active participation in the 
public process, which is the cornerstone of democracy. If you wish to speak to an item on the 
agenda, please complete a “speaker’s card” located on the back of the chamber benches and 
return it to the Town Council. If you wish to speak to an item NOT on the agenda, you may do so 
during the “Verbal Communications” period. The time allocated to speakers may change to 
better facilitate the Town Council meeting. 
 
Effective Proceedings:  The purpose of the Town Council meeting is to conduct the business of 
the community in an effective and efficient manner. For the benefit of the community, the Town 
of Los Gatos asks that you follow the Town’s meeting guidelines while attending Town Council 
meetings and treat everyone with respect and dignity. This is done by following meeting 
guidelines set forth in State law and in the Town Code. Disruptive conduct is not tolerated, 
including but not limited to: addressing the Town Council without first being recognized; 
interrupting speakers, Town Council or Town staff; continuing to speak after the allotted time 
has expired; failing to relinquish the podium when directed to do so; and repetitiously addressing 
the same subject. 
 
Deadlines for Public Comment and Presentations are as follows: 

 Persons wishing to make an audio/visual presentation on any agenda item must submit the 
presentation electronically, either in person or via email, to the Clerk’s Office no later than 
3:00 p.m. on the day of the Council meeting. 

 Persons wishing to submit written comments to be included in the materials provided to 
Town Council must provide the comments as follows: 
o For inclusion in the regular packet: by 11:00 a.m. the Thursday before the Council 

meeting 
o For inclusion in any Addendum: by 11:00 a.m. the Monday before the Council meeting 
o For inclusion in any Desk Item: by 11:00 a.m. on the day of the Council Meeting 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Town Council Meetings Broadcast Live on KCAT, Channel 15 (on Comcast) on the 1st and 3rd Tuesdays at 7:00 p.m. 

Rebroadcast of Town Council Meetings on the 2nd and 4th Mondays at 7:00 p.m. 
Live & Archived Council Meetings can be viewed by going to: 

www.losgatosca.gov/Councilvideos 

IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT, IF YOU NEED SPECIAL ASSISTANCE TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS MEETING, 

PLEASE CONTACT THE CLERK DEPARTMENT AT (408) 354-6834.  NOTIFICATION 48 HOURS BEFORE THE MEETING WILL ENABLE THE TOWN 

TO MAKE REASONABLE ARRANGEMENTS TO ENSURE ACCESSIBILITY TO THIS MEETING [28 CFR §35.102-35.104] 

Page 1

http://www.losgatosca.gov/Councilvideos


Page 2 of 5 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

AUGUST 04, 2020 

7:00 PM 
 

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AUGUST 4, 2020 COUNCIL MEETING 

This meeting is being conducted utilizing teleconferencing and electronic means consistent with 
State of California Executive Order N-29- 20 dated March 17, 2020, regarding the COVID- 19 
pandemic. The live stream of the meeting may be viewed on television and/or online at 
https://meetings.municode.com/PublishPage/index?cid=LOSGATOS&ppid=4bc370fb-3064-
458e-a11a-78e0c0e5d161&p=0.  In accordance with Executive Order N-29- 20, the public may 
only view the meeting on television and/or online and not in the Council Chamber. 

PARTICIPATION 

If you are not interested in providing oral comments real-time during the meeting, you can view 
the live stream of the meeting on television (Comcast Channel 15) and/or online at 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCFh35XRBWer1DPx-F7vvhcg.   
 
If you are interested in providing oral comments real-time during the meeting, you must join 

the Zoom webinar at https://zoom.us/j/98980959289. Password: 333285.   

During the meeting: 

 When the Mayor announces the item for which you wish to speak, click the “raise hand” 
feature in Zoom.  If you are participating by phone on the Zoom app, press *9 on your 
telephone keypad to raise your hand.  If you are participating by calling in, press #2 on 
your telephone keypad to raise your hand. 

 When called to speak, please limit your comments to three (3) minutes, or such other 
time as the Mayor may decide, consistent with the time limit for speakers at a Council 
meeting. 

If you are unable to participate in real-time, you may email to PublicComment@losgatosca.gov 
with the subject line “Public Comment Item #__ ” (insert the item number relevant to your 
comment) or “Verbal Communications – Non Agenda Item.” Comments will be reviewed and 
distributed before the meeting if received by 5:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting.  All 
comments received will become part of the record. The Mayor has the option to modify this 
action on items based on comments received. 

REMOTE LOCATION PARTICIPANT  

The following Council Members are listed to permit them to appear electronically or 
telephonically at the Town Council meeting: MAYOR MARCIA JENSEN, VICE MAYOR BARBARA 
SPECTOR, COUNCIL MEMBER ROB RENNIE, COUNCIL MEMBER MARICO SAYOC.  All votes during 
the teleconferencing session will be conducted by roll call vote. 

 

Page 2

https://meetings.municode.com/PublishPage/index?cid=LOSGATOS&ppid=4bc370fb-3064-458e-a11a-78e0c0e5d161&p=0
https://meetings.municode.com/PublishPage/index?cid=LOSGATOS&ppid=4bc370fb-3064-458e-a11a-78e0c0e5d161&p=0
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCFh35XRBWer1DPx-F7vvhcg
https://zoom.us/j/98980959289
mailto:PublicComment@losgatosca.gov


Page 3 of 5 

MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 

ROLL CALL 

CLOSED SESSION REPORT 

CONSENT ITEMS (Items appearing on the Consent Items are considered routine and may be 
approved by one motion.  Any member of the Council or public may request to have an item 
removed from the Consent Items for comment and action.  A member of the public may request 
to pull an item from Consent by following the Participation instructions contained on page 2 of 
this agenda.  If an item is pulled, the Mayor has the sole discretion to determine when the item 
will be heard.  Unless there are separate discussions and/or actions requested by Council, staff, 
or a member of the public, it is requested that items under the Consent Items be acted on 
simultaneously.) 

1. Approve Draft Minutes of the June 16, 2020 Closed Session Town Council Meeting.  
2. Approve Draft Minutes of the June 16, 2020 Town Council Meeting. 
3. Ratify the Town Council Selection Committee’s Recommended Youth Commissioner 

Appointments. 
4. Appoint Council Member Marico Sayoc as the Town’s Voting Delegate and Council 

Member Rob Rennie as the Town’s Alternate for the League of California Cities Annual 
Conference Scheduled for October 7-9, 2020. 

5. Accept Report on Town Manager Approved Actions During the 2020 Town Council 
Legislative Recess. 

6. Authorize the Town Manager to Execute Long Term Lease Agreements with Tait 
Firehouse LLC and Forbes Mill LLC for the Property Located at 4 Tait Avenue and 75 
Church Ave, Los Gatos. 

7. Adopt a Resolution Establishing the FY 2020/21 GANN Appropriations Limit for the Town 
of Los Gatos. 

8. Adopt Amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code Regarding 
Vehicle Sales, Town Wide.  Town Code Amendment Application A-20-003. Applicant: 
Town of Los Gatos. 

9. Authorize the Town Manager to Amend an Agreement for Employee Safety Compliance 
and Training Consultant Services with BSI EHS Services and Solutions (West) Inc., in an 
Amount not to Exceed $175,350. 

10. Authorize the Town Manager to Execute a Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of 
Completion for the Work of Chrisp Company and Authorize Recording by the Town Clerk 
for PPW Job No. 18-813-0234 One-Way Downtown Street Pilot. 

11. Authorize the Town Manager to Execute a Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of 
Completion for the Work of Rosas Brothers Construction and Authorize Recording by 
the Town Clerk for PPW Job No. 19-813-9921 Annual Curb, Gutter, and Sidewalk 
Maintenance Project. 

12. Authorize the Town Manager to Execute a Fourth Amendment to the Agreement for 
Services with St. Francis Electric to Increase Compensation for Unforeseen Services in FY 
2019/20 in an Amount of $12,818 and Extend Services for Four Months in FY 2020/21 in 
an Amount Not to Exceed $50,000. 

 
 
 

Page 3



Page 4 of 5 

13. Authorize the Following Actions for the Massol Intersection Improvements Project (19-
813-0236): 
a. Authorize the Town Manager to Award and Execute a Construction Agreement with 

Tennyson Electric in an Amount of $328,792, and Authorize $65,758 as a 
Construction Contingency for a Total Amount Not to Exceed $394,550; 

b. Authorize Staff to Execute Future Contract Change Orders in an Amount Not to 
Exceed Twenty Percent of the Agreement Amount; 

c. Approve a Budget Transfer of $57,148 in FY 2020/21 from the School Bus Pilot 
Program. 

VERBAL COMMUNICATIONS (Members of the public are welcome to address the Town Council 
on any matter that is not listed on the agenda consistent with the Participation instructions 
contained on page 2 of this agenda.  To ensure all agenda items are heard and unless additional 
time is authorized by the Mayor, this portion of the agenda is limited to 30 minutes and no more 
than three (3) minutes per speaker.  In the event additional speakers were not able to be heard 
during the initial Verbal Communications portion of the agenda, an additional Verbal 
Communications will be opened prior to adjournment.) 

PUBLIC HEARINGS (Applicants/Appellants, their representatives, and members of the public 
wishing to address the Council on any Public Hearing item should register in advance to obtain 
the Zoom link for this meeting by following the Participation instructions contained on page 2 of 
this agenda.  Applicants/Appellants and their representatives may be allotted up to a total of five 
minutes maximum for opening statements.  Members of the public may be allotted up to three 
minutes to comment on any public hearing item.  Applicants/Appellants and their representatives 
may be allotted up to a total of three minutes maximum for closing statements. Items 
requested/recommended for continuance are subject to Council’s consent at the meeting.) 

14. Open and Close a Public Hearing to Consider Objections to the 2020 Weed Abatement 
Program Assessment Report and Adopt a Resolution Confirming the Report and 
Authorizing Collection of the Assessment Charges. 

15. Introduction by Title Only of an Ordinance of the Town of Los Gatos Amending Chapter 
18, by Adding Article IX, Sections 18.90.010- 18.90.050 of the Los Gatos Town Code 
Entitled Drones and Unmanned Aircraft Systems. 

OTHER BUSINESS Up to three minutes may be allotted for each comment on any of the following 
items consistent with the Participation Instructions contained on page 2 of this agenda.) 

16. Adopt a Resolution Authorizing the Town Manager to Execute the North 40 In Lieu 
Traffic Fee Credit Agreement, North 40 Transportation Demand Management 
Agreement (Bellterra), and North 40 Transportation Demand Management Agreement 
(Market Hall) for Phase 1 of the North 40 Development. 

17. Approve the Santa Clara County Fire District Emergency Route Recommendation for 
Alpine Avenue and Remove Parking on One Side of the Street. 

ADJOURNMENT (Council policy is to adjourn no later than midnight unless a majority of Council 
votes for an extension of time.) 

Page 4



Page 5 of 5 

Writings related to an item on the Town Council meeting agenda distributed to members of the Council within 
72 hours of the meeting are available for public inspection at the front desk of the Los Gatos Town Library, 
located at 100 Villa Avenue, and are also available for review on the official Town of Los Gatos website.  Copies 
of desk items distributed to members of the Council at the meeting are available for review in the Town Council 
Chambers. 

 

Note: The Town of Los Gatos has adopted the provisions of Code of Civil Procedure §1094.6; litigation 
challenging a decision of the Town Council must be brought within 90 days after the decision is announced 
unless a shorter time is required by State or Federal law. 

 

Page 5



 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 408-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 1 

 
   

DRAFT 
Minutes of the Town Council Special Meeting - Closed Session 

June 16, 2020 
 
The Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos conducted a Special Meeting via Teleconference, 
due to COVID-19 Shelter in Place guidelines, on Tuesday, June 16, 2020, to hold a Closed 
Session at 6:00 p.m. 
 
MEETING CALLED TO ORDER AT 6:03 P.M. 
 
ROLL CALL  
Present (all participating remotely): Mayor Marcia Jensen, Vice Mayor Barbara Spector, Council 
Member Rob Rennie, Council Member Marico Sayoc.  
Absent: None 
 
VERBAL COMMUNICATIONS 
None. 

THE TOWN WILL MOVE TO CLOSED SESSION ON THE FOLLOWING ITEM: 

1. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR 
(Government Code Section 54956.8) 

  
  

a. Property: 75 Church St. (Forbes Mill) (APN: 529-54-050) 
Negotiating Parties:  Town of Los Gatos 
Negotiator:  Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager and Imwalle Asset Management, 

Potential Buyer and/or Lessee 
Negotiations:  Price and terms of potential sale or lease  

  
b. Property:  4 Tait Avenue (Museum) (APN: 510-44-054) 

Negotiating Parties:  Town of Los Gatos 
Negotiator:  Arn Andrews, Assistant Town Manager and Imwalle Asset Management, 

Potential Buyer and/or Lessee 
Negotiations:  Price and terms of potential sale or lease  

 
ADJOURNMENT  
Closed Session adjourned at 6:25 p.m. 
 
Attest:        Submitted by: 
 
___________________________   ___________________________   
Jenna De Long, Deputy Clerk    Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

Page 6



 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 408-354-6832 
 www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 8/4/2020 

ITEM NO: 2 

 
   

DRAFT 
Minutes of the Town Council Meeting  

June 16, 2020 
 
The Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos conducted a regular meeting via Teleconference, 
due to COVID-19 Shelter in Place guidelines, on Tuesday, June 16, 2020, at 7:00 p.m. 
 
MEETING CALLED TO ORDER AT 7:01 P.M. 
 
ROLL CALL  
Present: (all participating remotely) Mayor Marcia Jensen, Vice Mayor Barbara Spector, Council 
Member Rob Rennie, Council Member Marico Sayoc.  
Absent: None 
 
COUNCIL/TOWN MANAGER REPORTS  
 
Council Matters 
- Vice Mayor Spector stated she attended via teleconference the West Valley Sanitation 

District Board of Directors meeting.  
- Council Member Rennie stated he participated via teleconference in the Silicon Valley 

Clean Energy (SVCEA) Board and Risk Oversight Committee, Valley Transportation Authority 
(VTA) Board, VTA Governance and Audit Committees, and with Council Member Sayoc he 
attended the Conceptual Development Advisory Committee (CDAC) and Council Finance 
Committee meetings.  

- Council Member Sayoc stated she attended via teleconference the Cities Association and 
League of California Cities Board meetings. 

- Mayor Jensen stated she attended via teleconference the Valley Transportation Authority 
(VTA) Policy Advisory Committee and mentioned that she has a meeting with Senator Beall 
via teleconference on Friday, June 19, 2020.  

 
Council Member Rennie requested a high level overview of the Los Gatos/Monte Sereno Police 
Department budget, and an item to address racism in the community be added to a future 
agenda. Council Member Sayoc seconded the request.  
 

Manager Matters 
- Commented that the Los Gatos Police Department continually reviews and updates its 

policies, including the use of force policy to ensure best practices are used.   
- Announced the recruitment for the Youth Commission is open, applications are due July 10, 

2020 by 4:00 p.m., and interviews will be held on July 21, 2020. 
 

Page 7



PAGE 2 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Draft Minutes of the Town Council Meeting of June 16, 2020 
DATE:  June 18, 2020 
 
Manager Matters – continued  
 
- Announced that the General Plan Advisory Committee meeting will be Thursday, June 18, 

2020 at 7:00 p.m. via Zoom.  
 
CLOSED SESSION REPORT 
Robert Schultz, Town Attorney, stated Council met in Closed Session as duly noted on the 
agenda and there is no report. 
 
CONSENT ITEMS (TO BE ACTED UPON BY A SINGLE MOTION)  
1. Approve Draft Minutes of the May 26, 2020 Special Town Council Meeting. 
2. Approve Draft Minutes of the June 2, 2020 Town Council Meeting.  
3. Approve the Draft Minutes of the June 8, 2020 Special Town Council Meeting. 
4. Adopt a Resolution Requesting that the County of Santa Clara Board of Supervisors 

Consolidate a General Municipal Election to be Held on November 3, 2020 with the State-
wide Presidential General Election to be Held on that Date Pursuant to Section 10403 of the 
Elections Code and Authorizing Other Related Actions. RESOLUTION 2020-025 

5. Approve Town Council Meeting Schedule For 2020-21 Fiscal Year. 
6. Authorize the Town Manager to Execute an Agreement with the Los Gatos Chamber of 

Commerce to Provide a Subsidy for the Los Gatos Chamber of Commerce to Manage the 
Town’s Visitors Information Center and Assist with Related Community Vitality Initiatives in 
an Amount Not to Exceed $55,000. 

7. Authorize the Town Manager to Execute a Second Amendment to Extend the Existing 
Agreement for Cablecasting and Livestreaming Services with KCAT-TV until August 31, 2020 
while Town Staff and KCAT Representatives Finish Negotiating Terms for a New Five-Year 
Agreement. 

8. Approve an Amendment to the Classification Plan to Create a Flexibly Staffed Equipment 
Mechanic Job Series and Correct the Title of Assistant Parks and Public Works Director. 

9. Local Government Planning Support Grant Program Funds 
a. Adopt a Resolution to Authorize Application for, and Receipt of, Local Government 

Planning Support Grant Program Funds. RESOLUTION 2020-026 
b. Authorize FY 2020/21 Revenue and Expenditure Budget Adjustments in the Amount of 

$150,000 to Recognize Receipt and Expenditure of California Department of Housing 
and Community Development Grant Funds.  

10. Authorize the Town Manager to Execute a First Amendment to the Agreement with Kimley-
Horn and Associates, Inc., Modifying the Scope and Increasing the Total Compensation by 
$139,430.32 for a Total Contract Amount not to Exceed $339,430.32 for Engineering Design 
for the Winchester Boulevard Class IV Bikeway Project (CIP# 411-813-0240). 

11. Adopt a Resolution to Adopt a List of Projects for Fiscal Year 2020/21 Funded by State 
Senate Bill 1 (SB1), The Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017. RESOLUTION 2020-027 

12. Receive the Final Report on the Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) Area Hazardous Vegetation 
(Brush) Abatement Annual Program for 2020. 

Page 8



PAGE 3 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Draft Minutes of the Town Council Meeting of June 16, 2020 
DATE:  June 18, 2020 
 
Consent Items – continued 
 
MOTION: Motion by Vice Mayor Spector to approve the Consent Items, inclusive of the Desk 

Item for item #4.  Seconded by Council Member Sayoc. 
 
VOTE: Motion passed unanimously. 
 
VERBAL COMMUNICATIONS 
Maria Ristow 
- Thanked the Town for coordinating virtual meetings.  Requested that the Town continue to 

utilize teleconferencing capabilities after the Shelter-in-Place Order is lifted.  
 
Sue Farwell 
- Thanked the Town for the quick installation of K-rail downtown.  Requested K-rail spaces be 

maintained by the adjacent business and requested the Council consider paying for the cost 
of suppling temporary power to businesses during Public Safety Power Shutoffs (PSPS) from 
the Economic Recovery Fund, if necessary.  

 
Catherine Somers 
- Requested the Town take additional actions to support local business, including signage, 

and social media messages regarding COVID-19 safety precautions, portable bathrooms on 
Grays Lane, music, street pole banners, and additional bike racks.  Asked for the Town’s 
support of an open-air market in August.  

 
Abby Harowitz 
- Commented regarding the time between the death of George Floyd and a proclamation by 

the Town to stand in solidarity with the Black community, and expressed concern that there 
is no commitment to action. 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
13. Consider Approval of Amendments and Introduce the Draft Ordinance by Title Only to 

Amend Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code Regarding Vehicle Sales, Town 
Wide.  Town Code Amendment Application A-20-003.  Applicant: Town of Los Gatos. 

 
Sean Mullin, Associate Planner, presented the staff report.  
 
Mayor Jensen opened public comment.  
 
No one spoke.  
 
Mayor Jensen closed public comment. 
 

Page 9



PAGE 4 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Draft Minutes of the Town Council Meeting of June 16, 2020 
DATE:  June 18, 2020 
 
Public Hearing Item #13 – continued 
 
Council discussed the matter.  
 
MOTION: Motion by Council Member Sayoc to approve the amendments and introduce the 

draft Ordinance by title only to amend Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town 
Code regarding Vehicle Sales.  Seconded by Council Member Rennie. 

 
VOTE: Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Town Clerk Neis read the title of the ordinance.  
 
14. Authorize the Following Actions for Landscape and Lighting Assessment Districts No. 1 and 

2: 
a. Adopt a Resolution Confirming the Diagram and Assessments and Levying and 

Authorizing Collection of Assessments for Landscape and Lighting Assessment District 
No. 1-Blackwell Drive Benefit Zone. RESOLUTION 2020-028 

b. Adopt a Resolution Confirming the Diagram and Assessments and Levying and 
Authorizing Collection of Assessments for Landscape and Lighting Assessment District 
No. 1-Kennedy Meadows Benefit Zone. RESOLUTION 2020-029 

c. Adopt a Resolution Confirming the Diagram and Assessments and Levying and 
Authorizing Collection of Assessments for Landscape and Lighting Assessment District 
No. 1-Santa Rosa Heights Benefit Zone. RESOLUTION 2020-030 

d. Adopt a Resolution Confirming the Diagram and Assessments and Levying and 
Authorizing Collection of assessments for Landscape and Lighting Assessment District 
No. 1-Vasona Heights Benefit Zone. RESOLUTION 2020-031 

e. Adopt a Resolution Confirming the Diagram and Assessments and Levying and 
Authorizing Collection of assessments for Landscape and Lighting Assessment District 
No. 1-Hillbrook Drive Benefit Zone. RESOLUTION 2020-032 

f. Adopt a Resolution Confirming the Diagram and Assessments and Levying and 
Authorizing Collection of assessments for Landscape and Lighting Assessment District 
No. 2-Gemini Court Benefit Zone. RESOLUTION 2020-033 

 
Stefanie Hockemeyer, Executive Assistant, presented the staff report.  
 
Mayor Jensen opened public comment.  
 
No one spoke. 
 
Mayor Jensen closed public comment.  
 
 

Page 10



PAGE 5 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Draft Minutes of the Town Council Meeting of June 16, 2020 
DATE:  June 18, 2020 
 
Public Hearing Item #14 – continued 
 
Council discussed the matter.  
 
 MOTION: Motion by Council Member Sayoc to authorize the actions for Landscape and 

Lighting Assessment Districts No. 1 and 2 as contained in the staff report, inclusive of 
the Desk Item.  Seconded by Mayor Jensen. 

 
VOTE: Motion passed unanimously. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS  
15. Postpone the Extension of School Bus Service with Santa Barbara Transportation 

Corporation Doing Business as Student Transportation of America for the 2020/21 School 
Year. 

 
Ying Smith, Transportation and Mobility Manager, presented the staff report.  
 
Mayor Jensen opened public comment.  
 
No one spoke. 
 
Mayor Jensen closed public comment.  
 
Council discussed the matter.  
 
MOTION: Motion by Council Member Rennie to cancel the school bus service with Santa 

Barbara Transportation Corporation doing business as Student Transportation of 
America.  Seconded by Mayor Jensen. 

 
VOTE: Motion passed unanimously. 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
The meeting adjourned at 7:47 p.m. 
 
Submitted by: 
 

 

_____________________________________ 

Jenna De Long, Deputy Clerk 

 

Page 11



 

PREPARED BY: Shelley Neis 
 Town Clerk 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 3  

 
   

 

DATE:   July 24, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Ratify the Town Council Selection Committee’s Recommended Youth 
Commissioner Appointments 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Ratify the Town Council Selection Committee’s recommended Youth Commissioner 
appointments. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Since June of 2004, Council has appointed students in Grades 8 through 12 as members of the 
Youth Commission. 
 
The Town used a variety of mechanisms to recruit for the Youth Commission.  The Town 
distributed a letter to the local schools requesting they help promote the Youth Commission 
opportunities.  The letter was sent to Los Gatos High School, Leigh High School, Westmont High 
School, Fisher Middle School, Union Middle School, Rolling Hills Middle School, and Hillbrook 
School.  In addition, the Town placed advertisements in local publications and posted the 
opportunity on the Town’s What’s New email blast, the Town’s website, the Youth Commission 
Facebook page, the Town’s Facebook page, on Nextdoor.com, and on KCAT. 
 
Due to the COVID-19 Shelter in Place Public Health Order, at its April 21, 2020 meeting, the 
Town Council extended the expiring terms by one year for all but the five twelfth graders and 
extended the application deadline for the five vacancies to July 10, 2020.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Ratify Youth Commission Appointments 
DATE:  July 23, 2020 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
By the application deadline on July 10, 2020, ten (10) applications were received.  On July 21, 
2020, the Town Council Selection Committee, comprised of Mayor Jensen, Vice Mayor Spector, 
Captain D’Antonio, and Youth Commission Chair Isabella Scott, interviewed eight (8) applicants 
for five (5) available positions.  Two of the applicants did not attend the interview and therefore 
were not considered for appointment.  All the applicants demonstrated initiative and 
community spirit in applying for leadership positions to serve the Los Gatos community and the 
Selection Committee’s recommended appointments are listed in Attachment 1. 
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
The Town Council Selection Committee recommends that Council appoint members as shown 
in Attachment 1.  The recommendations for appointment are based on composite assessments 
from the interviews and applications.  Following the Youth Commission enabling resolution 
(Attachment 2), appointments for the five (5) newly appointed Commissioners are for one year. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
The Town-wide Commission training budget is available to provide funds as needed. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 
 
This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 
 
Attachments: 
 
1. Recommended Youth Commissioner Appointments 
2. Youth Commission Enabling Resolution 2018-008 
 

Page 13



RECOMMENDED YOUTH COMMISSIONER APPOINTMENTS 
 

 

NAME GRADE IN FALL NEW OR REAPPOINTED TERM 

Esha Bagora 9 New 1 year 

Sasha Balasingam 10 New 1 year 

Vicky Bai 11 New 1 year 

Quincy Scott 10 New 1 year 

Owen Thompson 11 New 1 year 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 

Page 14



RESOLUTION 2018 -008

RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS
RESCINDING RESOLUTION 2016 -059 AND

ESTABLISHING RULES FOR THE YOUTH COMMISSION

WHEREAS, it is recognized that a youth perspective on issues which pertain to the youth

in the community is an important part of decision making in Town; and

WHEREAS, there is value in increasing communication between adults and youth; and

WHEREAS, there is value in having a mechanism for youth to have a voice in Town
affairs and issues relating to youth; and

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos found and determined that the
purpose of the Youth Commission is to foster and encourage civic and neighborhood pride and

a sense of identity through the knowledge, understanding, and increased involvement of the
Town' s youth in the Town' s present and future municipal affairs. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS
GATOS THAT: 

1. There is a need for a Youth Commission to function in the Town of Los Gatos, which

would establish a formal body by which the youth of Los Gatos would have a voice in
the community. 

2. There is hereby established a Youth Commission which shall generally be responsible for
studying various problems, activities and other issues of concern to the youth in general, 

and for advising Council on matters pertaining to issues involving the youth of Los
Gatos. 

a. Membership /Organization
i. The Youth Commission shall consist of twenty (20) members. The

members shall be students who are entering grades 8 through 12. 
Membership for the students requires residency in the incorporated
limits of the Town of Los Gatos or residency in the unincorporated areas
of the County of Santa Clara, which have a Los Gatos mailing address. 

Members shall serve a term of two (2) years and until their successors are

appointed and qualified. Members who are entering grade 12 when
appointed and first time appointees shall serve a term of one ( 1) year. 

Iof3

Resolution 201 8 -008 March 20, 2018

ATTACHMENT 2

Page 15



iii. The Commission shall appoint one ( 1) primary member and one ( 1) 

alternate to serve as one voting member on the following Town Boards
and Commissions: 

1. Arts and Culture Commission

2. Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Commission
3. Community and Senior Services Commission

4. Library Board
5. Parks Commission

6. Transportation and Parking Commission

iv. In addition to all Youth Commission meetings, the primary member shall
attend all meetings of the Board or Commission they are appointed to. If

the primary member is not able to attend the meeting of the Board or

Commission they are assigned, it shall be the responsibility of the
alternate to attend the meeting. If the primary member misses three (3) 
meetings of the Board or Commission the Youth Commission shall

appoint a new primary member, and if necessary, a new alternate. 

v. Liaisons shall provide a monthly report to the Youth Commission and be
responsible for conveying the Youth Commission' s input to the Board or
Commission. 

vi. A majority of members shall constitute a quorum for the purpose of

transacting business. 

vii. Commission members shall serve without compensation, provided that, 

with advance budgetary approval of the Town Council, the actual and

necessary expenses ( if any) incurred by the members in the conduct of
Town business shall be reimbursable pursuant to the current Council

policy. 

3. The Commission shall hold a regular meeting at least once each month between
September and June. The Commission shall establish a regular time and location

for its meetings and shall otherwise call and conduct its meetings in compliance

with the provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act (Government Code Sections 54950

and following.) 

4. The Commission shall elect a Chair and Vice - Chair, both of whom shall serve at the

pleasure of the Commission. Terms of office shall be for one (1) year and shall

begin on the first meeting in September and end the following June. 

5. Minutes of the actions taken during its meetings shall be kept and filed with the
Town Clerk Administrator. 

2 of 3

Resolution 2018 -008 March 20, 2018Page 16



6. Meeting attendance requirements will conform with all current Town Resolutions
and Policies. 

7. The duties of the Commission shall include the following: 
a. Foster greater involvement of youth in municipal government affairs. 

b. Study problems, activities, and concerns of youth, especially as they relate to
municipal programs or projects of the Town of Los Gatos. 

c. Hold forums on problems, activities and concerns of youth, either alone or in

conjunction with other governmental agencies and community organizations, 
as the Commission deems desirable. 

d. Review municipal matters referred to the Commission by the Town Council
or other Town boards, committees, or commissions and, as appropriate, 

make recommendations on those matters. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Resolution 2016 -059 is hereby rescinded. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los
Gatos, California, held on the 20`h day of March, 2018, by the following vote: 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES: Marcia Jensen, Steve Leonardis, Marico Sayoc, Barbara Spector, Mayor Rob Rennie

NAYS: None. 

ABSENT: None. 

ABSTAIN: None. 

SIGNED: 

MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS

LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA

DATE: 5[. Z( fie
ATTEST: 

CLERK ADMINISTRATOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS

LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA

DATE: 

3 of 3

Resolution 2018 -008 March 20, 2018Page 17



 

PREPARED BY: Janette Judd 
 Executive Assistant to the Town Manager 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, and Town Attorney 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 4 

 
   

 

DATE:   July 29, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Appoint Council Member Marico Sayoc as the Town’s Voting Delegate and 
Council Member Rob Rennie as the Town’s Alternate for the League of 
California Cities Annual Conference Scheduled for October 7-9, 2020 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Appoint Council Member Marico Sayoc as the Town’s voting delegate and Council Member Rob 
Rennie as the Town’s alternate for the League of California Cities Annual Conference scheduled 
for October 7-9, 2020. 
 

REMARKS: 

Each year the League of California Cities conducts an annual conference to discuss key 
legislative, social, fiscal and service issues affecting California municipalities.  One important 
aspect of the conference is its annual business meeting at which the League membership takes 
action on conference resolutions.  Annual conference resolutions guide cities and the League in 
efforts to improve the quality, responsiveness, and vitality of local government in California. 
 

To expedite the annual business meeting, participating cities/towns have been asked to 
designate a primary voting delegate and optionally, an alternate voting delegate.  The voting 
delegate is typically the Town’s appointed Representative or the appointed Alternate.  As the 
current appointed Representative to the League, Council Member Marico Sayoc will be 
attending the conference and has agreed to serve as the Town’s voting delegate.  As the 
current appointed Alternate Representative to the League, Council Member Rob Rennie has 
agreed to serve as the Town’s alternate voting delegate. 
 

At the time of this report’s preparation, the Town had not yet received the 2020 League of 
California Cities Conference Resolutions Packet.  It has been the Town’s past practice to have 

Page 18



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Appoint Voting Delegate and Alternate for League of California Cities Annual 

Conference 
DATE:  July 29, 2020 
 
the appointed voting delegate determine the Town’s position based on resolution discussion 
and feedback at the League Annual Business Meeting. 
 
 

Page 19



 

PREPARED BY: Janette Judd 
 Executive Assistant to the Town Manager 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 5 

 
   

 

DATE:   July 29, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Accept Report on Town Manager Approved Actions During the 2020 Town 
Council Legislative Recess 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Accept report on Town Manager approved actions during the 2020 Town Council legislative 
recess. 
 

BACKGROUND: 

On June 20, 2019, the Town Council adopted a Resolution (Attachment 1) authorizing the Town 
Manager to execute the following duties during periods of official Town Council legislative 
recess in consultation with the Mayor: 
 
1. Approval of plans and specifications for capital projects and authorization to advertise  

for bids. 
2. Award of construction contracts and construction contract change orders in excess of 

the amount included in the contingency. 
3. Execution of agreements and amendments to agreements in excess of $50,000 that 

ordinarily require Town Council approval. 
 
DISCUSSION: 

The Town Council took an official legislative recess from June 17, 2020 to August 3, 2020.  
During this recess, and pursuant to authority granted by the Town Council, the Town Manager 
executed the following action, in consultation with the Mayor: 
 

 Agreement for Microsoft software licensing with “SoftwareONE” in the amount of 
$63,872.56 (IT Department Memorandum, Attachment 2)  

Page 20



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT:  Accept Report on Town Manager Approved Actions During the 2020 Town Council    
Legislative Recess 
DATE:   July 29, 2020 
 
DISCUSSION (Continued): 

The Town Manager determined that immediate action on the above item was necessary in 
order to maintain critical services.  The item above has already been approved by the Town 
Manager and Mayor, and Council members may request additional information or provide 
additional direction regarding this item. 
 
CONCLUSION: 

Staff recommends that the Town Council accept this report on the Town Manager approved 
action taken during the 2020 Town Council legislative recess, as authorized by Town Council 
Resolution 2019-033 and in consultation with the Mayor. 
 
Attachments: 

1. Resolution 2019-033 
2. IT Department Memorandum RE: Agreement with SoftwareONE 

 

Page 21



RESOLUTION 2019 - 033

RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS

AUTHORIZING THE TOWN MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE FOLLOWING DUTIES

DURING PERIODS OF OFFICIAL TOWN COUNCIL RECESS, 

IN CONSULTATION WITH THE MAYOR: 

APPROVAL OF PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS FOR CAPITAL PROJECTS AND

AUTHORIZATION TO ADVERTISE FOR BIDS; 

AWARD OF CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS AND CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT CHANGE

ORDERS IN EXCESS OF THE AMOUNT INCLUDED IN THE CONTINGENCY; 

EXECUTION OF AGREEMENTS IN EXCESS OF $ 50,000

THAT ORDINARILY REQUIRE TOWN COUNCIL APPROVAL. 

WHEREAS, the Town Council is taking an official legislative recess from June 19, 2019 to

August 6, 2019; and

WHEREAS, the Town Council may take official legislative recesses in the future; and

WHEREAS, it is possible that issues may arise during official Town Council recesses that

would normally require Town Council approval; and

WHEREAS, in order to avoid the possibility of critical scheduling delays or increased

expenses resulting from delays during the official Town Council recess, the Town Manager

should be authorized during official Town Council recesses to take certain actions, in

consultation with the Mayor. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos, 

County of Santa Clara, that the Town Manager is authorized, in consultation with the Mayor, 

during periods of official Town Council recesses, to: 

1) Approve plans and specifications for capital projects and authorize staff to advertise

for bids; 

2) Award construction contracts and construction contract change orders in excess of

the amount included in the contingency; and

3) Execute agreements and amendments to agreements in excess of $50, 000 that

ordinarily require Town Council approval. 

1of2

Resolution 2019 -033 June 18, 2019

ATTACHMENT 1

Page 22



PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los

Gatos, California, held on the 181h day of June, 2019 by the following vote: 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES: Marcia Jensen, Rob Rennie, Marico Sayoc, Barbara Spector, Mayor Steven Leonardis

NAYS: None

ABSENT: None

ABSTAIN: None

MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS

LOS GATOS„ CALIF04NIA

DATE: 

ATTEST: 

O

TOWN CLERK OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS

LOS GATOS; CALIFORNIA

DATE: _ gyp* L ` i

2of2

Resolution 2019 - 033 June 18, 2019
Page 23



 M E M O R A N D U M 
 Town Manager’s Office 

PREPARED BY: Holly Zappala 
Management Analyst 

Reviewed as necessary:  Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Finance Director 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 408-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov  

TO: LAUREL PREVETTI, TOWN MANAGER MAYOR REVIEW 7/22/20 

FROM: CHRIS GJERDE, IT MANAGER 

SUBJECT: MICROSOFT SOFTWARE LICENSING 
SOFTWAREONE 

DATE: June 30, 2020 

RECOMMENDATION: 

It is recommended that the Town Manager purchase Microsoft software licensing from 
SoftwareONE in an amount not to exceed $63,872.56. 

BACKGROUND: 

The Fiscal Year 2020/21 Operating Budget anticipated the annual renewal of Microsoft 
software licensing in the Town’s Information Technology Budget Operating Expenditures line. 

Generally, the Town Council does not review routine software licensing purchase requests; 
however, as software usage has increased and since the combined purchase price for these 
licenses exceeds the Town Manager’s purchasing authority of $50,000, this purchase requires 
Council approval pursuant to the Town Purchasing Policy.   

DISCUSSION: 

This Microsoft software purchase includes annual licensing for server operating systems, server 
management, server applications, the Office suite, and security software on both staff desktops 
and in the cloud.  

In accordance with the Town Purchasing Policy Section 7c regarding Cooperative Purchasing, 
the prices for Microsoft software license renewals are negotiated by the County of Riverside 
and sold by volume licensing partner SoftwareONE.  Most California agencies, from large ones 

ATTACHMENT 2

Page 24

http://www.losgatosca.gov/


PAGE 2 OF 2 
DATE:  June 30, 2020 
SUBJECT: MICROSOFT SOFTWARE LICENSING 
 SOFTWAREONE 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 
such as the Department of Motor Vehicles, to small cities and special districts, use this 
purchasing arrangement to obtain the best prices.   
 
The Town’s current Volume Licensing Agreement is valid through June 30, 2022.  The 
agreement has no monetary value and is a means of securing pricing.  SoftwareONE is the 
vendor the Town purchases the license through, and the agreement is with Microsoft.   
 
An interruption in Microsoft licensing software would halt the daily computer operations of 
Town staff.   
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
Staff recommends that the Town Manager purchase Microsoft software licensing from 

SoftwareONE for FY 2020/21 in an amount not to exceed $63,872.56.  

COORDINATION: 
 
The Finance Department, IT, and Town Manager’s Office coordinated this report.  

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 
 
This is not a project defined under CEQA and no further action is required.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
There are sufficient funds available in the IT budget to purchase these software licenses.  
 
Attachments:  

1. SoftwareONE Invoice  
2. Volume Licensing Agreement  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



 

PREPARED BY: Robert Schultz  
 Town Attorney  
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 6     

 
   

 

DATE:   July 27, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Robert Schultz, Town Attorney 

SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manager to Execute Long Term Lease Agreements with 
Tait Firehouse LLC and Forbes Mill LLC for the Property Located at 4 Tait 
Avenue and 75 Church Ave, Los Gatos   

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Authorize the Town Manager to execute long term Lease Agreements with Tait Firehouse LLC 
and Forbes Mill LLC for the property located at 4 Tait Avenue and 75 Church Ave, Los Gatos.   
 
BACKGROUND: 

The Town has been actively searching for potential tenants for the properties located at 4 Tait 
Avenue and 75 Church Street (“Properties”) since the Museum vacated both in 2016.  In 2018, 
Imwalle Asset Management Company (“Imwalle”) approached the Town and requested that 
negotiations take place regarding the potential renovation, management, and master leasing of 
these properties.  In March 2019, the Town and Imwalle entered into an Exclusive Negotiating 
Agreement to help guide the negotiations of a Lease Agreement.  The attached draft Lease 
Agreements have now been negotiated between Town staff and Imwalle and are ready to be 
presented in open session for approval. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The Lease Agreements for both properties are for a long term (34 years and 11 months) and 
creates a Master Tenant/Landlord relationship wherein Imwalle would be 100% responsible for 
all costs related to the project of rehabilitation, build out, leasing, and ongoing management 
and maintenance of the properties.  Both properties need significant improvements easily in 
excess of $1,000,000 each to be brought to a leasable market condition.  The Lease Agreements 
require Imwalle to proceed with normal CEQA review and planning and development  
 

Page 26



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Lease Agreements for 4 Tait Avenue and 75 Church Ave, Los Gatos   
DATE:  July 27, 2020 
 
 
DISCUSSION (cont.): 
 
application requirements and care would be taken to restore the historic aspects of both 
properties while delivering modern upgrades expected in the current commercial market.  
Pursuant to the Lease Agreements, payments to Los Gatos would be a hybrid of fixed base 
monthly payments and profit participation.   
 
Imwalle has completed almost 100 small scale projects over the last 40 years and has 
experience with ground leases, master leases, and public private partnerships in San Jose and 
Morgan Hill.  Staff performed a side-by-side comparison of the draft lease agreement submitted 
to the Town by Imwalle and that of the City of Morgan Hill who has a similar contractual 
relationship.   Following are some key elements of the Lease Agreements that Town Staff has 
been able to negotiate with Imwalle: 
 

• Percentage Rent of the Sublease Income to the Town is 60% instead of 50%. 
• Master Tenant management fee equal to 3% of Sublease Income has been deleted. 
• Improvement loans funded by Master Tenant shall receive 3% interest instead of 8%.  
• Landlord approval required for subtenants. 
• Landlord approval required for permitted uses.  
• The term is 34 years and 11 months, instead of 25 years with 2 five-year options. 
• Prohibition in change of Master Tenant; the Master Tenant Team now consists of 

Imwalle, Jim Farley and Jason Farwell. 
 
COORDINATION: 
 
This report was coordinated with the office of the Town Manager’s Department.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
There is no fiscal impact to the Town at this time. In the long term the Town will generate Lease 
income from the properties.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 
 
The proposed lease agreements are exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) under Section 15061 (b)(3) of the CEQA Guidelines. Further environmental review will 
be conducted once the project at each lease site is defined and a planning permit is requested. 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Lease Agreements for 4 Tait Avenue and 75 Church Ave, Los Gatos   
DATE:  July 27, 2020 
 
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
Staff recommends that Council authorize the Town Manager to execute long term Lease 
Agreements with Tait Firehouse LLC and Forbes Mill LLC for the property located at 4 Tait 
Avenue and 75 Church Ave, Los Gatos.   
 
Attachments: 

1. Draft Lease Agreement for 4 Tait Avenue. 
2. Draft lease Agreement for 75 Church Avenue. 

 

Page 28



  ATTACHMENT 1 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

LEASE AGREEMENT 
 
 
 
 

MASTER LEASE 
 
 
 
 

by and between 
 
 
 
 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS, a California municipal corporation 
 

(“Landlord”) 
 
 
 

and 
 
 
 

TAIT FIREHOUSE, LLC, a California limited liability company 

 
(“Master Tenant”) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Los Gatos, California 
 

 

Page 29



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

-i- 
OAK #4810-7729-4116 v8  4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

SECTION 1. BASIC LEASE PROVISIONS AND DEFINITIONS. ........................................................... 1 

1.1 Premises and Address of Premises. .................................................................................. 1 
1.2 Rentable Area of Tait Property.. ........................................................................................ 1 
1.3 Lease Term.. ...................................................................................................................... 1 
1.4 Lease Contingency. ........................................................................................................... 1 
1.5 Minimum Monthly Rent.. .................................................................................................... 2 
1.6 Percentage Rent.. .............................................................................................................. 2 
1.7 Capital Reserve Fund.. ...................................................................................................... 2 
1.8 Maintenance of Premises.. ................................................................................................ 2 
1.9 Rent Commencement Date.. ............................................................................................. 2 
1.10 Subtenant.. ......................................................................................................................... 2 
1.11 Permitted Uses.. ................................................................................................................. 2 
1.12 Town Manager.. ................................................................................................................. 2 
1.13 Master Tenant’s Work and Tenant Improvement Loan Amortization.. .............................. 2 

SECTION 2. LEASED AREA. ................................................................................................................. 2 

2.1 Premises.. .......................................................................................................................... 2 
SECTION 3. TERM.. ............................................................................................................................... 2 

 3.1 Initial Term  ……………………………………………………………………………………….3 
 3.2 Extended Term  …………………………………………………………………………………..3 
 
SECTION 4. RENT. ................................................................................................................................ 3 

4.1 General.. ............................................................................................................................ 3 
4.2 Minimum Monthly Rent.. .................................................................................................... 3 
4.3 Percentage Rent. ............................................................................................................... 3 
4.4 Late Payment Fees.. .......................................................................................................... 5 

SECTION 5. USE OF PREMISES. ......................................................................................................... 6 

5.1 Restricted Use.. .................................................................................................................. 6 
5.2 Prohibited Uses. ................................................................................................................. 6 
5.3 Compliance With Laws.. .................................................................................................... 7 

SECTION 6. LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS. ...................................................................................... 7 

6.1 Condition of the Premises.. ................................................................................................ 7 
6.2 Leasehold Improvements. .................................................................................................. 7 
6.3 Master Tenant Work Improvement Loans. ........................................................................ 7 
6.4 Liens.. ................................................................................................................................. 8 

 6.5 Ownership and Removal………………………………………………………………… ……..8 
6.6 Abandonment.. ................................................................................................................... 9 

SECTION 7. MASTER TENANT OBLIGATIONS – OPERATION OF PREMISES. ............................... 9 

7.1 Responsibility of Master Tenant.. ....................................................................................... 9 
7.2 Leasing Standards. ............................................................................................................ 9 
7.3 Signage and Displays. ..................................................................................................... 10 
7.4 Deliveries.. ....................................................................................................................... 11 

 7.5 Wireless Communications Equipment or Device…………………………………………….11 
7.6 MHDA. .............................................................................................................................. 11 

SECTION 8. MAINTENANCE, REPAIRS, AND ALTERATIONS. ........................................................ 11 

8.1 Master Tenant’s Obligations. ........................................................................................... 11 

Page 30



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

 

 

8.2 Landlord’s Obligations. .................................................................................................... 11 
8.3 Surrender. ........................................................................................................................ 12 
8.4 Landlord’s Rights.. ........................................................................................................... 12 
8.5 Improvements.. ................................................................................................................ 12 
8.6 Capital Reserve Fund.. .................................................................................................... 12 

SECTION 9. INSURANCE. ................................................................................................................... 13 

9.1 General.. .......................................................................................................................... 13 
SECTION 10. INDEMNIFICATION BY MASTER TENANT. ................................................................... 13 

 10.1 General………………………………………………………………………………………...…14 

 
SECTION 11. ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY. ........................................................................................ 14 

11.1 Environmental Law........................................................................................................... 14 
11.2 Hazardous Materials.. ...................................................................................................... 14 
11.3 Release of Hazardous Materials.. .................................................................................... 14 
11.4 Master Tenant’s Use of Hazardous Materials.. ................................................................ 14 
11.5 Environmental Indemnity. ................................................................................................ 14 

SECTION 12. TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS/ POSSESSORY INTEREST TAX. ................................. 15 

12.1 General. ........................................................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 13. INTENTIONALLY OMITTED. ........................................................................................... 15 

SECTION 14. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. ................................................................................ 16 

 14.1 General……………………………………………………………………...……………………17 
 
 14.2 Conditions for Landlord's Consent to Assignment…………………………………………...17 
 
 14.3 Approval by Town Manager………………………………………………………...………….17 
 
 14.4 Recognition Agreement……………………………………………….………………………..17 
 
SECTION 15. MORTGAGE OF LEASEHOLD. ...................................................................................... 17 

15.1 Prohibited Encumbrances. ............................................................................................... 17 
 15.2 Permissible Encumbrances…………………………………………………………………….18 

15.3 Notice to Landlord.. .......................................................................................................... 18 
15.4 Mortgages Subordinate to Lease.. ................................................................................... 18 
15.5 Extent of Encumbrance.. .................................................................................................. 18 

 15.6 Disposition of Insurance Proceeds and Condemnation Awards…………………………...19 
 15.7 Permitted Mortgagee……………………………………………………………………………19 
 15.8 Continuing Terms and Covenants……………………………………………………………..19 
 15.9 Affirmation of Lease in Bankruptcy…………………………………………………………....19 

15.10 Notice Required.. ............................................................................................................. 19 
 15.11 Landlord's Right To Cure Master Tenant's Defaults on Leasehold Mortgages…….…….20 

15.12 Notice to Landlord.. .......................................................................................................... 20 
15.13 Rights and Obligations of Permitted Mortgagees. ........................................................... 20 
15.14 Assignment by Mortgagee.. ............................................................................................. 23 

SECTION 16. DAMAGE TO PREMISES………………………………………………………………………24 
 

Page 31



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

 

 

 16.1 Landlord's Obligation to Repair………………………………………………………………..24 
 16.2 Election to Terminate……………………………………………………………………………24 

16.3 Abatement of Rent.. ......................................................................................................... 24 
 16.4 Application of Insurance Proceeds…………………..………………………………………..25 
 
SECTION 17. CONDEMNATION………………………………………………………………………………25 
 17.1 Total Condemnation…………………………………………………………………………….25 
 17.2 Partial Condemnation…………………………………………………………………………...25 
 17.3 Condemnation Award…………………………………………………………………………...25 

17.4 Effect of Termination.. ...................................................................................................... 25 
SECTION 18. DEFAULT, REMEDIES, AND TERMINATION. ............................................................... 25 

18.1 Master Tenant’s Default. .................................................................................................. 25 
18.2 Landlord’s Default.. .......................................................................................................... 27 

SECTION 19. TOWN REQUIREMENTS………………………………………………………………………28 
 19.1 Non-discrimination……………………………………….……………………………………..28 
 19.2 Enforcement of Town Requirements………………………………………………………….28 
SECTION 20. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW…………………………………………………………………….28 
 20.1 General…………………………………………………………………………………………..28 

20.2 Regulations Requiring Modifications to 
Premises……………………………………………………………………………….....
29 

SECTION 21. GENERAL PROVISIONS………………………………………………………………………29 
 21.1 Notices, Demands, and Communications Between the Parties………….………………..29 
 21.2 Warranty Against Payment of Consideration for Agreement……………….………………30 
 21.3 Non-liability of Town Officials and Employees……………………………………………….30 
 21.4 Enforced Delay; Extension of Time of Performance………………………….……………..30 
 21.5 Approvals and Town Manager's Authority……………………………………………………30 

21.6 Holding Over.. .................................................................................................................. 30 
 21.7 Time of the Essence…………………………………………………………………………….31 
 21.8 Successors and Assigns………………………………………………………………………..31 
 21.9 Landlord's Access……………………………………………………………………………….31 
 21.10 Legal Relationship………………………………………………………………………………31 
 21.11 Consents…………………………………………………………………………………………31 
 21.12 General………………………………………………………………………….………………..31 

21.13 Quiet Enjoyment.. ............................................................................................................. 30 
21.14 Regulatory Authority......................................................................................................... 31 

 21.15 Costs and Expenses…………………………………………………………………………….32 
 21.16 Entire Agreement………………………………………………………………………………..32 
 21.17 Severability……………………………………………………………………………………….32 
 21.18 Joint and Several……………………………………………………………………………..…32 
 21.19 Memorandum of Agreement……………………………………………………………………32 
 21.20 CASp Inspection ………………………………………………………………………………..32 
 
UPDATE TABLE OF CONTENTS PRIOR TO FINALIZING MASTER LEASE

Page 32



 

[Type here] 
 

TABLE OF EXHIBITS 

 

Exhibit A Legal Description of Premises  

Exhibit B Site Plan Showing Location of Premises 

Exhibit C Form of Notice of Lease Term Dates 

Exhibit D Condition of Premises Upon Delivery 

Exhibit E Insurance Requirements for Master Tenant and Subtenants 

Exhibit F Memorandum of Lease Agreement 

 

 

Page 33



 

 

MASTER LEASE 

This Master Lease (“Lease”) is made and effective as of this _____ day of_______________, 
2020 (“Effective Date”), by and between THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS, a California Municipal Corporation 
(hereinafter “Landlord” or the “Town”), and TAIT FIREHOUSE, LLC, a California Limited Liability 
Company (“Master Tenant”). 

RECITALS 

A. The Town owns certain improved real property, commonly referred to as the Tait 
Property, legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof, suitable for office, 
restaurant, retail and other commercial operations (the “Property”). The building situated on such real 
property shall be referred to as the “Tait Building.”  

B. The Town has solicited proposals to develop the Tait Building and the future 
development of the Property will require significant capital improvements to make the area usable for 
commercial operators.  

C. Master Tenant has been selected by the Town to develop the Tait Building and to 
sublease space within the Property to subtenant(s) consented to by the Town. 

Now therefore, in consideration of their mutual promises as set forth in this Lease, the Town and 
Master Tenant agree as follows: 

SECTION 1. BASIC LEASE PROVISIONS AND DEFINITIONS. 

1.1 Master Tenant’s Managing Member. Imwalle Asset Management, LLC, a California 
Limited Liability Company. 

1.2 Premises and Address of Premises:   The Premises consist of the Property and the Tait 
Building situated thereon.  The address of the Premises is as follows: 

                 4 Tait Avenue 
                 Los Gatos, CA 95030 

1.3 Rentable Area of Tait Building.  As depicted in Exhibit B, the Rentable Area of the Tait 
Building is approximately 3400 square feet.  

1.4 Lease Term.  As provided in Section 3 below, the Term of the Lease commences on the 
Commencement Date and terminates, unless earlier terminated 34 years and 11 months from the 
Commencement Date as provided in Section 3.1 below. 

1.5 Lease Contingency.  This Lease is contingent on the Master Tenant submitting the 
necessary applications and documents  to the Town for approval of the improvements and use of the 
property,  such as, but not limited to, general plan amendment, a proposed site plan, concept drawings 
for the site plan, massing diagrams, and renderings identifying the location, general configuration, and 
proposed design characteristics of the buildings, parking spaces, landscaping, property subdivision, and 
other aspects of the improvement and uses. The Master Tenant acknowledges that the Project Proposal 
requires approvals and entitlements from the Town and shall submit a formal application for the Planning 
Approvals. Costs and fees associated with the Planning Approvals review shall be borne by the Master 
Tenant.   Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to compel the Town to approve or make any 
findings with respect to Planning Approvals.  If Master tenant is unable to obtain Planning Approvals, 
either Landlord or Master Tenant may terminate this Lease by giving written notice of termination to the 
other party   Upon the giving of such notice of termination, this Lease shall terminate without liability of 
either party to the other.   

Page 34



 

 2  

This Lease is also contingent on Master Tenant and a Subtenant having executed a binding initial 
Sublease for any portion of the Premises and occupancy by Subtenants (the “Contingency”).  If the 
Contingency has not been satisfied or waived by Landlord on or before the date twelve (12) months 
following the Effective Date, either Landlord or Master Tenant may terminate this Lease by giving written 
notice of termination to the other party   Upon the giving of such notice of termination, this Lease shall 
terminate without liability of either party to the other. 

1.6 Minimum Monthly Rent.  The Minimum Monthly Rent shall be $0.40 per Rentable Area of 
Tait Building (which equates to $1,360 per month) payable to Landlord as provided in Section 4 below. 

1.7 Percentage Rent.  The Percentage Rent shall be that Rent specified in Section 4.3 
below. 

1.8 Capital Reserve Fund.  For each month that Master Tenant pays to Landlord the 
Minimum Monthly Rent, Landlord shall deposit on a monthly basis to the account described in Section 8.6 
below, the Minimum Monthly Rent received by Landlord. 

1.9 Maintenance of Premises.  The Master Tenant’s obligations for Maintenance of the 
Premises are as set forth in Section 8 below. 

1.10 Rent Commencement Date.  The Rent Commencement Date shall be the date the first 
Subtenant opens for business on the Premises. The Rent Commencement Date shall be memorialized 
between Landlord and Master Tenant as set forth in Exhibit D (Form of Notice of Lease Terms).  

1.11 Subtenant.  The individual commercial operator(s) physically occupying the Premises to 
provide the services required under this Lease, as selected by Master Tenant and accepted by the Town 
(subject to Section 7.2 and Section 14.2 below). The Master Tenant cannot also be a Subtenant.  

1.12 Permitted Uses.  The operation of businesses providing office, retail , restaurant,  and 
other services approved by Master Tenant and Town, and any other lawful use, except as otherwise 
prohibited under this Lease pursuant to Section 5.2. 

1.13 Town Manager.  The Town Manager of the Town (“Town Manager”) or his or her 
designated representative, shall serve as the Town’s principal contact and liaison for coordinating all 
Town requests of Master Tenant and responses to Master Tenant’s requests, and shall assist in the 
implementation of the Town’s obligations hereunder, during the term of this Lease.  The Town Manager 
may change his or her authorized representative at any time by giving written notice of the change to 
Master Tenant. 

1.14 Master Tenant’s Work and Tenant Improvement Loan Amortization.  “Master Tenant’s 
Work” is defined in Section 6.2.  “Tenant Improvement Loan Amortization” is defined in Section 6.3. 

SECTION 2. LEASED AREA. 

2.1 Premises.  Landlord hereby leases to Master Tenant, and Master Tenant hereby leases 
from Landlord the Premises referred to in Section 1.2 above, located at 4 Tait Avenue, Los Gatos, 
California 90530, as depicted on Exhibit B.     

SECTION 3. TERM.   

3.1 Term.  The “Term” of this Lease shall commence as of the Effective Date 
(“Commencement Date”) and shall end, unless earlier terminated or extended pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of this Lease, on the date 34 years and 11 months after the Commencement Date 
(“Termination Date”). 

Page 35



 

 3  

SECTION 4. RENT. 

4.1 General.  From and after the Rent Commencement Date, Master Tenant agrees to pay 
Landlord as rent for the Premises, in the manner and at the times set forth in this Lease, the Minimum 
Monthly Rent and the Percentage Rent, as further described in this Section 4. 

4.1.1 All rent payments shall be sent to the Landlord’s address in Section 21.1 and 
shall be addressed to the attention of the Town Finance Department, and shall be free from all credits, 
claims, demands, off-sets or counterclaims of any kind against the Town. 

4.1.2 Minimum Monthly Rent shall be paid by Master Tenant to Landlord on a 
monthly basis in advance on or before the first day of each month during the Term. 

4.1.3 Percentage Rent shall be paid in arrears on or before April 15 each calendar 
year for the amount due and owing for the preceding calendar year (or 90 days after any Termination 
Date).  

4.2 Minimum Monthly Rent.  The Minimum Monthly Rent shall be the amount indicated in 
Section 1.6. Minimum Monthly Rent shall be paid in advance on or before the first day of each calendar 
month during the Lease Term. 

4.3 Percentage Rent. 

4.3.1 Manner and Time of Payment.  Percentage Rent shall equal 60% of the 
Sublease Income received by Master Tenant during each calendar year, remaining after Distribution of 
Sublease Income in accordance with Section 4.3.4(a) through Section 4.3.4(d) below. 

4.3.2 Definition of Sublease Income.  “Sublease Income” shall mean the sum of (a) 
all base rents actually received by Master Tenant from its Subtenants of the Premises (excluding 
reimbursements from Subtenants for any operating costs such as, but not limited to, taxes, insurance, 
utilities, and maintenance and repair costs, to the extent such reimbursements do not exceed Master 
Tenant’s actual costs of such operating costs), (b) any interest earned on security deposits of Subtenants, 
(c) security deposits forfeited by Subtenants (to the extent applied to delinquent rentals owing by such 
applicable Subtenant) and any fees paid by Subtenants to Master Tenant for cancellation of their 
subleases; and (d) proceeds of business interruption or rental loss insurance actually collected by Master 
Tenant as a result of loss of sublease income.  Sublease Income shall not include (i) the proceeds of any 
casualty insurance or condemnation awards, (ii) any management fee reimbursements received by 
Master Tenant from a Subtenant of the Premises, or (iii) the proceeds from any financing of any interest 
in the Premises or any Improvements. Sublease Income shall be determined on a cash basis for each 
calendar year. 

4.3.3 Definition of Sublease Expenses.  “Sublease Expenses” shall be determined 
on a cash basis for each calendar year and shall mean the sum of: 

(a) all tenant improvement and remodeling costs paid by Master Tenant 
(other than costs of Master Tenant’s Work or other Improvements, which will be repaid to Master Tenant 
through Tenant Improvement Loan Amortization Amounts); 

(b) all leasing commissions paid by Master Tenant (excluding leasing 
commissions paid to Master Tenant or to persons or entities affiliated with Master Tenant); 

(c) all legal and accounting expenses incurred and paid by Master Tenant in 
connection with the Premises and/or any Subleases; 

Page 36



 

 4  

(d) all possessory interest taxes and other property taxes paid by Master 
Tenant (to the extent not reimbursed to Master Tenant by Subtenants); 

(e) all insurance costs paid by Master Tenant in connection with the 
Premises (to the extent not reimbursed to Master Tenant by Subtenants); 

(f) all other costs incurred and paid by Master Tenant in connection with 
operating, maintaining, repairing, replacing, and subleasing the Premises, or applicable portion thereof, 
including, without limitation, costs incurred and paid by Master Tenant pursuant to Section 20.1 and/or 
Section 20.2(b) of this Lease (to the extent not reimbursed to Master Tenant by Subtenants). 

Sublease Expenses shall not include any management fee of Master Tenant; however, Master 
Tenant may, through its agent or otherwise, collect a management fee on any sublease. 

4.3.4 Distribution of Sublease Income.  All Sublease Income shall be used by 
Master Tenant for the following uses and shall be distributed by Master Tenant in the following priority: 

(a) First, to pay to Landlord the Minimum Monthly Rent as set forth in 
Section 4.2 above, which sum is payable by Master Tenant to Landlord whether or not Master Tenant 
collects and receives Sublease Income; 

(b) Second, to pay Master Tenant its Sublease Expenses as defined in 
Section 4.3.3 above; 

(c) Third, to pay Master Tenant funded Master Tenant Work Improvement 
Loans as provided by Section 6.3 below. 

(d) Forth, to pay to Master Tenant the amount of Minimum Monthly Rent 
paid in that calendar year. 

(e) Fifth, as provided by Section 4.3.1 above, to pay Percentage Rent to 
Landlord and the balance to Master Tenant. 

4.3.5 Annual Statements.  On or before April 15 of each calendar year, with the 
payment of Percentage Rent, Master Tenant shall furnish to the Town a statement (the “Annual 
Statement”) duly certified by the Chief Financial Officer or the Managing Member or the equivalent of the 
Master Tenant, setting forth in reasonable detail the Sublease Income from the Premises and the amount 
of the Percentage Rent which was required to be paid to the Town during the preceding calendar year in 
accordance with the provisions of this Lease.  The Annual Statement shall also contain a detailed 
breakdown showing how Master Tenant calculated Sublease Income and Sublease Expenses.  In 
addition, Master Tenant shall provide to Landlord a copy of Master Tenant’s federal income tax return 
promptly following filing same with the Internal Revenue Service.  The amounts reported to Landlord by 
Master Tenant for Sublease Income and Sublease Expenses shall conform to the amounts reported on 
Master Tenant’s federal income tax return filed with the Internal Revenue Service.  Master Tenant’s 
federal income tax return shall cover only income and expenses from the Premises and shall not include 
income and expenses from any other property. 

4.3.6 Books and Records.  Master Tenant shall keep and maintain at its 
headquarters full, complete and appropriate books, records and accounts relating to the Premises, 
including all such books, records and accounts necessary or prudent to evidence and substantiate in full 
detail Master Tenant’s calculation of the Percentage Rent.  Books, records and accounts relating to 
Master Tenant’s compliance with the terms, provisions, covenants and conditions of this Lease shall be 
kept and maintained on a cash basis (except as otherwise expressly provided herein), in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied, and shall be consistent with the 
requirements of this Lease which provide for the calculation of Percentage Rent.  All such books, records 

Page 37



 

 5  

and accounts shall be open to and available for inspection by the Town, its auditors or other authorized 
representatives at reasonable intervals during normal business hours.  Copies of all tax returns and other 
reports that Master Tenant may be required to furnish any governmental agency which would evidence or 
substantiate Master Tenant’s calculation of the Percentage Rent shall at all reasonable times be open for 
inspection by the Town at the place that the books, records and accounts of Master Tenant are kept.  
Master Tenant shall preserve records on which any statement of Percentage Rent is based for a period of 
not less than four years after such statement is rendered, and for any period during which there is an 
audit undertaken pursuant to Subsection 4.3.6 hereof then pending. 

4.3.7 Town Audits.  The receipt by the Town of any statement pursuant to 
Subsection 4.3.5 above, or any payment by Master Tenant or acceptance by the Town of any Percentage 
Rent for any period shall not bind the Town as to the correctness of such statement or such payment; 
provided, however, the Town shall accept the correctness of such statement if it conforms to the amounts 
shown on Master Tenant’s federal income tax return for the period covered by such statement.  Within 
four years after the receipt of any such statement, the Town or any designated agent or employee of the 
Town at any time and at the Town’s cost (except as provided below) shall be entitled to audit the books, 
records and accounts pertaining to the Premises and the operation thereof.  Such audit shall be 
conducted during normal business hours at the principal place of business of Master Tenant and other 
places where records are kept.  Provided that Master Tenant has fully cooperated, any audit undertaken 
pursuant to this Subsection shall be completed within 180 days of the commencement thereof, subject to 
extensions of time for any periods of delay by any third party due to no fault of the Town or its auditors, 
and in no event later than four years after the Town’s receipt of the statement or statements being 
audited.  Immediately after the completion of an audit, the Town shall deliver a copy of the results of such 
audit to Master Tenant.  The Town shall not be entitled to more than one audit for any particular year, 
unless it shall appear from a subsequent audit that fraud or concealment may have occurred with respect 
to the Sublease Income of a previously audited year.  If it shall be determined as a result of such audit 
that there has been a deficiency in any Percentage Rent, then such deficiency shall become immediately 
due and payable with interest at the legal rate of 10% per annum, such payment to be determined as of 
and accruing from the date that said payment should have been made.  In addition, if Master Tenant’s 
statement for any calendar year shall be found to have intentionally understated Sublease Income by 
more than five percent and the Town is entitled to a supplementary payment as a result of said 
understatement, then Master Tenant shall pay, in addition to the interest charges referenced 
hereinabove, all of the Town’s reasonable costs and expenses connected with any audit or review of 
Master Tenant’s accounts and records. 

4.4 Late Payment Fees.  Any rentals, fees or charges required to be paid by Master Tenant 
pursuant to the terms of this Lease shall be paid on or before the dates specified in Subsection 4.1 above 
(“due date”) without any requirement of notice from the Town and without deduction or offset.  Master 
Tenant hereby acknowledges that late payment to the Town of any fee, charge or other sum due 
hereunder will cause the Town to incur costs not contemplated by this Lease, the exact amount of which 
will be extremely difficult to ascertain.  If any such fee, charge or other sum due from Master Tenant is not 
received by the Town within 30 days after its due date (10 days for Minimum Monthly Rent), then Master 
Tenant shall pay to the Town a late payment fee equal to one percent per month of the amount not paid, 
calculated, for each day or portion thereof, from the due date until the date that payment is received by 
Town.  The parties hereby agree that such late fee represents a fair and reasonable estimate of the cost 
that the Town will incur by reason of Master Tenant’s late payment.  The Town’s acceptance of such late 
fees shall not constitute a waiver of Master Tenant’s default with respect to such overdue amount or stop 
the Town from exercising any of the other rights and remedies granted hereunder or at law or in equity.  A 
failure to pay any fee on the due date shall constitute an event of default under this Lease.  
Notwithstanding any right or remedy of the Town on account of any nonpayment by Master Tenant, the 
obligation to pay the outstanding amounts due shall survive termination of this Lease. 

 

 

Page 38



 

 6  

SECTION 5. USE OF PREMISES. 

5.1 Restricted Use.  The Premises shall be used and occupied by Master Tenant, and any 
Subtenants approved by Town in accordance with Section 14 below only for Permitted Uses, and for no 
other purpose. 

5.2 Prohibited Uses.  Master Tenant shall not: 

5.2.1 use or knowingly allow the use of the Premises by Master Tenant or any of its 
Subtenants or any of their respective agents, employees, contractors, other representatives or invitees for 
any unlawful purpose; or 

5.2.2 cause, maintain, or knowingly permit any nuisance in, on, or about the 
Premises by Master Tenant or any of its Subtenants or any of their respective agents, employees, 
contractors, other representatives or invitees; commit or suffer to be committed any physical waste in or 
upon the Premises by Master Tenant or any of its Subtenants or any of their respective agents, 
employees, contractors, other representatives or invitees; or 

5.2.3 display or sell merchandise outside the defined exterior walls and doorways of 
the Tait Building; however, said restriction shall not apply to outside seating for a restaurant or other 
permitted use; or 

5.2.4 cause or knowingly permit the undue accumulation of garbage, trash, rubbish 
or any other refuse in or about the Premises by Master Tenant or any of its Subtenants or any of their 
respective agents, employees, contractors, other representatives or invitees; or  

5.2.5 use or knowingly permit the use of any advertising such as, without limitation, 
loudspeakers, phonographs, public address systems, sound amplifiers, radio or broadcast within the 
Premises by Master Tenant or any of its Subtenants or any of their respective agents, employees, 
contractors, other representatives or invitees in such a manner that any sounds reproduced, transmitted 
or produced shall be directed primarily beyond the interior of the Tati Building, and will keep all 
mechanical apparatus free of objectionable vibration and noise which may be transmitted beyond the 
interior of the Premises; or 

5.2.6 Cause or knowingly permit obnoxious odors to emanate or be dispelled from 
the Premises by Master Tenant or any of its Subtenants or any of their respective agents, employees, 
contractors, other representatives or invitees; or  

5.2.7 Cause or knowingly permit any use of the Premises by Master Tenant or any 
of its Subtenants or any of their respective agents, employees, contractors, other representatives or 
invitees which violates any Town zoning code applicable to the Premises; or 

The preceding to the contrary notwithstanding, Landlord agrees that if any Subtenant or 
any of Subtenant’s agents, employees, contractors, other representatives or invitee acts or fails to act in 
any manner that causes Master Tenant to be in violation of any of the provisions of Section 5.2.1 through 
Section 5.2.7 above, then Master Tenant shall not be in breach or default under this Lease due to such 
act(s) or failure(s) to act by such applicable Subtenant or any of its agents, employees, contractors, other 
representatives or invitees so long as Master Tenant exercises commercially reasonable efforts to 
prevent such violation(s) from occurring and shall have taken steps in good faith within thirty (30) days 
after receipt of written notice from Landlord to remedy such failure and is continuing to so act with 
diligence and continuity and further, where possession of the Premises or portion thereof is necessary to 
cure a default under this Lease, Master Tenant will not be considered to be in default under this Lease as 
a result of a breach by a Subtenant or any of Subtenant’s agents, employees, contractors, other 
representatives or invitee under its sublease so long as Master Tenant has sent notice of default to, and 
commenced legal action against the Subtenant and is diligently and continuously pursuing an unlawful 

Page 39



 

 7  

detainer action or other legal proceedings required to regain possession of the Premises or portion 
thereof from such Subtenant. 

As used in the provisions of Section 5.2.1 through Section 5.2.7, the term “knowingly” 
includes what Master Tenant reasonably should have known with the exercise of reasonable inquiry and 
investigation. 

5.3 Compliance with Laws.  Master Tenant shall carry out, or cause to be carried out, all 
obligations under this Lease, including without limitation Master Tenant’s Work, in conformity with all 
applicable state, federal, and local laws and regulations, including all applicable state labor laws and 
standards; Town zoning and development standards; building, plumbing, mechanical and electrical 
codes; all other provisions of the Town of Los Gatos Municipal Code; and all applicable disabled and 
handicapped access requirements, including the Americans With Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 
12101, et seq., Government Code Section 4450, et seq., Government Code Section 11135, et seq., and 
the Unruh Civil Rights Act, Civil Code Section 51, et seq. (“Applicable Laws”).  Master Tenant’s 
obligations under this Section 5.3 shall include the obligation to undertake all appropriate inquiries with 
state and federal governmental enforcement and regulatory agencies as necessary to fully comply with all 
Applicable Laws, including any applicable prevailing wage requirements in connection with the 
construction of the Master Tenant’s Work.  Master Tenant also shall require that its Subtenants (to the 
extent expressly made applicable to such Subtenants) and their respective agents, employees, 
contractors and subcontractors, comply with all Applicable Laws in connection with the construction of the 
Subtenant’s Work and Improvements. 

SECTION 6. LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS.  

6.1 Condition of the Premises.  Landlord shall deliver the Premises to Master Tenant on the 
Effective Date clean and free of debris, and in the condition of the Premises upon delivery as described in 
Exhibit D.   

6.2 Leasehold Improvements.  Master Tenant agrees to install, or cause to be installed, in 
the Premises all improvements, fixtures, furniture and equipment within the Premises, as reasonably 
necessary for Master Tenant to attract and retain high quality Subtenants.  Within one hundred eighty 
(180) calendar days after the Effective Date, Master Tenant shall provide Landlord a detailed description 
of work it proposes to undertake to ready the Premises for initial lease up to Subtenants (“Initial Master 
Tenant’s Work”).  In addition to providing Landlord all relevant information regarding a proposed 
Subtenant necessary for Landlord to evaluate and provide its consent to a proposed Subtenant pursuant 
to Section 14.2, Master Tenant shall provide Landlord a detailed description of the additional work, if any, 
to be undertaken by Master Tenant (“Additional Master Tenant’s Work”) as well as the work to be 
undertaken by a Subtenant (“Subtenant’s Work”) in connection with said applicable sublease. 

The Initial Master Tenant’s Work and all Additional Master Tenant’s Work undertaken in 
connection with a sublease consented to by Landlord in accordance with 14.2 below, shall collectively be 
referred to herein as the “Master Tenant’s Work”.  The term “Master Tenant’s Work” does not include 
“Subtenant’s Work” to be performed by Subtenants.  It is acknowledged and agreed that the Subtenants 
of Master Tenant will install additional improvements, fixtures, furniture, and equipment as necessary for 
conduct of their operations, and shall all be responsible for complying with all applicable federal, state, 
and local statutes, laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations, and obtaining all necessary permits, to 
perform such work. 

6.3 Master Tenant Work Improvement Loans. 

6.3.1 As provided in Section 4.3.4 above, Master Tenant may utilize Sublease 
Income to repay itself for funds it advances or borrows from a third party lender for Master Tenant’s Work, 
and any subsequent Improvements within the Premises that are neither Subtenant’s Work nor funded by 
the Town’s Capital Reserve Fund (“Master Tenant Work Improvement Loans”), on the following basis: 

Page 40



 

 8  

(a) Interest.  Interest shall be on the basis of actual days elapsed, at a fixed 
rate of 3% per annum if funded by Master Tenant, or at the actual rate of interest charged by Master 
Tenant’s lender if funded by a third-party lender, as of the date of each advance. 

(b) Repayment Term.  Whether funded by Master Tenant or a third-party 
lender, the repayment term shall be no greater than the Lease Term.  

(c) Amortization.  For each Master Tenant Work Improvement Loan funded 
by Master Tenant, interest only payments until the later of (i) first day of the month following the final 
advance under the loan, or (ii) the date subrent is due, and thereafter equal monthly payments of 
combined principal and interest necessary to fully amortize the loan over the remaining repayment term. If 
funded by a third-party lender, the loan shall be fully amortized in accordance with the terms of the loan. 

6.4 Liens.  All Master Tenant’s Work and Subtenant’s Work shall be completed free of 
mechanic’s liens, with first-class materials and workmanship, and in compliance with all applicable rules, 
regulations, and laws applicable to the Premises. 

6.5 Letter of Credit (LOC). All Master Tenant’s Work or Subtenant’s Work shall be approved 
by Landlord (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). Such consent 
shall be deemed given if not denied in writing to Master Tenant within ten (10) business days following 
Landlord’s receipt of such information required for Landlord to evaluate such applicable Master Tenant’s 
Work or Subtenants Work. Master Tenant shall furnish to Town, at no cost or expense to the Town, a 
letter of credit (“LOC”) in the amount not less than the sum of One Hundred Percent of the cost estimate 
of the Master Tenant’s Work, in a form subject to the review and approval by the Town Manager or his or 
her designee (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), which LOC 
shall secure Master Tenant’s obligation to complete, and pay for the cost of completion of, the 
construction of the Master Tenant’s Work within the time reasonably fixed by the Landlord, or such 
extension thereof as may be allowed. Master Tenant shall refrain from performing, or causing the 
performance of, any work related to the construction of Master Tenant’s Work until Master Tenant 
furnishes a LOC satisfying this Section 6.5. 

In the event Master Tenant fails to complete the Master Tenant’s Work within the time fixed by 
Landlord or such extension period as determined by Landlord, and following Master Tenant’s receipt of 
written notice of such failure from Landlord, Master Tenant fails to promptly commence action to complete 
the Master Tenant’s Work within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of such notice, then Landlord may 
terminate this Lease for cause as specified in this Lease and Landlord shall be entitled to call on such 
LOC to the extent necessary to pay or reimburse Landlord for costs reasonably incurred by Landlord to 
complete the Master Tenant’s Work (and the balance of such LOC proceeds or the LOC itself after 
payment or reimbursement to Landlord as provided immediately above shall be paid or returned to 
Master Tenant). In the event that Master Tenant fails to complete the Master tenant’s Work within the time 
fixed by Landlord or such extension period as determined by Landlord, and following Master Tenant’s 
receipt of written notice of such failure from Landlord, Master Tenant commences action to complete 
Master Tenant’s Work within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of such notice but thereafter fails to 
diligently process such cure to completion, then, Landlord shall give a second, written notice to Master 
Tenant and if Master Tenant does not commence action to complete the Master tenant’s Work within 
fifteen (15) days following Master Tenant’s receipt of such second, written notice or thereafter diligently 
process such cure to completion, then Landlord may terminate this Lease for cause as specified in this 
Lease and Landlord shall be entitled to call on such LOC to the extent necessary to pay or reimburse 
Landlord for costs reasonably incurred by Landlord to complete Master Tenant’s work (and the balance of 
such LOC proceeds or the LOC itself after payment or reimbursement to Landlord as provided 
immediately above shall be paid or returned to Master Tenant).  

6.6 Ownership and Removal.  All personal property not affixed in any way to the Premises 
including inventory, kitchen equipment, those nonstructural alterations as the Town approves for removal 
as were installed under this Lease and do not affect the structure of the Tait Building or the Premises, 
together with Master Tenant’s Trade Fixtures, (collectively, “Master Tenant’s Property”) shall remain the 

Page 41



 

 9  

property of Master Tenant.  Upon the termination or expiration of the Lease Term, if Master Tenant is not 
then in default under the Lease, Master Tenant may remove Master Tenant’s Property from the Premises 
no later than the termination or expiration date.  In addition, Master Tenant may remove from the 
Premises all items and Alterations installed by Master Tenant that are indicative of Master Tenant’s 
business and may otherwise “de-identify” the Premises, as Master Tenant reasonably believes necessary 
or appropriate for the protection of Master Tenant’s interest in Master Tenant’s trademarks, trade names 
or copyrights.  Master Tenant shall repair any damage to the Premises caused by such removal, including 
patching and filling holes.  In no event shall Master Tenant remove or be required to remove any 
restrooms, flooring, ceilings, utility or electrical components located inside the walls or HVAC systems.  All 
other utility systems will be capped and returned to a condition compatible with code requirements. 

6.6.1 Subtenant’s Personal Property.  Landlord waives any statutory liens and rights 
of distress with respect to the personal property (non-affixed trade fixtures, equipment, inventory and 
merchandise) of each Subtenant from time to time located with the Premises, or applicable part thereof 
(“Subtenant’s Personal Property”).  This Lease (and each sublease entered into between Master Tenant 
and a Subtenant) does not grant a contractual lien or any other security interest to Landlord or in favor of 
Landlord with respect to Subtenant’s Personal Property. In the event Landlord becomes the direct 
sublessor or landlord of a Subtenant, then, respecting any lender of any Subtenant having a security 
interest in any Subtenant’s Personal Property (“Subtenant’s Lender”), Landlord agrees: (i) to provide such 
Subtenant’s Lender, upon written request of a Subtenant (accompanied by the name and address of 
Subtenant’s Lender), with a copy of any default notice given to Subtenant under its sublease, 
concurrently with delivery of such default notice to Subtenant, and (ii) to allow Subtenant’s Lender, prior 
to any termination of the sublease or repossession by Landlord of the applicable premises subleased by 
such Subtenant, the same period of time, after its receipt of such copy of default notice, to cure such 
default as is allowed the Subtenant under its sublease, and (iii) to permit Subtenant’s Lender to enter the 
subleased premises for the purpose of removing Subtenant’s Personal Property anytime within thirty (30) 
days after the effective date of any termination of the applicable sublease or any repossession of the 
subleased premises by Landlord (with Landlord having given Subtenant’s Lender prior written notice of 
such date of termination or possession). Landlord will not be required to allow Subtenant’s Lender to 
enter the subleased premises after entry of judgment in a forcible entry and detainer action, but agree to 
delay the filing of any such forcible entry and detainer action for thirty (30) days after delivery of written 
notice of such action to Subtenant’s Lender, and will permit Subtenant’s Lender to enter the subleased 
premises for the purpose of removing Subtenant’s Personal Property any time within such thirty (30) 
days. Landlord further agrees to execute and deliver such instruments reasonably requested by 
Subtenant’s Lender from time to time to evidence and effect this waiver and agreement of Landlord. 

6.7 Abandonment.  Any of Master Tenant’s Property not removed from the Premises within 
sixty (60) business days of the date the Lease terminates or expires shall be deemed abandoned and 
shall thereupon become the property of Landlord.  Landlord may possess and dispose of such property 
provided that Landlord shall not use or permit anyone holding under Landlord to use on the Premises (a) 
any trademark, trade name, millwork, copyrighted floor plan, copyrighted color palette, or sign used by 
Master Tenant in the Premises; or (b) any item similar to any other item protected by Master Tenant’s 
intellectual property rights.  This provision shall apply under all circumstances, including default by Master 
Tenant under this Lease. 

SECTION 7. MASTER TENANT OBLIGATIONS – OPERATION OF PREMISES. 

7.1 Responsibility of Master Tenant.  Master Tenant shall serve as the master developer and 
sublandlord for the Subtenants and shall be obligated to ensure that the Premises are properly and fully 
operated, in good condition, for the approved commercial uses.  Master Tenant shall be the primary point 
of contact for the Town with regard to all operational, administrative, and compliance issues under this 
Lease. 

7.2 Leasing Standards. Subject to the provisions of Section 14.1 and 14.2 below, Master 
Tenant shall use its commercially reasonable efforts, consistent with good property management 
practices, to obtain first class commercial Subtenants for the Premises. However, if after reasonable 

Page 42



 

 10  

effort, Master Tenant is unable to attract Subtenants of similar type and quality on terms and conditions 
satisfactory to Master Tenant, Master Tenant may, subject to Section 14.2 below, sublease to Subtenants 
who may be considered less desirable in terms commercial type and quality.  Landlord shall not 
unreasonably withhold its approval of any potential Subtenant who Master Tenant reasonably determines 
is the best available Subtenant on terms and conditions satisfactory to Master tenant.  

7.3 Continuous Operations. Master Tenant shall use its commercially reasonable efforts, 
subject to the provisions of Section 7.2 above, to continuously sublet the Premises to approved 
Subtenants for commercial purposes during the term of this lease. If, for any reason, a Subtenant quits its 
business operations on the Premises, Master Tenant shall use its commercially reasonable efforts, in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 7.2 above, to promptly secure another Subtenant reasonably 
acceptable to Master Tenant and Landlord.  

If for any reason during the first three (3) years after the Commencement Date the Premises in 
their entirety are left unleased for a continuous period of eighteen (18) months or more, then either the 
Landlord or Master Tenant may terminate this Lease by giving written notice of termination to the other, in 
which case, upon the giving of such notice of termination, each party shall be released of any future 
liability to the other, except as provided herein. 

If for any reason after the first three (3) years following the Rent Commencement Date the 
Premises are more than fifty percent (50%) unleased for six (6) consecutive months, then Landlord may 
require Master Tenant to prepare and provide to Landlord, for its review and approval, a marketing plan to 
lease said unleased space. Master Tenant shall prepare and provide said marketing plan to Landlord 
within thirty (30) calendar days following written notice from Landlord to prepare said marketing plan. 
Landlord shall complete its review and approval of the marketing plan within thirty (30) calendar days 
following its submission by Master Tenant to Landlord.  If for any reason the Premises remain more than 
fifty percent (50%) unleased for six (6) consecutive months following Landlords approval of the marketing 
plan, and Master Tenant can document to Landlord’s reasonable satisfaction that Master Tenant has 
diligently, and in good faith, pursued the lease of said unleased space in accordance with the approved 
marketing plan, then Landlord shall provide Master Tenant no less than an additional six (6) month period 
of time to lease the unleased space. If following said additional period of time granted by Landlord, the 
Premises are more than fifty percent (50%) unleased, then either the Landlord or Master tenant may 
terminate this Lease by giving written notice of termination to the other, in which case, upon the giving of 
such notice of termination, each party shall be released of any future liability to the other, except as 
provided herein.  

If Landlord terminates the Lease pursuant to this Section 7.3, then Landlord shall assume the 
repayment of all outstanding Master Tenant Work Improvement Loans with the right to prepay such loans 
at Landlord’s election without penalty. However, the Town’s general fund shall assume no obligation for 
repayment of the Master Tenant Work Improvement Loans, which shall be repaid solely from future 
Sublease Income generated from the future operation of the Premises. Landlord’s obligations under the 
immediately preceding sentence shall survive the termination of this Lease pursuant to this Section 7.3.  If 
Master Tenant terminates the Lease pursuant to this Section 7.3, then Master Tenant shall assume the 
repayment of all outstanding Master Tenant Work Improvement Loans and no portion of Sublease 
Income or any other revenue generated by the Premises shall be obligated or utilized for repayment of 
said outstanding.  

7.4 Signage and Displays.  With respect to signage on the Premises, Landlord and Master 
Tenant agree as follows: 

7.4.1 Landlord may allow Master Tenant may place a sign(s) on the exterior of the Tait 
Building to the extent such signage is allowed by law, provided that (i) the design and location of any such 
sign is approved in advance in writing by Landlord, and (ii) Master Tenant secures all necessary permits 
and approvals from the Town and/or any other applicable governmental authority. Any such signage shall 
be designed and installed in a manner that maintains the existing building system warranties, if any, 
applicable to the Tait Building.  Upon expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Master Tenant shall 

Page 43



 

 11  

remove Master Tenant’s sign(s) from the exterior of the Tait Building, if applicable, and restore the 
exterior of the Tait Building to condition existing prior to the placement of such sign(s) on the exterior of 
the Tait Building, unless otherwise approved by Landlord. 

7.5 Utilities.  Master Tenant shall pay, or cause to be paid, for any and all costs, fees and 
expenses of water, gas, electricity, telephone, trash collection and recycling used by Master Tenant or 
any Subtenant in connection with the Premises during the Term of this Lease. 

7.6 Deliveries.  All deliveries shall be made at the hours not in violation of municipal 
ordinances.   

7.7 Wireless Communications Equipment or Devices.  The location of any equipment or 
device for the purpose of telecommunication or wireless access to services over the internet, by any party 
or for Master Tenant’s or any Subtenants business operations, shall be coordinated with the Town and 
shall be subject to Town’s reasonable approval. 

7.8 PBID.  Master Tenant will exercise commercially reasonable efforts to encourage its 
Subtenants to pay, if applicable, all Los Gatos Downtown Property Based Improvement District (“PBID”) 
assessments for the Premises, which accrue during the term of this lease.  

SECTION 8. MAINTENANCE, REPAIRS, AND ALTERATIONS. 

8.1 Master Tenant’s Obligations.  Subject to the provisions of Section 8.2 below, and except 
for damage caused by fire or other casualty, whether or not insured or insurable, Master Tenant, at 
Master Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall keep, or cause to be kept, the Premises, in good condition  
and repair, including maintaining and repairing, or causing to be maintained or repaired, as necessary, all 
Master Tenant’s Work, and all plumbing, HVAC, electrical and lighting facilities and equipment within the 
Premises, and any Master Tenant signage, and all doors and plate glass windows (both interior and 
exterior), interior walls, and flooring in the Premises.  Master Tenant shall provide a contract for regular 
maintenance of the HVAC with an HVAC company reasonably approved by Landlord.    Master Tenant 
shall be required to implement a program, reasonably acceptable to Landlord, for control and elimination 
of rodents and vermin on or around the Premises.  Master Tenant shall be required to maintain any 
Outdoor Use Areas located on the Premises.  Master Tenant shall remove graffiti from the exterior of the 
Premises within a reasonable time and shall always otherwise keep the exterior of the Premises in a 
clean and well-maintained condition. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, Master Tenant’s 
obligations under this Section 8.1 shall not include making (a) any repair or improvement necessitated by 
the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, its agents, employees or servants; (b) any repair or 
improvement caused by Landlord’s failure to perform its obligations hereunder or under any other 
agreement between Landlord and Master Tenant or (c) any capital repairs or capital improvements not 
funded by the Capital Reserve Fund. 

8.2 Landlord’s Obligations. 

8.2.1 Except for repairs and maintenance to the Premises that Master Tenant must 
make under Section 8.1 above, Landlord shall be responsible, at its sole cost and expense, for the 
remediation of any Hazardous Materials discovered in, on, or about the Premises during the work 
performed under Section 6 above or discovered thereafter, provided, said discovery and presence of 
Hazardous Materials are not directly arising out of or attributable to Master Tenant or any subtenants use 
and/or occupancy of the Premises,  Further, Landlord shall be responsible for, at its sole cost and 
expenses, the roof structure, roof membrane and supports, HVAC (excluding Master Tenant’s 
maintenance contract), sprinkler system, foundation, exterior walls, and all structural components of the 
Tait Building.  In the event of an emergency, Master Tenant may give Landlord such notice as is 
practicable under the circumstances (if any), and if Landlord fails to make such repairs immediately, 
Master Tenant may immediately undertake such repairs and submit an invoice for the reasonable costs 
thereof to Landlord for reimbursement.  Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, Landlord’s 
obligations under this Section 8.2.1 shall not include making (a) any repair or improvement necessitated 

Page 44



 

 12  

by the negligence or willful misconduct of Master Tenant, Subtenants, or their agents, employees or 
servants; or (b) any repair or improvement caused by Master Tenant’s failure to perform its obligations 
(including obligations which a Sublease obligates a Sublessee) hereunder or under any other agreement 
between Landlord and Master Tenant. 

8.3 Surrender.  Upon the expiration or termination of this Lease, Master Tenant shall 
surrender the Premises to Landlord in good order and condition, except for ordinary wear and tear, 
condemnation, and damage caused by fire or other casualty, whether or not insured or insurable, 
alterations and leasehold improvements made by Master Tenant and Subtenants, and in a broom clean 
condition. 

8.4 Landlord’s Rights.  If Master Tenant fails to perform Master Tenant’s obligations under 
Section 8.1 above, Landlord may, but shall not be required to, enter upon the Premises, after twenty (20) 
calendar days prior written notice to Master Tenant, and put the same in good order, condition and repair, 
and the actual costs thereof and an administrative fee of not more than 10% of the actual costs thereof, 
shall become due and payable as additional rent to Landlord together with Master Tenant’s next Minimum 
Monthly Rent installment payment falling due after Master Tenant’s receipt of an invoice for such costs; 
provided, however, Landlord shall not be able to exercise such remedies so long as Master Tenant 
commences to cure its failure within said twenty (20) day period and diligently pursues the cure to 
completion. 

8.5 Improvements.  The installation of the leasehold improvements necessary for Master 
Tenant’s operation of its business in the Premises shall be performed in accordance with Section 6.  
Once such improvements are completed, Master Tenant shall not thereafter make any alterations, 
improvements, additions, upgrades or utility installations in, on or about the Premises, or install any 
further fixtures, furniture, or equipment therein (together, “Improvements”) without Landlord’s consent, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, provided, however, that minor 
interior Improvements that do not exceed the amount of $50,000, and do not otherwise require permits 
under Applicable Laws (“Minor Improvements”), shall not require Landlord’s consent under this Lease.  All 
other Improvements exceeding $50,000 for construction, or which require permits under Applicable Laws, 
or involve alterations to the exterior of the Premises (“Major Improvements”) shall be subject to Landlord’s 
review and approval under this Lease.  Landlord may review all proposed Improvements for their 
consistency with the final as-built plans for the Tait Building and may approve variations from such 
drawings in its reasonable discretion.  Town Manager is authorized to make such determination to 
approve Major Improvements which otherwise comply with Applicable Laws under this Lease.  
Notwithstanding Landlord’s approval of Major Improvements under this Lease, Master Tenant shall be 
required to obtain all required permits for such Major Improvements under Applicable Law. 

8.6 Capital Reserve Fund.  On or before the fifteenth day following Landlord’s receipt of the 
Minimum Monthly Rent, Landlord shall deposit the Minimum Monthly Rent to the account described in this 
Section 8.6 (“Capital Reserve Fund”). 

8.6.1 Maintenance of Capital Reserve Fund.  The Capital Reserve Fund shall be 
maintained in a state or nationally chartered bank, the Local Agency Investment Fund Pooled Money 
Investment Account, or other such institution acceptable to Landlord. 

8.6.2 Use of Capital Reserve Fund.  Landlord may use monies in the Capital 
Reserve Fund to fund capital improvements to maintain the quality of the Premises or other purposes 
reasonably related to this Lease, subject to the reasonable consent of Master Tenant.  The use of monies 
in the Capital Reserve Fund shall be controlled and directed by Landlord in its sole discretion, with input 
by Master Tenant, but will be used primarily for capital improvements to the Premises.  Unused amounts 
in the Capital Reserve Fund on the Termination Date will be retained by the Town. 

8.6.3 Master Tenant shall utilize Sublease Income to repay Landlord for funds it 
advances from the Capital Reserve Fund for uses identified in Section 8.6.2 above (“Capital Reserve 
Fund Improvement Loans”), on the following basis: 

Page 45



 

 13  

(a) Interest.  Interest shall be on the basis of actual days elapsed, at a fixed 
rate of 4% per annum, as of the date of each advance. 

(b) Repayment Term.  The repayment term shall be the lesser of ten years 
or the initial term of the applicable Sublease if the Capital Reserve Fund Improvement Loan is related to 
Subtenant Work. 

(c) Amortization.  For each Capital Reserve Fund Improvement Loan, 
interest only payments until the later of (i) first day of the month following the final advance under the 
loan, or (ii) the date subrent is due if the Capital Reserve Fund Improvement Loan is related to Subtenant 
Work, and thereafter equal monthly payments of combined principal and interest necessary to fully 
amortize the loan over the remaining repayment term. 

SECTION 9. INSURANCE. 

9.1 General.  Prior to commencing any work or operations under this Lease, and for the full 
term of this Lease and any extensions thereof, Master Tenant and any Subtenants, at each parties’ sole 
cost and expense, shall obtain and maintain or shall cause to be obtained and maintained insurance 
against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with 
the activities of Master Tenant and its Subtenants, agents, employees and contractors, meeting at least 
the minimum insurance requirements set forth in Exhibit E on terms and conditions and in amounts as 
reasonably required by Town from time to time and with insurers reasonably acceptable to the Town and 
within commonly applicable industry standards for the type of operation. The Town shall not be obligated 
to take out insurance on Master Tenant’s or Subtenant’s property, including the Master Tenant’s Work.  
Master Tenant shall be responsible for obtaining property insurance to cover the cost of repair or 
replacement of the Master Tenant’s Work. Master Tenant and its Subtenants shall provide the Town with 
certificates of insurance or copies of all policies and such endorsements as may be reasonably required 
by the Town.  These requirements are subject to reasonable amendment or waiver if so approved in 
writing by the Town Manager.  From time to time at the request of the Finance Department of the Town of 
Los Gatos, Master Tenant shall provide a written statement of the replacement cost of the Master 
Tenant’s Work. 

During the term of the Lease, Landlord shall maintain general liability insurance in an amount of 
no less than $2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury, property damage and personal injury, as well as 
property insurance covering the cost of repair or replacement of the Premises (excluding therefrom the 
Master Tenant’s Work). 

SECTION 10. INDEMNIFICATION BY MASTER TENANT. 

10.1 General.  Master Tenant shall defend, indemnify, and hold Landlord and Landlord’s 
agent, officers, directors, employees, and contractors harmless against and from any and all injuries, 
costs, expenses, liabilities, losses, damages, injunctions, suits, actions, fines, penalties, and demands of 
any kind or nature (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) in connection with any and all third party claims 
to the extent arising out of Master Tenant’s use of the Premises (“Claims”), including, but not limited to:  
(a) injuries occurring within the Premises; (b) any intentional acts or negligence of Master Tenant or 
Master Tenant’s officers, agents, employees, subtenants, or contractors; (c) any breach or default in the 
performance of any obligation on Master Tenant’s part to be performed under this Lease; (d) any violation 
by Master Tenant or any of its officers, agents, employees, subtenants or contractors of any law, 
ordinance or regulation governing the use of the Premises, (e) any injuries (including death of any 
person), claims, or causes of action relating to or involving the sale of alcoholic beverages on the 
Premises; or (f) the failure of any representation or warranty made by Master Tenant herein to be true 
when made.  This indemnity does not include any Claims caused by or arising out of the intentional or 
negligent acts or omissions of Landlord or its agents, officers, contractors or employees.  This indemnity 
shall survive termination of this Lease only as to claims arising out of events that occur prior to 
termination of the Lease. 

Page 46



 

 14  

SECTION 11. ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY. 

11.1 Environmental Law.  The term “Environmental Law” means collectively:  (i) the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 
9601, et seq., (ii) the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, as amended, 49 U.S.C. § 1801, et seq., (iii) 
the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6901, et seq., (iv) the Federal 
Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. § 1251, et seq., (v) the Clean Air Act, as amended, 
42 U.S.C. § 7401, et seq., (vi) the Toxic Substances Control Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq., 
(vii) the Clean Water Act, as amended, 33 U.S. Code § 1251, et seq., (viii) the Oil Pollution Act, as 
amended, 33 U.S.C. § 2701, et seq., (ix) California Health & Safety Code § 25100, et seq. (Hazardous 
Waste Control), (x) the Hazardous Substance Account Act, as amended, Health & Safety Code § 25300, 
et seq., (xi) the Unified Hazardous Waste and Hazardous Materials Management Regulatory Program, as 
amended, Health & Safety Code § 25404, et seq., (xii) Health & Safety Code § 25531, et seq. (Hazardous 
Materials Management), (xiii) the California Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act, as 
amended, Health & Safety Code § 25249.5, et seq., (xiv) Health & Safety Code § 25280, et seq. 

(Underground Storage of Hazardous Substances), (xv) the California Hazardous Waste Management Act, 
as amended, Health & Safety Code § 25170.1, et seq., (xvi) Health & Safety Code § 25501, et seq., 
(Hazardous Materials Response Plans and Inventory), (xvii) Health & Safety Code § 18901, et seq. 
(California Building Standards), (xviii) the Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act, as amended, 
California Water Code § 13000, et seq., (xix) California Fish and Game Code §§ 5650-5656, (xx) the 
Polanco Redevelopment Act, as amended, Health & Safety Code § 33459, et seq., (xxi) Health & Safety 
Code § 25403, et seq. (Hazardous Materials Release Cleanup), and (xxii) any other federal, state or local 
laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, court orders or common law related in any way to the protection of 
the environment, health or safety, or industrial hygiene. 

11.2 Hazardous Materials.  “Hazardous Materials” means any substance, material, or waste 
which is or becomes regulated by any local governmental authority, the State of California, or the United 
States Government under any Environmental Laws, including any material or substance which is defined 
as “hazardous,” “extremely hazardous,” “hazardous waste,” “extremely hazardous waste,” “restricted 
hazardous waste,” “hazardous substance” or “hazardous material” under any Environmental Laws, 
including, without limitation, chlorinated solvents, petroleum, or any fraction thereof, friable asbestos, and 
polychlorinated biphenyls. 

11.3 Release of Hazardous Materials.  Except as provided below in Section 11.4, Master 
Tenant shall not store, dispose of, transport, generate or otherwise introduce any Hazardous Material in, 
on or around the Premises.  If any Hazardous Material is deposited, released, stored, disposed, 
transported, generated or otherwise introduced by Master Tenant in, on, or around the Premises, Master 
Tenant, at Master Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall comply with all applicable laws, rules, 
regulations and policies of any governmental body with jurisdiction over the same, to remove, transport 
and dispose of such substances and perform all remediation and cleanup necessary or advisable to 
remediate any damage to persons, property or the environment as a result of the presence of such 
Hazardous Materials. 

11.4 Master Tenant’s Use of Hazardous Materials.  Notwithstanding the above and provided 
that Master Tenant complies with all Applicable Laws and Environmental Laws, Master Tenant shall have 
the right to use Hazardous Materials on the Premises to the extent such Hazardous Materials (i) are 
contained in restaurant and/or household products, office supply products or janitorial products customarily 
used in the maintenance, rehabilitation, operation or management of facilities similar to the Premises; or (ii) 
are commonly used by a significant portion of the population living within the region of the Premises, 
including, but not limited to, alcoholic beverages, aspirin, tobacco products, NutraSweet and saccharine, so 
long as Master Tenant provides the appropriate warning, if required to do so under any Applicable Law or 
Environmental Law. 

11.5 Environmental Indemnity.  Master Tenant shall protect, indemnify, and hold harmless 
Landlord and Landlord’s officer’s employees, agents, representatives, contractors, and subcontractors 
from and against any and all loss, damage, cost, expense, or liability (including attorneys’ fees), and the 

Page 47



 

 15  

costs of repairs and improvements necessary to return the Premises to the physical condition existing 
prior to Master Tenant’s undertaking any activity related to any Hazardous Substance, directly arising out 
of or attributable to Master Tenant’s or Master Tenant’s agents’, contractors’, employees’ or Subtenants’ 
use, manufacture, storage, release, or disposal of a Hazardous Substance on the Premises.  Landlord 
shall protect, indemnify, and hold harmless Master Tenant and Master Tenant’s employees, agents, 
parents, representatives, subtenants, contractors, subcontractors and subsidiaries from and against any 
and all loss, damage, cost, expense, or liability (including attorneys’ fees) and the costs of repairs and 
improvements necessary to return the Premises, or applicable portion thereof, to the physical condition 
existing prior to undertaking any activity related to any Hazardous Substance directly arising out of or 
attributable to Landlord’s or Landlord’s agents’, contractors’, or employees’ use, manufacture, storage, 
release, or disposal of a Hazardous Substance on the Premises.  The provisions of this Section 11.5 shall 
survive the termination of this Lease. 

SECTION 12. TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS/ POSSESSORY INTEREST TAX. 

12.1 General.  Master Tenant acknowledges and agrees that this Lease will create a 
possessory interest subject to property taxation.  Master Tenant agrees to pay and discharge, as 
additional rent for the Premises during the term of this Lease, before delinquency, all taxes (including, 
without limitation, possessory interest taxes associated with the Premises, this Lease and any so-called 
value added tax), assessments (including, without limitation, all assessments for public improvements or 
benefits, whether or not commenced or completed prior to the date hereof and whether or not to be 
completed within the term of this Lease), fees, levies, water and sewer rents, rates and charges, vault 
license fees or rentals, license and permit fees and other governmental charges of any kind or nature 
whatsoever, general and special, ordinary and extraordinary, foreseen and unforeseen, or hereinafter 
levied or assessed in lieu of or in substitution of any of the foregoing (all of the foregoing collectively 
called “taxes”) which are or may be at any time or from time to time during the term of this Lease levied, 
charged, assessed or imposed upon or against the Premises or any improvements which are now or 
hereafter located thereon, or against any of Master Tenant’s personal property now or hereafter located 
thereon, or which may be levied, charged, assessed or imposed upon or against the leasehold estate 
created hereby or which may be imposed upon any taxable interest of Master Tenant acquired pursuant 
to this Lease on account of any taxable possessory right which Master Tenant may have acquired 
pursuant to this Lease.  Master Tenant shall pay or reimburse Landlord, as the case may be, for any 
fines, penalties, interest or costs which may be added by the collecting authority for the late payment or 
nonpayment of any taxes required to be paid by Master Tenant hereunder. 

SECTION 13. PROHIBITION AGAINST CHANGE IN MASTER TENANT AND CONTROL OF MASTER 
TENANT AND THE PREMISES, AND TRASNFER OF MASTER TENANT’S RIGHTS UNDER THIS 
LEASE. 

13.1 Qualifications of Master Tenant.  Master Tenant acknowledges that the qualifications and 
identity of Master Tenant, including in particular Master Tenant’s Managing Members, are of particular 
concern to the community and the town, in view of the following: 

13.1.1 The importance of the proper subleasing of the Premises to the general 
welfare of the community; 

13.1.2 The reliance by the Town upon Master Tenant to assure the quality of the 
Premises and its use, operation and maintenance; 

13.1.3 The fact that a change in Master Tenant or control of all or a portion of Master 
Tenant, or any act or transaction involving or resulting in a change in Master Tenant is for practical 
purposes a Transfer or disposition of the Premises; and 

13.1.4 The importance to the Town and the community of the standards for the use, 
operation and maintenance of the Premises and associated areas. 

Page 48



 

 16  

13.2 Acknowledgment of Importance of Qualifications. Master Tenant further recognizes that it 
is because of such qualifications and identity that the Landlord is entering into this Lease with Master 
Tenant. No voluntary or involuntary successor-in-interest of Master Tenant shall acquire any rights or 
powers under this Lease except as expressly set forth in this Lease. 

13.3 Completion of Master Tenants Work. Prior to the completion of Master Tenant’s Work, 
Master Tenant shall not (i) assign all or any part of its rights or obligations under this Lease, (ii) lease or 
sublease any portion of the Premises (other than subleases of portions of the Premises to permitted 
Subtenants as otherwise provided in the Lease), (iii) make or permit to be made any changes in the 
composition of Master Tenant’s ownership, limited liability company status, or members, or (iv) effect any 
transaction which would in any way change the Master Tenant’s ownership, management, control or 
obligations relating to the Premises.  

13.4 Permitted Transfers. Following the period described in Section 13.3 above (i.e. 
completion of Master Tenant’s Work), Master Tenant may, with the prior review and approval of the Town 
Manager (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), make changes in the 
composition of Master tenant’s ownership, corporate or other entity status, shareholders, members or 
partners (if applicable), provided that Master Tenant’s managing Member, retains the power to control 
Master Tenant’s active, day-to-day management responsibilities (“Day-to-Day management”). For 
purposes of the immediately preceding sentence, “control” shall mean the power to direct or cause the 
direction of the Day-to-Day Management of the Master tenant.  Five years from the Commencement 
Date, provided Master Tenant has performed all of its obligations under this Lease, Master Tenant may 
appoint, with the consent of Landlord which shall not be unreasonably withheld, a new Master Tenant 
Managing Member. 

13.5 Notification of Changes in Ownership or Control. During the term of this Lease, the 
Master Tenant shall promptly notify the Town of any and all changes whatsoever in the Master tenant’s 
ownership, corporate or other status, management or control of the Master tenant and the degree thereof, 
of which it or any of its officers have been notified or otherwise have knowledge or information. 

13.6 Termination for Transfer.  This Lease shall terminate pursuant to Section 18 if there is 
any voluntary or involuntary assignment or Transfer other than provided in in Section 13.4 or as otherwise 
expressly provided in this Lease. 

 

SECTION 14. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. 

14.1 General.  Except for those Subtenants approved by Town as provided herein, Master 
Tenant shall not assign, let or sublet the whole or any portion of the Premises. 

14.2 Conditions for Landlord’s Consent to Subtenants. Landlord’s decision to grant or withhold 
its consent to a Subtenant may be based upon standards relevant to the type of subtenant and its 
proposed operation, including but not limited to: (i) experience or lack of experience in operating a retail 
establishment; (ii) the operating standards of such subtenant and whether it will provide the premium 
caliber of facilities and services acceptable to Landlord; (iii) the financial capacity to perform the 
provisions of this Lease and produce a fair return to Landlord; (iv) the experience of the proposed 
subtenant; (v) the ability of the Master Tenant and subtenants to perform the provisions of this Lease. 
However, Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay its approval of any potential 
Subtenant who Master tenant reasonably determines is the best available Subtenant on terms and 
conditions satisfactory to Master tenant, so long as Master tenant has made reasonable efforts to attract 
the highest quality potential Subtenants available on terms and conditions satisfactory to Master tenant.  

14.3 Conditions for Landlord’s Consent to Assignment.  Landlord’s decision to grant or 
withhold its consent to any assignment of this Lease by Master tenant shall be at the Landlord’s sole and 

Page 49



 

 17  

exclusive discretion, but otherwise may be based upon standards of commercial reasonableness, 
including but not limited to the financial capacity, experience and ability of assignee to perform the 
provisions of the Lease.   

14.4 Approval by Town Manager.  Any such consent, if given by Landlord, shall be in writing 
and may be approved by the Town Manager on behalf of Landlord. 

14.5 Recognition Agreement.  In connection with each Sublease consented to by Landlord, 
Landlord shall agree in writing in favor of the applicable Subtenant that if this Lease terminates, then 
Landlord shall attorn to such applicable Subtenant on the terms and conditions of such Subtenant’s 
sublease.  In the event of such attornment, Landlord shall assume all of the Master Tenant’s obligations 
under the applicable sublease accruing from and after the date the Master Lease terminates.  Landlord 
shall indemnify, defend and hold Master Tenant harmless from and against any and all claims, damages, 
liabilities, demands, actions, causes of action, judgments, injuries, liens, costs and expenses (including, 
without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit) arising from any breach or default by 
Landlord of any of its assumed obligations under the applicable sublease; however, such indemnification, 
defense and hold harmless obligation shall not be applicable to any claims, damages, liabilities, 
demands, actions, causes of action, judgments, injuries, liens, costs and expenses (including, without 
limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit) to the extent arising from any breach by Master 
Tenant of any obligations of the sublessor under the applicable sublease occurring prior to the date 
Landlord attorns to the applicable Subtenant under the terms of the applicable Subtenant’s sublease.  
Landlord’s obligations under this Section 14.5 shall survive the termination of this Lease. 

SECTION 15. MORTGAGE OF LEASEHOLD. 

15.1 Prohibited Encumbrances.  Except as permitted in Section 0 below, Master Tenant shall 
not: 

15.1.1 Engage in any financing or other transaction placing any mortgage or deed of 
trust upon the Property, or upon Master Tenant’s leasehold estate therein or the improvements 
constructed thereon; or 

15.1.2 Place or suffer to be placed upon Master Tenant’s leasehold estate or the 
improvements thereon any lien, levy, attachment or other encumbrance (other than a lien upon said 
leasehold estate for taxes and assessments levied but not delinquent or payable with penalty); provided, 
however, the foregoing notwithstanding, Master Tenant shall have the right to contest or appeal the 
validity of any such lien, levy, encumbrance or attachment, provided that Master Tenant shall first furnish 
adequate security to the reasonable satisfaction of Landlord to protect the Premises during the pendency 
of such contest or appeal. 

Any such mortgage, deed of trust, levy, attachment, encumbrance or lien (collectively, “encumbrance”) 
not permitted pursuant to the terms of this Lease and caused or created by Master Tenant shall be 
deemed to be a violation of this covenant on the date of its execution or filing of record, regardless of 
whether or when it is foreclosed or otherwise enforced, unless Master Tenant shall, within twenty (20) 
days of such date of execution or filing of record, remove such encumbrance or provide adequate security 
to the reasonable satisfaction of Landlord to protect the Premises and the improvements thereon from 
such encumbrance. 

15.2 Permissible Encumbrances. 

15.2.1 Anything in this Lease to the contrary notwithstanding, with Landlord’s prior 
written consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), Master Tenant’s 
Work may be funded by debt, and accordingly Master Tenant may assign or encumber the estate created 
by this Lease, by way of leasehold mortgages, leasehold deeds of trust, or otherwise. 

Page 50



 

 18  

15.2.2 With Landlord’s prior written consent (which shall not be unreasonably 
withheld, conditioned or delayed), Master Tenant may assign or encumber the estate created by this 
Lease by way of not more than two leasehold mortgages and/or leasehold deeds of trusts at any one time 
encumbering Master Tenant’s leasehold interests, provided that such leasehold mortgages and/or 
leasehold deeds of trusts comply with the requirements of this Section 15.  Landlord shall have no 
obligation to make any changes to this Lease to accommodate any Permitted Mortgagee but agrees to 
work with Master Tenant in good faith in Master Tenant’s efforts to obtain a Permitted Mortgage.  

15.2.3 The fee title to the Premises cannot be encumbered pursuant to this Section 
15; only the leasehold interest of the Master Tenant under this Lease (including, without limitation, Master 
Tenant’s interest in the Premises, Master Tenant’s Work, Subtenant’s Work and Master Tenant’s Property 
and any personal property of any Subtenant) may be so encumbered. 

15.2.4 An encumbrance permitted by this Section 15 shall be referred to as a 
“Permitted Mortgage.”  The holder of a Permitted Mortgage is herein referred to as a “Permitted 
Mortgagee.” 

15.3 Notice to Landlord.  Except when Landlord’s prior approval or consent shall be required, 
Master Tenant shall notify Landlord within twenty (20) days of the time of creation of any lien or 
encumbrance which has been created on or attached to Master Tenant’s leasehold estate therein or the 
Master Tenant improvements thereon, whether by act of Master Tenant or otherwise.  If such lien or 
encumbrance is not created by an act of Master Tenant, Master Tenant shall notify Landlord of such 
creation as of the time Master Tenant first knows of such creation or attachment. 

15.4 Mortgages Subordinate to Lease.  Any mortgage permitted under Section 15 hereof shall 
be subject and subordinate to this Lease and, except as otherwise expressly provided herein or in any 
separate written agreement between Landlord and a Permitted Mortgagee, the rights of Landlord 
hereunder. 

15.5 Extent of Encumbrance.  A Permitted Mortgage shall encumber no interest in property 
other than Master Tenant’s interest in the leasehold and improvements to the Premises, including without 
limitation, Master Tenant’s interest in the Premises, Master Tenant’s Work, Subtenant’s Work and Master 
Tenant’s Property, and any personal property of any Subtenant. 

15.6 Disposition of Insurance Proceeds and Condemnation Awards.  A Permitted Mortgage 
shall contain provisions permitting the disposition and application of the insurance proceeds and 
condemnation awards in the manner provided in this Lease. In the event that the Premises, or any portion 
thereof, are damaged or destroyed or condemned by power of eminent domain, in whole or in part, to the 
extent required by the provisions of the Permitted Mortgage, the proceeds therefrom shall be held by the 
Permitted Mortgagee, to be applied in the case of damage or destruction pursuant to the terms of the 
Permitted Mortgage with any excess to be paid to Landlord and Tenant as their interests may appear and 
to be applied in accordance with Section 17.3 hereof in the case of condemnation. 

15.7 Permitted Mortgagee.  Except as otherwise approved in writing by Landlord, a Permitted 
Mortgage may be given only to a responsible bona fide institutional lender.  For the purposes hereof, the 
term “institutional lender” shall mean any one of the following lending institutions:  a commercial or 
savings bank; a state bank or national bank, a trust company; an insurance company; a savings and loan 
association; a building and loan association; a credit union; an investment banking firm; an educational 
institution; a pension, retirement or welfare fund; a charity; a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) but only 
if the REIT is publicly traded and registered with the U.S. Securities & Exchange Commission, and the 
amount of the Permitted Mortgage does not exceed two percent of the value of the REIT’s assets; an 
endowment fund or foundation authorized to make loans in the State of California; or any other 
responsible financial institution. 

15.8 Continuing Terms and Covenants.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease 
or in a separate document executed by Landlord, all rights acquired by said Permitted Mortgagee under 

Page 51



 

 19  

said Permitted Mortgage shall be subject to each and all of the covenants, conditions and restrictions set 
forth in this Lease, and to all rights of Landlord hereunder, none of which covenants, conditions and 
restrictions is or shall be waived by Landlord by reason of the giving of such Permitted Mortgage, except 
as expressly provided in this Lease or in a separate document executed by Landlord.  Notwithstanding 
any foreclosure of any Permitted Mortgage and so long as this Lease has not been terminated, unless 
and until a Permitted Mortgagee takes possession of the Premises (subject to any Subleases then in 
existence, if applicable) and to the extent Master Tenant is receiving the revenues from the Premises, 
Master Tenant shall remain liable for the payment of Minimum Monthly Rent, Percentage Rent and all 
other payments payable pursuant to this Lease, and for the performance of all of the terms, covenants 
and conditions of this Lease which by the terms hereof are to be carried out and performed by Master 
Tenant. 

15.9 Affirmation of Lease in Bankruptcy.  In the event of the filing of a petition in bankruptcy by 
the Master Tenant, and the Master Tenant rejects this Lease under Section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, 
the Landlord shall, upon the request of a Permitted Mortgagee, affirm this Lease, and the Landlord will 
enter into a new Lease on the same terms and conditions with the Permitted Mortgagee immediately 
upon Master Tenant’s rejection of this Lease.  In the event of the filing of a petition in bankruptcy by the 
Landlord, and the Landlord rejects this Lease and the Master Tenant does not affirm it, a Permitted 
Mortgagee will have the authority to affirm the Lease on behalf of the Master Tenant and to keep the 
Lease in full force and effect. 

15.10 Notice Required.  Master Tenant shall submit to Landlord within the times set forth in this 
Section 15 a written notice of its intention to enter into a Permitted Mortgage, and shall submit to Landlord 
such information and detail as will enable Landlord to determine the compliance of such intended 
Permitted Mortgage with the provisions of this Section 15 and this Lease.  If Landlord has not objected to 
the intended Permitted Mortgage on the grounds of noncompliance with provisions of this Lease within 45 
days of receipt by Landlord of such notice and information, the intended Permitted Mortgage shall be 
deemed to comply with the provisions of this Section 15 and this Lease and be deemed approved by 
Landlord, provided that in no event shall any such deemed approval act or operate to subordinate 
Landlord’s fee title to the Property to the Permitted Mortgage.  Master Tenant shall thereafter promptly 
submit to Landlord final documents in connection with such Permitted Mortgage upon their execution or 
receipt by Master Tenant, or upon the funding of the loan secured by the Permitted Mortgage, for review 
by Landlord for compliance with the provisions of this Section 15 and this Lease. 

15.11 Landlord’s Right to Cure Master Tenant’s Defaults on Leasehold Mortgages.  Master 
Tenant agrees that any Permitted Mortgage shall provide: 

15.11.1 That the Permitted Mortgagee shall in writing by certified or registered mail (or 
recognized overnight courier service) give notice to Landlord of the occurrence of any event of default 
under said Permitted Mortgage; and 

15.11.2 That Landlord shall be given at least 30 days’ notice of default in debt service 
payments or any other obligation of Master Tenant under a Permitted Mortgage before such Permitted 
Mortgagee will initiate any mortgage foreclosure action or accelerate the indebtedness or exercise its 
power of sale.  If any payments required to be made under the provisions of the Permitted Mortgage shall 
not be paid, or any other act or omission shall occur which constitutes a default under the terms of such 
Permitted Mortgage, Landlord may cure such default during any period that Master Tenant is in default 
thereunder, provided that Landlord shall comply with the provisions of Section 18 hereof calling for prior 
notice to Master Tenant except in cases of emergency where earlier action is required, notifying Master 
Tenant of Landlord’s intention to cure such default on Master Tenant’s behalf.  Landlord shall not 
commence to cure such default if (a) Master Tenant shall have cured such default within said 30-day 
period, or (b) except for defaults in the payment of money, Master Tenant shall have commenced to cure 
such default and is diligently pursuing such cure in full compliance with the terms of the Permitted 
Mortgage, or (c) Master Tenant shall have obtained from the Permitted Mortgagee a written extension of 
time in which to cure such default, together with a separate written extension of time granting Landlord 
reasonable additional time to cure said default if said default is not cured within said extended time, and 

Page 52



 

 20  

executed copies thereof are delivered to Landlord.  Any Permitted Mortgage shall further expressly 
provide that, in the event Master Tenant fails to cure any default thereunder, Landlord shall have a 
reasonable period of time (considering the nature of the default) to cure such default following the 
expiration of all periods (including any extensions of time and periods during which performance is 
waived) allowed for Master Tenant’s cure of such default. 

15.11.3 If Landlord shall elect to cure any default under a Permitted Mortgage, Master 
Tenant shall pay the costs reasonably incurred by Landlord in curing such default to Landlord, together 
with interest thereon at the “Reference Rate” of the Bank of America plus three percent and not to exceed 
the maximum rate for which the parties may lawfully contract, as Additional Rent.  Master Tenant hereby 
authorizes Landlord, in Landlord’s name, without any obligation or duty to do so, to do any act or thing 
required of or permitted to Master Tenant to prevent any default under said Permitted Mortgage or any 
acceleration thereof, or the taking of any portion of the security for the Permitted Mortgage by foreclosure 
or other action to enforce the collection of the indebtedness, and Master Tenant agrees to indemnify and 
hold Landlord harmless from any costs, damages, expenses or liabilities (including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees) resulting from Landlord exercising its rights pursuant to this Section 15.  Notwithstanding any 
provisions of this Lease to the contrary, if Landlord shall elect to cure any default under a Permitted 
Mortgage and such Permitted Mortgage is non-recourse to Master Tenant, Master Tenant shall not be 
obligated to reimburse Landlord for any costs incurred by Landlord, provided; however, any payments 
made by Landlord shall be payable to the extent Master Tenant is receiving rental payments under this 
Lease and such payments to Landlord shall be payable prior to any other payments. 

15.12 Notice to Landlord.  No Permitted Mortgagee shall have the rights or benefits mentioned 
in this Section 15 nor shall the provisions of this Section 15 be binding upon Landlord, unless and until 
the name and address of the Permitted Mortgagee shall have been delivered to Landlord, notwithstanding 
any other form of notice, actual or constructive. 

15.13 Rights and Obligations of Permitted Mortgagees.  If Master Tenant, or Master Tenant’s 
successors or assigns, shall mortgage this Lease in compliance with the provisions of this Section 15, 
then, so long as any such Permitted Mortgage shall remain unsatisfied of record, the following provisions 
shall apply: 

15.13.1 Landlord, upon serving upon Master Tenant any notice of default pursuant to 
the provisions of Section 18 hereof, or any other notice under the provisions of or with respect to this 
Lease, shall also serve a copy of such notice upon any Permitted Mortgagee at the address of such 
Permitted Mortgagee provided pursuant to Section 15.12 above, and no notice by Landlord to Master 
Tenant hereunder shall affect any rights of a Permitted Mortgagee unless and until thirty (30) days after a 
copy thereof has been so served to such Permitted Mortgagee.  Notwithstanding any event of default by 
Master Tenant under this Lease, Landlord shall have no right to terminate this Lease unless Landlord 
shall have given the Permitted Mortgagee written notice of such default and Permitted Mortgagee shall 
have failed to remedy such default as provided below or acquire Master Tenant’s estate created hereby 
or commence foreclosure or other appropriate proceedings in the nature thereof, as all set forth in, and 
within the time specified by this Section 15.13. 

15.13.2 In case Master Tenant shall have failed to cure any default hereunder within 
the period provided for Master Tenant to cure such default, Landlord shall so notify any Permitted 
Mortgagee of such failure and any Permitted Mortgagee shall, within thirty (30) days of receipt of such 
notice have the right, but not the obligation, to remedy such default or cause the same to be remedied, 
and Landlord shall accept such performance by or at the instance of the Permitted Mortgagee as if the 
same had been made by Master Tenant; provided, however, that if the breach or default is with respect to 
the Master Tenant’s Work, nothing contained in this Section or any other Section or provision of this 
Lease shall be deemed to permit or authorize such Permitted Mortgagee, either before or after 
foreclosure or action in lieu thereof, to undertake or continue the construction or completion of the 
improvements beyond the extent necessary to conserve or protect the improvements or construction 
already made without first having expressly assumed the obligation to Landlord to complete, in the 

Page 53



 

 21  

manner provided in this Lease, the improvements on the Premises or the part thereof to which the lien or 
title of such Permitted Mortgagee relates. 

15.13.3 For the purposes of this Section 15 no event of default, other than an event of 
default due to a default in the payment of money, shall be deemed to exist under Section 18 hereof with 
respect to the performance of work required to be performed, or of acts to be done or of conditions to be 
remedied, if steps shall, in good faith, have been commenced by Master Tenant or a Permitted 
Mortgagee within the time permitted therefor to rectify the same and shall be prosecuted to completion 
with diligence and continuity as Section 18 hereof provides. 

15.13.4 Anything herein contained to the contrary notwithstanding, upon the 
occurrence of an event of default, other than an event of default due to a default in the payment of money 
(for which the Permitted Mortgagee shall have no more than thirty (30) days following receipt of written 
notice from Landlord to cure such monetary default), Landlord shall take no action to effect a termination 
of this Lease without first giving to any Permitted Mortgagee written notice thereof and a reasonable time 
thereafter which shall not be less than ninety (90) days within which to either (a) obtain possession of the 
mortgaged property (including possession by a receiver), or (b) institute, prosecute and complete 
foreclosure proceedings or otherwise diligently acquire Master Tenant’s interest under this Lease.  A 
Permitted Mortgagee, upon acquiring Master Tenant’s interest under this Lease, shall be required 
promptly to cure all defaults then reasonably susceptible to being cured by such Permitted Mortgagee; 
provided, however, that: (1) such Permitted Mortgagee shall not be obligated to continue such possession 
or to continue such foreclosure proceedings after such defaults shall have been cured; (2) nothing herein 
contained shall preclude Landlord, subject to the provisions of this Section 15, from exercising any rights 
or remedies under this Lease with respect to any other default by Master Tenant (subject to Permitted 
Mortgagee’s cure rights set forth in this Section 15), during the pendency of such foreclosure 
proceedings; and (3) such Permitted Mortgagee shall agree with Landlord, in writing, to comply during the 
period of such forbearance with such of the terms, conditions and covenants of this Lease as are 
reasonably susceptible to being complied with by such Permitted Mortgagee (however, consistent with 
the provisions of Section 15.13.10 below, the provisions of this clause (3) shall not obligate such 
Permitted Mortgagee to cure any defaults of the Master Tenant, or to expend any monies or to take any 
actions to comply with the terms, conditions or covenants of this Master Lease, prior to such Permitted 
Mortgagee acquiring Master Tenant’s interest under this Lease).  Any default by Master Tenant not 
reasonably susceptible to being cured by such Permitted Mortgagee, or the occurrence of any of the 
events specified in Section 18, shall be deemed waived by Landlord upon completion of such foreclosure 
proceedings or upon such acquisition of Master Tenant’s interest in this Lease, except that any such 
events of default which are reasonably susceptible to being cured after such completion and acquisition 
shall then be cured with reasonable diligence.  Such Permitted Mortgagee, or its designee or other 
purchaser in foreclosure proceedings, may become the legal owner of the leasehold estate of this Lease 
through such foreclosure proceedings or by assignment of this Lease in lieu of foreclosure.  A Permitted 
Mortgagee or its designee or other party which becomes the legal owner of the leasehold estate of this 
Lease through foreclosure proceedings or by an assignment of this Lease in lieu of foreclosure shall be 
deemed by such acquisition to have assumed all of Master Tenant’s rights and obligations under this 
Lease accruing during the period of such Permitted Mortgagee’s or its designee’s ownership of the 
leasehold estate of this Lease.  If a Permitted Mortgagee is prohibited by any process or injunction, or any 
bankruptcy, insolvency or other judicial proceeding involving Master Tenant from commencing or 
prosecuting foreclosure or other appropriate proceedings in the nature thereof, the times specified for 
commencing or prosecuting such foreclosure or other proceedings in the nature thereof, the times 
specified for commencing or prosecuting such foreclosure or other proceedings shall be extended for the 
period of such prohibition; provided that the Permitted Mortgagee shall have fully cured any default in the 
monetary obligations of Master Tenant under this Lease and shall continue to pay currently such 
monetary obligations as and when the same fall due, and provided that the Permitted Mortgagee shall 
diligently attempt to remove any such prohibition. 

15.13.5 In the event of the termination of this Lease prior to the natural expiration of 
the then current Term due to default of Master Tenant or operation of law (except by eminent domain) as 
provided in Section 18, including, without limitation, due to any rejection of this Lease in any bankruptcy, 

Page 54



 

 22  

insolvency or other debtor relief proceeding, Landlord shall immediately serve upon the holder of the 
senior Permitted Mortgage written notice that the Lease has been terminated, together with a statement 
of any and all sums which would at that time be due under this Lease but for such termination, and of all 
other defaults, if any, under this Lease then known to Landlord.  The senior Permitted Mortgagee or its 
nominee, purchaser or assignee shall thereupon have the option to obtain a new lease in accordance 
with and upon the following terms and conditions: 

(a) Upon the written request of said Permitted Mortgagee, within sixty (60) 
days after service of such notice that the Lease has been terminated, or within sixty (60) days after the 
expiration of this Lease if Master Tenant was unable to renew the Term hereof, Landlord shall enter into a 
new lease of the Property and improvements thereon with such holder, or its designee or assignee, as 
follows: 

(i) Such new lease shall be the same priority as this Lease, shall be 
effective as of the date of termination of this Lease, and shall be for the remainder of the Term and at the 
rent and upon all the agreements, terms, covenants and conditions hereof, including any applicable rights 
of renewal and the use provisions for restaurant and food service purposes specified above.  Such new 
lease shall require that the tenant perform any unfulfilled obligation of Master Tenant under this Lease 
which is reasonably susceptible to being performed by such tenant.  Upon the execution of such new 
lease, the tenant named therein shall pay any and all sums which would at the time of the execution 
thereof be due under this Lease but for such termination, and shall pay all expenses, including 
reasonable counsel fees, court costs and disbursements incurred by Landlord in connection with such 
defaults and termination, the recovery of possession of the Property, and the preparation, execution and 
delivery of such new lease.  Upon the execution and delivery of the new lease, title to all leasehold 
improvements (including, without limitation, all of the Master Tenant’s Work) as well as all Master 
Tenant’s Property, shall automatically vest in the Permitted Mortgagee or its nominee as the new Master 
Tenant under this Lease until the expiration of the term or sooner termination of the new lease. 

(ii) Effective upon the commencement of the term of any new lease 
executed pursuant to this Subsection 15.13.5, all subleases then in effect shall be assigned and 
transferred without recourse by Landlord to the tenant under such new lease, and all monies on deposit 
with Landlord which Master Tenant would have been entitled to use but for the termination or expiration of 
this Lease may be used by the tenant under such new lease for the purposes of and in accordance with 
the provisions of such new lease, unless credited against expenses in accordance with Subsection 
15.13.5(a)(i) above. 

15.13.6 Any notice or other communication which Landlord shall desire or is required 
to give to or serve upon the holder of a Permitted Mortgage under this Lease shall be in writing and shall 
be served by certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to such holder at the address provided for 
pursuant to Section 15.12 hereof, or at such other address as shall be designated by such holder in 
writing given to Landlord by certified mail, return receipt requested.  Any notice or other communication 
which the holder of a Permitted Mortgage under this Lease shall desire or is required to give to or serve 
upon Landlord shall be deemed to have been duly given or served if (a) sent by certified mail, return 
receipt requested, addressed to Landlord at Landlord’s address as set forth in Subsection 21.1 of this 
Lease or at such other addresses as shall be designated by Landlord by notice in writing given to such 
holder by certified mail, return receipt requested, and (b) sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, 
to the Landlord’s other mortgages, if any. 

15.13.7 Anything herein contained to the contrary notwithstanding, the provisions of 
this Section 15 shall inure only to the benefit of the holders of Permitted Mortgages.  Neither a Permitted 
Mortgagee nor any other holder or owner of the indebtedness secured by a leasehold mortgage or 
otherwise shall be liable upon the covenants, agreements or obligations of Master Tenant contained in 
this Lease, unless and until such Permitted Mortgagee or that holder or owner acquires the interest of 
Master Tenant. 

Page 55



 

 23  

15.13.8 During such period of time that any Permitted Mortgage is in existence, 
Landlord shall not agree to any mutual termination or accept any surrender of this Lease (except upon the 
expiration of the term of this Lease, or upon the earlier termination of this Lease (x) in connection with a 
casualty or condemnation in accordance with the provisions of this Lease, or (y) by reason of a default by 
Master Tenant that is not cured or remedied within the applicable notice and cure period set forth in this 
Lease in accordance with the provisions of this Lease, in either case subject to the Permitted Mortgagee’s 
rights under this Lease, including, without limitation, the provisions of this Section 15.13), nor shall 
Landlord consent to any amendment or modification of this Lease, without the prior consent of a 
Permitted Mortgagee, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed and shall 
be given within ten (10) business days of written request therefor. 

15.13.9 Landlord shall mail or deliver to Permitted Mortgagee at the address of 
Permitted Mortgagee provided to Landlord a duplicate copy of all notices which Landlord may from time 
to time give to Master Tenant pursuant to this Lease. 

15.13.10 Foreclosure of a Permitted Mortgage or any sale thereunder, whether by 
judicial proceedings or by virtue of any power of sale contained in the Permitted Mortgage, or any 
conveyance of the leasehold estate created hereby from Master Tenant to Permitted Mortgagee by virtue 
or in lieu of foreclosure or other appropriate proceedings in the nature thereof, shall not require the 
consent of Landlord or constitute a breach of any provision of or a default under this Lease.  Upon such 
foreclosure, sale or conveyance, Landlord shall recognize the Permitted Mortgagee, or any other 
foreclosure sale purchaser, as Master Tenant hereunder and such party shall attorn to Landlord, be 
subject to the provisions regarding assignment set forth in Section 15.14 below and shall fully perform 
Master Tenant’s obligations hereunder.  The preceding to the contrary notwithstanding, a Permitted 
Mortgagee shall have no liability for Master Tenant’s obligations under this Lease unless and until it 
becomes the Master Tenant under this Lease by means of foreclosure or deed in lieu thereof or pursuant 
to any new lease obtained pursuant to the terms above, and thereafter the Permitted Mortgagee or its 
successor or assign or designee shall be liable under this Lease or such new lease only for the period of 
time that such Permitted Mortgagee or its successor, assign or designee remains tenant hereunder or 
thereunder.  Nothing herein shall be construed to obligate any Permitted Mortgagee to remedy any 
default of Master Tenant, and any failure of a Permitted Mortgagee to complete any such cure after 
commencing the same shall not give rise to any liability of the Permitted Mortgagee to Landlord or Master 
Tenant. 

15.14 Assignment by Mortgagee.  If any Permitted Mortgagee shall acquire title to Master 
Tenant’s interest in this Lease by foreclosure of a mortgage thereon, or by assignment in lieu of 
foreclosure or by an assignment from a designee or wholly-owned subsidiary corporation of such 
mortgagee, or under a new lease pursuant to this Section 15, such Permitted Mortgagee or its successor, 
assign or designee may assign such lease and shall thereupon be released from all liability for the 
performance or observance of the covenants and conditions in such lease contained on Master Tenant’s 
part to be performed and observed from and after the date of such assignment, provided that Landlord 
shall receive an executed counterpart copy of such assignment, together with the name and address of 
the assignee. 

SECTION 16. DAMAGE TO PREMISES. 

16.1 Landlord’s Obligation to Repair.  If subsequent to completion of Master Tenant’s Work, a 
material part of the Premises provided by Landlord in Exhibits B and D, shall, by reason of fire, 
earthquake, the elements, acts of God or other unavoidable casualty, be destroyed or so damaged as to 
become unusable in whole or in part and the damage can, by proceeding with reasonable diligence, be 
repaired within 365 days from the date of such destruction or damage, Landlord shall promptly and 
diligently repair the damage (subject to the limitations set forth in Section 20.2) and this Lease shall 
remain in full force and effect.  If a material part of the Premises provided by Landlord in Exhibits B and D, 
are damaged, and the damage cannot, by proceeding with reasonable diligence, be repaired within 365 
days from the date of such destruction or damage, this Lease may be terminated by Landlord by written 

Page 56



 

 24  

notice given to Master Tenant within thirty (30) days after the date of the casualty.  Such notice shall 
terminate this Lease as of the date of the casualty. 

16.2 Election to Terminate.  If subsequent to completion of Master Tenant’s Improvements a 
material part of the Premises provided by Landlord in Exhibits B and D, are damaged, and the damage 
cannot, by proceeding with reasonable diligence, be repaired within 365 days from the date of such 
destruction or damage, and Landlord has not terminated this Lease pursuant to Subsection 16.1 above, 
then this Lease may be terminated by Master Tenant by written notice given to Landlord within sixty (60) 
days after the date of the casualty.  Such notice shall terminate this Lease as of the date of the casualty.  
If Master Tenant does not make the foregoing election within the required period and Landlord has not 
terminated the Lease, then Landlord shall promptly and diligently repair the damage and this Lease shall 
remain in full force and effect (subject to the provisions of Subsection 16.3 below regarding completion of 
Landlord’s repairs).  If Landlord is required or elects to repair the Premises under the provisions of 
Subsection 16.1 and fails to complete such repair within 365 days after the casualty described in 
Subsection 16.1 above (or at least to complete such repair, within such 365 day period, to the extent that 
permits substantial resumption of Master Tenant’s business (and the businesses of the Subtenants in 
existence as of the date of the damage or destruction) in the Premises, provided that Landlord thereafter 
continuously and diligently pursues any remaining required repairs to completion), then thereafter Master 
Tenant, at Master Tenant’s option, may terminate this Lease by giving Landlord written notice of Master 
Tenant’s election to do so at any time prior to the substantial completion of such repair.  In such event this 
Lease shall terminate as of the date of Master Tenant’s notice. 

16.3 Abatement of Rent.  If a material part of the Premises provided by Landlord in Exhibits B 
and D, is damaged, and Landlord is required or elects to repair them pursuant to the provisions of 
Subsection 16.1, the Minimum Monthly Rent and Percentage Rent payable pursuant to Section 4 shall be 
abated from the date of the casualty until such Premises is sufficiently restored to allow Master Tenant to 
occupy the Premises and operate within the same manner as existed immediately prior to such damage 
or destruction.  If, however, Master Tenant is able to occupy and operate its business within a portion of 
the Premises, Minimum Monthly Rent or Percentage Rent shall be abated only for the portion of the 
Premises that Master Tenant cannot occupy and operate within in the same manner as existed 
immediately prior to such damage or destruction.  Such partial abatement shall be calculated on a square 
foot basis.  The abatement of Minimum Monthly Rent and Percentage Rent (and Master Tenant’s right to 
terminate this Lease as provided in Subsection 16.2 above, shall be Master Tenant’s sole remedies due 
to the occurrence of the casualty.  Landlord shall not be liable to Master Tenant or any other person or 
entity for any direct, indirect or consequential damage due to or arising from the casualty. 

16.4 Application of Insurance Proceeds.  If any part of the Master Tenant’s Work or any other 
leasehold improvements constructed by or on behalf of Master Tenant is damaged or destroyed, and at 
the time of such damage or destruction, the leasehold interest of the Master Tenant hereunder, or 
applicable portion thereof, was encumbered by a Permitted Mortgage, then the proceeds of insurance 
allocable to such Master Tenant’s Work or other leasehold improvements constructed by or on behalf of 
Master Tenant first shall be applied to pay off or pay down the loan encumbered by the Permitted 
Mortgage unless the applicable Permitted Mortgagee allows such insurance proceeds to be used to 
restore such Master Tenant’s Work or other leasehold improvements. 

SECTION 17. CONDEMNATION. 

17.1 Total Condemnation.  If, during the term of this Lease, the whole of the Premises shall be 
taken pursuant to any condemnation proceeding or a part of the Premises is taken pursuant to any 
condemnation proceeding and the remaining portion is not suitable for the purposes for which Master 
Tenant was using the Premises prior to the taking, then this Lease shall terminate as of the date that actual 
physical possession of the Premises is taken, and after that date, both Landlord and Master Tenant shall be 
released from any future obligations arising under this Lease. 

17.2 Partial Condemnation.  If, during the term of this Lease, only a part of the Premises is 
taken pursuant to any condemnation proceeding and the remaining portion is suitable for the purposes for 

Page 57



 

 25  

which Master Tenant was using the Premises prior to the taking in the sole discretion of Master Tenant, 
then this Lease shall, as to the part so taken, terminate as of the date that actual physical possession of 
such portion of the Premises is taken, and after that date, both Landlord and Master Tenant shall be 
released from any future obligations under this Lease with respect to such portion of the Premises taken. 

17.3 Condemnation Award.  If the whole or any part of the Premises are taken pursuant to any 
condemnation proceeding, then Landlord shall be entitled to the entirety of any condemnation award 
except that portion allocable to the value of Master Tenant’s leasehold interest of the unexpired term of 
this Lease, any Master Tenant’s Property, Subtenant’s Personal Property and/or any unsalvageable trade 
fixtures or furnishings owned by Master Tenant, any amounts specifically awarded or agreed upon by the 
Master Tenant and the condemning authority for the unamortized portion of Master Tenant’s leasehold 
improvements and each Subtenant’s leasehold improvements shall be the property of Master Tenant 
(except that the portion of the condemnation award allocable to each Subtenant’s Personal Property and 
each Subtenant’s leasehold improvements shall be awarded to Master Tenant or the applicable 
Subtenant(s), as their interests may appear, or as provided in the applicable Sublease) (“Master Tenant’s 
Award”).  The foregoing notwithstanding, if the whole or a portion of the Premises shall be taken pursuant 
to any condemnation proceeding and at that time the leasehold interest of the Master Tenant, or 
applicable portion thereof, was encumbered by a Permitted Mortgage, then Master Tenant’s Award first 
shall be applied to pay off or pay down the loan encumbered by the Permitted Mortgage.  Master Tenant 
shall require in any sublease of the Premises, that any Subtenant waive any and all rights against any 
public entity and/or the Landlord for any portion of the condemnation award relating to the Subtenant(s) 
value of the leasehold interest of any unexpired term. 

17.4 Effect of Termination.  In the event this Lease is canceled or terminated pursuant to any 
of the provisions of this Section 17 all rentals and other charges payable on the part of Master Tenant to 
Landlord hereunder shall be paid either as of the date upon which actual physical possession shall be 
taken by the condemner, or as of the date upon which Master Tenant ceases doing business in, upon or 
from the Premises, whichever first occurs; and the parties shall thereupon be released from all further 
liability hereunder, except for any liability arising prior to the date upon which actual physical possession 
shall be taken by the condemner. 

SECTION 18. DEFAULT, REMEDIES, AND TERMINATION. 

18.1 Master Tenant’s Default.  If:  (i) Master Tenant shall fail to comply with any of the 
provisions herein providing for the construction of the Master Tenant’s Work, and such failure shall 
continue for thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice thereof, unless Master Tenant shall have taken 
steps in good faith within such period to remedy such failure and is continuing to so act with diligence and 
continuity; or (ii) Master Tenant shall fail to pay any rent or other monies due under this Lease after the 
same are due, and such failure shall continue for ten (10) days after receipt of written notice thereof to 
Master Tenant, or (iii) Master Tenant shall fail to perform any other term, covenant, or condition herein 
contained, and such failure shall continue for thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice thereof, unless 
Master Tenant shall have taken steps in good faith within such period to remedy such failure and is 
continuing to so act with diligence and continuity and further, where possession of the Premises or portion 
thereof is necessary to cure a default under this Lease, Master Tenant will not be considered to be in 
default under this Lease as a result of a breach by a Subtenant under its sublease so long as Master 
Tenant has sent notice of default to, and commenced legal action against the Subtenant and is diligently 
and continuously pursuing an unlawful detainer action or other legal proceedings required to regain 
possession of the Premises or portion thereof from such Subtenant, or (iv) the Master Tenant’s interest 
herein or any part thereof be assigned or transferred, either voluntarily or by operation of law, except 
pursuant to a Permitted Transfer or Section 14.2 or Section 15, whether by judgment, execution, death or 
any other means, or (v) the Master Tenant shall file any petition or institute any proceedings under any 
bankruptcy act, state or federal, or if such petition or proceeding be filed or be instituted or taken against 
the Master Tenant and such petition remains undischarged for a period of 90 days; or if any receiver of 
the business or of the property or assets of Master Tenant shall be appointed by any court (except a 
receiver appointed at the instance or request of the Landlord) and Master Tenant fails to obtain 
dissolution of the receiver within 90 days after appointment of the receiver; or (vi) Master Tenant shall 

Page 58



 

 26  

make a general or any assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or (vii) Master Tenant shall abandon 
(other than a temporary cessation of operations in connection with renovations of the Premises to which 
Master Tenant has obtained Landlord’s approval, if applicable, as required by the terms hereof) the 
Premises; or (viii) Master Tenant has made any written or oral representation to the Landlord in 
connection with this Lease that Master Tenant knows was false in any material respect as of the date 
made or submitted, Master Tenant knew or should have known that the Landlord would rely on such false 
representation, and the Landlord relies on such false representation to its detriment in any material 
respect, then in any of such events Landlord shall have the following options, subject to the provisions of 
Section 15: 

18.1.1 To collect, by suit or otherwise, each installment of rent or other sum as it 
becomes due hereunder, or to enforce by suit or otherwise, any other term or provision hereof on the part 
of Master Tenant required to be kept or performed; and/or 

18.1.2 To reenter the Premises, remove all persons therefrom, take possession of 
the Premises and of all equipment, fixtures and personal property thereon or therein, and either with or 
without terminating this Lease to make commercially reasonable efforts to relet the Premises or any 
portion thereof (but nothing contained herein shall be construed as obligating Landlord to relet the whole 
or any portion of the Premises) for such term or terms (which may be for a term extending beyond the 
term of the Lease) and at such reasonable rental or rentals and upon such other terms and conditions as 
Landlord in its sole discretion may deem advisable.  In addition to the foregoing, Landlord shall have the 
right, but not the obligation to, make such alterations and repairs to the Premises, or to divide or 
subdivide the Premises, as may be required or occasioned by any such reletting.  Provided, however, 
Landlord’s right to make alterations, repairs or improvements to the Premises after Master Tenant’s 
default shall be limited to those alterations, repairs, and/or improvements necessary for the purpose of re-
letting the Premises.  In the event Landlord relets the Premises, or any portion thereof, it shall execute 
any such lease in its own name, but the Master Tenant in such lease of reletting shall be under no 
obligation whatsoever to see to the application by Landlord of any rent collected by Landlord for the 
account of Master Tenant, nor shall Master Tenant hereunder have any right or authority whatsoever to 
collect any rent as the Master Tenant in the lease of reletting.  Upon any such reletting, the rents received 
on any such reletting shall be applied first to the expenses of reletting and collecting, including necessary 
renovations and alterations of the Premises and reasonable attorneys’ fees and any real estate 
commissions actually paid, and thereafter toward payment of all sums due or to become due to Landlord 
hereunder; if a sufficient sum shall not be thus realized to pay such rent and other charges, Master 
Tenant shall pay to Landlord monthly any deficiency, and Landlord may sue therefor as each such 
deficiency shall arise, but if the Premises are relet for an amount in excess of that necessary to pay such 
rent and other charges, Master Tenant shall not be entitled to any such excess; and/or 

18.1.3 To terminate this Lease, in which event Master Tenant agrees immediately to 
surrender possession of the Premises and to pay to the Landlord as the amount of damage sustained by 
Landlord by reason of Master Tenant’s breach of this Lease, the following: 

(a) The worth at the time of award of any unpaid Rent which had been 
earned at the time of such termination; plus 

(b) The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent 
which would have been earned after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such 
rental loss Master Tenant proves could have been reasonably avoided; plus 

(c) The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent 
for the balance of the Term after the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that Master 
Tenant proves could be reasonably avoided. 

As used in Sections 18.1.3(a) and 18.1.3(a) above, the term “worth at the time of 
award” is computed by allowing interest from the date such amount becomes due and payable at one 
percent (1%) per annum above the rate which the Bank of America announces publicly at its San 

Page 59



 

 27  

Francisco or Los Angeles executive offices as its “Reference Rate” for unsecured commercial loans. 

As used in Section 18.1.3(b) above, the term “worth at the time of the award” is 
computed by discounting the amount determined pursuant to Section 18.1.3(b) at the discount rate of the 
Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco at the time of the award, plus one percent (1%). 

18.1.4 Pursuant to its rights of re-entry, Landlord may remove all persons from the 
Premises (but not any Subtenants to which Landlord is obligated to attorn) using such force as may be 
reasonably necessary therefor and may, but shall not be obligated to, remove all property therefrom, 
including, but not limited to, Master Tenant’s property (but not any Subtenant’s Personal Property), and 
may, but shall not be obligated to, enforce any rights Landlord may have against said property, or store 
the same in any public or private warehouse or elsewhere at the cost and for the account of Master 
Tenant or the owners or owner thereof, or to treat all or portions of said property as having no value and 
to dispose of said property accordingly.  Anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, 
Landlord shall not be deemed to have terminated this Lease or the liability of Master Tenant to pay any 
rent or other sum of money thereafter to accrue hereunder, or Master Tenant’s liability for damages under 
any of the provisions hereof, by any such re-entry, or by any action in unlawful detainer or otherwise to 
obtain possession of the Premises, unless Landlord shall have notified Master Tenant in writing that 
Landlord has so elected to terminate this Lease.  Master Tenant covenants and agrees that the service 
by Landlord of any notice in unlawful detainer and the surrender of possession pursuant to such notice 
shall not (unless Landlord elects to the contrary at the time of, or at any time subsequent to, the service of 
such notice, and Landlord’s election be evidenced by written notice thereof to Master Tenant) be deemed 
to be a termination of this Lease, or the termination of any liability of Master Tenant hereunder to 
Landlord. 

18.2 Landlord’s Default.  If Landlord fails to comply with or defaults in the performance of any 
provision of the Lease, Master Tenant shall have the right (but not the obligation) in addition to any and all 
other rights and remedies available to Master Tenant at law or in equity, to cure such nonconformance or 
default on behalf of Landlord, upon 30 days prior written notice to Landlord and to any mortgagee of 
Landlord, if the name and address of such mortgagee has been previously provided to Master Tenant by 
Landlord, except in an emergency, Master Tenant may cure such nonconformance or default without 
such written notice so long as Master Tenant makes reasonable efforts to notify Landlord of such 
emergency.  Upon receipt from Master Tenant of notice of such cure and demand for payment, Landlord 
shall repay any expenditure made by Master Tenant within 30 days of written request therefor.  If 
Landlord fails to make such repayment within such 30 day period, then, anything herein to the contrary 
notwithstanding, Master Tenant may offset the amount owed it by Landlord pursuant to this Section 18.2 
against the Minimum Monthly Rent and/or Percentage Rent payable by Master Tenant to Landlord 
hereunder until fully offset. 

SECTION 19. TOWN REQUIREMENTS. 

19.1 Non-discrimination.  Master Tenant shall not restrict the rental, use, occupancy, tenure, 
or enjoyment of the Premises or any portion thereof, on the basis of race, sex, color, age, religion, sexual 
orientation, actual or perceived gender identity, disability, ethnicity, or national origin of any person.  
During the term hereof, any contracts or subleases relating to the construction, use or occupancy of the 
Premises or any portion thereof, shall contain or be subject to substantially the following 
nondiscrimination and nonsegregation clauses: 

“There shall be no discrimination against or segregation of, any person, or group 
of persons, on account of race, sex, color, age, religion, sexual orientation, actual or 
perceived gender identity, disability, ethnicity, or national origin, in the sale, lease, 
transfer, use, occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the land, nor shall the transferee, 
himself or herself, or any person claiming under or through him or her, establish or permit 
any such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the 
selection, location, number, use or occupancy of tenants, lessees, or vendees of the 
land.” 

Page 60



 

 28  

19.2 Enforcement of Town Requirements.  In enforcing Section 19.1, Landlord may require 
Master Tenant to terminate the sublease of any Subtenant that fails to comply with that Section.  Failure 
of Master Tenant to commence actions to terminate the subleases of noncomplying Subtenants within 90 
days of notice from Landlord shall constitute an event of default by the Master Tenant. 

SECTION 20. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW. 

20.1 General.  During the Lease term, Master Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall 
comply promptly with all federal, state, county, municipal and other governmental statutes, laws, rules, 
orders, regulations and ordinances (“Laws”) pertaining to Master Tenant’s use of the Premises or the 
improvements thereon, including those which require the making of any structural, unforeseen or 
extraordinary changes to the Premises, whether or not any such Laws which may be hereafter enacted 
were within the contemplation of the parties at the time of execution of this Lease, or involve a change of 
policy on the part of the governmental body enacting the same.  In connection with the foregoing, Master 
Tenant acknowledges that Landlord, acting not as Landlord but in its governmental capacity, has certain 
governmental regulatory authority over the Premises and agrees that “Law” as defined herein includes 
any legal requirement imposed by Landlord acting not as Landlord but in its capacity as a governmental 
regulatory body. 

20.2 Regulations Requiring Modifications to Premises.  If, under its regulatory authority, Town 
adopts new laws, rules or ordinances that are generally applicable to commercial buildings and which 
require upgrades, changes, or modifications to the Premises in order to comply with such Town-adopted 
laws, rules, or regulations, then the cost or expense of compliance shall be as follows: 

(a) Town shall bear the cost or expense of compliance to the extent that 
such laws, rules or regulations require modifications to the structure or shell of the Premises in the 
condition delivered to Master Tenant in Exhibit D. 

(b) During the first ten years following the Rent Commencement Date, 
Master Tenant shall bear the cost or expense of compliance to the extent that such new laws, rules, or 
regulations require modifications to Master Tenant’s Work and any subsequent alterations thereto.  After 
the tenth year following the Rent Commencement Date, Landlord and Master Tenant shall split equally all 
such costs. 

SECTION 21. GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

21.1 Notices, Demands, and Communications Between the Parties.  All notices and other 
communications required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and may be 
delivered by hand, by facsimile transmission with verification of receipt, by email, by overnight courier 
service, or by United States mail, postage prepaid and return receipt requested, addressed to the 
respective parties as follows: 

Town: Town of Los Gatos 
110 E. Main Street  
Los Gatos, CA 95030 
Attention:  Town Manager 
Email: manager@losgatosca.gov 
 

With copy to: Town of Los Gatos 
110 E. Main Street 
Los Gatos, CA 95030 
Attention:  City Attorney 
Email: attorney@losgatosca.gov 
 
 
 

Page 61

mailto:attorney@losgatosca.gov


 

 29  

To Tenant: Tait Firehouse, LLC  
223 West Main Street Suite B  
Los Gatos  CA 95030 
Attn:  Donald Imwalle, Jr. 
Email: don@imwalledev.com 
CC: jimfoley@pennantproperties.com 
       Jason@farwellrashkis.com 
 
 

  
or to such other address as any party may designate by notice in accordance with this Section. 

A copy of any notice of a legal nature, including, but not limited to, any claims against Town, its 
officers or employees shall also be served in the manner specified above to the following address: 

Town of Los Gatos 
City Attorney’s Office 
110 E. Main Street  
Los Gatos, CA 95030 

Notice shall be deemed effective on the date of personal delivery by hand or the date of receipt of 
facsimile transmission (with verification of receipt) or email, or if sent by overnight courier service, then 
one business day after delivery of such notice to such courier service or, if mailed, three days after 
deposit in the mail. 

21.2 Warranty Against Payment of Consideration for Agreement.  Master Tenant warrants that 
it has not paid or given, and will not pay or give, any third party (other than Colliers International who 
introduced Landlord and Master Tenant to one another) any money or other consideration for obtaining 
this Agreement.  

21.3 Non-liability of Town Officials and Employees.  No member, official, or employee of the 
Town shall be personally liable to Master Tenant or any successor in interest of Master Tenant, in the 
event of any default or breach by the Town or for any amount which may become due to Master Tenant 
or to its successor, or on any obligations under the terms of this Agreement. 

21.4 Enforced Delay; Extension of Time of Performance.  The specific provisions of this 
Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, except for payment of any monetary payments required under 
this Agreement, neither party shall be in default under this Agreement if an obligation to perform is 
delayed due to war; insurrection; strikes; lock-outs; riots; floods; earthquakes; fires; casualties; inability to 
obtain or delay in obtaining materials due to lack of supply; acts of God; acts of the public enemy; 
epidemics; quarantine restrictions; freight embargoes; governmental restrictions or enjoining to the 
performance of the terms of this Agreement.  An extension of time for any such cause shall be for the 
period of the enforced delay and shall commence to run from the time of the commencement of the 
cause, if notice by the party claiming such extension is sent to the other party within ten days of the 
commencement of the cause.  The foregoing notwithstanding, the total time period excused under this 
Section shall not exceed two years. 

21.5 Approvals and Town Manager’s Authority.  Approvals required of the Town (except for 
approvals expressly identified herein as being in the sole discretion of the Town) or Master Tenant shall 
not be unreasonably withheld, and approval or disapproval shall be given within a reasonable time.  The 
Town Manager or his/her designee shall have the authority to act on behalf of the Town with regard to 
any and all actions required of the Town under this Lease.  Such actions include but are not limited to the 
issuance of approvals and disapprovals and execution of all documents, including minor amendments to 
this Lease. 

Page 62

mailto:don@imwalledev.com
mailto:jimfoley@pennantproperties.com


 

 30  

21.6 Holding Over.  If Master Tenant shall hold over the term of this Lease, without Landlord’s 
prior written consent, such holding over shall be construed as a tenancy from month to month, on the 
same terms and conditions as this Lease, and at 150% of the Minimum Monthly Rent or the monthly 
Percentage Rent, whichever is higher, in effect during the final full calendar of the term of this Lease. 

21.7 Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence hereof, and waiver by the Landlord or 
Master Tenant of a breach of any term, covenant or condition herein contained, whether express or 
implied, shall not constitute a waiver of any subsequent breach thereof, or a breach of any other term, 
covenant, or condition herein contained, and acceptance of rent hereunder shall not be a waiver of any 
breach, except a breach of covenant to pay the rent so accepted.  No acceptance by Landlord of any 
partial payment of any sum due hereunder shall be deemed an accord and satisfaction or otherwise bar 
Landlord from recovering the full amount due, even if such payment is designated “payment in full,” bears 
any restrictive endorsement, or is otherwise conditionally tendered.  The times for Master Tenant’s 
performance of any obligations set forth in this Lease and the Exhibits may be extended by the Landlord’s 
Town Manager, if he finds, at his sole discretion, that Master Tenant has been delayed for reasons not in 
Master Tenant’s control.  Any such extension shall be in writing. 

21.8 Successors and Assigns.  Subject to the provisions of Section 14 hereof, this Lease shall 
be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, administrators, successors and permitted 
assigns of the parties hereto. 

21.9 Landlord’s Access.  Landlord and its agents shall have the right, subject to the rights of 
the Subtenants then in effect, to enter the Premises upon 72 hours prior written notice for the purpose of 
inspecting the same, and making such alterations, repairs, improvements or additions to the Premises as 
are deemed necessary or desirable consistent with this Lease.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the 
event of an emergency requiring Landlord’s entry into the Premises, Landlord may give Master Tenant 
shorter notice in any manner that is practicable under the circumstances.  When entering or performing 
any repair or other work in the Premises, Landlord, its agents, employees and/or contractors (a) shall 
identify themselves to Master Tenant’s personnel immediately upon entering the Premises, and (b) shall 
not, in any way, materially or unreasonably affect, interrupt or interfere with Master Tenant’s (or any of its 
Subtenants’) use, business or operations on the Premises or obstruct the visibility of or access to the 
Premises. 

21.10 Legal Relationship.  Nothing contained in this Lease shall be deemed or construed by the 
parties hereto or by any third party to create the relationship of principal and agent, partnership, joint 
venturer or any association between Landlord and Master Tenant.  Landlord and Master Tenant 
expressly agree that neither the method of computation of rent nor any act of the parties hereto shall be 
deemed to create any relationship between Landlord and Master Tenant other than the relationship of 
Landlord and Master Tenant. 

21.11 Consents.  Whenever the right of approval or consent is given to a party pursuant to this 
Lease, the party shall not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay its consent unless this Lease 
expressly provides otherwise.  All approvals and reviews required of Landlord under this Lease may be 
undertaken and/or given by Landlord’s Town Manager. 

21.12 General.  The terms “Landlord” and “Master Tenant” herein or any pronouns used in 
place thereof shall mean and include the masculine or feminine, the singular or plural number, and jointly 
and severally individuals, firms or corporations, and each of their respective heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and permitted assigns, according to the context hereof.  The headings of 
Sections herein are inserted only for convenience and reference and shall in no way define or limit the 
scope or intent of any provisions of this Lease.  This Lease shall be construed under the laws of the State 
of California, and venue shall be in in the applicable courts located in Santa Clara County, California. 

21.13 Quiet Enjoyment.  Upon payment of the rent as aforesaid and upon the observance and 
performance by Master Tenant of all of the terms and provisions to be observed by Master Tenant under 

Page 63



 

 31  

this Lease, Master Tenant shall peaceably hold and enjoy the Premises for the term hereof without 
hindrance or interruption by Landlord or any other person, except as herein expressly provided. 

21.14 Regulatory Authority.  Master Tenant acknowledges that, at any time when the Town is 
the Landlord hereunder, Landlord shall have certain governmental regulatory authority over the Premises.  
Master Tenant agrees and expressly acknowledges that any approval or consent required or permitted 
hereunder by the Town, acting in its capacity as Landlord under this Lease, (1) is distinct from any 
approval or consent of such entity acting in the capacity of governmental regulatory authority, whether or 
not related to the same matter, and (2) shall not compromise, diminish or in any way limit the authority of 
such entity to give, deny or condition its approval or consent when acting as a governmental regulatory 
authority. 

21.15 Costs and Expenses.  Whenever this Lease provides that either party shall be entitled to 
recover fees, costs or expenses from the other, such fees, costs or expenses shall be reasonable in 
nature. 

21.16 Entire Agreement.  This Lease and the exhibits attached hereto (which are incorporated 
herein by this reference) represent the entire agreement between the parties concerning the subject 
matter hereof and supersede any prior written or verbal agreements or understandings with respect 
thereto. 

21.17 Severability.  If any term, covenant, condition or provision of this Agreement, or the 
application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall to any extent be held by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, covenants, conditions or 
provisions of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall remain in full 
force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated thereby. 

21.18 Joint and Several.  If Master Tenant is more than one party, then the parties and entities 
who comprise Master Tenant under this Agreement from time to time, are jointly and severally liable to 
the Town for the performance of all of the promises and obligations of Master Tenant under this 
Agreement.  In the event of any default by Master Tenant hereunder, the Town may proceed against any 
one or more of the aforementioned parties who comprise Master Tenant without waiving its rights to 
proceed against any of the others. 

21.19 Memorandum of Agreement.  The parties hereto shall execute, acknowledge and record 
the Memorandum of Agreement, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F, within ten days after the Rent 
Commencement Date. 

21.20 CASp Inspection. Pursuant to California Civil Code Section 1938, Landlord hereby 
discloses, and Tenant hereby acknowledges, that the Premises has not been inspected by a Certified 
Access Specialist (“CASp”).  California Civil Code Section 1938 also requires that this Lease contain the 
following statement: 

“A Certified Access Specialist (CASp) can inspect the subject premises and determine whether 
the subject premises comply with all of the applicable construction related accessibility standards under 
state law.  Although state law does not require a CASp inspection of the subject premises, the 
commercial property owner or lessor may not prohibit the lessee or tenant from obtaining a CASp 
inspection of the subject premises for the occupancy or potential occupancy of the lessee or tenant, if 
requested by the lessee or tenant.  The parties shall mutually agree on the arrangements for the time and 
manner of the CASp inspection, the payment of the fee for the CASp inspection, and the cost of making 
any repairs to correct violations of the construction related accessibility standards within the premises.” 

In accordance with the foregoing, Master Tenant, upon at least thirty (30) days’ prior written 
notice to Landlord, shall have the right to require a CASp inspection of the Premises.  If Master Tenant 
requires a CASp inspection of the Premises, then: (i) Landlord and Tenant shall mutually agree on the 

Page 64



 

 32  

arrangements for the time and manner of the CASp inspection during such thirty (30) day period; (ii) 
Master Tenant shall be solely responsible to pay the cost of the CASp inspection as and when required 
by the CASp. It is understood by the parties that Landlord shall not be required to perform, or cause to be 
performed, any and all repairs needed to correct violations of the construction related accessibility 
standards within or relating to the Premises and Master Tenant can terminate this lease if it is 
determined, by Master Tenant that any repairs to correct violations would be too costly. . 

21.21 First Right of Refusal.  If Landlord receives from a third party a bona fide offer to 
purchase the Premises, before Landlord may accept such an offer, Landlord must first give written notice 
to Master Tenant of said offer.  Master Tenant shall have thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of said 
offer, to provide Landlord with written acceptance of the offer, upon the same terms and conditions as set 
forth therein (but in addition thereto, such sale shall include all rights of Landlord in and to this Lease). If 
Master Tenant accepts said offer, closing shall take place within sixty (60) days from the date of 
acceptance. Master Tenant may elect to assign Master Tenant's rights to purchase the Premises to the 
parent of or a subsidiary of the Master Tenant, or other entity wholly owned by Master Tenant or its 
Managing Member. If Master Tenant fails to accept said offer within the thirty (30) days provided herein, 
Landlord may proceed to sell to said third party in accordance with the terms of the offer. If Landlord has 
not consummated a sale within one hundred eighty (180) days after the expiration of Master Tenant's 
option rights hereunder, the restrictions and options herein provided shall be restored and shall continue 
in full force and effect, and so long as these restrictions and options remain in effect the Landlord shall 
not thereafter sell or transfer the Premises without first giving Master Tenant notice as herein provided 
and otherwise complying with the foregoing provisions. 

Page 65



 

 33  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Lease the day and year first 
above written. 

 
      LANDLORD: 
 
      THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
 
 
      By: ___________________________ 
      Print Name: ____________________ 
      Officer Title: ____________________ 
 
 
Approved as to form:    Attest: 
 
 
____________________   __________________________ 
Town Attorney Town Clerk 
 
 
      MASTER TENANT: 

    
      Tait Firehouse, LLC,  
      a California Limited Liability Company 
 
      By: Imwalle Asset Management, LLC 
      a California Limited Liability Company 
             
      By: _____________________________ 
                        Don Imwalle, Jr., Managing Member 

 
 

 
 

Page 66



 

 Exhibit A 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

Exhibit A 

Legal Description of Premises 

 

 

 

Page 67



 

 Exhibit B 
OAK #4810-7729-4116 v8  4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

Exhibit B 

Site Plan of Premises 

 

 

Page 68



 

 Exhibit C 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

Exhibit C 

 

Form of Notice of Lease Term Dates 

[On Town Letterhead] 

[Date] 

Tait Firehouse, LLC  
223 West Main Street Suite B  
Los Gatos, CA 95030 
Attn:  Donald Imwalle, Jr. 
Email: don@imwalledev.com 
CC: jimfoley@pennantproperties.com 
       Jason@farwellrashkis.com  
 
Re: Master Lease – 4 Tait Ave, Los Gatos, CA 95030 

Dear Mr. Imwalle: 

In accordance with that certain Master Lease dated ____________, 2020, by and between the Town of 
Los Gatos and Tait Firehouse, LLC for the above referenced property, this letter is to confirm that the 
Rent Commencement Date as defined in Section 1.11 of the Master Lease is [insert date.  Please 
countersign this letter in the space below to acknowledge your agreement. 

Please don’t hesitate to contact me should you have any questions. 

 Sincerely yours, 

 ______________, Town Manager 

Acknowledged and Agreed this _____ day of _______, 202_, 

on behalf of  

    
Tait Firehouse, LLC,  
a California Limited Liability Company 
 
By: Imwalle Asset Management, LLC 
a California Limited Liability Company 
             
By: _____________________________ 
     Don Imwalle, Jr., Managing Member 
 

Page 69

mailto:don@imwalledev.com
mailto:jimfoley@pennantproperties.com
mailto:Jason@farwellrashkis.com


 

 Exhibit D-1 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

Exhibit D 

Condition of Premises Upon Delivery 

 

[TO BE INSERTED] 

 

 

Page 70



 

 Exhibit E-1 
OAK #4810-7729-4116 v8  4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

Exhibit E 

Insurance Requirements for Master Tenant and Subtenants 

Master Tenant is required to procure and provide proof of the insurance coverage required by 
Master Tenant as outlined in this Exhibit in the form of certificates and endorsements. Master Tenant 
shall obtain and maintain insurance against claims which may arise from or in connection with the 
activities of Master Tenant and its Subtenants, including agents, invitees, employees, and contractors of 
Master Tenant and its Subtenants, and must remain in full force and effect at all times during the period 
covered by the Lease Agreement.  The coverages may be arranged under a single policy for the full limits 
required or by a combination of underlying policies with the balance provided by excess or “umbrella” 
policies, provided each such policy complies with the requirements set forth herein.  If Master Tenant fails 
to provide any of the required coverage in full compliance with the requirements set forth herein, Town 
may, at its sole discretion, terminate the Lease for default.  Master Tenant further understands that the 
Town reserves the right to reasonably modify the insurance requirements set forth herein, with thirty (30) 
days’ notice provided to Master Tenant, at any time as deemed necessary to protect the interests of the 
Town. 

(A) Insurance Types and Limits.  The following insurance types and limits are required 
unless otherwise specified in the Lease Agreement: 

(1) Commercial General Liability Insurance (“CGL”):  Master Tenant shall maintain 
CGL and shall include coverage for liability arising from Master Tenant and its 
Subtenants, including invitees, employees, agents, or contractors of Master Tenant 
and its Subtenants, against claims and liabilities for personal injury, death, or 
property damage providing protection in the minimum amount of: One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000.00) for bodily injury or death to any one person for any one accident or 
occurrence and at least One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for property damage. 

i. Liquor Liability:  Master Tenant shall maintain Liquor Liability, either under 
its CGL policy or as a separate policy, providing protection in the minimum 
amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) each claim. 

(2) Workers’ Compensation Insurance and Employer’s Liability:  Master Tenant 
shall maintain Workers Compensation coverage, as required by law. The policy must 
comply with the requirements of the California Workers’ Compensation Insurance 
and Safety Act and provide protection in the minimum amount of One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000.00) for any one accident or occurrence. If Master Tenant is self-insured, 
Master Tenant must provide its Certificate of Permission to Self-Insure, duly 
authorized by the Department of Industrial Relations. 

(3) Automobile Liability:  Master Tenant shall maintain Automobile Liability covering all 
owned, non-owned and hired automobiles, against claims and liabilities for personal 
injury, death, or property damage providing protection in the minimum amount of One 
Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for bodily injury or death to any one person for any 
one accident or occurrence and at least One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for 
property damage. 

(4) Property:  Master Tenant shall maintain All Risk Property coverage for the 
appropriate limit to cover all personal property of Master Tenant, in, on, or about the 
Premises, covering the full replacement cost of such personal property to include 
furniture, installed fixtures, improvements, equipment, inventory and any other 
personal property of the Master Tenant. Master Tenant, and not any of the 
Subtenants, also shall maintain All Risk Property coverage for the full replacement 
cost of the Master Tenant’s Work. 

Page 71



 

 Exhibit E-2 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

i. Business Interruption:  Master Tenant shall maintain adequate protection 
against business interruption and loss of income, either as part of a 
comprehensive Business Owner’s Policy or under its Property Insurance. 

(B) Required Endorsements.  Master Tenant shall provide proof of the following 
endorsements, listed for each policy for which endorsements are required, as outlined below: 

(1)  ALL Policies: 

“Waiver of Subrogation” - Each required policy must include an endorsement 
providing that the carrier agrees to waive any right of subrogation it may have 
against the Town of Los Gatos and the Town’s elected or appointed officials, 
boards, agencies, officers, agents, employees, and volunteers. 

(2)  General Liability: 

a. “Additionally Insured” - The Town of Los Gatos, its elected or appointed officials, 
boards, agencies, officers, agents, employees, and volunteers are named as 
additional insureds; 

b. “Primary and Non-Contributing” - Insurance shall be primary non-contributing; 

c. “Separation of Insureds” - The inclusion of more than one insured will not operate 
to impair the rights of one insured against another, and the coverages afforded 
will apply as though separate policies have been issued to each insured. 

(C) Subtenants.  Master Tenant must ensure that each Subtenant is required to maintain the 
equal or greater  insurance coverages required in this Exhibit, including those requirements 
related to the additional insureds and waiver of subrogation. However, Subtenants which do not 
engage in the sale and/or serving of alcohol in, on, or about the Premises, are not required to 
maintain Liquor Liability. Also, Subtenants shall not be obligated to insure the Master Tenant’s 
Work. 

(D) Qualification of Insurers. All insurance required pursuant to this Lease Agreement must 
be issued by a company licensed and admitted, or otherwise legally authorized to carry out 
insurance business in the State of California, and each insurer must have a current A.M. Best's 
financial strength rating of “A-” or better and a financial size rating of “VII” or better. 

(E) Certificates.  Master Tenant shall furnish the Town with copies of all policies or 
certificates maintained by Master Tenant as outlined herein, whether new or modified, promptly 
upon receipt. Further, upon request by the Town, Master Tenant shall furnish the Town with 
copies of all policies or certificates maintained by Subtenants as outlined herein, whether new or 
modified. No policy subject to the Master Tenant’s Lease with the Town shall be reduced, 
canceled, allowed to expire, or materially changed except after thirty (30) days' notice by the 
insurer to Town, unless due to non-payment of premiums, in which case ten (10) days written 
notice must be made to Town. Certificates, including renewal certificates, may be mailed 
electronically to ____________________________ or delivered to the Certificate Holder address 
provided herein. 
 

Certificate Holder address: 
 

Town of Los Gatos 
 Attn: Risk Management 
 110 E. Main Street 

Los Gatos, CA  95030 

Page 72



 

 Exhibit F-1 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

Exhibit F 

Memorandum of Lease Agreement 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY 

 
 
AND WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO: 

 

Town of Los Gatos 
110 E. Main Street 
Los Gatos, CA 95037 
Attn: Town Manager 

THIS DOCUMENT IS EXEMPT FROM 
RECORDING FEES PURSUANT TO CALIFORNIA 
GOVERNMENT CODE §§ 6103, 27383 

  

 SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER'S USE ONLY 

MEMORANDUM OF LEASE AGREEMENT 

This Memorandum of Lease Agreement (this “Memorandum”) is dated as of _______________, 
2020, and is between the Town of Los Gatos, a California municipal corporation (“Landlord”), and Tait 
Firehouse, LLC, a California limited liability company (“Master Tenant”). 

Recitals 

A. Landlord and Master Tenant entered into that certain Lease Agreement, effective 
___________, 2020 ("Lease"), pursuant to which Landlord leased to Master Tenant and Master Tenant 
leased from Landlord the space located on the real property described in the attached Exhibit A (the 
“Premises”). 

B. Landlord and Master Tenant desire to execute this Memorandum to provide constructive 
notice of Master Tenant’s rights under the Lease to all third parties. 

For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

Agreement 

1. Term. Landlord leases the Premises to Master Tenant for an initial term of thirty-four 
years and eleven months (34 years 11 months) commencing on the Commencement Date of 
____________, 202_, and expiring on ____________, 205_.  

2. Lease Terms. The lease of the Premises to Master Tenant is pursuant to the Lease, 
which is incorporated in this Memorandum by reference. 

3. Assignment. Except as otherwise expressly provided in the Lease, Master Tenant's rights 
and obligations under the Lease may not be assigned without Landlord's prior written consent, which 
consent may be granted or withheld by Landlord in its sole and exclusive discretion, and any assignment 
without this consent will be void. 

4. Successors and Assigns. This Memorandum and the Lease are binding and inure to the 
benefit of the parties and their respective heirs, successors, and assigns, subject, however, to the 
provisions of the Lease on assignment. 

Page 73



 

 Exhibit F-2 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

5. Governing Law. This Memorandum and the Lease are governed by California law.  

Executed as of the date first above written. 

LANDLORD: 
 
Town of Los Gatos, 
a California municipal corporation 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 
Print Name:________________________ 
Title: _____________________________ 
 
 
 

MASTER TENANT: 
 
Tait Firehouse, LLC,  
a California Limited Liability Company 
 
By: Imwalle Asset Management, LLC 
a California Limited Liability Company 
             
By: __________________________ 
      Don Imwalle, Jr., Managing Member 
 
 
 

  

Page 74



 

 Exhibit F-1 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

A Notary Public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual who 
signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity 
of that document. 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF _____________ 
ss. 

 
On _________________, before me, ___________________________________, Notary Public, 

personally appeared __________________________, who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory 
evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and 
acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and 
that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the 
person(s) acted, executed the instrument.   

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

  (Seal) 

(Signature) 

 
 
 

 

Page 75



 

 Exhibit A 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description of the Premises 

[Need legal description of Premises] 

 

Page 76



  ATTACHMENT 2  4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

LEASE AGREEMENT 
 
 
 
 

MASTER LEASE 
 
 
 
 

by and between 
 
 
 
 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS, a California municipal corporation 
 

(“Landlord”) 
 
 
 

and 
 
 
 

FORBES MILL, LLC, a California limited liability company 

 
(“Master Tenant”) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Los Gatos, California 
 

             

Page 77



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

-i- 
OAK #4810-7729-4116 v8  4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

SECTION 1. BASIC LEASE PROVISIONS AND DEFINITIONS. ........................................................... 1 

1.1 Premises and Address of Premises. .................................................................................. 1 
1.2 Rentable Area of Forbes Mill Property.. ............................................................................. 1 
1.3 Lease Term.. ...................................................................................................................... 1 
1.4 Lease Contingency. ........................................................................................................... 1 
1.5 Minimum Monthly Rent.. .................................................................................................... 2 
1.6 Percentage Rent.. .............................................................................................................. 2 
1.7 Capital Reserve Fund.. ...................................................................................................... 2 
1.8 Maintenance of Premises.. ................................................................................................ 2 
1.9 Rent Commencement Date.. ............................................................................................. 2 
1.10 Subtenant.. ......................................................................................................................... 2 
1.11 Permitted Uses.. ................................................................................................................. 2 
1.12 Town Manager.. ................................................................................................................. 2 
1.13 Master Tenant’s Work and Tenant Improvement Loan Amortization.. .............................. 2 

SECTION 2. LEASED AREA. ................................................................................................................. 2 

2.1 Premises.. .......................................................................................................................... 2 
SECTION 3. TERM.. ............................................................................................................................... 2 

 3.1 Initial Term  ……………………………………………………………………………………….3 
 3.2 Extended Term  …………………………………………………………………………………..3 
 
SECTION 4. RENT. ................................................................................................................................ 3 

4.1 General.. ............................................................................................................................ 3 
4.2 Minimum Monthly Rent.. .................................................................................................... 3 
4.3 Percentage Rent. ............................................................................................................... 3 
4.4 Late Payment Fees.. .......................................................................................................... 5 

SECTION 5. USE OF PREMISES. ......................................................................................................... 6 

5.1 Restricted Use.. .................................................................................................................. 6 
5.2 Prohibited Uses. ................................................................................................................. 6 
5.3 Compliance With Laws.. .................................................................................................... 7 

SECTION 6. LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS. ...................................................................................... 7 

6.1 Condition of the Premises.. ................................................................................................ 7 
6.2 Leasehold Improvements. .................................................................................................. 7 
6.3 Master Tenant Work Improvement Loans. ........................................................................ 7 
6.4 Liens.. ................................................................................................................................. 8 

 6.5 Ownership and Removal………………………………………………………………… ……..8 
6.6 Abandonment.. ................................................................................................................... 9 

SECTION 7. MASTER TENANT OBLIGATIONS – OPERATION OF PREMISES. ............................... 9 

7.1 Responsibility of Master Tenant.. ....................................................................................... 9 
7.2 Leasing Standards. .......................................................................................................... 10 
7.3 Signage and Displays. ..................................................................................................... 10 
7.4 Deliveries.. ....................................................................................................................... 11 

 7.5 Wireless Communications Equipment or Device…………………………………………….11 
7.6 MHDA. .............................................................................................................................. 11 

SECTION 8. MAINTENANCE, REPAIRS, AND ALTERATIONS. ........................................................ 11 

8.1 Master Tenant’s Obligations. ........................................................................................... 11 

Page 78



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

 

 

8.2 Landlord’s Obligations. .................................................................................................... 11 
8.3 Surrender. ........................................................................................................................ 12 
8.4 Landlord’s Rights.. ........................................................................................................... 12 
8.5 Improvements.. ................................................................................................................ 12 
8.6 Capital Reserve Fund.. .................................................................................................... 12 

SECTION 9. INSURANCE. ................................................................................................................... 13 

9.1 General.. .......................................................................................................................... 13 
SECTION 10. INDEMNIFICATION BY MASTER TENANT. ................................................................... 13 

 10.1 General………………………………………………………………………………………...…14 

 
SECTION 11. ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY. ........................................................................................ 14 

11.1 Environmental Law........................................................................................................... 14 
11.2 Hazardous Materials.. ...................................................................................................... 14 
11.3 Release of Hazardous Materials.. .................................................................................... 14 
11.4 Master Tenant’s Use of Hazardous Materials.. ................................................................ 14 
11.5 Environmental Indemnity. ................................................................................................ 15 

SECTION 12. TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS/ POSSESSORY INTEREST TAX. ................................. 15 

12.1 General. ........................................................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 13. INTENTIONALLY OMITTED. ........................................................................................... 15 

SECTION 14. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. ................................................................................ 16 

 14.1 General……………………………………………………………………...……………………17 
 
 14.2 Conditions for Landlord's Consent to Assignment…………………………………………...17 
 
 14.3 Approval by Town Manager………………………………………………………...………….17 
 
 14.4 Recognition Agreement……………………………………………….………………………..17 
 
SECTION 15. MORTGAGE OF LEASEHOLD. ...................................................................................... 17 

15.1 Prohibited Encumbrances. ............................................................................................... 17 
 15.2 Permissible Encumbrances…………………………………………………………………….18 

15.3 Notice to Landlord.. .......................................................................................................... 18 
15.4 Mortgages Subordinate to Lease.. ................................................................................... 18 
15.5 Extent of Encumbrance.. .................................................................................................. 18 

 15.6 Disposition of Insurance Proceeds and Condemnation Awards…………………………...19 
 15.7 Permitted Mortgagee……………………………………………………………………………19 
 15.8 Continuing Terms and Covenants……………………………………………………………..19 
 15.9 Affirmation of Lease in Bankruptcy…………………………………………………………....19 

15.10 Notice Required.. ............................................................................................................. 19 
 15.11 Landlord's Right To Cure Master Tenant's Defaults on Leasehold Mortgages…….…….20 

15.12 Notice to Landlord.. .......................................................................................................... 20 
15.13 Rights and Obligations of Permitted Mortgagees. ........................................................... 20 
15.14 Assignment by Mortgagee.. ............................................................................................. 23 

SECTION 16. DAMAGE TO PREMISES………………………………………………………………………24 
 

Page 79



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued) 

Page 

 

 

 16.1 Landlord's Obligation to Repair………………………………………………………………..24 
 16.2 Election to Terminate……………………………………………………………………………24 

16.3 Abatement of Rent.. ......................................................................................................... 24 
 16.4 Application of Insurance Proceeds…………………..………………………………………..25 
 
SECTION 17. CONDEMNATION………………………………………………………………………………25 
 17.1 Total Condemnation…………………………………………………………………………….25 
 17.2 Partial Condemnation…………………………………………………………………………...25 
 17.3 Condemnation Award…………………………………………………………………………...25 

17.4 Effect of Termination.. ...................................................................................................... 25 
SECTION 18. DEFAULT, REMEDIES, AND TERMINATION. ............................................................... 25 

18.1 Master Tenant’s Default. .................................................................................................. 25 
18.2 Landlord’s Default.. .......................................................................................................... 27 

SECTION 19. TOWN REQUIREMENTS………………………………………………………………………28 
 19.1 Non-discrimination……………………………………….……………………………………..28 
 19.2 Enforcement of Town Requirements………………………………………………………….28 
SECTION 20. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW…………………………………………………………………….28 
 20.1 General…………………………………………………………………………………………..28 

20.2 Regulations Requiring Modifications to 
Premises……………………………………………………………………………….....
29 

SECTION 21. GENERAL PROVISIONS………………………………………………………………………29 
 21.1 Notices, Demands, and Communications Between the Parties………….………………..29 
 21.2 Warranty Against Payment of Consideration for Agreement……………….………………30 
 21.3 Non-liability of Town Officials and Employees……………………………………………….30 
 21.4 Enforced Delay; Extension of Time of Performance………………………….……………..30 
 21.5 Approvals and Town Manager's Authority……………………………………………………30 

21.6 Holding Over.. .................................................................................................................. 30 
 21.7 Time of the Essence…………………………………………………………………………….31 
 21.8 Successors and Assigns………………………………………………………………………..31 
 21.9 Landlord's Access……………………………………………………………………………….31 
 21.10 Legal Relationship………………………………………………………………………………31 
 21.11 Consents…………………………………………………………………………………………31 
 21.12 General………………………………………………………………………….………………..31 

21.13 Quiet Enjoyment.. ............................................................................................................. 30 
21.14 Regulatory Authority......................................................................................................... 31 

 21.15 Costs and Expenses…………………………………………………………………………….32 
 21.16 Entire Agreement………………………………………………………………………………..32 
 21.17 Severability……………………………………………………………………………………….32 
 21.18 Joint and Several……………………………………………………………………………..…32 
 21.19 Memorandum of Agreement……………………………………………………………………32 
 21.20 CASp Inspection ………………………………………………………………………………..32 
 
UPDATE TABLE OF CONTENTS PRIOR TO FINALIZING MASTER LEASE

Page 80



 

[Type here] 
 

TABLE OF EXHIBITS 

 

Exhibit A Legal Description of Premises  

Exhibit B Site Plan Showing Location of Premises 

Exhibit C Form of Notice of Lease Term Dates 

Exhibit D Condition of Premises Upon Delivery 

Exhibit E Insurance Requirements for Master Tenant and Subtenants 

Exhibit F Memorandum of Lease Agreement 

 

 

Page 81



 

 

MASTER LEASE 

This Master Lease (“Lease”) is made and effective as of this _____ day of_______________, 
2020 (“Effective Date”), by and between THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS, a California Municipal Corporation 
(hereinafter “Landlord” or the “Town”), and FORBES MILL, LLC, a California Limited Liability Company 
(“Master Tenant”). 

RECITALS 

A. The Town owns certain improved real property, commonly referred to as the Forbes Mill 
Property, legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof, suitable for office, 
restaurant, retail and other commercial operations (the “Property”). The building situated on such real 
property shall be referred to as the “Forbes Mill Building.”  

B. The Town has solicited proposals to develop the Forbes Mill Building and the future 
development of the Property will require significant capital improvements to make the area usable for 
commercial operators.  

C. Master Tenant has been selected by the Town to develop the Forbes Mill Building and to 
sublease space within the Property to subtenant(s) consented to by the Town. 

Now therefore, in consideration of their mutual promises as set forth in this Lease, the Town and 
Master Tenant agree as follows: 

SECTION 1. BASIC LEASE PROVISIONS AND DEFINITIONS. 

1.1 Master Tenant’s Managing Member. Imwalle Asset Management, LLC, a California 
Limited Liability Company. 

1.2 Premises and Address of Premises:   The Premises consist of the Property and the 
Forbes Mill Building situated thereon.  The address of the Premises is as follows: 

                          75 Church Street,  
                  Los Gatos, CA 95030 

1.3 Rentable Area of Forbes Mill Building.  As depicted in Exhibit B, the Rentable Area of the 
Forbes Mill Building is approximately 3400 square feet.  

1.4 Lease Term.  As provided in Section 3 below, the Term of the Lease commences on the 
Commencement Date and terminates, unless earlier terminated 34 years and 11 months from the 
Commencement Date as provided in Section 3.1 below. 

1.5 Lease Contingency.  This Lease is contingent on the Master Tenant submitting the 
necessary applications and documents  to the Town for approval of the improvements and use of the 
property,  such as, but not limited to, general plan amendment, a proposed site plan, concept drawings 
for the site plan, massing diagrams, and renderings identifying the location, general configuration, and 
proposed design characteristics of the buildings, parking spaces, landscaping, property subdivision, and 
other aspects of the improvement and uses. The Master Tenant acknowledges that the Project Proposal 
requires approvals and entitlements from the Town and shall submit a formal application for the Planning 
Approvals. Costs and fees associated with the Planning Approvals review shall be borne by the Master 
Tenant.   Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to compel the Town to approve or make any 
findings with respect to Planning Approvals.  If Master tenant is unable to obtain Planning Approvals, 
either Landlord or Master Tenant may terminate this Lease by giving written notice of termination to the 
other party   Upon the giving of such notice of termination, this Lease shall terminate without liability of 
either party to the other.   

Page 82



 

 2  

This Lease is also contingent on Master Tenant and a Subtenant having executed a binding initial 
Sublease for any portion of the Premises and occupancy by Subtenants (the “Contingency”).  If the 
Contingency has not been satisfied or waived by Landlord on or before the date twelve (12) months 
following the Effective Date, either Landlord or Master Tenant may terminate this Lease by giving written 
notice of termination to the other party   Upon the giving of such notice of termination, this Lease shall 
terminate without liability of either party to the other. 

1.6 Minimum Monthly Rent.  The Minimum Monthly Rent shall be $0.40 per Rentable Area of 
Forbes Mill Building (which equates to $980 per month) payable to Landlord as provided in Section 4 
below. 

1.7 Percentage Rent.  The Percentage Rent shall be that Rent specified in Section 4.3 
below. 

1.8 Capital Reserve Fund.  For each month that Master Tenant pays to Landlord the 
Minimum Monthly Rent, Landlord shall deposit on a monthly basis to the account described in Section 8.6 
below, the Minimum Monthly Rent received by Landlord. 

1.9 Maintenance of Premises.  The Master Tenant’s obligations for Maintenance of the 
Premises are as set forth in Section 8 below. 

1.10 Rent Commencement Date.  The Rent Commencement Date shall be the date the first 
Subtenant opens for business on the Premises. The Rent Commencement Date shall be memorialized 
between Landlord and Master Tenant as set forth in Exhibit D (Form of Notice of Lease Terms).  

1.11 Subtenant.  The individual commercial operator(s) physically occupying the Premises to 
provide the services required under this Lease, as selected by Master Tenant and accepted by the Town 
(subject to Section 7.2 and Section 14.2 below). The Master Tenant cannot also be a Subtenant.  

1.12 Permitted Uses.  The operation of businesses providing office, retail , restaurant,  and 
other services approved by Master Tenant and Town, and any other lawful use, except as otherwise 
prohibited under this Lease pursuant to Section 5.2. 

1.13 Town Manager.  The Town Manager of the Town (“Town Manager”) or his or her 
designated representative, shall serve as the Town’s principal contact and liaison for coordinating all 
Town requests of Master Tenant and responses to Master Tenant’s requests, and shall assist in the 
implementation of the Town’s obligations hereunder, during the term of this Lease.  The Town Manager 
may change his or her authorized representative at any time by giving written notice of the change to 
Master Tenant. 

1.14 Master Tenant’s Work and Tenant Improvement Loan Amortization.  “Master Tenant’s 
Work” is defined in Section 6.2.  “Tenant Improvement Loan Amortization” is defined in Section 6.3. 

SECTION 2. LEASED AREA. 

2.1 Premises.  Landlord hereby leases to Master Tenant, and Master Tenant hereby leases 
from Landlord the Premises referred to in Section 1.2 above, located at 75 Church Street, Los Gatos, 
California 90530, as depicted on Exhibit B.     

SECTION 3. TERM.   

3.1 Term.  The “Term” of this Lease shall commence as of the Effective Date 
(“Commencement Date”) and shall end, unless earlier terminated or extended pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of this Lease, on the date 34 years and 11 months after the Commencement Date 
(“Termination Date”). 

Page 83



 

 3  

SECTION 4. RENT. 

4.1 General.  From and after the Rent Commencement Date, Master Tenant agrees to pay 
Landlord as rent for the Premises, in the manner and at the times set forth in this Lease, the Minimum 
Monthly Rent and the Percentage Rent, as further described in this Section 4. 

4.1.1 All rent payments shall be sent to the Landlord’s address in Section 21.1 and 
shall be addressed to the attention of the Town Finance Department, and shall be free from all credits, 
claims, demands, off-sets or counterclaims of any kind against the Town. 

4.1.2 Minimum Monthly Rent shall be paid by Master Tenant to Landlord on a 
monthly basis in advance on or before the first day of each month during the Term. 

4.1.3 Percentage Rent shall be paid in arrears on or before April 15 each calendar 
year for the amount due and owing for the preceding calendar year (or 90 days after any Termination 
Date).  

4.2 Minimum Monthly Rent.  The Minimum Monthly Rent shall be the amount indicated in 
Section 1.6. Minimum Monthly Rent shall be paid in advance on or before the first day of each calendar 
month during the Lease Term. 

4.3 Percentage Rent. 

4.3.1 Manner and Time of Payment.  Percentage Rent shall equal 60% of the 
Sublease Income received by Master Tenant during each calendar year, remaining after Distribution of 
Sublease Income in accordance with Section 4.3.4(a) through Section 4.3.4(d) below. 

4.3.2 Definition of Sublease Income.  “Sublease Income” shall mean the sum of (a) 
all base rents actually received by Master Tenant from its Subtenants of the Premises (excluding 
reimbursements from Subtenants for any operating costs such as, but not limited to, taxes, insurance, 
utilities, and maintenance and repair costs, to the extent such reimbursements do not exceed Master 
Tenant’s actual costs of such operating costs), (b) any interest earned on security deposits of Subtenants, 
(c) security deposits forfeited by Subtenants (to the extent applied to delinquent rentals owing by such 
applicable Subtenant) and any fees paid by Subtenants to Master Tenant for cancellation of their 
subleases; and (d) proceeds of business interruption or rental loss insurance actually collected by Master 
Tenant as a result of loss of sublease income.  Sublease Income shall not include (i) the proceeds of any 
casualty insurance or condemnation awards, (ii) any management fee reimbursements received by 
Master Tenant from a Subtenant of the Premises, or (iii) the proceeds from any financing of any interest 
in the Premises or any Improvements. Sublease Income shall be determined on a cash basis for each 
calendar year. 

4.3.3 Definition of Sublease Expenses.  “Sublease Expenses” shall be determined 
on a cash basis for each calendar year and shall mean the sum of: 

(a) all tenant improvement and remodeling costs paid by Master Tenant 
(other than costs of Master Tenant’s Work or other Improvements, which will be repaid to Master Tenant 
through Tenant Improvement Loan Amortization Amounts); 

(b) all leasing commissions paid by Master Tenant (excluding leasing 
commissions paid to Master Tenant or to persons or entities affiliated with Master Tenant); 

(c) all legal and accounting expenses incurred and paid by Master Tenant in 
connection with the Premises and/or any Subleases; 

Page 84



 

 4  

(d) all possessory interest taxes and other property taxes paid by Master 
Tenant (to the extent not reimbursed to Master Tenant by Subtenants); 

(e) all insurance costs paid by Master Tenant in connection with the 
Premises (to the extent not reimbursed to Master Tenant by Subtenants); 

(f) all other costs incurred and paid by Master Tenant in connection with 
operating, maintaining, repairing, replacing, and subleasing the Premises, or applicable portion thereof, 
including, without limitation, costs incurred and paid by Master Tenant pursuant to Section 20.1 and/or 
Section 20.2(b) of this Lease (to the extent not reimbursed to Master Tenant by Subtenants). 

Sublease Expenses shall not include any management fee of Master Tenant; however, Master 
Tenant may, through its agent or otherwise, collect a management fee on any sublease. 

4.3.4 Distribution of Sublease Income.  All Sublease Income shall be used by 
Master Tenant for the following uses and shall be distributed by Master Tenant in the following priority: 

(a) First, to pay to Landlord the Minimum Monthly Rent as set forth in 
Section 4.2 above, which sum is payable by Master Tenant to Landlord whether or not Master Tenant 
collects and receives Sublease Income; 

(b) Second, to pay Master Tenant its Sublease Expenses as defined in 
Section 4.3.3 above; 

(c) Third, to pay Master Tenant funded Master Tenant Work Improvement 
Loans as provided by Section 6.3 below. 

(d) Forth, to pay to Master Tenant the amount of Minimum Monthly Rent 
paid in that calendar year. 

(e) Fifth, as provided by Section 4.3.1 above, to pay Percentage Rent to 
Landlord and the balance to Master Tenant. 

4.3.5 Annual Statements.  On or before April 15 of each calendar year, with the 
payment of Percentage Rent, Master Tenant shall furnish to the Town a statement (the “Annual 
Statement”) duly certified by the Chief Financial Officer or the Managing Member or the equivalent of the 
Master Tenant, setting forth in reasonable detail the Sublease Income from the Premises and the amount 
of the Percentage Rent which was required to be paid to the Town during the preceding calendar year in 
accordance with the provisions of this Lease.  The Annual Statement shall also contain a detailed 
breakdown showing how Master Tenant calculated Sublease Income and Sublease Expenses.  In 
addition, Master Tenant shall provide to Landlord a copy of Master Tenant’s federal income tax return 
promptly following filing same with the Internal Revenue Service.  The amounts reported to Landlord by 
Master Tenant for Sublease Income and Sublease Expenses shall conform to the amounts reported on 
Master Tenant’s federal income tax return filed with the Internal Revenue Service.  Master Tenant’s 
federal income tax return shall cover only income and expenses from the Premises and shall not include 
income and expenses from any other property. 

4.3.6 Books and Records.  Master Tenant shall keep and maintain at its 
headquarters full, complete and appropriate books, records and accounts relating to the Premises, 
including all such books, records and accounts necessary or prudent to evidence and substantiate in full 
detail Master Tenant’s calculation of the Percentage Rent.  Books, records and accounts relating to 
Master Tenant’s compliance with the terms, provisions, covenants and conditions of this Lease shall be 
kept and maintained on a cash basis (except as otherwise expressly provided herein), in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied, and shall be consistent with the 
requirements of this Lease which provide for the calculation of Percentage Rent.  All such books, records 

Page 85



 

 5  

and accounts shall be open to and available for inspection by the Town, its auditors or other authorized 
representatives at reasonable intervals during normal business hours.  Copies of all tax returns and other 
reports that Master Tenant may be required to furnish any governmental agency which would evidence or 
substantiate Master Tenant’s calculation of the Percentage Rent shall at all reasonable times be open for 
inspection by the Town at the place that the books, records and accounts of Master Tenant are kept.  
Master Tenant shall preserve records on which any statement of Percentage Rent is based for a period of 
not less than four years after such statement is rendered, and for any period during which there is an 
audit undertaken pursuant to Subsection 4.3.6 hereof then pending. 

4.3.7 Town Audits.  The receipt by the Town of any statement pursuant to 
Subsection 4.3.5 above, or any payment by Master Tenant or acceptance by the Town of any Percentage 
Rent for any period shall not bind the Town as to the correctness of such statement or such payment; 
provided, however, the Town shall accept the correctness of such statement if it conforms to the amounts 
shown on Master Tenant’s federal income tax return for the period covered by such statement.  Within 
four years after the receipt of any such statement, the Town or any designated agent or employee of the 
Town at any time and at the Town’s cost (except as provided below) shall be entitled to audit the books, 
records and accounts pertaining to the Premises and the operation thereof.  Such audit shall be 
conducted during normal business hours at the principal place of business of Master Tenant and other 
places where records are kept.  Provided that Master Tenant has fully cooperated, any audit undertaken 
pursuant to this Subsection shall be completed within 180 days of the commencement thereof, subject to 
extensions of time for any periods of delay by any third party due to no fault of the Town or its auditors, 
and in no event later than four years after the Town’s receipt of the statement or statements being 
audited.  Immediately after the completion of an audit, the Town shall deliver a copy of the results of such 
audit to Master Tenant.  The Town shall not be entitled to more than one audit for any particular year, 
unless it shall appear from a subsequent audit that fraud or concealment may have occurred with respect 
to the Sublease Income of a previously audited year.  If it shall be determined as a result of such audit 
that there has been a deficiency in any Percentage Rent, then such deficiency shall become immediately 
due and payable with interest at the legal rate of 10% per annum, such payment to be determined as of 
and accruing from the date that said payment should have been made.  In addition, if Master Tenant’s 
statement for any calendar year shall be found to have intentionally understated Sublease Income by 
more than five percent and the Town is entitled to a supplementary payment as a result of said 
understatement, then Master Tenant shall pay, in addition to the interest charges referenced 
hereinabove, all of the Town’s reasonable costs and expenses connected with any audit or review of 
Master Tenant’s accounts and records. 

4.4 Late Payment Fees.  Any rentals, fees or charges required to be paid by Master Tenant 
pursuant to the terms of this Lease shall be paid on or before the dates specified in Subsection 4.1 above 
(“due date”) without any requirement of notice from the Town and without deduction or offset.  Master 
Tenant hereby acknowledges that late payment to the Town of any fee, charge or other sum due 
hereunder will cause the Town to incur costs not contemplated by this Lease, the exact amount of which 
will be extremely difficult to ascertain.  If any such fee, charge or other sum due from Master Tenant is not 
received by the Town within 30 days after its due date (10 days for Minimum Monthly Rent), then Master 
Tenant shall pay to the Town a late payment fee equal to one percent per month of the amount not paid, 
calculated, for each day or portion thereof, from the due date until the date that payment is received by 
Town.  The parties hereby agree that such late fee represents a fair and reasonable estimate of the cost 
that the Town will incur by reason of Master Tenant’s late payment.  The Town’s acceptance of such late 
fees shall not constitute a waiver of Master Tenant’s default with respect to such overdue amount or stop 
the Town from exercising any of the other rights and remedies granted hereunder or at law or in equity.  A 
failure to pay any fee on the due date shall constitute an event of default under this Lease.  
Notwithstanding any right or remedy of the Town on account of any nonpayment by Master Tenant, the 
obligation to pay the outstanding amounts due shall survive termination of this Lease. 

 

 

Page 86



 

 6  

SECTION 5. USE OF PREMISES. 

5.1 Restricted Use.  The Premises shall be used and occupied by Master Tenant, and any 
Subtenants approved by Town in accordance with Section 14 below only for Permitted Uses, and for no 
other purpose. 

5.2 Prohibited Uses.  Master Tenant shall not: 

5.2.1 use or knowingly allow the use of the Premises by Master Tenant or any of its 
Subtenants or any of their respective agents, employees, contractors, other representatives or invitees for 
any unlawful purpose; or 

5.2.2 cause, maintain, or knowingly permit any nuisance in, on, or about the 
Premises by Master Tenant or any of its Subtenants or any of their respective agents, employees, 
contractors, other representatives or invitees; commit or suffer to be committed any physical waste in or 
upon the Premises by Master Tenant or any of its Subtenants or any of their respective agents, 
employees, contractors, other representatives or invitees; or 

5.2.3 display or sell merchandise outside the defined exterior walls and doorways of 
the Forbes Mill Building; however, said restriction shall not apply to outside seating for a restaurant or 
other permitted use; or 

5.2.4 cause or knowingly permit the undue accumulation of garbage, trash, rubbish 
or any other refuse in or about the Premises by Master Tenant or any of its Subtenants or any of their 
respective agents, employees, contractors, other representatives or invitees; or  

5.2.5 use or knowingly permit the use of any advertising such as, without limitation, 
loudspeakers, phonographs, public address systems, sound amplifiers, radio or broadcast within the 
Premises by Master Tenant or any of its Subtenants or any of their respective agents, employees, 
contractors, other representatives or invitees in such a manner that any sounds reproduced, transmitted 
or produced shall be directed primarily beyond the interior of the Tati Building, and will keep all 
mechanical apparatus free of objectionable vibration and noise which may be transmitted beyond the 
interior of the Premises; or 

5.2.6 Cause or knowingly permit obnoxious odors to emanate or be dispelled from 
the Premises by Master Tenant or any of its Subtenants or any of their respective agents, employees, 
contractors, other representatives or invitees; or  

5.2.7 Cause or knowingly permit any use of the Premises by Master Tenant or any 
of its Subtenants or any of their respective agents, employees, contractors, other representatives or 
invitees which violates any Town zoning code applicable to the Premises; or 

The preceding to the contrary notwithstanding, Landlord agrees that if any Subtenant or 
any of Subtenant’s agents, employees, contractors, other representatives or invitee acts or fails to act in 
any manner that causes Master Tenant to be in violation of any of the provisions of Section 5.2.1 through 
Section 5.2.7 above, then Master Tenant shall not be in breach or default under this Lease due to such 
act(s) or failure(s) to act by such applicable Subtenant or any of its agents, employees, contractors, other 
representatives or invitees so long as Master Tenant exercises commercially reasonable efforts to 
prevent such violation(s) from occurring and shall have taken steps in good faith within thirty (30) days 
after receipt of written notice from Landlord to remedy such failure and is continuing to so act with 
diligence and continuity and further, where possession of the Premises or portion thereof is necessary to 
cure a default under this Lease, Master Tenant will not be considered to be in default under this Lease as 
a result of a breach by a Subtenant or any of Subtenant’s agents, employees, contractors, other 
representatives or invitee under its sublease so long as Master Tenant has sent notice of default to, and 
commenced legal action against the Subtenant and is diligently and continuously pursuing an unlawful 

Page 87



 

 7  

detainer action or other legal proceedings required to regain possession of the Premises or portion 
thereof from such Subtenant. 

As used in the provisions of Section 5.2.1 through Section 5.2.7, the term “knowingly” 
includes what Master Tenant reasonably should have known with the exercise of reasonable inquiry and 
investigation. 

5.3 Compliance with Laws.  Master Tenant shall carry out, or cause to be carried out, all 
obligations under this Lease, including without limitation Master Tenant’s Work, in conformity with all 
applicable state, federal, and local laws and regulations, including all applicable state labor laws and 
standards; Town zoning and development standards; building, plumbing, mechanical and electrical 
codes; all other provisions of the Town of Los Gatos Municipal Code; and all applicable disabled and 
handicapped access requirements, including the Americans With Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 
12101, et seq., Government Code Section 4450, et seq., Government Code Section 11135, et seq., and 
the Unruh Civil Rights Act, Civil Code Section 51, et seq. (“Applicable Laws”).  Master Tenant’s 
obligations under this Section 5.3 shall include the obligation to undertake all appropriate inquiries with 
state and federal governmental enforcement and regulatory agencies as necessary to fully comply with all 
Applicable Laws, including any applicable prevailing wage requirements in connection with the 
construction of the Master Tenant’s Work.  Master Tenant also shall require that its Subtenants (to the 
extent expressly made applicable to such Subtenants) and their respective agents, employees, 
contractors and subcontractors, comply with all Applicable Laws in connection with the construction of the 
Subtenant’s Work and Improvements. 

SECTION 6. LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS.  

6.1 Condition of the Premises.  Landlord shall deliver the Premises to Master Tenant on the 
Effective Date clean and free of debris, and in the condition of the Premises upon delivery as described in 
Exhibit D.   

6.2 Leasehold Improvements.  Master Tenant agrees to install, or cause to be installed, in 
the Premises all improvements, fixtures, furniture and equipment within the Premises, as reasonably 
necessary for Master Tenant to attract and retain high quality Subtenants.  Within one hundred eighty 
(180) calendar days after the Effective Date, Master Tenant shall provide Landlord a detailed description 
of work it proposes to undertake to ready the Premises for initial lease up to Subtenants (“Initial Master 
Tenant’s Work”).  In addition to providing Landlord all relevant information regarding a proposed 
Subtenant necessary for Landlord to evaluate and provide its consent to a proposed Subtenant pursuant 
to Section 14.2, Master Tenant shall provide Landlord a detailed description of the additional work, if any, 
to be undertaken by Master Tenant (“Additional Master Tenant’s Work”) as well as the work to be 
undertaken by a Subtenant (“Subtenant’s Work”) in connection with said applicable sublease. 

The Initial Master Tenant’s Work and all Additional Master Tenant’s Work undertaken in 
connection with a sublease consented to by Landlord in accordance with 14.2 below, shall collectively be 
referred to herein as the “Master Tenant’s Work”.  The term “Master Tenant’s Work” does not include 
“Subtenant’s Work” to be performed by Subtenants.  It is acknowledged and agreed that the Subtenants 
of Master Tenant will install additional improvements, fixtures, furniture, and equipment as necessary for 
conduct of their operations, and shall all be responsible for complying with all applicable federal, state, 
and local statutes, laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations, and obtaining all necessary permits, to 
perform such work. 

6.3 Master Tenant Work Improvement Loans. 

6.3.1 As provided in Section 4.3.4 above, Master Tenant may utilize Sublease 
Income to repay itself for funds it advances or borrows from a third party lender for Master Tenant’s Work, 
and any subsequent Improvements within the Premises that are neither Subtenant’s Work nor funded by 
the Town’s Capital Reserve Fund (“Master Tenant Work Improvement Loans”), on the following basis: 

Page 88



 

 8  

(a) Interest.  Interest shall be on the basis of actual days elapsed, at a fixed 
rate of 3% per annum if funded by Master Tenant, or at the actual rate of interest charged by Master 
Tenant’s lender if funded by an independent, armlengths third-party lender, as of the date of each 
advance. 

(b) Repayment Term.  Whether funded by Master Tenant or a third-party 
lender, the repayment term shall be no greater than the Lease Term.  

(c) Amortization.  For each Master Tenant Work Improvement Loan funded 
by Master Tenant, interest only payments until the later of (i) first day of the month following the final 
advance under the loan, or (ii) the date subrent is due, and thereafter equal monthly payments of 
combined principal and interest necessary to fully amortize the loan over the remaining repayment term. If 
funded by a third-party lender, the loan shall be fully amortized in accordance with the terms of the loan. 

6.4 Liens.  All Master Tenant’s Work and Subtenant’s Work shall be completed free of 
mechanic’s liens, with first-class materials and workmanship, and in compliance with all applicable rules, 
regulations, and laws applicable to the Premises. 

6.5 Letter of Credit (LOC). All Master Tenant’s Work or Subtenant’s Work shall be approved 
by Landlord (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). Such consent 
shall be deemed given if not denied in writing to Master Tenant within ten (10) business days following 
Landlord’s receipt of such information required for Landlord to evaluate such applicable Master Tenant’s 
Work or Subtenants Work. Master Tenant shall furnish to Town, at no cost or expense to the Town, a 
letter of credit (“LOC”) in the amount not less than the sum of One Hundred Percent of the cost estimate 
of the Master Tenant’s Work, in a form subject to the review and approval by the Town Manager or his or 
her designee (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), which LOC 
shall secure Master Tenant’s obligation to complete, and pay for the cost of completion of, the 
construction of the Master Tenant’s Work within the time reasonably fixed by the Landlord, or such 
extension thereof as may be allowed. Master Tenant shall refrain from performing, or causing the 
performance of, any work related to the construction of Master Tenant’s Work until Master Tenant 
furnishes a LOC satisfying this Section 6.5. 

In the event Master Tenant fails to complete the Master Tenant’s Work within the time fixed by 
Landlord or such extension period as determined by Landlord, and following Master Tenant’s receipt of 
written notice of such failure from Landlord, Master Tenant fails to promptly commence action to complete 
the Master Tenant’s Work within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of such notice, then Landlord may 
terminate this Lease for cause as specified in this Lease and Landlord shall be entitled to call on such 
LOC to the extent necessary to pay or reimburse Landlord for costs reasonably incurred by Landlord to 
complete the Master Tenant’s Work (and the balance of such LOC proceeds or the LOC itself after 
payment or reimbursement to Landlord as provided immediately above shall be paid or returned to 
Master Tenant). In the event that Master Tenant fails to complete the Master tenant’s Work within the time 
fixed by Landlord or such extension period as determined by Landlord, and following Master Tenant’s 
receipt of written notice of such failure from Landlord, Master Tenant commences action to complete 
Master Tenant’s Work within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of such notice but thereafter fails to 
diligently process such cure to completion, then, Landlord shall give a second, written notice to Master 
Tenant and if Master Tenant does not commence action to complete the Master tenant’s Work within 
fifteen (15) days following Master Tenant’s receipt of such second, written notice or thereafter diligently 
process such cure to completion, then Landlord may terminate this Lease for cause as specified in this 
Lease and Landlord shall be entitled to call on such LOC to the extent necessary to pay or reimburse 
Landlord for costs reasonably incurred by Landlord to complete Master Tenant’s work (and the balance of 
such LOC proceeds or the LOC itself after payment or reimbursement to Landlord as provided 
immediately above shall be paid or returned to Master Tenant).  

6.6 Ownership and Removal.  All personal property not affixed in any way to the Premises 
including inventory, kitchen equipment, those nonstructural alterations as the Town approves for removal 
as were installed under this Lease and do not affect the structure of the Forbes Mill Building or the 

Page 89



 

 9  

Premises, together with Master Tenant’s Trade Fixtures, (collectively, “Master Tenant’s Property”) shall 
remain the property of Master Tenant.  Upon the termination or expiration of the Lease Term, if Master 
Tenant is not then in default under the Lease, Master Tenant may remove Master Tenant’s Property from 
the Premises no later than the termination or expiration date.  In addition, Master Tenant may remove 
from the Premises all items and Alterations installed by Master Tenant that are indicative of Master 
Tenant’s business and may otherwise “de-identify” the Premises, as Master Tenant reasonably believes 
necessary or appropriate for the protection of Master Tenant’s interest in Master Tenant’s trademarks, 
trade names or copyrights.  Master Tenant shall repair any damage to the Premises caused by such 
removal, including patching and filling holes.  In no event shall Master Tenant remove or be required to 
remove any restrooms, flooring, ceilings, utility or electrical components located inside the walls or HVAC 
systems.  All other utility systems will be capped and returned to a condition compatible with code 
requirements. 

6.6.1 Subtenant’s Personal Property.  Landlord waives any statutory liens and rights 
of distress with respect to the personal property (non-affixed trade fixtures, equipment, inventory and 
merchandise) of each Subtenant from time to time located with the Premises, or applicable part thereof 
(“Subtenant’s Personal Property”).  This Lease (and each sublease entered into between Master Tenant 
and a Subtenant) does not grant a contractual lien or any other security interest to Landlord or in favor of 
Landlord with respect to Subtenant’s Personal Property. In the event Landlord becomes the direct 
sublessor or landlord of a Subtenant, then, respecting any lender of any Subtenant having a security 
interest in any Subtenant’s Personal Property (“Subtenant’s Lender”), Landlord agrees: (i) to provide such 
Subtenant’s Lender, upon written request of a Subtenant (accompanied by the name and address of 
Subtenant’s Lender), with a copy of any default notice given to Subtenant under its sublease, 
concurrently with delivery of such default notice to Subtenant, and (ii) to allow Subtenant’s Lender, prior 
to any termination of the sublease or repossession by Landlord of the applicable premises subleased by 
such Subtenant, the same period of time, after its receipt of such copy of default notice, to cure such 
default as is allowed the Subtenant under its sublease, and (iii) to permit Subtenant’s Lender to enter the 
subleased premises for the purpose of removing Subtenant’s Personal Property anytime within thirty (30) 
days after the effective date of any termination of the applicable sublease or any repossession of the 
subleased premises by Landlord (with Landlord having given Subtenant’s Lender prior written notice of 
such date of termination or possession). Landlord will not be required to allow Subtenant’s Lender to 
enter the subleased premises after entry of judgment in a forcible entry and detainer action, but agree to 
delay the filing of any such forcible entry and detainer action for thirty (30) days after delivery of written 
notice of such action to Subtenant’s Lender, and will permit Subtenant’s Lender to enter the subleased 
premises for the purpose of removing Subtenant’s Personal Property any time within such thirty (30) 
days. Landlord further agrees to execute and deliver such instruments reasonably requested by 
Subtenant’s Lender from time to time to evidence and effect this waiver and agreement of Landlord. 

6.7 Abandonment.  Any of Master Tenant’s Property not removed from the Premises within 
sixty (60) business days of the date the Lease terminates or expires shall be deemed abandoned and 
shall thereupon become the property of Landlord.  Landlord may possess and dispose of such property 
provided that Landlord shall not use or permit anyone holding under Landlord to use on the Premises (a) 
any trademark, trade name, millwork, copyrighted floor plan, copyrighted color palette, or sign used by 
Master Tenant in the Premises; or (b) any item similar to any other item protected by Master Tenant’s 
intellectual property rights.  This provision shall apply under all circumstances, including default by Master 
Tenant under this Lease. 

SECTION 7. MASTER TENANT OBLIGATIONS – OPERATION OF PREMISES. 

7.1 Responsibility of Master Tenant.  Master Tenant shall serve as the master developer and 
sublandlord for the Subtenants and shall be obligated to ensure that the Premises are properly and fully 
operated, in good condition, for the approved commercial uses.  Master Tenant shall be the primary point 
of contact for the Town with regard to all operational, administrative, and compliance issues under this 
Lease. 

Page 90



 

 10  

7.2 Leasing Standards. Subject to the provisions of Section 14.1 and 14.2 below, Master 
Tenant shall use its commercially reasonable efforts, consistent with good property management 
practices, to obtain first class commercial Subtenants for the Premises. However, if after reasonable 
effort, Master Tenant is unable to attract Subtenants of similar type and quality on terms and conditions 
satisfactory to Master Tenant, Master Tenant may, subject to Section 14.2 below, sublease to Subtenants 
who may be considered less desirable in terms commercial type and quality.  Landlord shall not 
unreasonably withhold its approval of any potential Subtenant who Master Tenant reasonably determines 
is the best available Subtenant on terms and conditions satisfactory to Master tenant.  

7.3 Continuous Operations. Master Tenant shall use its commercially reasonable efforts, 
subject to the provisions of Section 7.2 above, to continuously sublet the Premises to approved 
Subtenants for commercial purposes during the term of this lease. If, for any reason, a Subtenant quits its 
business operations on the Premises, Master Tenant shall use its commercially reasonable efforts, in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 7.2 above, to promptly secure another Subtenant reasonably 
acceptable to Master Tenant and Landlord.  

If for any reason during the first three (3) years after the Commencement Date the Premises in 
their entirety are left unleased for a continuous period of eighteen (18) months or more, then either the 
Landlord or Master Tenant may terminate this Lease by giving written notice of termination to the other, in 
which case, upon the giving of such notice of termination, each party shall be released of any future 
liability to the other, except as provided herein. 

If for any reason after the first three (3) years following the Rent Commencement Date the 
Premises are more than fifty percent (50%) unleased for six (6) consecutive months, then Landlord may 
require Master Tenant to prepare and provide to Landlord, for its review and approval, a marketing plan to 
lease said unleased space. Master Tenant shall prepare and provide said marketing plan to Landlord 
within thirty (30) calendar days following written notice from Landlord to prepare said marketing plan. 
Landlord shall complete its review and approval of the marketing plan within thirty (30) calendar days 
following its submission by Master Tenant to Landlord.  If for any reason the Premises remain more than 
fifty percent (50%) unleased for six (6) consecutive months following Landlords approval of the marketing 
plan, and Master Tenant can document to Landlord’s reasonable satisfaction that Master Tenant has 
diligently, and in good faith, pursued the lease of said unleased space in accordance with the approved 
marketing plan, then Landlord shall provide Master Tenant no less than an additional six (6) month period 
of time to lease the unleased space. If following said additional period of time granted by Landlord, the 
Premises are more than fifty percent (50%) unleased, then either the Landlord or Master tenant may 
terminate this Lease by giving written notice of termination to the other, in which case, upon the giving of 
such notice of termination, each party shall be released of any future liability to the other, except as 
provided herein.  

If Landlord terminates the Lease pursuant to this Section 7.3, then Landlord shall assume the 
repayment of all outstanding Master Tenant Work Improvement Loans with the right to prepay such loans 
at Landlord’s election without penalty. However, the Town’s general fund shall assume no obligation for 
repayment of the Master Tenant Work Improvement Loans, which shall be repaid solely from future 
Sublease Income generated from the future operation of the Premises. Landlord’s obligations under the 
immediately preceding sentence shall survive the termination of this Lease pursuant to this Section 7.3.  If 
Master Tenant terminates the Lease pursuant to this Section 7.3, then Master Tenant shall assume the 
repayment of all outstanding Master Tenant Work Improvement Loans and no portion of Sublease 
Income or any other revenue generated by the Premises shall be obligated or utilized for repayment of 
said outstanding.  

7.4 Signage and Displays.  With respect to signage on the Premises, Landlord and Master 
Tenant agree as follows: 

7.4.1 Landlord may allow Master Tenant may place a sign(s) on the exterior of the 
Forbes Mill Building to the extent such signage is allowed by law, provided that (i) the design and location 
of any such sign is approved in advance in writing by Landlord, and (ii) Master Tenant secures all 

Page 91



 

 11  

necessary permits and approvals from the Town and/or any other applicable governmental authority. Any 
such signage shall be designed and installed in a manner that maintains the existing building system 
warranties, if any, applicable to the Forbes Mill Building.  Upon expiration or earlier termination of this 
Lease, Master Tenant shall remove Master Tenant’s sign(s) from the exterior of the Forbes Mill Building, if 
applicable, and restore the exterior of the Forbes Mill Building to condition existing prior to the placement 
of such sign(s) on the exterior of the Forbes Mill Building, unless otherwise approved by Landlord. 

7.5 Utilities.  Master Tenant shall pay, or cause to be paid, for any and all costs, fees and 
expenses of water, gas, electricity, telephone, trash collection and recycling used by Master Tenant or 
any Subtenant in connection with the Premises during the Term of this Lease. 

7.6 Deliveries.  All deliveries shall be made at the hours not in violation of municipal 
ordinances.   

7.7 Wireless Communications Equipment or Devices.  The location of any equipment or 
device for the purpose of telecommunication or wireless access to services over the internet, by any party 
or for Master Tenant’s or any Subtenants business operations, shall be coordinated with the Town and 
shall be subject to Town’s reasonable approval. 

7.8 PBID.  Master Tenant will exercise commercially reasonable efforts to encourage its 
Subtenants to pay, if applicable, all Los Gatos Downtown Property Based Improvement District (“PBID”) 
assessments for the Premises, which accrue during the term of this lease.  

SECTION 8. MAINTENANCE, REPAIRS, AND ALTERATIONS. 

8.1 Master Tenant’s Obligations.  Subject to the provisions of Section 8.2 below, and except 
for damage caused by fire or other casualty, whether or not insured or insurable, Master Tenant, at 
Master Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall keep, or cause to be kept, the Premises, in good condition  
and repair, including maintaining and repairing, or causing to be maintained or repaired, as necessary, all 
Master Tenant’s Work, and all plumbing, HVAC, electrical and lighting facilities and equipment within the 
Premises, and any Master Tenant signage, and all doors and plate glass windows (both interior and 
exterior), interior walls, and flooring in the Premises.  Master Tenant shall provide a contract for regular 
maintenance of the HVAC with an HVAC company reasonably approved by Landlord.    Master Tenant 
shall be required to implement a program, reasonably acceptable to Landlord, for control and elimination 
of rodents and vermin on or around the Premises.  Master Tenant shall be required to maintain any 
Outdoor Use Areas located on the Premises.  Master Tenant shall remove graffiti from the exterior of the 
Premises within a reasonable time and shall always otherwise keep the exterior of the Premises in a 
clean and well-maintained condition. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, Master Tenant’s 
obligations under this Section 8.1 shall not include making (a) any repair or improvement necessitated by 
the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, its agents, employees or servants; (b) any repair or 
improvement caused by Landlord’s failure to perform its obligations hereunder or under any other 
agreement between Landlord and Master Tenant or (c) any capital repairs or capital improvements not 
funded by the Capital Reserve Fund. 

8.2 Landlord’s Obligations. 

8.2.1 Except for repairs and maintenance to the Premises that Master Tenant must 
make under Section 8.1 above, Landlord shall be responsible, at its sole cost and expense, for the 
remediation of any Hazardous Materials discovered in, on, or about the Premises during the work 
performed under Section 6 above or discovered thereafter, provided, said discovery and presence of 
Hazardous Materials are not directly arising out of or attributable to Master Tenant or any subtenants use 
and/or occupancy of the Premises,  Further, Landlord shall be responsible for, at its sole cost and 
expenses, the roof structure, roof membrane and supports, HVAC (excluding Master Tenant’s 
maintenance contract), sprinkler system, foundation, exterior walls, and all structural components of the 
Forbes Mill Building.  In the event of an emergency, Master Tenant may give Landlord such notice as is 
practicable under the circumstances (if any), and if Landlord fails to make such repairs immediately, 

Page 92



 

 12  

Master Tenant may immediately undertake such repairs and submit an invoice for the reasonable costs 
thereof to Landlord for reimbursement.  Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, Landlord’s 
obligations under this Section 8.2.1 shall not include making (a) any repair or improvement necessitated 
by the negligence or willful misconduct of Master Tenant, Subtenants, or their agents, employees or 
servants; or (b) any repair or improvement caused by Master Tenant’s failure to perform its obligations 
(including obligations which a Sublease obligates a Sublessee) hereunder or under any other agreement 
between Landlord and Master Tenant. 

8.3 Surrender.  Upon the expiration or termination of this Lease, Master Tenant shall 
surrender the Premises to Landlord in good order and condition, except for ordinary wear and tear, 
condemnation, and damage caused by fire or other casualty, whether or not insured or insurable, 
alterations and leasehold improvements made by Master Tenant and Subtenants, and in a broom clean 
condition. 

8.4 Landlord’s Rights.  If Master Tenant fails to perform Master Tenant’s obligations under 
Section 8.1 above, Landlord may, but shall not be required to, enter upon the Premises, after twenty (20) 
calendar days prior written notice to Master Tenant, and put the same in good order, condition and repair, 
and the actual costs thereof and an administrative fee of not more than 10% of the actual costs thereof, 
shall become due and payable as additional rent to Landlord together with Master Tenant’s next Minimum 
Monthly Rent installment payment falling due after Master Tenant’s receipt of an invoice for such costs; 
provided, however, Landlord shall not be able to exercise such remedies so long as Master Tenant 
commences to cure its failure within said twenty (20) day period and diligently pursues the cure to 
completion. 

8.5 Improvements.  The installation of the leasehold improvements necessary for Master 
Tenant’s operation of its business in the Premises shall be performed in accordance with Section 6.  
Once such improvements are completed, Master Tenant shall not thereafter make any alterations, 
improvements, additions, upgrades or utility installations in, on or about the Premises, or install any 
further fixtures, furniture, or equipment therein (together, “Improvements”) without Landlord’s consent, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, provided, however, that minor 
interior Improvements that do not exceed the amount of $50,000, and do not otherwise require permits 
under Applicable Laws (“Minor Improvements”), shall not require Landlord’s consent under this Lease.  All 
other Improvements exceeding $50,000 for construction, or which require permits under Applicable Laws, 
or involve alterations to the exterior of the Premises (“Major Improvements”) shall be subject to Landlord’s 
review and approval under this Lease.  Landlord may review all proposed Improvements for their 
consistency with the final as-built plans for the Forbes Mill Building and may approve variations from such 
drawings in its reasonable discretion.  Town Manager is authorized to make such determination to 
approve Major Improvements which otherwise comply with Applicable Laws under this Lease.  
Notwithstanding Landlord’s approval of Major Improvements under this Lease, Master Tenant shall be 
required to obtain all required permits for such Major Improvements under Applicable Law. 

8.6 Capital Reserve Fund.  On or before the fifteenth day following Landlord’s receipt of the 
Minimum Monthly Rent, Landlord shall deposit the Minimum Monthly Rent to the account described in this 
Section 8.6 (“Capital Reserve Fund”). 

8.6.1 Maintenance of Capital Reserve Fund.  The Capital Reserve Fund shall be 
maintained in a state or nationally chartered bank, the Local Agency Investment Fund Pooled Money 
Investment Account, or other such institution acceptable to Landlord. 

8.6.2 Use of Capital Reserve Fund.  Landlord may use monies in the Capital 
Reserve Fund to fund capital improvements to maintain the quality of the Premises or other purposes 
reasonably related to this Lease, subject to the reasonable consent of Master Tenant.  The use of monies 
in the Capital Reserve Fund shall be controlled and directed by Landlord in its sole discretion, with input 
by Master Tenant, but will be used primarily for capital improvements to the Premises.  Unused amounts 
in the Capital Reserve Fund on the Termination Date will be retained by the Town. 

Page 93



 

 13  

8.6.3 Master Tenant shall utilize Sublease Income to repay Landlord for funds it 
advances from the Capital Reserve Fund for uses identified in Section 8.6.2 above (“Capital Reserve 
Fund Improvement Loans”), on the following basis: 

(a) Interest.  Interest shall be on the basis of actual days elapsed, at a fixed 
rate of 4% per annum, as of the date of each advance. 

(b) Repayment Term.  The repayment term shall be the lesser of ten years 
or the initial term of the applicable Sublease if the Capital Reserve Fund Improvement Loan is related to 
Subtenant Work. 

(c) Amortization.  For each Capital Reserve Fund Improvement Loan, 
interest only payments until the later of (i) first day of the month following the final advance under the 
loan, or (ii) the date subrent is due if the Capital Reserve Fund Improvement Loan is related to Subtenant 
Work, and thereafter equal monthly payments of combined principal and interest necessary to fully 
amortize the loan over the remaining repayment term. 

SECTION 9. INSURANCE. 

9.1 General.  Prior to commencing any work or operations under this Lease, and for the full 
term of this Lease and any extensions thereof, Master Tenant and any Subtenants, at each parties’ sole 
cost and expense, shall obtain and maintain or shall cause to be obtained and maintained insurance 
against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with 
the activities of Master Tenant and its Subtenants, agents, employees and contractors, meeting at least 
the minimum insurance requirements set forth in Exhibit E on terms and conditions and in amounts as 
reasonably required by Town from time to time and with insurers reasonably acceptable to the Town and 
within commonly applicable industry standards for the type of operation. The Town shall not be obligated 
to take out insurance on Master Tenant’s or Subtenant’s property, including the Master Tenant’s Work.  
Master Tenant shall be responsible for obtaining property insurance to cover the cost of repair or 
replacement of the Master Tenant’s Work. Master Tenant and its Subtenants shall provide the Town with 
certificates of insurance or copies of all policies and such endorsements as may be reasonably required 
by the Town.  These requirements are subject to reasonable amendment or waiver if so approved in 
writing by the Town Manager.  From time to time at the request of the Finance Department of the Town of 
Los Gatos , Master Tenant shall provide a written statement of the replacement cost of the Master 
Tenant’s Work. 

During the term of the Lease, Landlord shall maintain general liability insurance in an amount of 
no less than $2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury, property damage and personal injury, as well as 
property insurance covering the cost of repair or replacement of the Premises (excluding therefrom the 
Master Tenant’s Work). 

SECTION 10. INDEMNIFICATION BY MASTER TENANT. 

10.1 General.  Master Tenant shall defend, indemnify, and hold Landlord and Landlord’s 
agent, officers, directors, employees, and contractors harmless against and from any and all injuries, 
costs, expenses, liabilities, losses, damages, injunctions, suits, actions, fines, penalties, and demands of 
any kind or nature (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) in connection with any and all third party claims 
to the extent arising out of Master Tenant’s use of the Premises (“Claims”), including, but not limited to:  
(a) injuries occurring within the Premises; (b) any intentional acts or negligence of Master Tenant or 
Master Tenant’s officers, agents, employees, subtenants, or contractors; (c) any breach or default in the 
performance of any obligation on Master Tenant’s part to be performed under this Lease; (d) any violation 
by Master Tenant or any of its officers, agents, employees, subtenants or contractors of any law, 
ordinance or regulation governing the use of the Premises, (e) any injuries (including death of any 
person), claims, or causes of action relating to or involving the sale of alcoholic beverages on the 
Premises; or (f) the failure of any representation or warranty made by Master Tenant herein to be true 
when made.  This indemnity does not include any Claims caused by or arising out of the intentional or 

Page 94



 

 14  

negligent acts or omissions of Landlord or its agents, officers, contractors or employees.  This indemnity 
shall survive termination of this Lease only as to claims arising out of events that occur prior to 
termination of the Lease. 

SECTION 11. ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY. 

11.1 Environmental Law.  The term “Environmental Law” means collectively:  (i) the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 
9601, et seq., (ii) the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, as amended, 49 U.S.C. § 1801, et seq., (iii) 
the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6901, et seq., (iv) the Federal 
Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. § 1251, et seq., (v) the Clean Air Act, as amended, 
42 U.S.C. § 7401, et seq., (vi) the Toxic Substances Control Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq., 
(vii) the Clean Water Act, as amended, 33 U.S. Code § 1251, et seq., (viii) the Oil Pollution Act, as 
amended, 33 U.S.C. § 2701, et seq., (ix) California Health & Safety Code § 25100, et seq. (Hazardous 
Waste Control), (x) the Hazardous Substance Account Act, as amended, Health & Safety Code § 25300, 
et seq., (xi) the Unified Hazardous Waste and Hazardous Materials Management Regulatory Program, as 
amended, Health & Safety Code § 25404, et seq., (xii) Health & Safety Code § 25531, et seq. (Hazardous 
Materials Management), (xiii) the California Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act, as 
amended, Health & Safety Code § 25249.5, et seq., (xiv) Health & Safety Code § 25280, et seq. 
(Underground Storage of Hazardous Substances), (xv) the California Hazardous Waste Management Act, 
as amended, Health & Safety Code § 25170.1, et seq., (xvi) Health & Safety Code § 25501, et seq., 
(Hazardous Materials Response Plans and Inventory), (xvii) Health & Safety Code § 18901, et seq. 
(California Building Standards), (xviii) the Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act, as amended, 
California Water Code § 13000, et seq., (xix) California Fish and Game Code §§ 5650-5656, (xx) the 
Polanco Redevelopment Act, as amended, Health & Safety Code § 33459, et seq., (xxi) Health & Safety 
Code § 25403, et seq. (Hazardous Materials Release Cleanup), and (xxii) any other federal, state or local 
laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, court orders or common law related in any way to the protection of 
the environment, health or safety, or industrial hygiene. 

11.2 Hazardous Materials.  “Hazardous Materials” means any substance, material, or waste 
which is or becomes regulated by any local governmental authority, the State of California, or the United 
States Government under any Environmental Laws, including any material or substance which is defined 
as “hazardous,” “extremely hazardous,” “hazardous waste,” “extremely hazardous waste,” “restricted 
hazardous waste,” “hazardous substance” or “hazardous material” under any Environmental Laws, 
including, without limitation, chlorinated solvents, petroleum, or any fraction thereof, friable asbestos, and 
polychlorinated biphenyls. 

11.3 Release of Hazardous Materials.  Except as provided below in Section 11.4, Master 
Tenant shall not store, dispose of, transport, generate or otherwise introduce any Hazardous Material in, 
on or around the Premises.  If any Hazardous Material is deposited, released, stored, disposed, 
transported, generated or otherwise introduced by Master Tenant in, on, or around the Premises, Master 
Tenant, at Master Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall comply with all applicable laws, rules, 
regulations and policies of any governmental body with jurisdiction over the same, to remove, transport 
and dispose of such substances and perform all remediation and cleanup necessary or advisable to 
remediate any damage to persons, property or the environment as a result of the presence of such 
Hazardous Materials. 

11.4 Master Tenant’s Use of Hazardous Materials.  Notwithstanding the above and provided 
that Master Tenant complies with all Applicable Laws and Environmental Laws, Master Tenant shall have 
the right to use Hazardous Materials on the Premises to the extent such Hazardous Materials (i) are 
contained in restaurant and/or household products, office supply products or janitorial products customarily 
used in the maintenance, rehabilitation, operation or management of facilities similar to the Premises; or (ii) 
are commonly used by a significant portion of the population living within the region of the Premises, 
including, but not limited to, alcoholic beverages, aspirin, tobacco products, NutraSweet and saccharine, so 
long as Master Tenant provides the appropriate warning, if required to do so under any Applicable Law or 
Environmental Law. 

Page 95



 

 15  

11.5 Environmental Indemnity.  Master Tenant shall protect, indemnify, and hold harmless 
Landlord and Landlord’s officer’s employees, agents, representatives, contractors, and subcontractors 
from and against any and all loss, damage, cost, expense, or liability (including attorneys’ fees), and the 
costs of repairs and improvements necessary to return the Premises to the physical condition existing 
prior to Master Tenant’s undertaking any activity related to any Hazardous Substance, directly arising out 
of or attributable to Master Tenant’s or Master Tenant’s agents’, contractors’, employees’ or Subtenants’ 
use, manufacture, storage, release, or disposal of a Hazardous Substance on the Premises.  Landlord 
shall protect, indemnify, and hold harmless Master Tenant and Master Tenant’s employees, agents, 
parents, representatives, subtenants, contractors, subcontractors and subsidiaries from and against any 
and all loss, damage, cost, expense, or liability (including attorneys’ fees) and the costs of repairs and 
improvements necessary to return the Premises, or applicable portion thereof, to the physical condition 
existing prior to undertaking any activity related to any Hazardous Substance directly arising out of or 
attributable to Landlord’s or Landlord’s agents’, contractors’, or employees’ use, manufacture, storage, 
release, or disposal of a Hazardous Substance on the Premises.  The provisions of this Section 11.5 shall 
survive the termination of this Lease. 

SECTION 12. TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS/ POSSESSORY INTEREST TAX. 

12.1 General.  Master Tenant acknowledges and agrees that this Lease will create a 
possessory interest subject to property taxation.  Master Tenant agrees to pay and discharge, as 
additional rent for the Premises during the term of this Lease, before delinquency, all taxes (including, 
without limitation, possessory interest taxes associated with the Premises, this Lease and any so-called 
value added tax), assessments (including, without limitation, all assessments for public improvements or 
benefits, whether or not commenced or completed prior to the date hereof and whether or not to be 
completed within the term of this Lease), fees, levies, water and sewer rents, rates and charges, vault 
license fees or rentals, license and permit fees and other governmental charges of any kind or nature 
whatsoever, general and special, ordinary and extraordinary, foreseen and unforeseen, or hereinafter 
levied or assessed in lieu of or in substitution of any of the foregoing (all of the foregoing collectively 
called “taxes”) which are or may be at any time or from time to time during the term of this Lease levied, 
charged, assessed or imposed upon or against the Premises or any improvements which are now or 
hereafter located thereon, or against any of Master Tenant’s personal property now or hereafter located 
thereon, or which may be levied, charged, assessed or imposed upon or against the leasehold estate 
created hereby or which may be imposed upon any taxable interest of Master Tenant acquired pursuant 
to this Lease on account of any taxable possessory right which Master Tenant may have acquired 
pursuant to this Lease.  Master Tenant shall pay or reimburse Landlord, as the case may be, for any 
fines, penalties, interest or costs which may be added by the collecting authority for the late payment or 
nonpayment of any taxes required to be paid by Master Tenant hereunder. 

SECTION 13. PROHIBITION AGAINST CHANGE IN MASTER TENANT AND CONTROL OF MASTER 
TENANT AND THE PREMISES, AND TRASNFER OF MASTER TENANT’S RIGHTS UNDER THIS 
LEASE. 

13.1 Qualifications of Master Tenant.  Master Tenant acknowledges that the qualifications and 
identity of Master Tenant, including in particular Master Tenant’s Managing Members, are of particular 
concern to the community and the town, in view of the following: 

13.1.1 The importance of the proper subleasing of the Premises to the general 
welfare of the community; 

13.1.2 The reliance by the Town upon Master Tenant to assure the quality of the 
Premises and its use, operation and maintenance; 

13.1.3 The fact that a change in Master Tenant or control of all or a portion of Master 
Tenant, or any act or transaction involving or resulting in a change in Master Tenant is for practical 
purposes a Transfer or disposition of the Premises; and 

Page 96



 

 16  

13.1.4 The importance to the Town and the community of the standards for the use, 
operation and maintenance of the Premises and associated areas. 

13.2 Acknowledgment of Importance of Qualifications. Master Tenant further recognizes that it 
is because of such qualifications and identity that the Landlord is entering into this Lease with Master 
Tenant. No voluntary or involuntary successor-in-interest of Master Tenant shall acquire any rights or 
powers under this Lease except as expressly set forth in this Lease. 

13.3 Completion of Master Tenants Work. Prior to the completion of Master Tenant’s Work, 
Master Tenant shall not (i) assign all or any part of its rights or obligations under this Lease, (ii) lease or 
sublease any portion of the Premises (other than subleases of portions of the Premises to permitted 
Subtenants as otherwise provided in the Lease), (iii) make or permit to be made any changes in the 
composition of Master Tenant’s ownership, limited liability company status, or members, or (iv) effect any 
transaction which would in any way change the Master Tenant’s ownership, management, control or 
obligations relating to the Premises.  

13.4 Permitted Transfers. Following the period described in Section 13.3 above (i.e. 
completion of Master Tenant’s Work), Master Tenant may, with the prior review and approval of the Town 
Manager (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), make changes in the 
composition of Master tenant’s ownership, corporate or other entity status, shareholders, members or 
partners (if applicable), provided that Master Tenant’s managing Member, retains the power to control 
Master Tenant’s active, day-to-day management responsibilities (“Day-to-Day management”). For 
purposes of the immediately preceding sentence, “control” shall mean the power to direct or cause the 
direction of the Day-to-Day Management of the Master tenant.  Five years from the Commencement 
Date, provided Master Tenant has performed all of its obligations under this Lease, Master Tenant may 
appoint, with the consent of Landlord which shall not be unreasonably withheld, a new Master Tenant 
Managing Member. 

13.5 Notification of Changes in Ownership or Control. During the term of this Lease, the 
Master Tenant shall promptly notify the Town of any and all changes whatsoever in the Master tenant’s 
ownership, corporate or other status, management or control of the Master tenant and the degree thereof, 
of which it or any of its officers have been notified or otherwise have knowledge or information. 

13.6 Termination for Transfer.  This Lease shall terminate pursuant to Section 18 if there is 
any voluntary or involuntary assignment or Transfer other than provided in in Section 13.4 or as otherwise 
expressly provided in this Lease. 

 

SECTION 14. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. 

14.1 General.  Except for those Subtenants approved by Town as provided herein, Master 
Tenant shall not assign, let or sublet the whole or any portion of the Premises. 

14.2 Conditions for Landlord’s Consent to Subtenants. Landlord’s decision to grant or withhold 
its consent to a Subtenant may be based upon standards relevant to the type of subtenant and its 
proposed operation, including but not limited to: (i) experience or lack of experience in operating a retail 
establishment; (ii) the operating standards of such subtenant and whether it will provide the premium 
caliber of facilities and services acceptable to Landlord; (iii) the financial capacity to perform the 
provisions of this Lease and produce a fair return to Landlord; (iv) the experience of the proposed 
subtenant; (v) the ability of the Master Tenant and subtenants to perform the provisions of this Lease. 
However, Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay its approval of any potential 
Subtenant who Master tenant reasonably determines is the best available Subtenant on terms and 
conditions satisfactory to Master tenant, so long as Master tenant has made reasonable efforts to attract 
the highest quality potential Subtenants available on terms and conditions satisfactory to Master tenant.  

Page 97



 

 17  

14.3 Conditions for Landlord’s Consent to Assignment.  Landlord’s decision to grant or 
withhold its consent to any assignment of this Lease by Master tenant shall be at the Landlord’s sole and 
exclusive discretion, but otherwise may be based upon standards of commercial reasonableness, 
including but not limited to the financial capacity, experience and ability of assignee to perform the 
provisions of the Lease.   

14.4 Approval by Town Manager.  Any such consent, if given by Landlord, shall be in writing 
and may be approved by the Town Manager on behalf of Landlord. 

14.5 Recognition Agreement.  In connection with each Sublease consented to by Landlord, 
Landlord shall agree in writing in favor of the applicable Subtenant that if this Lease terminates, then 
Landlord shall attorn to such applicable Subtenant on the terms and conditions of such Subtenant’s 
sublease.  In the event of such attornment, Landlord shall assume all of the Master Tenant’s obligations 
under the applicable sublease accruing from and after the date the Master Lease terminates.  Landlord 
shall indemnify, defend and hold Master Tenant harmless from and against any and all claims, damages, 
liabilities, demands, actions, causes of action, judgments, injuries, liens, costs and expenses (including, 
without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit) arising from any breach or default by 
Landlord of any of its assumed obligations under the applicable sublease; however, such indemnification, 
defense and hold harmless obligation shall not be applicable to any claims, damages, liabilities, 
demands, actions, causes of action, judgments, injuries, liens, costs and expenses (including, without 
limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit) to the extent arising from any breach by Master 
Tenant of any obligations of the sublessor under the applicable sublease occurring prior to the date 
Landlord attorns to the applicable Subtenant under the terms of the applicable Subtenant’s sublease.  
Landlord’s obligations under this Section 14.5 shall survive the termination of this Lease. 

SECTION 15. MORTGAGE OF LEASEHOLD. 

15.1 Prohibited Encumbrances.  Except as permitted in Section 0 below, Master Tenant shall 
not: 

15.1.1 Engage in any financing or other transaction placing any mortgage or deed of 
trust upon the Property, or upon Master Tenant’s leasehold estate therein or the improvements 
constructed thereon; or 

15.1.2 Place or suffer to be placed upon Master Tenant’s leasehold estate or the 
improvements thereon any lien, levy, attachment or other encumbrance (other than a lien upon said 
leasehold estate for taxes and assessments levied but not delinquent or payable with penalty); provided, 
however, the foregoing notwithstanding, Master Tenant shall have the right to contest or appeal the 
validity of any such lien, levy, encumbrance or attachment, provided that Master Tenant shall first furnish 
adequate security to the reasonable satisfaction of Landlord to protect the Premises during the pendency 
of such contest or appeal. 

Any such mortgage, deed of trust, levy, attachment, encumbrance or lien (collectively, “encumbrance”) 
not permitted pursuant to the terms of this Lease and caused or created by Master Tenant shall be 
deemed to be a violation of this covenant on the date of its execution or filing of record, regardless of 
whether or when it is foreclosed or otherwise enforced, unless Master Tenant shall, within twenty (20) 
days of such date of execution or filing of record, remove such encumbrance or provide adequate security 
to the reasonable satisfaction of Landlord to protect the Premises and the improvements thereon from 
such encumbrance. 

15.2 Permissible Encumbrances. 

15.2.1 Anything in this Lease to the contrary notwithstanding, with Landlord’s prior 
written consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), Master Tenant’s 

Page 98



 

 18  

Work may be funded by debt, and accordingly Master Tenant may assign or encumber the estate created 
by this Lease, by way of leasehold mortgages, leasehold deeds of trust, or otherwise. 

15.2.2 With Landlord’s prior written consent (which shall not be unreasonably 
withheld, conditioned or delayed), Master Tenant may assign or encumber the estate created by this 
Lease by way of not more than two leasehold mortgages and/or leasehold deeds of trusts at any one time 
encumbering Master Tenant’s leasehold interests, provided that such leasehold mortgages and/or 
leasehold deeds of trusts comply with the requirements of this Section 15.  Landlord shall have no 
obligation to make any changes to this Lease to accommodate any Permitted Mortgagee but agrees to 
work with Master Tenant in good faith in Master Tenant’s efforts to obtain a Permitted Mortgage.  

15.2.3 The fee title to the Premises cannot be encumbered pursuant to this Section 
15; only the leasehold interest of the Master Tenant under this Lease (including, without limitation, Master 
Tenant’s interest in the Premises, Master Tenant’s Work, Subtenant’s Work and Master Tenant’s Property 
and any personal property of any Subtenant) may be so encumbered. 

15.2.4 An encumbrance permitted by this Section 15 shall be referred to as a 
“Permitted Mortgage.”  The holder of a Permitted Mortgage is herein referred to as a “Permitted 
Mortgagee.” 

15.3 Notice to Landlord.  Except when Landlord’s prior approval or consent shall be required, 
Master Tenant shall notify Landlord within twenty (20) days of the time of creation of any lien or 
encumbrance which has been created on or attached to Master Tenant’s leasehold estate therein or the 
Master Tenant improvements thereon, whether by act of Master Tenant or otherwise.  If such lien or 
encumbrance is not created by an act of Master Tenant, Master Tenant shall notify Landlord of such 
creation as of the time Master Tenant first knows of such creation or attachment. 

15.4 Mortgages Subordinate to Lease.  Any mortgage permitted under Section 15 hereof shall 
be subject and subordinate to this Lease and, except as otherwise expressly provided herein or in any 
separate written agreement between Landlord and a Permitted Mortgagee, the rights of Landlord 
hereunder. 

15.5 Extent of Encumbrance.  A Permitted Mortgage shall encumber no interest in property 
other than Master Tenant’s interest in the leasehold and improvements to the Premises, including without 
limitation, Master Tenant’s interest in the Premises, Master Tenant’s Work, Subtenant’s Work and Master 
Tenant’s Property, and any personal property of any Subtenant. 

15.6 Disposition of Insurance Proceeds and Condemnation Awards.  A Permitted Mortgage 
shall contain provisions permitting the disposition and application of the insurance proceeds and 
condemnation awards in the manner provided in this Lease. In the event that the Premises, or any portion 
thereof, are damaged or destroyed or condemned by power of eminent domain, in whole or in part, to the 
extent required by the provisions of the Permitted Mortgage, the proceeds therefrom shall be held by the 
Permitted Mortgagee, to be applied in the case of damage or destruction pursuant to the terms of the 
Permitted Mortgage with any excess to be paid to Landlord and Tenant as their interests may appear and 
to be applied in accordance with Section 17.3 hereof in the case of condemnation. 

15.7 Permitted Mortgagee.  Except as otherwise approved in writing by Landlord, a Permitted 
Mortgage may be given only to a responsible bona fide institutional lender.  For the purposes hereof, the 
term “institutional lender” shall mean any one of the following lending institutions:  a commercial or 
savings bank; a state bank or national bank, a trust company; an insurance company; a savings and loan 
association; a building and loan association; a credit union; an investment banking firm; an educational 
institution; a pension, retirement or welfare fund; a charity; a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) but only 
if the REIT is publicly traded and registered with the U.S. Securities & Exchange Commission, and the 
amount of the Permitted Mortgage does not exceed two percent of the value of the REIT’s assets; an 
endowment fund or foundation authorized to make loans in the State of California; or any other 
responsible financial institution. 

Page 99



 

 19  

15.8 Continuing Terms and Covenants.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease 
or in a separate document executed by Landlord, all rights acquired by said Permitted Mortgagee under 
said Permitted Mortgage shall be subject to each and all of the covenants, conditions and restrictions set 
forth in this Lease, and to all rights of Landlord hereunder, none of which covenants, conditions and 
restrictions is or shall be waived by Landlord by reason of the giving of such Permitted Mortgage, except 
as expressly provided in this Lease or in a separate document executed by Landlord.  Notwithstanding 
any foreclosure of any Permitted Mortgage and so long as this Lease has not been terminated, unless 
and until a Permitted Mortgagee takes possession of the Premises (subject to any Subleases then in 
existence, if applicable) and to the extent Master Tenant is receiving the revenues from the Premises, 
Master Tenant shall remain liable for the payment of Minimum Monthly Rent, Percentage Rent and all 
other payments payable pursuant to this Lease, and for the performance of all of the terms, covenants 
and conditions of this Lease which by the terms hereof are to be carried out and performed by Master 
Tenant. 

15.9 Affirmation of Lease in Bankruptcy.  In the event of the filing of a petition in bankruptcy by 
the Master Tenant, and the Master Tenant rejects this Lease under Section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, 
the Landlord shall, upon the request of a Permitted Mortgagee, affirm this Lease, and the Landlord will 
enter into a new Lease on the same terms and conditions with the Permitted Mortgagee immediately 
upon Master Tenant’s rejection of this Lease.  In the event of the filing of a petition in bankruptcy by the 
Landlord, and the Landlord rejects this Lease and the Master Tenant does not affirm it, a Permitted 
Mortgagee will have the authority to affirm the Lease on behalf of the Master Tenant and to keep the 
Lease in full force and effect. 

15.10 Notice Required.  Master Tenant shall submit to Landlord within the times set forth in this 
Section 15 a written notice of its intention to enter into a Permitted Mortgage, and shall submit to Landlord 
such information and detail as will enable Landlord to determine the compliance of such intended 
Permitted Mortgage with the provisions of this Section 15 and this Lease.  If Landlord has not objected to 
the intended Permitted Mortgage on the grounds of noncompliance with provisions of this Lease within 45 
days of receipt by Landlord of such notice and information, the intended Permitted Mortgage shall be 
deemed to comply with the provisions of this Section 15 and this Lease and be deemed approved by 
Landlord, provided that in no event shall any such deemed approval act or operate to subordinate 
Landlord’s fee title to the Property to the Permitted Mortgage.  Master Tenant shall thereafter promptly 
submit to Landlord final documents in connection with such Permitted Mortgage upon their execution or 
receipt by Master Tenant, or upon the funding of the loan secured by the Permitted Mortgage, for review 
by Landlord for compliance with the provisions of this Section 15 and this Lease. 

15.11 Landlord’s Right to Cure Master Tenant’s Defaults on Leasehold Mortgages.  Master 
Tenant agrees that any Permitted Mortgage shall provide: 

15.11.1 That the Permitted Mortgagee shall in writing by certified or registered mail (or 
recognized overnight courier service) give notice to Landlord of the occurrence of any event of default 
under said Permitted Mortgage; and 

15.11.2 That Landlord shall be given at least 30 days’ notice of default in debt service 
payments or any other obligation of Master Tenant under a Permitted Mortgage before such Permitted 
Mortgagee will initiate any mortgage foreclosure action or accelerate the indebtedness or exercise its 
power of sale.  If any payments required to be made under the provisions of the Permitted Mortgage shall 
not be paid, or any other act or omission shall occur which constitutes a default under the terms of such 
Permitted Mortgage, Landlord may cure such default during any period that Master Tenant is in default 
thereunder, provided that Landlord shall comply with the provisions of Section 18 hereof calling for prior 
notice to Master Tenant except in cases of emergency where earlier action is required, notifying Master 
Tenant of Landlord’s intention to cure such default on Master Tenant’s behalf.  Landlord shall not 
commence to cure such default if (a) Master Tenant shall have cured such default within said 30-day 
period, or (b) except for defaults in the payment of money, Master Tenant shall have commenced to cure 
such default and is diligently pursuing such cure in full compliance with the terms of the Permitted 
Mortgage, or (c) Master Tenant shall have obtained from the Permitted Mortgagee a written extension of 

Page 100



 

 20  

time in which to cure such default, together with a separate written extension of time granting Landlord 
reasonable additional time to cure said default if said default is not cured within said extended time, and 
executed copies thereof are delivered to Landlord.  Any Permitted Mortgage shall further expressly 
provide that, in the event Master Tenant fails to cure any default thereunder, Landlord shall have a 
reasonable period of time (considering the nature of the default) to cure such default following the 
expiration of all periods (including any extensions of time and periods during which performance is 
waived) allowed for Master Tenant’s cure of such default. 

15.11.3 If Landlord shall elect to cure any default under a Permitted Mortgage, Master 
Tenant shall pay the costs reasonably incurred by Landlord in curing such default to Landlord, together 
with interest thereon at the “Reference Rate” of the Bank of America plus three percent and not to exceed 
the maximum rate for which the parties may lawfully contract, as Additional Rent.  Master Tenant hereby 
authorizes Landlord, in Landlord’s name, without any obligation or duty to do so, to do any act or thing 
required of or permitted to Master Tenant to prevent any default under said Permitted Mortgage or any 
acceleration thereof, or the taking of any portion of the security for the Permitted Mortgage by foreclosure 
or other action to enforce the collection of the indebtedness, and Master Tenant agrees to indemnify and 
hold Landlord harmless from any costs, damages, expenses or liabilities (including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees) resulting from Landlord exercising its rights pursuant to this Section 15.  Notwithstanding any 
provisions of this Lease to the contrary, if Landlord shall elect to cure any default under a Permitted 
Mortgage and such Permitted Mortgage is non-recourse to Master Tenant, Master Tenant shall not be 
obligated to reimburse Landlord for any costs incurred by Landlord, provided; however, any payments 
made by Landlord shall be payable to the extent Master Tenant is receiving rental payments under this 
Lease and such payments to Landlord shall be payable prior to any other payments. 

15.12 Notice to Landlord.  No Permitted Mortgagee shall have the rights or benefits mentioned 
in this Section 15 nor shall the provisions of this Section 15 be binding upon Landlord, unless and until 
the name and address of the Permitted Mortgagee shall have been delivered to Landlord, notwithstanding 
any other form of notice, actual or constructive. 

15.13 Rights and Obligations of Permitted Mortgagees.  If Master Tenant, or Master Tenant’s 
successors or assigns, shall mortgage this Lease in compliance with the provisions of this Section 15, 
then, so long as any such Permitted Mortgage shall remain unsatisfied of record, the following provisions 
shall apply: 

15.13.1 Landlord, upon serving upon Master Tenant any notice of default pursuant to 
the provisions of Section 18 hereof, or any other notice under the provisions of or with respect to this 
Lease, shall also serve a copy of such notice upon any Permitted Mortgagee at the address of such 
Permitted Mortgagee provided pursuant to Section 15.12 above, and no notice by Landlord to Master 
Tenant hereunder shall affect any rights of a Permitted Mortgagee unless and until thirty (30) days after a 
copy thereof has been so served to such Permitted Mortgagee.  Notwithstanding any event of default by 
Master Tenant under this Lease, Landlord shall have no right to terminate this Lease unless Landlord 
shall have given the Permitted Mortgagee written notice of such default and Permitted Mortgagee shall 
have failed to remedy such default as provided below or acquire Master Tenant’s estate created hereby 
or commence foreclosure or other appropriate proceedings in the nature thereof, as all set forth in, and 
within the time specified by this Section 15.13. 

15.13.2 In case Master Tenant shall have failed to cure any default hereunder within 
the period provided for Master Tenant to cure such default, Landlord shall so notify any Permitted 
Mortgagee of such failure and any Permitted Mortgagee shall, within thirty (30) days of receipt of such 
notice have the right, but not the obligation, to remedy such default or cause the same to be remedied, 
and Landlord shall accept such performance by or at the instance of the Permitted Mortgagee as if the 
same had been made by Master Tenant; provided, however, that if the breach or default is with respect to 
the Master Tenant’s Work, nothing contained in this Section or any other Section or provision of this 
Lease shall be deemed to permit or authorize such Permitted Mortgagee, either before or after 
foreclosure or action in lieu thereof, to undertake or continue the construction or completion of the 
improvements beyond the extent necessary to conserve or protect the improvements or construction 

Page 101



 

 21  

already made without first having expressly assumed the obligation to Landlord to complete, in the 
manner provided in this Lease, the improvements on the Premises or the part thereof to which the lien or 
title of such Permitted Mortgagee relates. 

15.13.3 For the purposes of this Section 15 no event of default, other than an event of 
default due to a default in the payment of money, shall be deemed to exist under Section 18 hereof with 
respect to the performance of work required to be performed, or of acts to be done or of conditions to be 
remedied, if steps shall, in good faith, have been commenced by Master Tenant or a Permitted 
Mortgagee within the time permitted therefor to rectify the same and shall be prosecuted to completion 
with diligence and continuity as Section 18 hereof provides. 

15.13.4 Anything herein contained to the contrary notwithstanding, upon the 
occurrence of an event of default, other than an event of default due to a default in the payment of money 
(for which the Permitted Mortgagee shall have no more than thirty (30) days following receipt of written 
notice from Landlord to cure such monetary default), Landlord shall take no action to effect a termination 
of this Lease without first giving to any Permitted Mortgagee written notice thereof and a reasonable time 
thereafter which shall not be less than ninety (90) days within which to either (a) obtain possession of the 
mortgaged property (including possession by a receiver), or (b) institute, prosecute and complete 
foreclosure proceedings or otherwise diligently acquire Master Tenant’s interest under this Lease.  A 
Permitted Mortgagee, upon acquiring Master Tenant’s interest under this Lease, shall be required 
promptly to cure all defaults then reasonably susceptible to being cured by such Permitted Mortgagee; 
provided, however, that: (1) such Permitted Mortgagee shall not be obligated to continue such possession 
or to continue such foreclosure proceedings after such defaults shall have been cured; (2) nothing herein 
contained shall preclude Landlord, subject to the provisions of this Section 15, from exercising any rights 
or remedies under this Lease with respect to any other default by Master Tenant (subject to Permitted 
Mortgagee’s cure rights set forth in this Section 15), during the pendency of such foreclosure 
proceedings; and (3) such Permitted Mortgagee shall agree with Landlord, in writing, to comply during the 
period of such forbearance with such of the terms, conditions and covenants of this Lease as are 
reasonably susceptible to being complied with by such Permitted Mortgagee (however, consistent with 
the provisions of Section 15.13.10 below, the provisions of this clause (3) shall not obligate such 
Permitted Mortgagee to cure any defaults of the Master Tenant, or to expend any monies or to take any 
actions to comply with the terms, conditions or covenants of this Master Lease, prior to such Permitted 
Mortgagee acquiring Master Tenant’s interest under this Lease).  Any default by Master Tenant not 
reasonably susceptible to being cured by such Permitted Mortgagee, or the occurrence of any of the 
events specified in Section 18, shall be deemed waived by Landlord upon completion of such foreclosure 
proceedings or upon such acquisition of Master Tenant’s interest in this Lease, except that any such 
events of default which are reasonably susceptible to being cured after such completion and acquisition 
shall then be cured with reasonable diligence.  Such Permitted Mortgagee, or its designee or other 
purchaser in foreclosure proceedings, may become the legal owner of the leasehold estate of this Lease 
through such foreclosure proceedings or by assignment of this Lease in lieu of foreclosure.  A Permitted 
Mortgagee or its designee or other party which becomes the legal owner of the leasehold estate of this 
Lease through foreclosure proceedings or by an assignment of this Lease in lieu of foreclosure shall be 
deemed by such acquisition to have assumed all of Master Tenant’s rights and obligations under this 
Lease accruing during the period of such Permitted Mortgagee’s or its designee’s ownership of the 
leasehold estate of this Lease.  If a Permitted Mortgagee is prohibited by any process or injunction, or any 
bankruptcy, insolvency or other judicial proceeding involving Master Tenant from commencing or 
prosecuting foreclosure or other appropriate proceedings in the nature thereof, the times specified for 
commencing or prosecuting such foreclosure or other proceedings in the nature thereof, the times 
specified for commencing or prosecuting such foreclosure or other proceedings shall be extended for the 
period of such prohibition; provided that the Permitted Mortgagee shall have fully cured any default in the 
monetary obligations of Master Tenant under this Lease and shall continue to pay currently such 
monetary obligations as and when the same fall due, and provided that the Permitted Mortgagee shall 
diligently attempt to remove any such prohibition. 

15.13.5 In the event of the termination of this Lease prior to the natural expiration of 
the then current Term due to default of Master Tenant or operation of law (except by eminent domain) as 

Page 102



 

 22  

provided in Section 18, including, without limitation, due to any rejection of this Lease in any bankruptcy, 
insolvency or other debtor relief proceeding, Landlord shall immediately serve upon the holder of the 
senior Permitted Mortgage written notice that the Lease has been terminated, together with a statement 
of any and all sums which would at that time be due under this Lease but for such termination, and of all 
other defaults, if any, under this Lease then known to Landlord.  The senior Permitted Mortgagee or its 
nominee, purchaser or assignee shall thereupon have the option to obtain a new lease in accordance 
with and upon the following terms and conditions: 

(a) Upon the written request of said Permitted Mortgagee, within sixty (60) 
days after service of such notice that the Lease has been terminated, or within sixty (60) days after the 
expiration of this Lease if Master Tenant was unable to renew the Term hereof, Landlord shall enter into a 
new lease of the Property and improvements thereon with such holder, or its designee or assignee, as 
follows: 

(i) Such new lease shall be the same priority as this Lease, shall be 
effective as of the date of termination of this Lease, and shall be for the remainder of the Term and at the 
rent and upon all the agreements, terms, covenants and conditions hereof, including any applicable rights 
of renewal and the use provisions for restaurant and food service purposes specified above.  Such new 
lease shall require that the tenant perform any unfulfilled obligation of Master Tenant under this Lease 
which is reasonably susceptible to being performed by such tenant.  Upon the execution of such new 
lease, the tenant named therein shall pay any and all sums which would at the time of the execution 
thereof be due under this Lease but for such termination, and shall pay all expenses, including 
reasonable counsel fees, court costs and disbursements incurred by Landlord in connection with such 
defaults and termination, the recovery of possession of the Property, and the preparation, execution and 
delivery of such new lease.  Upon the execution and delivery of the new lease, title to all leasehold 
improvements (including, without limitation, all of the Master Tenant’s Work) as well as all Master 
Tenant’s Property, shall automatically vest in the Permitted Mortgagee or its nominee as the new Master 
Tenant under this Lease until the expiration of the term or sooner termination of the new lease. 

(ii) Effective upon the commencement of the term of any new lease 
executed pursuant to this Subsection 15.13.5, all subleases then in effect shall be assigned and 
transferred without recourse by Landlord to the tenant under such new lease, and all monies on deposit 
with Landlord which Master Tenant would have been entitled to use but for the termination or expiration of 
this Lease may be used by the tenant under such new lease for the purposes of and in accordance with 
the provisions of such new lease, unless credited against expenses in accordance with Subsection 
15.13.5(a)(i) above. 

15.13.6 Any notice or other communication which Landlord shall desire or is required 
to give to or serve upon the holder of a Permitted Mortgage under this Lease shall be in writing and shall 
be served by certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to such holder at the address provided for 
pursuant to Section 15.12 hereof, or at such other address as shall be designated by such holder in 
writing given to Landlord by certified mail, return receipt requested.  Any notice or other communication 
which the holder of a Permitted Mortgage under this Lease shall desire or is required to give to or serve 
upon Landlord shall be deemed to have been duly given or served if (a) sent by certified mail, return 
receipt requested, addressed to Landlord at Landlord’s address as set forth in Subsection 21.1 of this 
Lease or at such other addresses as shall be designated by Landlord by notice in writing given to such 
holder by certified mail, return receipt requested, and (b) sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, 
to the Landlord’s other mortgages, if any. 

15.13.7 Anything herein contained to the contrary notwithstanding, the provisions of 
this Section 15 shall inure only to the benefit of the holders of Permitted Mortgages.  Neither a Permitted 
Mortgagee nor any other holder or owner of the indebtedness secured by a leasehold mortgage or 
otherwise shall be liable upon the covenants, agreements or obligations of Master Tenant contained in 
this Lease, unless and until such Permitted Mortgagee or that holder or owner acquires the interest of 
Master Tenant. 

Page 103



 

 23  

15.13.8 During such period of time that any Permitted Mortgage is in existence, 
Landlord shall not agree to any mutual termination or accept any surrender of this Lease (except upon the 
expiration of the term of this Lease, or upon the earlier termination of this Lease (x) in connection with a 
casualty or condemnation in accordance with the provisions of this Lease, or (y) by reason of a default by 
Master Tenant that is not cured or remedied within the applicable notice and cure period set forth in this 
Lease in accordance with the provisions of this Lease, in either case subject to the Permitted Mortgagee’s 
rights under this Lease, including, without limitation, the provisions of this Section 15.13), nor shall 
Landlord consent to any amendment or modification of this Lease, without the prior consent of a 
Permitted Mortgagee, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed and shall 
be given within ten (10) business days of written request therefor. 

15.13.9 Landlord shall mail or deliver to Permitted Mortgagee at the address of 
Permitted Mortgagee provided to Landlord a duplicate copy of all notices which Landlord may from time 
to time give to Master Tenant pursuant to this Lease. 

15.13.10 Foreclosure of a Permitted Mortgage or any sale thereunder, whether by 
judicial proceedings or by virtue of any power of sale contained in the Permitted Mortgage, or any 
conveyance of the leasehold estate created hereby from Master Tenant to Permitted Mortgagee by virtue 
or in lieu of foreclosure or other appropriate proceedings in the nature thereof, shall not require the 
consent of Landlord or constitute a breach of any provision of or a default under this Lease.  Upon such 
foreclosure, sale or conveyance, Landlord shall recognize the Permitted Mortgagee, or any other 
foreclosure sale purchaser, as Master Tenant hereunder and such party shall attorn to Landlord, be 
subject to the provisions regarding assignment set forth in Section 15.14 below and shall fully perform 
Master Tenant’s obligations hereunder.  The preceding to the contrary notwithstanding, a Permitted 
Mortgagee shall have no liability for Master Tenant’s obligations under this Lease unless and until it 
becomes the Master Tenant under this Lease by means of foreclosure or deed in lieu thereof or pursuant 
to any new lease obtained pursuant to the terms above, and thereafter the Permitted Mortgagee or its 
successor or assign or designee shall be liable under this Lease or such new lease only for the period of 
time that such Permitted Mortgagee or its successor, assign or designee remains tenant hereunder or 
thereunder.  Nothing herein shall be construed to obligate any Permitted Mortgagee to remedy any 
default of Master Tenant, and any failure of a Permitted Mortgagee to complete any such cure after 
commencing the same shall not give rise to any liability of the Permitted Mortgagee to Landlord or Master 
Tenant. 

15.14 Assignment by Mortgagee.  If any Permitted Mortgagee shall acquire title to Master 
Tenant’s interest in this Lease by foreclosure of a mortgage thereon, or by assignment in lieu of 
foreclosure or by an assignment from a designee or wholly-owned subsidiary corporation of such 
mortgagee, or under a new lease pursuant to this Section 15, such Permitted Mortgagee or its successor, 
assign or designee may assign such lease and shall thereupon be released from all liability for the 
performance or observance of the covenants and conditions in such lease contained on Master Tenant’s 
part to be performed and observed from and after the date of such assignment, provided that Landlord 
shall receive an executed counterpart copy of such assignment, together with the name and address of 
the assignee. 

SECTION 16. DAMAGE TO PREMISES. 

16.1 Landlord’s Obligation to Repair.  If subsequent to completion of Master Tenant’s Work, a 
material part of the Premises provided by Landlord in Exhibits B and D, shall, by reason of fire, 
earthquake, the elements, acts of God or other unavoidable casualty, be destroyed or so damaged as to 
become unusable in whole or in part and the damage can, by proceeding with reasonable diligence, be 
repaired within 365 days from the date of such destruction or damage, Landlord shall promptly and 
diligently repair the damage (subject to the limitations set forth in Section 20.2) and this Lease shall 
remain in full force and effect.  If a material part of the Premises provided by Landlord in Exhibits B and D, 
are damaged, and the damage cannot, by proceeding with reasonable diligence, be repaired within 365 
days from the date of such destruction or damage, this Lease may be terminated by Landlord by written 

Page 104



 

 24  

notice given to Master Tenant within thirty (30) days after the date of the casualty.  Such notice shall 
terminate this Lease as of the date of the casualty. 

16.2 Election to Terminate.  If subsequent to completion of Master Tenant’s Improvements a 
material part of the Premises provided by Landlord in Exhibits B and D, are damaged, and the damage 
cannot, by proceeding with reasonable diligence, be repaired within 365 days from the date of such 
destruction or damage, and Landlord has not terminated this Lease pursuant to Subsection 16.1 above, 
then this Lease may be terminated by Master Tenant by written notice given to Landlord within sixty (60) 
days after the date of the casualty.  Such notice shall terminate this Lease as of the date of the casualty.  
If Master Tenant does not make the foregoing election within the required period and Landlord has not 
terminated the Lease, then Landlord shall promptly and diligently repair the damage and this Lease shall 
remain in full force and effect (subject to the provisions of Subsection 16.3 below regarding completion of 
Landlord’s repairs).  If Landlord is required or elects to repair the Premises under the provisions of 
Subsection 16.1 and fails to complete such repair within 365 days after the casualty described in 
Subsection 16.1 above (or at least to complete such repair, within such 365 day period, to the extent that 
permits substantial resumption of Master Tenant’s business (and the businesses of the Subtenants in 
existence as of the date of the damage or destruction) in the Premises, provided that Landlord thereafter 
continuously and diligently pursues any remaining required repairs to completion), then thereafter Master 
Tenant, at Master Tenant’s option, may terminate this Lease by giving Landlord written notice of Master 
Tenant’s election to do so at any time prior to the substantial completion of such repair.  In such event this 
Lease shall terminate as of the date of Master Tenant’s notice. 

16.3 Abatement of Rent.  If a material part of the Premises provided by Landlord in Exhibits B 
and D, is damaged, and Landlord is required or elects to repair them pursuant to the provisions of 
Subsection 16.1, the Minimum Monthly Rent and Percentage Rent payable pursuant to Section 4 shall be 
abated from the date of the casualty until such Premises is sufficiently restored to allow Master Tenant to 
occupy the Premises and operate within the same manner as existed immediately prior to such damage 
or destruction.  If, however, Master Tenant is able to occupy and operate its business within a portion of 
the Premises, Minimum Monthly Rent or Percentage Rent shall be abated only for the portion of the 
Premises that Master Tenant cannot occupy and operate within in the same manner as existed 
immediately prior to such damage or destruction.  Such partial abatement shall be calculated on a square 
foot basis.  The abatement of Minimum Monthly Rent and Percentage Rent (and Master Tenant’s right to 
terminate this Lease as provided in Subsection 16.2 above, shall be Master Tenant’s sole remedies due 
to the occurrence of the casualty.  Landlord shall not be liable to Master Tenant or any other person or 
entity for any direct, indirect or consequential damage due to or arising from the casualty. 

16.4 Application of Insurance Proceeds.  If any part of the Master Tenant’s Work or any other 
leasehold improvements constructed by or on behalf of Master Tenant is damaged or destroyed, and at 
the time of such damage or destruction, the leasehold interest of the Master Tenant hereunder, or 
applicable portion thereof, was encumbered by a Permitted Mortgage, then the proceeds of insurance 
allocable to such Master Tenant’s Work or other leasehold improvements constructed by or on behalf of 
Master Tenant first shall be applied to pay off or pay down the loan encumbered by the Permitted 
Mortgage unless the applicable Permitted Mortgagee allows such insurance proceeds to be used to 
restore such Master Tenant’s Work or other leasehold improvements. 

SECTION 17. CONDEMNATION. 

17.1 Total Condemnation.  If, during the term of this Lease, the whole of the Premises shall be 
taken pursuant to any condemnation proceeding or a part of the Premises is taken pursuant to any 
condemnation proceeding and the remaining portion is not suitable for the purposes for which Master 
Tenant was using the Premises prior to the taking, then this Lease shall terminate as of the date that actual 
physical possession of the Premises is taken, and after that date, both Landlord and Master Tenant shall be 
released from any future obligations arising under this Lease. 

17.2 Partial Condemnation.  If, during the term of this Lease, only a part of the Premises is 
taken pursuant to any condemnation proceeding and the remaining portion is suitable for the purposes for 

Page 105



 

 25  

which Master Tenant was using the Premises prior to the taking in the sole discretion of Master Tenant, 
then this Lease shall, as to the part so taken, terminate as of the date that actual physical possession of 
such portion of the Premises is taken, and after that date, both Landlord and Master Tenant shall be 
released from any future obligations under this Lease with respect to such portion of the Premises taken. 

17.3 Condemnation Award.  If the whole or any part of the Premises are taken pursuant to any 
condemnation proceeding, then Landlord shall be entitled to the entirety of any condemnation award 
except that portion allocable to the value of Master Tenant’s leasehold interest of the unexpired term of 
this Lease, any Master Tenant’s Property, Subtenant’s Personal Property and/or any unsalvageable trade 
fixtures or furnishings owned by Master Tenant, any amounts specifically awarded or agreed upon by the 
Master Tenant and the condemning authority for the unamortized portion of Master Tenant’s leasehold 
improvements and each Subtenant’s leasehold improvements shall be the property of Master Tenant 
(except that the portion of the condemnation award allocable to each Subtenant’s Personal Property and 
each Subtenant’s leasehold improvements shall be awarded to Master Tenant or the applicable 
Subtenant(s), as their interests may appear, or as provided in the applicable Sublease) (“Master Tenant’s 
Award”).  The foregoing notwithstanding, if the whole or a portion of the Premises shall be taken pursuant 
to any condemnation proceeding and at that time the leasehold interest of the Master Tenant, or 
applicable portion thereof, was encumbered by a Permitted Mortgage, then Master Tenant’s Award first 
shall be applied to pay off or pay down the loan encumbered by the Permitted Mortgage.  Master Tenant 
shall require in any sublease of the Premises, that any Subtenant waive any and all rights against any 
public entity and/or the Landlord for any portion of the condemnation award relating to the Subtenant(s) 
value of the leasehold interest of any unexpired term. 

17.4 Effect of Termination.  In the event this Lease is canceled or terminated pursuant to any 
of the provisions of this Section 17 all rentals and other charges payable on the part of Master Tenant to 
Landlord hereunder shall be paid either as of the date upon which actual physical possession shall be 
taken by the condemner, or as of the date upon which Master Tenant ceases doing business in, upon or 
from the Premises, whichever first occurs; and the parties shall thereupon be released from all further 
liability hereunder, except for any liability arising prior to the date upon which actual physical possession 
shall be taken by the condemner. 

SECTION 18. DEFAULT, REMEDIES, AND TERMINATION. 

18.1 Master Tenant’s Default.  If:  (i) Master Tenant shall fail to comply with any of the 
provisions herein providing for the construction of the Master Tenant’s Work, and such failure shall 
continue for thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice thereof, unless Master Tenant shall have taken 
steps in good faith within such period to remedy such failure and is continuing to so act with diligence and 
continuity; or (ii) Master Tenant shall fail to pay any rent or other monies due under this Lease after the 
same are due, and such failure shall continue for ten (10) days after receipt of written notice thereof to 
Master Tenant, or (iii) Master Tenant shall fail to perform any other term, covenant, or condition herein 
contained, and such failure shall continue for thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice thereof, unless 
Master Tenant shall have taken steps in good faith within such period to remedy such failure and is 
continuing to so act with diligence and continuity and further, where possession of the Premises or portion 
thereof is necessary to cure a default under this Lease, Master Tenant will not be considered to be in 
default under this Lease as a result of a breach by a Subtenant under its sublease so long as Master 
Tenant has sent notice of default to, and commenced legal action against the Subtenant and is diligently 
and continuously pursuing an unlawful detainer action or other legal proceedings required to regain 
possession of the Premises or portion thereof from such Subtenant, or (iv) the Master Tenant’s interest 
herein or any part thereof be assigned or transferred, either voluntarily or by operation of law, except 
pursuant to a Permitted Transfer or Section 14.2 or Section 15, whether by judgment, execution, death or 
any other means, or (v) the Master Tenant shall file any petition or institute any proceedings under any 
bankruptcy act, state or federal, or if such petition or proceeding be filed or be instituted or taken against 
the Master Tenant and such petition remains undischarged for a period of 90 days; or if any receiver of 
the business or of the property or assets of Master Tenant shall be appointed by any court (except a 
receiver appointed at the instance or request of the Landlord) and Master Tenant fails to obtain 
dissolution of the receiver within 90 days after appointment of the receiver; or (vi) Master Tenant shall 

Page 106



 

 26  

make a general or any assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or (vii) Master Tenant shall abandon 
(other than a temporary cessation of operations in connection with renovations of the Premises to which 
Master Tenant has obtained Landlord’s approval, if applicable, as required by the terms hereof) the 
Premises; or (viii) Master Tenant has made any written or oral representation to the Landlord in 
connection with this Lease that Master Tenant knows was false in any material respect as of the date 
made or submitted, Master Tenant knew or should have known that the Landlord would rely on such false 
representation, and the Landlord relies on such false representation to its detriment in any material 
respect, then in any of such events Landlord shall have the following options, subject to the provisions of 
Section 15: 

18.1.1 To collect, by suit or otherwise, each installment of rent or other sum as it 
becomes due hereunder, or to enforce by suit or otherwise, any other term or provision hereof on the part 
of Master Tenant required to be kept or performed; and/or 

18.1.2 To reenter the Premises, remove all persons therefrom, take possession of 
the Premises and of all equipment, fixtures and personal property thereon or therein, and either with or 
without terminating this Lease to make commercially reasonable efforts to relet the Premises or any 
portion thereof (but nothing contained herein shall be construed as obligating Landlord to relet the whole 
or any portion of the Premises) for such term or terms (which may be for a term extending beyond the 
term of the Lease) and at such reasonable rental or rentals and upon such other terms and conditions as 
Landlord in its sole discretion may deem advisable.  In addition to the foregoing, Landlord shall have the 
right, but not the obligation to, make such alterations and repairs to the Premises, or to divide or 
subdivide the Premises, as may be required or occasioned by any such reletting.  Provided, however, 
Landlord’s right to make alterations, repairs or improvements to the Premises after Master Tenant’s 
default shall be limited to those alterations, repairs, and/or improvements necessary for the purpose of re-
letting the Premises.  In the event Landlord relets the Premises, or any portion thereof, it shall execute 
any such lease in its own name, but the Master Tenant in such lease of reletting shall be under no 
obligation whatsoever to see to the application by Landlord of any rent collected by Landlord for the 
account of Master Tenant, nor shall Master Tenant hereunder have any right or authority whatsoever to 
collect any rent as the Master Tenant in the lease of reletting.  Upon any such reletting, the rents received 
on any such reletting shall be applied first to the expenses of reletting and collecting, including necessary 
renovations and alterations of the Premises and reasonable attorneys’ fees and any real estate 
commissions actually paid, and thereafter toward payment of all sums due or to become due to Landlord 
hereunder; if a sufficient sum shall not be thus realized to pay such rent and other charges, Master 
Tenant shall pay to Landlord monthly any deficiency, and Landlord may sue therefor as each such 
deficiency shall arise, but if the Premises are relet for an amount in excess of that necessary to pay such 
rent and other charges, Master Tenant shall not be entitled to any such excess; and/or 

18.1.3 To terminate this Lease, in which event Master Tenant agrees immediately to 
surrender possession of the Premises and to pay to the Landlord as the amount of damage sustained by 
Landlord by reason of Master Tenant’s breach of this Lease, the following: 

(a) The worth at the time of award of any unpaid Rent which had been 
earned at the time of such termination; plus 

(b) The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent 
which would have been earned after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such 
rental loss Master Tenant proves could have been reasonably avoided; plus 

(c) The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent 
for the balance of the Term after the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that Master 
Tenant proves could be reasonably avoided. 

As used in Sections 18.1.3(a) and 18.1.3(a) above, the term “worth at the time of 
award” is computed by allowing interest from the date such amount becomes due and payable at one 
percent (1%) per annum above the rate which the Bank of America announces publicly at its San 

Page 107



 

 27  

Francisco or Los Angeles executive offices as its “Reference Rate” for unsecured commercial loans. 

As used in Section 18.1.3(b) above, the term “worth at the time of the award” is 
computed by discounting the amount determined pursuant to Section 18.1.3(b) at the discount rate of the 
Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco at the time of the award, plus one percent (1%). 

18.1.4 Pursuant to its rights of re-entry, Landlord may remove all persons from the 
Premises (but not any Subtenants to which Landlord is obligated to attorn) using such force as may be 
reasonably necessary therefor and may, but shall not be obligated to, remove all property therefrom, 
including, but not limited to, Master Tenant’s property (but not any Subtenant’s Personal Property), and 
may, but shall not be obligated to, enforce any rights Landlord may have against said property, or store 
the same in any public or private warehouse or elsewhere at the cost and for the account of Master 
Tenant or the owners or owner thereof, or to treat all or portions of said property as having no value and 
to dispose of said property accordingly.  Anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, 
Landlord shall not be deemed to have terminated this Lease or the liability of Master Tenant to pay any 
rent or other sum of money thereafter to accrue hereunder, or Master Tenant’s liability for damages under 
any of the provisions hereof, by any such re-entry, or by any action in unlawful detainer or otherwise to 
obtain possession of the Premises, unless Landlord shall have notified Master Tenant in writing that 
Landlord has so elected to terminate this Lease.  Master Tenant covenants and agrees that the service 
by Landlord of any notice in unlawful detainer and the surrender of possession pursuant to such notice 
shall not (unless Landlord elects to the contrary at the time of, or at any time subsequent to, the service of 
such notice, and Landlord’s election be evidenced by written notice thereof to Master Tenant) be deemed 
to be a termination of this Lease, or the termination of any liability of Master Tenant hereunder to 
Landlord. 

18.2 Landlord’s Default.  If Landlord fails to comply with or defaults in the performance of any 
provision of the Lease, Master Tenant shall have the right (but not the obligation) in addition to any and all 
other rights and remedies available to Master Tenant at law or in equity, to cure such nonconformance or 
default on behalf of Landlord, upon 30 days prior written notice to Landlord and to any mortgagee of 
Landlord, if the name and address of such mortgagee has been previously provided to Master Tenant by 
Landlord, except in an emergency, Master Tenant may cure such nonconformance or default without 
such written notice so long as Master Tenant makes reasonable efforts to notify Landlord of such 
emergency.  Upon receipt from Master Tenant of notice of such cure and demand for payment, Landlord 
shall repay any expenditure made by Master Tenant within 30 days of written request therefor.  If 
Landlord fails to make such repayment within such 30 day period, then, anything herein to the contrary 
notwithstanding, Master Tenant may offset the amount owed it by Landlord pursuant to this Section 18.2 
against the Minimum Monthly Rent and/or Percentage Rent payable by Master Tenant to Landlord 
hereunder until fully offset. 

SECTION 19. TOWN REQUIREMENTS. 

19.1 Non-discrimination.  Master Tenant shall not restrict the rental, use, occupancy, tenure, 
or enjoyment of the Premises or any portion thereof, on the basis of race, sex, color, age, religion, sexual 
orientation, actual or perceived gender identity, disability, ethnicity, or national origin of any person.  
During the term hereof, any contracts or subleases relating to the construction, use or occupancy of the 
Premises or any portion thereof, shall contain or be subject to substantially the following 
nondiscrimination and nonsegregation clauses: 

“There shall be no discrimination against or segregation of, any person, or group 
of persons, on account of race, sex, color, age, religion, sexual orientation, actual or 
perceived gender identity, disability, ethnicity, or national origin, in the sale, lease, 
transfer, use, occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the land, nor shall the transferee, 
himself or herself, or any person claiming under or through him or her, establish or permit 
any such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the 
selection, location, number, use or occupancy of tenants, lessees, or vendees of the 
land.” 

Page 108



 

 28  

19.2 Enforcement of Town Requirements.  In enforcing Section 19.1, Landlord may require 
Master Tenant to terminate the sublease of any Subtenant that fails to comply with that Section.  Failure 
of Master Tenant to commence actions to terminate the subleases of noncomplying Subtenants within 90 
days of notice from Landlord shall constitute an event of default by the Master Tenant. 

SECTION 20. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW. 

20.1 General.  During the Lease term, Master Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall 
comply promptly with all federal, state, county, municipal and other governmental statutes, laws, rules, 
orders, regulations and ordinances (“Laws”) pertaining to Master Tenant’s use of the Premises or the 
improvements thereon, including those which require the making of any structural, unforeseen or 
extraordinary changes to the Premises, whether or not any such Laws which may be hereafter enacted 
were within the contemplation of the parties at the time of execution of this Lease, or involve a change of 
policy on the part of the governmental body enacting the same.  In connection with the foregoing, Master 
Tenant acknowledges that Landlord, acting not as Landlord but in its governmental capacity, has certain 
governmental regulatory authority over the Premises and agrees that “Law” as defined herein includes 
any legal requirement imposed by Landlord acting not as Landlord but in its capacity as a governmental 
regulatory body. 

20.2 Regulations Requiring Modifications to Premises.  If, under its regulatory authority, Town 
adopts new laws, rules or ordinances that are generally applicable to commercial buildings and which 
require upgrades, changes, or modifications to the Premises in order to comply with such Town-adopted 
laws, rules, or regulations, then the cost or expense of compliance shall be as follows: 

(a) Town shall bear the cost or expense of compliance to the extent that 
such laws, rules or regulations require modifications to the structure or shell of the Premises in the 
condition delivered to Master Tenant in Exhibit D. 

(b) During the first ten years following the Rent Commencement Date, 
Master Tenant shall bear the cost or expense of compliance to the extent that such new laws, rules, or 
regulations require modifications to Master Tenant’s Work and any subsequent alterations thereto.  After 
the tenth year following the Rent Commencement Date, Landlord and Master Tenant shall split equally all 
such costs. 

SECTION 21. GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

21.1 Notices, Demands, and Communications Between the Parties.  All notices and other 
communications required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and may be 
delivered by hand, by facsimile transmission with verification of receipt, by email, by overnight courier 
service, or by United States mail, postage prepaid and return receipt requested, addressed to the 
respective parties as follows: 

Town: Town of Los Gatos 
110 E. Main Street  
Los Gatos, CA 95030 
Attention:  Town Manager 
Email: manager@losgatosca.gov 
 

With copy to: Town of Los Gatos 
110 E. Main Street 
Los Gatos, CA 95030 
Attention:  City Attorney 
Email: attorney@losgatosca.gov 
 
 
 

Page 109

mailto:attorney@losgatosca.gov


 

 29  

To Tenant: Forbes Mill, LLC  
 
223 West Main Street Suite B  
Los Gatos CA 95030 
Attn:  Donald Imwalle, Jr. 
Email: don@imwalledev.com 
CC: jimfoley@pennantproperties.com  
       Jason@farwellrashkis.com  
 
 

  
or to such other address as any party may designate by notice in accordance with this Section. 

A copy of any notice of a legal nature, including, but not limited to, any claims against Town, its 
officers or employees shall also be served in the manner specified above to the following address: 

Town of Los Gatos 
City Attorney’s Office 
110 E. Main Street  
Los Gatos, CA 95030 

Notice shall be deemed effective on the date of personal delivery by hand or the date of receipt of 
facsimile transmission (with verification of receipt) or email, or if sent by overnight courier service, then 
one business day after delivery of such notice to such courier service or, if mailed, three days after 
deposit in the mail. 

21.2 Warranty Against Payment of Consideration for Agreement.  Master Tenant warrants that 
it has not paid or given, and will not pay or give, any third party (other than Colliers International who 
introduced Landlord and Master Tenant to one another) any money or other consideration for obtaining 
this Agreement.  

21.3 Non-liability of Town Officials and Employees.  No member, official, or employee of the 
Town shall be personally liable to Master Tenant or any successor in interest of Master Tenant, in the 
event of any default or breach by the Town or for any amount which may become due to Master Tenant 
or to its successor, or on any obligations under the terms of this Agreement. 

21.4 Enforced Delay; Extension of Time of Performance.  The specific provisions of this 
Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, except for payment of any monetary payments required under 
this Agreement, neither party shall be in default under this Agreement if an obligation to perform is 
delayed due to war; insurrection; strikes; lock-outs; riots; floods; earthquakes; fires; casualties; inability to 
obtain or delay in obtaining materials due to lack of supply; acts of God; acts of the public enemy; 
epidemics; quarantine restrictions; freight embargoes; governmental restrictions or enjoining to the 
performance of the terms of this Agreement.  An extension of time for any such cause shall be for the 
period of the enforced delay and shall commence to run from the time of the commencement of the 
cause, if notice by the party claiming such extension is sent to the other party within ten days of the 
commencement of the cause.  The foregoing notwithstanding, the total time period excused under this 
Section shall not exceed two years. 

21.5 Approvals and Town Manager’s Authority.  Approvals required of the Town (except for 
approvals expressly identified herein as being in the sole discretion of the Town) or Master Tenant shall 
not be unreasonably withheld, and approval or disapproval shall be given within a reasonable time.  The 
Town Manager or his/her designee shall have the authority to act on behalf of the Town with regard to 
any and all actions required of the Town under this Lease.  Such actions include but are not limited to the 
issuance of approvals and disapprovals and execution of all documents, including minor amendments to 
this Lease. 

Page 110

mailto:don@imwalledev.com
mailto:jimfoley@pennantproperties.com
mailto:Jason@farwellrashkis.com


 

 30  

21.6 Holding Over.  If Master Tenant shall hold over the term of this Lease, without Landlord’s 
prior written consent, such holding over shall be construed as a tenancy from month to month, on the 
same terms and conditions as this Lease, and at 150% of the Minimum Monthly Rent or the monthly 
Percentage Rent, whichever is higher, in effect during the final full calendar of the term of this Lease. 

21.7 Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence hereof, and waiver by the Landlord or 
Master Tenant of a breach of any term, covenant or condition herein contained, whether express or 
implied, shall not constitute a waiver of any subsequent breach thereof, or a breach of any other term, 
covenant, or condition herein contained, and acceptance of rent hereunder shall not be a waiver of any 
breach, except a breach of covenant to pay the rent so accepted.  No acceptance by Landlord of any 
partial payment of any sum due hereunder shall be deemed an accord and satisfaction or otherwise bar 
Landlord from recovering the full amount due, even if such payment is designated “payment in full,” bears 
any restrictive endorsement, or is otherwise conditionally tendered.  The times for Master Tenant’s 
performance of any obligations set forth in this Lease and the Exhibits may be extended by the Landlord’s 
Town Manager, if he finds, at his sole discretion, that Master Tenant has been delayed for reasons not in 
Master Tenant’s control.  Any such extension shall be in writing. 

21.8 Successors and Assigns.  Subject to the provisions of Section 14 hereof, this Lease shall 
be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, administrators, successors and permitted 
assigns of the parties hereto. 

21.9 Landlord’s Access.  Landlord and its agents shall have the right, subject to the rights of 
the Subtenants then in effect, to enter the Premises upon 72 hours prior written notice for the purpose of 
inspecting the same, and making such alterations, repairs, improvements or additions to the Premises as 
are deemed necessary or desirable consistent with this Lease.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the 
event of an emergency requiring Landlord’s entry into the Premises, Landlord may give Master Tenant 
shorter notice in any manner that is practicable under the circumstances.  When entering or performing 
any repair or other work in the Premises, Landlord, its agents, employees and/or contractors (a) shall 
identify themselves to Master Tenant’s personnel immediately upon entering the Premises, and (b) shall 
not, in any way, materially or unreasonably affect, interrupt or interfere with Master Tenant’s (or any of its 
Subtenants’) use, business or operations on the Premises or obstruct the visibility of or access to the 
Premises. 

21.10 Legal Relationship.  Nothing contained in this Lease shall be deemed or construed by the 
parties hereto or by any third party to create the relationship of principal and agent, partnership, joint 
venturer or any association between Landlord and Master Tenant.  Landlord and Master Tenant 
expressly agree that neither the method of computation of rent nor any act of the parties hereto shall be 
deemed to create any relationship between Landlord and Master Tenant other than the relationship of 
Landlord and Master Tenant. 

21.11 Consents.  Whenever the right of approval or consent is given to a party pursuant to this 
Lease, the party shall not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay its consent unless this Lease 
expressly provides otherwise.  All approvals and reviews required of Landlord under this Lease may be 
undertaken and/or given by Landlord’s Town Manager. 

21.12 General.  The terms “Landlord” and “Master Tenant” herein or any pronouns used in 
place thereof shall mean and include the masculine or feminine, the singular or plural number, and jointly 
and severally individuals, firms or corporations, and each of their respective heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and permitted assigns, according to the context hereof.  The headings of 
Sections herein are inserted only for convenience and reference and shall in no way define or limit the 
scope or intent of any provisions of this Lease.  This Lease shall be construed under the laws of the State 
of California, and venue shall be in in the applicable courts located in Santa Clara County, California. 

21.13 Quiet Enjoyment.  Upon payment of the rent as aforesaid and upon the observance and 
performance by Master Tenant of all of the terms and provisions to be observed by Master Tenant under 

Page 111



 

 31  

this Lease, Master Tenant shall peaceably hold and enjoy the Premises for the term hereof without 
hindrance or interruption by Landlord or any other person, except as herein expressly provided. 

21.14 Regulatory Authority.  Master Tenant acknowledges that, at any time when the Town is 
the Landlord hereunder, Landlord shall have certain governmental regulatory authority over the Premises.  
Master Tenant agrees and expressly acknowledges that any approval or consent required or permitted 
hereunder by the Town, acting in its capacity as Landlord under this Lease, (1) is distinct from any 
approval or consent of such entity acting in the capacity of governmental regulatory authority, whether or 
not related to the same matter, and (2) shall not compromise, diminish or in any way limit the authority of 
such entity to give, deny or condition its approval or consent when acting as a governmental regulatory 
authority. 

21.15 Costs and Expenses.  Whenever this Lease provides that either party shall be entitled to 
recover fees, costs or expenses from the other, such fees, costs or expenses shall be reasonable in 
nature. 

21.16 Entire Agreement.  This Lease and the exhibits attached hereto (which are incorporated 
herein by this reference) represent the entire agreement between the parties concerning the subject 
matter hereof and supersede any prior written or verbal agreements or understandings with respect 
thereto. 

21.17 Severability.  If any term, covenant, condition or provision of this Agreement, or the 
application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall to any extent be held by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, covenants, conditions or 
provisions of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall remain in full 
force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated thereby. 

21.18 Joint and Several.  If Master Tenant is more than one party, then the parties and entities 
who comprise Master Tenant under this Agreement from time to time, are jointly and severally liable to 
the Town for the performance of all of the promises and obligations of Master Tenant under this 
Agreement.  In the event of any default by Master Tenant hereunder, the Town may proceed against any 
one or more of the aforementioned parties who comprise Master Tenant without waiving its rights to 
proceed against any of the others. 

21.19 Memorandum of Agreement.  The parties hereto shall execute, acknowledge and record 
the Memorandum of Agreement, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F, within ten days after the Rent 
Commencement Date. 

21.20 CASp Inspection. Pursuant to California Civil Code Section 1938, Landlord hereby 
discloses, and Tenant hereby acknowledges, that the Premises has not been inspected by a Certified 
Access Specialist (“CASp”).  California Civil Code Section 1938 also requires that this Lease contain the 
following statement: 

“A Certified Access Specialist (CASp) can inspect the subject premises and determine whether 
the subject premises comply with all of the applicable construction related accessibility standards under 
state law.  Although state law does not require a CASp inspection of the subject premises, the 
commercial property owner or lessor may not prohibit the lessee or tenant from obtaining a CASp 
inspection of the subject premises for the occupancy or potential occupancy of the lessee or tenant, if 
requested by the lessee or tenant.  The parties shall mutually agree on the arrangements for the time and 
manner of the CASp inspection, the payment of the fee for the CASp inspection, and the cost of making 
any repairs to correct violations of the construction related accessibility standards within the premises.” 

In accordance with the foregoing, Master Tenant, upon at least thirty (30) days’ prior written 
notice to Landlord, shall have the right to require a CASp inspection of the Premises.  If Master Tenant 
requires a CASp inspection of the Premises, then: (i) Landlord and Tenant shall mutually agree on the 

Page 112



 

 32  

arrangements for the time and manner of the CASp inspection during such thirty (30) day period; (ii) 
Master Tenant shall be solely responsible to pay the cost of the CASp inspection as and when required 
by the CASp. It is understood by the parties that Landlord shall not be required to perform, or cause to be 
performed, any and all repairs needed to correct violations of the construction related accessibility 
standards within or relating to the Premises and Master Tenant can terminate this lease if it is 
determined, by Master Tenant that any repairs to correct violations would be too costly. . 

21.21 First Right of Refusal.  If Landlord receives from a third party a bona fide offer to 
purchase the Premises, before Landlord may accept such an offer, Landlord must first give written notice 
to Master Tenant of said offer.  Master Tenant shall have thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of said 
offer, to provide Landlord with written acceptance of the offer, upon the same terms and conditions as set 
forth therein (but in addition thereto, such sale shall include all rights of Landlord in and to this Lease). If 
Master Tenant accepts said offer, closing shall take place within sixty (60) days from the date of 
acceptance. Master Tenant may elect to assign Master Tenant's rights to purchase the Premises to the 
parent of or a subsidiary of the Master Tenant, or other entity wholly owned by Master Tenant or its 
Managing Member. If Master Tenant fails to accept said offer within the thirty (30) days provided herein, 
Landlord may proceed to sell to said third party in accordance with the terms of the offer. If Landlord has 
not consummated a sale within one hundred eighty (180) days after the expiration of Master Tenant's 
option rights hereunder, the restrictions and options herein provided shall be restored and shall continue 
in full force and effect, and so long as these restrictions and options remain in effect the Landlord shall 
not thereafter sell or transfer the Premises without first giving Master Tenant notice as herein provided 
and otherwise complying with the foregoing provisions. 

Page 113



 

 33  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Lease the day and year first 
above written. 

 
      LANDLORD: 
 
      THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
 
 
      By: ___________________________ 
      Print Name: ____________________ 
      Officer Title: ____________________ 
 
 
Approved as to form:    Attest: 
 
 
____________________   __________________________ 
Town Attorney Town Clerk 
 
 
      MASTER TENANT: 

    
    
      Forbes Mill, LLC,  
      a California Limited Liability Company 
 
      By: Imwalle Asset Management, LLC 
      a California Limited Liability Company 
             
      By: _____________________________ 
                  Don Imwalle, Jr., Managing Member 

 
 

 
 

Page 114



 

 Exhibit A 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

Exhibit A 

Legal Description of Premises 

 

 

 

Page 115



 

 Exhibit B 
OAK #4810-7729-4116 v8  4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

Exhibit B 

Site Plan of Premises 

 

 

Page 116



 

 Exhibit C 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

Exhibit C 

 

Form of Notice of Lease Term Dates 

[On Town Letterhead] 

[Date] 

Forbes Mill, LLC 
223 West Main Street Suite B  
Los Gatos, CA 95030 
Attn:  Donald Imwalle, Jr. 
Email: don@imwalledev.com 
CC: jimfoley@pennantproperties.com 
       Jason@farwellrashkis.com  
Re: Master Lease – 75 Church Street, Los Gatos, CA 95030 

Dear Mr. Imwalle: 

In accordance with that certain Master Lease dated ____________, 2020, by and between the Town of 
Los Gatos and Forbes Mill, LLC for the above referenced property, this letter is to confirm that the Rent 
Commencement Date as defined in Section 1.11 of the Master Lease is [insert date].  Please countersign 
this letter in the space below to acknowledge your agreement. 

Please don’t hesitate to contact me should you have any questions. 

 Sincerely yours, 

 ______________, Town Manager 

Acknowledged and Agreed this _____ day of _______, 202__, 

on behalf of  
 
Forbes Mill, LLC,  
a California Limited Liability Company 
 
By: Imwalle Asset Management, LLC 
a California Limited Liability Company 
             
By: _____________________________ 
     Don Imwalle, Jr., Managing Member 
 
 

Page 117

mailto:don@imwalledev.com
mailto:jimfoley@pennantproperties.com
mailto:Jason@farwellrashkis.com


 

 Exhibit D-1 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

Exhibit D 

Condition of Premises Upon Delivery 

 

[TO BE INSERTED] 

 

 

Page 118



 

 Exhibit E-1 
OAK #4810-7729-4116 v8  4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

Exhibit E 

Insurance Requirements for Master Tenant and Subtenants 

Master Tenant is required to procure and provide proof of the insurance coverage required by 
Master Tenant as outlined in this Exhibit in the form of certificates and endorsements. Master Tenant 
shall obtain and maintain insurance against claims which may arise from or in connection with the 
activities of Master Tenant and its Subtenants, including agents, invitees, employees, and contractors of 
Master Tenant and its Subtenants, and must remain in full force and effect at all times during the period 
covered by the Lease Agreement.  The coverages may be arranged under a single policy for the full limits 
required or by a combination of underlying policies with the balance provided by excess or “umbrella” 
policies, provided each such policy complies with the requirements set forth herein.  If Master Tenant fails 
to provide any of the required coverage in full compliance with the requirements set forth herein, Town 
may, at its sole discretion, terminate the Lease for default.  Master Tenant further understands that the 
Town reserves the right to reasonably modify the insurance requirements set forth herein, with thirty (30) 
days’ notice provided to Master Tenant, at any time as deemed necessary to protect the interests of the 
Town. 

(A) Insurance Types and Limits.  The following insurance types and limits are required 
unless otherwise specified in the Lease Agreement: 

(1) Commercial General Liability Insurance (“CGL”):  Master Tenant shall maintain 
CGL and shall include coverage for liability arising from Master Tenant and its 
Subtenants, including invitees, employees, agents, or contractors of Master Tenant 
and its Subtenants, against claims and liabilities for personal injury, death, or 
property damage providing protection in the minimum amount of: One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000.00) for bodily injury or death to any one person for any one accident or 
occurrence and at least One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for property damage. 

i. Liquor Liability:  Master Tenant shall maintain Liquor Liability, either under 
its CGL policy or as a separate policy, providing protection in the minimum 
amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) each claim. 

(2) Workers’ Compensation Insurance and Employer’s Liability:  Master Tenant 
shall maintain Workers Compensation coverage, as required by law. The policy must 
comply with the requirements of the California Workers’ Compensation Insurance 
and Safety Act and provide protection in the minimum amount of One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000.00) for any one accident or occurrence. If Master Tenant is self-insured, 
Master Tenant must provide its Certificate of Permission to Self-Insure, duly 
authorized by the Department of Industrial Relations. 

(3) Automobile Liability:  Master Tenant shall maintain Automobile Liability covering all 
owned, non-owned and hired automobiles, against claims and liabilities for personal 
injury, death, or property damage providing protection in the minimum amount of One 
Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for bodily injury or death to any one person for any 
one accident or occurrence and at least One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for 
property damage. 

(4) Property:  Master Tenant shall maintain All Risk Property coverage for the 
appropriate limit to cover all personal property of Master Tenant, in, on, or about the 
Premises, covering the full replacement cost of such personal property to include 
furniture, installed fixtures, improvements, equipment, inventory and any other 
personal property of the Master Tenant. Master Tenant, and not any of the 
Subtenants, also shall maintain All Risk Property coverage for the full replacement 
cost of the Master Tenant’s Work. 

Page 119



 

 Exhibit E-2 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

i. Business Interruption:  Master Tenant shall maintain adequate protection 
against business interruption and loss of income, either as part of a 
comprehensive Business Owner’s Policy or under its Property Insurance. 

(B) Required Endorsements.  Master Tenant shall provide proof of the following 
endorsements, listed for each policy for which endorsements are required, as outlined below: 

(1)  ALL Policies: 

“Waiver of Subrogation” - Each required policy must include an endorsement 
providing that the carrier agrees to waive any right of subrogation it may have 
against the Town of Los Gatos and the Town’s elected or appointed officials, 
boards, agencies, officers, agents, employees, and volunteers. 

(2)  General Liability: 

a. “Additionally Insured” - The Town of Los Gatos, its elected or appointed officials, 
boards, agencies, officers, agents, employees, and volunteers are named as 
additional insureds; 

b. “Primary and Non-Contributing” - Insurance shall be primary non-contributing; 

c. “Separation of Insureds” - The inclusion of more than one insured will not operate 
to impair the rights of one insured against another, and the coverages afforded 
will apply as though separate policies have been issued to each insured. 

(C) Subtenants.  Master Tenant must ensure that each Subtenant is required to maintain the 
equal or greater  insurance coverages required in this Exhibit, including those requirements 
related to the additional insureds and waiver of subrogation. However, Subtenants which do not 
engage in the sale and/or serving of alcohol in, on, or about the Premises, are not required to 
maintain Liquor Liability. Also, Subtenants shall not be obligated to insure the Master Tenant’s 
Work. 

(D) Qualification of Insurers. All insurance required pursuant to this Lease Agreement must 
be issued by a company licensed and admitted, or otherwise legally authorized to carry out 
insurance business in the State of California, and each insurer must have a current A.M. Best's 
financial strength rating of “A-” or better and a financial size rating of “VII” or better. 

(E) Certificates.  Master Tenant shall furnish the Town with copies of all policies or 
certificates maintained by Master Tenant as outlined herein, whether new or modified, promptly 
upon receipt. Further, upon request by the Town, Master Tenant shall furnish the Town with 
copies of all policies or certificates maintained by Subtenants as outlined herein, whether new or 
modified. No policy subject to the Master Tenant’s Lease with the Town shall be reduced, 
canceled, allowed to expire, or materially changed except after thirty (30) days' notice by the 
insurer to Town, unless due to non-payment of premiums, in which case ten (10) days written 
notice must be made to Town. Certificates, including renewal certificates, may be mailed 
electronically to ____________________________ or delivered to the Certificate Holder address 
provided herein. 
 

Certificate Holder address: 
 

Town of Los Gatos 
 Attn: Risk Management 
 110 E. Main Street 

Los Gatos, CA  95030 

Page 120



 

 Exhibit E-3 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

 

Page 121



 

 Exhibit F-1 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

Exhibit F 

Memorandum of Lease Agreement 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY 

 
 
AND WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO: 

 

Town of Los Gatos 
110 E. Main Street 
Los Gatos, CA 95037 
Attn: Town Manager 

THIS DOCUMENT IS EXEMPT FROM 
RECORDING FEES PURSUANT TO CALIFORNIA 
GOVERNMENT CODE §§ 6103, 27383 

  

 SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER'S USE ONLY 

MEMORANDUM OF LEASE AGREEMENT 

This Memorandum of Lease Agreement (this “Memorandum”) is dated as of _______________, 
202__, and is between the Town of Los Gatos, a California municipal corporation (“Landlord”), and 
Forbes Mill, LLC, a California limited liability company (“Master Tenant”). 

Recitals 

A. Landlord and Master Tenant entered into that certain Lease Agreement, effective 
___________, 2020 ("Lease"), pursuant to which Landlord leased to Master Tenant and Master Tenant 
leased from Landlord the space located on the real property described in the attached Exhibit A (the 
“Premises”). 

B. Landlord and Master Tenant desire to execute this Memorandum to provide constructive 
notice of Master Tenant’s rights under the Lease to all third parties. 

For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

Agreement 

1. Term. Landlord leases the Premises to Master Tenant for an initial term of thirty-four 
years and eleven months (34 years 11 months) commencing on the Commencement Date of 
____________, 202_, and expiring on ____________, 205_. 

2. Lease Terms. The lease of the Premises to Master Tenant is pursuant to the Lease, 
which is incorporated in this Memorandum by reference. 

3. Assignment. Except as otherwise expressly provided in the Lease, Master Tenant's rights 
and obligations under the Lease may not be assigned without Landlord's prior written consent, which 
consent may be granted or withheld by Landlord in its sole and exclusive discretion, and any assignment 
without this consent will be void. 

4. Successors and Assigns. This Memorandum and the Lease are binding and inure to the 
benefit of the parties and their respective heirs, successors, and assigns, subject, however, to the 
provisions of the Lease on assignment. 

Page 122



 

 Exhibit F-2 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

5. Governing Law. This Memorandum and the Lease are governed by California law. 

Executed as of the date first above written. 

LANDLORD: 
 
Town of Los Gatos, 
a California municipal corporation 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 
Print Name:________________________ 
Title: _____________________________ 
 
 
 

MASTER TENANT: 
 
Forbes Mill, LLC,  
a California Limited Liability Company 
 
By: Imwalle Asset Management, LLC 
a California Limited Liability Company 
             
By:___________________________ 
      Don Imwalle, Jr., Managing Member 
 
 
 

  

Page 123



 

 Exhibit F-1 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

A Notary Public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual who 
signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity 
of that document. 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF _____________ 
ss. 

 
On _________________, before me, ___________________________________, Notary Public, 

personally appeared __________________________, who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory 
evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and 
acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and 
that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the 
person(s) acted, executed the instrument.   

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

  (Seal) 

(Signature) 

 
 
 

 

Page 124



 

 Exhibit A 
 4829-3592-1989v4 
SLF\NEW..NEW.. 

EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description of the Premises 

[Need legal description of Premises] 

 

Page 125



 

PREPARED BY: Stephen Conway 
 Finance Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 7 

 
   

 

DATE:   July 14, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Adopt a Resolution Establishing the FY 2020/21 Gann Appropriations Limit for 
the Town of Los Gatos 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Adopt a resolution establishing the FY 2020/21 Gann appropriations limit for the Town of Los 
Gatos. 
 

BACKGROUND: 

On November 6, 1979, California voters approved Proposition 4, commonly known as the Gann 
Spending Limitation Initiative, establishing Article XIIIB of the California State Constitution.  This 
Proposition, which became effective in fiscal year (FY) 1980/81, mandated an appropriations 
(spending) limit on the amount of tax proceeds that the State and most local government 
jurisdictions may appropriate within a fiscal year.  Charges for services, fees, grants, loans, 
donations, and other non-tax proceeds are excluded from the spending limitation.  Exemptions 
are also made for voter-approved debt prior to January 1, 1979 and the cost of court-related or 
Federal government mandates.   
 
The Initiative was later modified by two propositions:  Proposition 98 in 1988 and Proposition 
111 in 1990.  Proposition 98 established the return of tax revenues exceeding appropriation 
limit levels to the State or citizens through a process of refunds, rebates, or other means.  
Proposition 111 allowed more flexibility in the appropriation calculation factors.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 126



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Adopt a Resolution Establishing the FY 2020/21 Gann Appropriations Limit for 

the Town of Los Gatos 
DATE:  July 14, 2020 
 

C:\Users\AzureAdmin\AppData\Local\Temp\tmp40D1.tmp 

 

DISCUSSION: 

Attached for Council consideration is a resolution establishing an appropriations limit for FY 
2020/21.  The appropriations limit is based on population and per capita income data provided 
by the State of California Finance Department.  In alignment with State guidelines, the 
appropriation limit for FY 2020/21 was calculated using inflation and population factors 
comprised of the change in County or Town population (whichever is higher) and the change in 
California per capita personal income.  
 
In addition to the annual inflation and population adjustments, the Appropriations Limit must 
be adjusted in the event that the financial responsibility for providing services is transferred in 
whole or in part from one entity of government to another.  Whenever financial responsibility 
for all or some part of a service is transferred between government agencies, the agencies must 
increase or decrease their limits “by such reasonable amount as the said entities shall mutually 
agree….”  The amounts adjusted should be the same for the two agencies.   
 
The Town recently signed an annexation agreement with the County of Santa Clara reflecting 
the annexation of multiple county pockets in 2019 and both parties are in a process of 
determining the mutually agreed amount for Gann Limit calculation purposes.  Please note that 
the Town of Los Gatos FY 2020/21 Appropriation Limit will increase with the adjustment.  Staff 
will present the updated calculation to Town Council as soon as the adjustment amount is 
available. 
 
Current calculation of the FY 2020/21 Gann Appropriations Limit is as follows: 
 

 
 
The appropriations limit is the total amount of tax money that can be appropriated by the Town 
in FY 2020/21.  The proposed FY 2020/21 budget anticipates $31,407,235 in taxes, which is 
$14,293,589 less than the appropriation limit of $45,700,824.   
 
COORDINATION: 

The Gann Appropriation Limit report was prepared by the Finance Department. 

 

Town Per Capita 2019/20 2020/21

Population Income Appropriation Appropriation Appropriation

Factor Factor Factor Limit Limit

1.0234 X 1.0373 = 1.061573 X 43,050,108$  = 45,700,824$         

FY 2020/21 Calculation

Page 127



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Adopt a Resolution Establishing the FY 2020/21 Gann Appropriations Limit for 

the Town of Los Gatos 
DATE:  July 14, 2020 
 

C:\Users\AzureAdmin\AppData\Local\Temp\tmp40D1.tmp 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
There is not direct identifiable fiscal impact from this action. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 
 
This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 
 
Attachments: 
1. Resolution establishing the Gann Appropriation Limit for FY 2020/21 
 
 

Page 128



1 of 3  
 Resolution 2020 -  August 4, 2020 

RESOLUTION 2020- 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
ESTABLISHING THE FY 2020/21 APPROPRIATIONS LIMIT 

FOR THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
 
  

WHEREAS, Article XIIIB of the California Constitution (Limitation of Government 
Appropriations) was passed by the California electorate on November 6, 1979, and became 
effective on July 1, 1980; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 1205, Statute of 1980, Section 7900 of the California Government 
Code formally implements methods for governmental entities to establish and define annual 
appropriations limits; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the growth factors used to calculate the Annual Appropriations Limit are 
County or Town population change and the increase in the California per capita income;  
 

WHEREAS, in addition to the annual inflation and population adjustments, state law 
requires the Appropriations Limit to be adjusted in the event that the financial responsibility for 
providing services is transferred in whole or in part from one entity of government to another; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, the Town is in the process to determine such a mutually agreed amount with 

the County of Santa Clara regarding the Town’s annexation of unincorporated islands in 2019; 
 
WHEREAS, the Town is calculating its Annual Appropriations Limit for FY 2020/21 based 

on the best available data as of this date and will present to the Town Council an updated FY 
20/21 calculation and resolution after concluding the process with the County of Santa Clara; and  

 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: that the Annual Appropriations Limit for the Town of Los 
Gatos for FY 2020/21 is $45,700,824 as reflected in Exhibit A. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                            ATTACHMENT 1 

 
 

Page 129



2 of 3  
 Resolution 2020 -  August 4, 2020 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los 
Gatos, California, held on the 4th day of August 2020 by the following vote: 
 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES:  

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

 

       SIGNED: 
 
 
 

      MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
       LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
       DATE: __________________ 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
TOWN CLERK OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
DATE: __________________ 

Page 130



3 of 3  
 Resolution 2020 -  August 4, 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 

For Beginning County Town Per Capita Ending %

YE Population Population Income Limit

Limit Factor Factor Factor Limit Increase

2010 28,426,367     1.0156 1.0108 1.0062 29,048,811           2.19%

2011 29,048,811     1.0126 1.0101 0.9746 28,667,689           -1.31%

2012 28,667,689     1.0089 1.0096 1.0251 29,669,366           3.49%

2013 29,669,366     1.0124 1.0081 1.0377 31,169,671           5.06%

2014 31,169,671     1.0157 1.0147 1.0512 33,279,977           6.77%

2015 33,279,977     1.0150 1.0102 0.9977 33,701,485           1.27%

2016 33,701,485     1.0113 1.0020 1.0382 35,384,256           4.99%

2017 35,384,256     1.0126 1.0070 1.0537 37,754,174           6.70%

2018 37,754,174     1.0081 1.0040 1.0369 39,464,396           4.53%

2019 39,464,396     1.0099 1.0050 1.0367 41,317,775           4.70%

2020 41,317,775     1.0033 0.9998 1.0385 43,050,108           4.19%

2021 43,050,108     1.0037 1.0234 1.0373 45,700,824           6.16%

Town Per Capita 2019/20 2020/21

Population Income Appropriation Appropriation Appropriation

Factor Factor Factor Limit Limit

1.0234 X 1.0373 = 1.061573 X 43,050,108$  = 45,700,824$         

2020/21 2020/21 Percentage

Tax Appropriation of 

Revenues Limit Limit

30,447,571    / 45,700,824$         = 67%  

Percentage of Appropriation

APPROPRIATION LIMIT FACTORS

Appropriation Appropriation

June 30

FY 2020/21 Calculation

Page 131



 

PREPARED BY: SEAN MULLIN, AICP 
 Associate Planner 
    
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 8  

 
   

 

DATE:   July 29, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Adopt Amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code 
Regarding Vehicle Sales, Town Wide.  Town Code Amendment Application  
A-20-003.  Applicant: Town of Los Gatos. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding vehicle 
sales (Attachment 1). 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
On June 6, 2020, the Town Council considered and voted to introduce an Ordinance amending 
Chapter 29 of the Town Code regarding vehicle sales.  Adoption of the attached Ordinance 
(Attachment 1) would finalize that decision.  
 
 
Attachment: 
1. Draft Ordinance 

Page 132



1 of 4  
Ordinance   Council Meeting Date 

 DRAFT ORDINANCE 2020-____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
AMENDING CHAPTER 29 (ZONING REGULATIONS) OF THE TOWN CODE 

REGARDING VEHICLE SALES 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 29 (Zoning Ordinance) of the Town Code of the Town of Los Gatos 

regulates vehicle sales in the C-2, LM, and CH zones by requiring the approval of a Conditional 

Use Permit; and 

WHEREAS, Section 29.20.185 of the Town Code allows used vehicle sales only when 

incidental to new vehicle sales in the C-2, LM, and CH zones with an approved Conditional Use 

Permit; and 

WHEREAS, the Town was approached by a used vehicle sales business seeking to locate 

in the C-2 zone; and 

WHEREAS, given the unique characteristics of the request, the issue was forwarded to 

the Town Council Policy Committee to seek input and direction on the appropriateness of 

standalone used vehicle sales; and 

WHEREAS, on January 28, 2020, the Town Council Policy Committee considered the 

matter and recommended that standalone used vehicle sales be allowed with an approved 

Conditional Use Permit in the C-2, LM, and CH zones; and 

WHEREAS, this matter was regularly noticed in conformance with State and Town law 

and came before the Planning Commission for public hearing on May 27, 2020; and 

WHEREAS, on May 27, 2020, the Planning Commission reviewed and commented on the 

proposed amendments regarding vehicle sales in the C-2, LM, and CH zones and forwarded a 

recommendation to the Town Council for approval of the proposed amendments; and 

WHEREAS, this matter was regularly noticed in conformance with State and Town law 

and came before the Town Council for public hearing on June 16, 2020; and  

WHEREAS, on June 16, 2020, the Town Council reviewed and commented on the 

amendments to Chapter 29 of the Town Code and the Town Council voted to introduce the 

Ordinance. 

ATTACHMENT 1 

Draft Ordinance: subject to 
modification by Town Council 
based on deliberations and 
direction. 

Page 133



2 of 4  
Ordinance   Council Meeting Date 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS DOES 

HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION I 

 
Chapter 29 of the Los Gatos Town Code is hereby amended as follows:  

 
ARTICLE II. DIVISION 3. APPROVALS 
 
….. 
Sec. 29.20.185. Table of Conditional Uses.  
 
….. 

TABLE OF CONDITIONAL 
USES 

RC HR R1 RD R-M RMH R-1D O C-1 C-2 CH LM CM 

(7)  Automotive (Vehicle sales, services, and related activities) 

a. New vVehicle sales 
and rental 

         X X X  

b. Used vehicle sales 
only incidental to 
new vehicle sales 
and rental. 
Reserved. 

         X X X  

 
….. 
 

SECTION II 
 

With respect to compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the 

Town Council finds as follows:  

A. These Town Code amendments are exempt from review under CEQA 

pursuant to sections and 15061(b)(3), in that it can be seen with certainty that there is no 

possibility that the amendments to the Town Code would have a significant effect on the 

environment; and 

B. The amendments to the Town Code are consistent with the General Plan.  

 

Page 134



3 of 4  
Ordinance   Council Meeting Date 

SECTION III 
 

If any provision of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person or 

circumstances is held to be invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or 

applications of the Ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or 

application, and to this end the provisions of this Ordinance are severable.  The Town Council 

hereby declares that it would have adopted this Ordinance irrespective of the invalidity of any 

particular portion thereof and intends that the invalid portions should be severed and the 

balance of the ordinance be enforced. 

SECTION IV 
 

Except as expressly modified in this Ordinance, all other sections set forth in the Los 

Gatos Town Code shall remain unchanged and shall be in full force and effect.  

Page 135



4 of 4  
Ordinance   Council Meeting Date 

SECTION V 
 

This Ordinance was introduced at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of 

Los Gatos on the 16th day of June 2020 , and adopted by the following vote as an Ordinance of 

the Town of Los Gatos at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos on 

the 4th day of August 2020.  This Ordinance takes effect 30 days after it is adopted.  In lieu of 

publication of the full text of the Ordinance within fifteen (15) days after its passage a summary 

of the Ordinance may be published at least five (5) days prior to and fifteen (15) days after 

adoption by the Town Council and a certified copy shall be posted in the office of the Town 

Clerk, pursuant to GC 36933(c)(1).   

 
COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES:  

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

       SIGNED: 
 
 

      MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
       LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
       DATE: __________________ 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
TOWN CLERK OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 

DATE: __________________ 

Page 136



 

PREPARED BY: Lisa Velasco 
 Human Resources Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 9 

 
   

 

DATE:   July 29, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manager to Amend an Agreement for Employee Safety 
Compliance and Training Consultant Services with BSI EHS Services and 
Solutions (West) Inc., in an Amount not to Exceed $175,350 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Authorize the Town Manager to amend an agreement (Attachment 3) for employee safety 
compliance and training consultant services with BSI EHS Services and Solutions (West) Inc., in 
an amount not to exceed $175,350. 
 
BACKGROUND: 

The Town contracts with BSI to provide safety consultant services to ensure compliance with 
California’s Occupational Health and Safety Administration (Cal-OSHA) regulations, provide on-
site safety training classes, and partner with the Town’s Health and Safety Committee to 
promote a safe work environment.  The term of the current agreement between the Town and 
BSI is January 2018 through December 2020. 
 
DISCUSSION: 

During the evaluation the Town’s safety program, BSI identified that the development of 
Control of Hazardous Energy Lockout/Tagout (LOTO) procedures are needed to ensure the 
safety of Town employees and consultants and to satisfy Cal-OSHA regulations.  The original 
agreement for services did not include LOTO procedures in the total cost or scope of services.  
Staff requested a mid-year budget amendment to add the cost of the LOTO procedures through 
the end of FY 2019/20, however, the consultant has not been able to complete the procedures 
due to social distancing and shelter-in-place requirements related to COVID-19.  This request 
extends the additional time and funds to complete the program through the end of the term of 
the current agreement.   

Page 137



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Amendment to BSI Agreement 
DATE:  July 29, 2020 
 
CONCLUSION: 

Staff recommends that the Town Council authorize the Town Manager to execute a second 
amendment to the agreement with BSI in an amount not to exceed $175,350. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

The not to exceed cost in the amount of $115,600 over the three-year term of the agreement 
as amended (Attachment 2) is already included in the adopted budget for FY 2020/21 in the 
Workers’ Compensation Program.  The additional cost of $59,750 to complete the LOTO 
procedures was adopted at mid-year and requested for carryover for a total not to exceed 
amount of $175,350 through December 2020. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

Attachments: 
1. Second Amendment to Agreement for Consultant Services with BSI EHS Services and 

Solutions (West) Inc. 
2.  First Amendment to Agreement for Consultant Services with BSI EHS Services and Solutions 

(West) Inc. 
3.  Agreement for Consultant Services with BSI EHS Services and Solutions (West) Inc. 
 
 
 
 

Page 138



 

 

BSI EHS Services – First Amendment to Agreement – April 2018 

 

 

 

 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT 
 

This AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT is dated for identification this 4th day of August, 
2020 and amends that certain agreement for environmental health & safety services dated January 
1st, 2018, made by and between the Town of Los Gatos, ("Town,") and the BSI EHS Services and 
Solutions (West) Inc., (“Consultant.”) 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. Town and Consultant entered into a Consultant Services Agreement on January 1st, 2018, 

(“Agreement”), a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

Attachment 1 to this Amendment. 

 

B. Town and Consultant entered into a First Amendment to Agreement on April 1, 2018, a copy 

of which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Attachment 2. 
 

AMENDMENT 
 

1. Section 2.6 Compensation is hereby amended to incorporate subsection 2.6a Control of 
Hazardous Energy Lockout/Tagout (LOTO).  Consultant will create LOTO procedures for 
select equipment and machinery identified during the April 10 and August 20, 2019 
assessments in an amount not-to-exceed $59,750, including time and materials. 
 

 2. All other terms and conditions of the Agreement remain in full force and effect. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Town and Consultant have executed this Amendment. 
 
Town of Los Gatos     Approved as to Consent: 

 

By: _______________________________  By: ______________________________ 

       Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager    Genene Vaccaro 

        Senior Consultant 

 

Department Approval: 

 

 

_______________________________________ 

Lisa Velasco 

Human Resources Director 

 

Approved as to Form:     Attest: 

 

s Gatos, California  

______________________________   ______________________________ 

Robert Schultz, Town Attorney    Shelley Neis, CMC, Clerk Administrator 

ATTACHMENT 1
Page 139



o• t

IHH

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT

This AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT is dated for identification this 151 day of March, 
2018 and amends that certain agreement for environmental health & safety services dated January I ", 
2018, made by and between the Town of Los Gatos, ( "Town, ") and the BSI EHS Services and
Solutions ( West) Inc., (" Consultant ") 

RECITALS

A. Town and Consultant entered into a Consultant Services Agreement on January I"' 2018, 
Agreement"), a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as

Attachment I to this Amendment. 

AMENDMENT

Section 2.6 Com ensat*on. Compensation for Consultant' s prpfessional services shall not
exceed $ 115, 600 ver the term of the agreement ($ 33, 200 annually for Safety .Training
Services, Safety Committee Support, and Annual Program Review, plus $ 16, 000 over the
course of the agreement for Job Hazard Analysis), inclusive of all costs. Payment shall be
based upon Town approval ofeach task. Rates will remain unchanged for the initial 3 -year
term. To maintain parity with economic circumstances, BSI may elect to increase rates for
the 41 and /or 51 year contract options. Annual rate table increases shall not exceed 3% of
the preceding year's rate table fees in the years after 2020. However, if in any ofthe years
after 2019 the Bureau ofLabor Statistics Employment Cost Index in Northern California is
greater than 4.5 %, the parties agree to renegotiate rates for the final two years of this
contract. 

2. All other terms and conditions of the Agreement remain in full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Town and Consultant have executed this Amendment. 

Town ofLos Gatos Approved as to Consent: ,

t — 

Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 4-- risty Foster
Director ofHealthcare

Department Approval: 

V1 A 4,046
Lisa Velasco

Human Resources Director

Approved as to Form: 

T Y

Robert Schultz, I

BSI EHS Services — First Amendment to Agreement— March 2018

Attest: 

ShelleyNeis, C1 , ClerkAdminishator

ATTACHMENT 2
Page 140



TOWN OF LOS GATOS MEETING DATE: 05/ 01/ 2018

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT ITEM NO: 04

DATE: APRIL 24, 2018

TO: MAYOR AND TOWN COUNCIL

FROM: LAUREL PREVETTI, TOWN MANAGER

SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE THE TOWN MANAGER TO AMEND AN AGREEMENT FOR
EMPLOYEE SAFETY COMPLIANCE AND TRAINING CONSULTANT SERVICES
WITH BSI EHS SERVICES AND SOLUTIONS ( WEST) INC., IN AN AMOUNT
NOT TO EXCEED $ 115,600

RECOMMENDATION: 

Authorize the Town Manager to amend an agreement for employee safety compliance and
training consultant services with BSI EHS Services and Solutions (West) Inc. (Attachment 1), in
an amount not to exceed $ 115, 600. 

BACKGROUND: 

On December 19, 2017, the Town Council authorized the Town Manager to execute a new
agreement for employee safety compliance and training consultant services with BSI EHS
Services and Solutions (West) Inc. (Attachment 2) in an amount not to exceed $ 147, 600 over a
three -year term. After the authorization and before the consultant began providing services, 
the Town identified that the cost over the three -year term for one element of the contract had
been overstated. The not to exceed cost for Safety Training Services, Safety Committee
Support, and Annual Program Review is $ 33, 200 annually for three -years totaling $99, 600 plus
an additional flat amount of $16, 000 allocated to the special project of Job Hazard Analysis for a
total of $115,600. The amount allocated to the Job Hazard Analysis project was overstated in
the original amount resulting in a total of $147, 600. 

PREPARED BY: LISA VELASCO

Human Resources Director

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 • 408 - 354 -6832
www. losgatosca.gov

Page 141



PAGE 2 OF 2

SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE THE TOWN MANAGER TO AMEND AN AGREEMENT FOR
EMPLOYEE SAFETY COMPLIANCE AND TRAINING CONSULTANT SERVICES
WITH BSI EHS SERVICES AND SOLUTIONS ( WEST) INC., IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO
EXCEED $ 115,600

APRIL 24, 2018

DISCUSSION: 

The purpose of this report is to request authority for the Town Manager to amend the existing
agreement with BSI to accurately reflect the not to exceed amount of $115,600 versus the
amount of $147, 600 contained in the original agreement executed in December 2017. 

CONCLUSION: 

Staff recommends that the Town Council authorize the Town Manager to execute an
amendment to the agreement with BSI to accurately reflect the total three -year cost. 

COORDINATION: 

This report was coordinated with the Parks and Public Works Department. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The annual fiscal impact for this amendment will reduce the not to exceed amount from

49, 200 annually to $38, 533 annually or $115, 600 over the course of three years. Funding to
support this agreement is included in the adopted budget for FY 2017/ 18 in the Workers' 
Compensation Program. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

Attachments: 

1. First Amendment to Agreement for Consultant Services with BSI EHS Services and
Solutions (West) Inc. 

2. Agreement for Consultant Services with BSI EHS Services and Solutions (West) Inc. 

S: \ COUNCIL REPORTS \2018 \05- 01 -18 \04 BSI \Staff Report - BSI Agreement Amendment V2. do" 4/ 26/ 2018 3: 45 PM LV

Page 142



111H

AGREEMENT FOR CONSULTANT SERVICES

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into on the lat day of January, 2018 by and between
TOWN OF LOS GATOS, a California municipal corporation, ( "Town') and BSI EHS Services and

Solutions (West) Inc., (" Consultant'), whose address is 4 North Second Street, San Jose, CA

95113. This Agreement is made with reference to the following facts. 

I. RECITALS

1. 1 The Town desire to engage Consultant to provide Environmental Health & Safety services
and support. 

1. 2 The Consultant represents and affirms that it is willing to perform the desired work pursuant
to this Agreement. 

1. 3 Consultant warrants it possesses the distinct professional skills, qualifications, experience, 

and resources necessary to timely perform the services described in this Agreement. 
Consultant acknowledges Town has relied upon these warranties to retain Consultant. 

R. AGREEMENTS

2. 1 Scone of Services. Consultant shall provide services as described in that certain Proposal in
Response to the Town of Los Gatos' Environmental Health & Safety Program RFP, sent to
the Town on August 31, 2017, and an additional email summary sent to the Town on
October 26, 2017, which is hereby incorporated by reference and attached as Exhibit A. 

2.2 Term and Time of Performance. This contract will remain in effect from January 1, 2018 to
December 31, 2020. This Agreement shall remain in effect for a period of three ( 3) years

Initial Term') unless terminated earlier in accordance with the relevant provisions hereof. 
Thereafter, this Agreement has the option to renew for an additional two ( 1) year periods

Extension Term ") and shall remain in effect unless terminated earlier in accordance with
the relevant provisions hereof. Consultant shall perform the services described in this

agreement as detailed in Appendix A, with specific task scheduling to be determined jointly
by The Town and the BST support team. 

2.3 Compliance with Laws. The Consultant shall comply with all applicable laws, codes, 
ordinances, and regulations of governing federal, state and local laws. Consultant

represents and warrants to Town that it has all licenses, permits, qualifications and

approvals of whatsoever nature which are legally required for Consultant to practice its
profession. Consultant shall maintain a Town of Los Gatos business license pursuant to
Chapter 14 of the Code of the Town of Los Gatos. 

2.4 Sole Responsibility. Consultant shall be responsible for employing or engaging all persons
necessary to perform the services under this Agreement. 

Agreement for Consulting Services —Town ofLos Gatos and BSI EHS Services and Solutions, Environmental Health & Safety
Program 2018 -2020. 

Page 1 of 7
12017

ATTACHMENT 3Page 143



2. 5 Information/Report Handling. All documents furnished to Consultant by the Town and all
reports and supportive data prepared by the Consultant under this Agreement are the
Town' s property and shall be delivered to the Town upon the completion of Consultant's
services or at the Town's written request. All reports, information, data, and exhibits
prepared or assembled by Consultant in connection with the performance of its services
pursuant to this Agreement are confidential until released by the Town to the public, and the
Consultant shall not make any of these documents or information available to any
individual or organization not employed by the Consultant or the Town without the written
consent of the Town before such release. The Town acknowledges that the reports to be

prepared by the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement are for the purpose of evaluating a
defined project, and Town's use of the information contained in the reports prepared by the
Consultant in connection with other projects shall be solely at Town's risk, unless
Consultant expressly consents to such use in writing. Town further agrees that it will not
appropriate any methodology or technique of Consultant which is and has been confirmed
in writing by Consultant to be a trade secret of Consultant. 

2.5a Instruments of Service. BSI' s Instruments of Service consist of any document or
material provided as part of the agreed -upon deliverables under this Agreement. They are
prepared for the exclusive use of The Town for the sole purpose described in the scope and
terms of the Instruments of Service. The Town waives any claim against BSI and agrees to
provide Indemnification for any claim or liability for injury, loss, or costs allegedly arising from
any use other than Authorized Use of BSI's Instruments of Service. 

2. 5b The Town Information. The Town warrants the accuracy and completeness of information, 
including, but not limited to, representations, specifications, drawings, maps, surveys, reports, 

historical land usage and operations, results ofprevious site investigations and surface or
subsurface conditions affecting the site), supplied by it or its agents to BSI and acknowledges that
BSI is relying upon such information or data in the preparation ofthis Proposal and rendering of
services. 

2.6 Compensation. Compensation for Consultants professional services shall not exceed

49,200.00 annually, inclusive of all costs. Payment shall be based upon Town approval of
each task. Rates will remain unchanged for the initial 3 -year term. To maintain parity with
economic circumstances, BSI may elect to increase rates for the 4th and/ or 5th year contract
options. Annual rate table increases shall not exceed 3% of the preceding year's rate table fees
in the years after 2020. However, if in any of the years after 2019 the Bureau of Labor
Statistics Employment Cost Index in Northern California is greater than 4.5 %, the parties agree

to renegotiate rates for the final two years of this contract. 

2.7 Billing. Billing shall be monthly by invoice within thirty (30) days of the rendering of the
service and shall be accompanied by a detailed explanation of the work performed by whom
at what rate and on what date. Also, plans, specifications, documents or other pertinent

materials shall be submitted for Town review, even if only in partial or draft form. 

Agreement for Consulting Services — Town ofLos Gatos and BSI EHS Services and Solutions, Environmental Health & Safety
Program 2018 -2020. 

vzn r
Page 2 of 7

Page 144



Payment shall be net thirty ( 30) days. All invoices and statements to the Town shall be
addressed as follows: 

Invoices: 

Town ofLos Gatos

Attn: Accounts Payable

P. O. Box 655

Los Gatos, CA 95031 -0655

2. 8 Availability of Records. Consultant shall maintain the records supporting this billing for
not less than three years following completion of the work under this Agreement. 
Consultant shall make these records available to authorized personnel of the Town at the

Consultant's offices during business hours upon written request of the Town. 

2.9 Assignability and Subcontracting. The services to be performed under this Agreement are
unique and personal to the Consultant. No portion of these services shall be assigned or

subcontracted without the written consent of the Town. 

2. 10 Independent Contractor. It is understood that the Consultant, in the performance of the

work and services agreed to be performed, shall act as and be an independent contractor and

not an agent or employee of the Town. As an independent contractor he/she shall not obtain

any rights to retirement benefits or other benefits which accrue to Town employee( s). With
prior written consent, the Consultant may perform some obligations under this Agreement
by subcontracting, but may not delegate ultimate responsibility for performance or assign or
transfer interests under this Agreement. Consultant agrees to testify in any litigation brought
regarding the subject of the work to be performed under this Agreement. Consultant shall
be compensated for its costs and expenses in preparing for, traveling to, and testifying in
such matters at its then current hourly rates of compensation, unless such litigation is
brought by Consultant or is based on allegations of Consultant's negligent performance or
wrongdoing. 

2. 11 Conflict of Interest. Consultant understands that its professional responsibilities are solely
to the Town. The Consultant has and shall not obtain any holding or interest within the
Town of Los Gatos. Consultant has no business holdings or agreements with any individual
member of the Staff or management of the Town or its representatives nor shall it enter into

any such holdings or agreements, In addition, Consultant warrants that it does not presently
and shall not acquire any direct or indirect interest adverse to those of the Town in the
subject of this Agreement, and it shall immediately disassociate itself from such an interest, 
should it discover it has done so and shall, at the Town's sole discretion, divest itself of such

interest. Consultant shall not knowingly and shall take reasonable steps to ensure that it
does not employ a person having such an interest in this performance of this Agreement. If
after employment of a person, Consultant discovers it has employed a person with a direct

or indirect interest that would conflict with its performance of this Agreement, Consultant

shall promptly notify Town of this employment relationship, and shall, at the Town's sole
discretion, sever any such employment relationship. 

Agreement for Consulting Services— Town of Los Gatos and BSI EHS Services and Solutions, Environmental Health & Safety
Program 2018 -2020. 

Page 3 of7
1= IT

Page 145



2. 12 Equal Employment Opportunity. Consultant warrants that it is an equal opportunity
employer and shall comply with applicable regulations governing equal employment
opportunity. Neither Consultant nor its subcontractors do and neither shall discriminate
against persons employed or seeking employment with them on the basis of age, sex, color, 

race, marital status, sexual orientation, ancestry, physical or mental disability, national
origin, religion, or medical condition, unless based upon a bona fide occupational

qualification pursuant to the California Fair Employment & Housing Act. 

M. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION

3. 1 Minimum Scope of Insurance: 

i. Consultant agrees to have and maintain, for the duration of the contract, 
General Liability insurance policies insuring him/her and his/her firm to an
amount not less than: one million dollars ($ 1, 000,000) combined single limit
per occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage. 

ii. Consultant agrees to have and maintain for the duration of the contract, an
Automobile Liability insurance policy ensuring him/her and his/her staff to
an amount not less than one million dollars ($ 1, 000,000) combined single

limit per accident for bodily injury and property damage. 

Consultant shall provide to the Town all certificates of insurance, with
original endorsements effecting coverage. Consultant agrees that all

certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by the Town
before work commences. 

iv. Consultant agrees to have and maintain, for the duration of the contract, 
professional liability insurance in amounts not less than $ 1, 000, 000 which is
sufficient to insure Consultant for professional errors or omissions in the
performance of the particular scope of work under this agreement. 

V. Limits of Liability. BSI' s maximum aggregate liability under this agreement
shall not exceed the greater of $1, 000,000 or the total amounts paid by The
Town to BSI during the twelve ( 12) months immediately preceding the
claim. 

General Liability: 

The Town, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers are to be covered
as insured as respects: liability arising out of activities performed by or on
behalf of the Consultant; products and completed operations of Consultant, 
premises owned or used by the Consultant. This requirement does not apply
to the professional liability insurance required for professional errors and
omissions. 

Agreement for Consulting Services —Town of Los Gatos and BSI EHS Services and Solutions, Environmental Health & Safety
Program 2018 -2020. 

ranon
Page 4 of 7

Page 146



ii. The Consultant's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respects
the Town, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers. Any insurance or
self - insurances maintained by the Town, its officers, officials, employees or
volunteers shall be excess of the Consultant's insurance and shall not
contribute with it. 

iii. Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies shall not
affect coverage provided to the Town, its officers, officials, employees or

volunteers. 

iv. The Consultant' s insurance shall apply separately to each insured against
whom a claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of

the insurer's liability. 

3. 2 All Coverages. Each insurance policy required in this item shall be endorsed to state that
coverage shall not be suspended, voided, cancelled, reduced in coverage or in limits except

after thirty ( 30) days' prior written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, has
been given to the Town. Current certification of such insurance shall be kept on file at all

times during the term ofthis agreement with the Town Clerk. 

3. 3 Workers' Compensation. In addition to these policies, Consultant shall have and maintain

Workers' Compensation insurance as required by California law and shall provide evidence
of such policy to the Town before beginning services under this Agreement. Further, 
Consultant shall ensure that all subcontractors employed by Consultant provide the required
Workers' Compensation insurance for their respective employees. 

3. 4 Indemnification. The Consultant shall save, keep, hold harmless and indemnify and defend
the Town its officers, agent, employees and volunteers from all damages, liabilities, 

penalties, costs, or expenses in law or equity that may at any time arise or be set up because
of damages to property or personal injury received by reason of, or in the course of
performing work which may be occasioned by a willful or negligent act or omissions of the
Consultant, or any of the Consultant's officers, employees, or agents or any subconsultant. 

IV. GENERAL TERMS

4. 1 Waiver. No failure on the part of either party to exercise any right or remedy hereunder
shall operate as a waiver of any other right or remedy that party may have hereunder, nor
does waiver of a breach or default under this Agreement constitute a continuing waiver of a
subsequent breach of the same or any other provision of this Agreement. 

Agreement for Consulting Services— Town of Los Gatos and BSl EHS Services and Solutions, Environmental Health & Safety
Program 2018 -2020. 

Page 5 of 7
mzm7

Page 147



4.2 Governing Law. This Agreement, regardless of where executed, shall be governed by and
construed to the laws of the State of California. Venue for any action regarding this
Agreement shall be in the Superior Court of the County of Santa Clara. 

4.3 Termination of Agreement. The Town and the Consultant shall have the right to terminate

this agreement with or without cause by giving not less than fifteen days ( 15) written notice
of termination. In the event of termination, the Consultant shall deliver to the Town all

plans, files, documents, reports, performed to date by the Consultant. hi the event of such
termination, Town shall pay Consultant an amount that bears the same ratio to the
maximum contract price as the work delivered to the Town bears to completed services
contemplated under this Agreement, unless such termination is made for cause, in which

event, compensation, if any, shall be adjusted in light of the particular facts and
circumstances involved in such termination. 

4.4 Amendment. No modification, waiver, mutual termination, or amendment of this

Agreement is effective unless made in writing and signed by the Town and the Consultant. 

4. 5 Disputes. In any dispute over any aspect of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be
entitled to reasonable attorney's fees, including costs of appeal. 

4.6 Notices. Any notice required to be given shall be deemed to be duly and properly given if
mailed postage prepaid, and addressed to: 

Town of Los Gatos BSI EHS Services and Solutions (West) Inc. 
Attn: Human Resources Attn: Christy Foster
110 E. Main Street 4 North Second Street
Los Gatos, CA 95030 San Jose, CA 95113

or personally delivered to Consultant to such address or such other address as
Consultant designates in writing to Town. 

4.7 Order of Precedence. In the event of any conflict, contradiction, or ambiguity between the
terms and conditions of this Agreement in respect of the Products or Services and any
attachments to this Agreement, then the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall
prevail over attachments or other writings. 

4.8 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including all Exhibits, constitutes the complete and
exclusive statement of the Agreement between the Town and Consultant. No terms, 

conditions, understandings or agreements purporting to modify or vary this Agreement, 
unless hereafter made in writing and signed by the party to be bound, shall be binding on
either party. 

Agreement for Consulting Services — Town of Los Gatos and BSI EHS Services and Solutions, Environmental Health & Safety
Program 2018 -2020. 

Page 6 of 7

Page 148



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Town and Consultant have executed this Agreement. 

Town of Los Gatos by: 

V61kw
I

Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager

Recommended by: 

1;0a-) ylj&Ati? 
Lisa Velasco, Human Resources Director

Approved as to Form: 

aI wlg 
Robert Schultz, To > ttorney

Consultant, by: 

Janice McKim, 

Chief Financial Officer

Agreement for Consulting Services— Town ofLos Gatos and HSI EHS Services and Solutions, Environmental Health & Safety
Program 201 5 -2020. 

vzo
Page 7 of 7

Page 149



EXHIBIT A — Scope/Cost Estimate Basis

Safety Training Services: 
Time -and Materials Basis, Not -to- Exceed

18, 000

7 In- Person Training sessions, including
presentation development time, quality
review, formatting, and onsite delivery time

1 - 2 hours /class) = $ 2,200 /class

Tailgate topic development = $170 /topic

Safetv Committee Support: 
Time- and - Materials Basis, Not -to- Exceed

3, 200

800 /meeting, including preparation, agenda
review, and follow up actions from the
meeting. 

Job Hazard Analysis: 

Fixed Fee of $16, 000 ($ 400 /JHA) 

We assume 40 JHAs, and each will cost $400. 

Prices would decrease accordingly if the total
number ofJHAs to be completed in one year

was decreased. 

Annual Program Review: 

Time -and- Materials Basis, Not -to- Exceed

12,000

15 written programs would be reviewed, at a

cost of $ 800 /program. Programs will be

reviewed and returned with any edits /updates
in track changes mode. This assumes an

average of 4 hours of review time, plus one

set of additional comments from the Town

and subsequent BSI changes to the
document. 

N:/ MASTER/ AGREEMENTS/ AgreementTemplates/ AgreementforConsultantServices .nf

Agreement for Consulting Services— Town of Los Gatos and BSI EHS Services and Solutions, Environmental Health & Safety
Program 2018 -2020. 

12W7

Page 8 of 8

EXHIBIT A

Page 150



TOWN OF LOS GATOS MEETING DATE: 12/ 19/ 2017

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT ITEM NO: 6

DATE: DECEMBER 11, 2017

TO: MAYOR AND TOWN COUNCIL

FROM: LAUREL PREVETTI, TOWN MANAGER

SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE THE TOWN MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT FOR

EMPLOYEE SAFETY COMPLIANCE AND TRAINING CONSULTANT SERVICES
WITH BSI EHS SERVICES AND SOLUTIONS ( WEST) INC., IN AN AMOUNT

NOT TO EXCEED $ 147,600

RECOMMENDATION: 

Authorize the Town Manager to execute an agreement for employee safety compliance and
training consultant services with BSI EHS Services and Solutions (West) Inc. (Attachment 1), in
an amount not to exceed $ 147,600. 

BACKGROUND: 

California' s Occupational Health and Safety Administration (Cal -OSHA) sets the standards and
requirements related to an employer sponsored Health and Safety Program. Components of a
Health and Safety Program include employee training and Cal -OSHA compliance. Cal -OSHA
requires annual or recurring periodic training for safety sensitive job classifications that have
potential for exposure to illnesses or injuries resulting from bloodborne pathogens and
communicable diseases, working at heights or within confined spaces, routine use of

specialized equipment and machines, or lifting heavy objects. The Town' s Health and Safety
Program includes periodic recommended employee trainings to proactively prevent work
injuries or illnesses, such as: safe driving techniques, earthquake safety, and prevention of
slips /trips /falls. The Town has historically engaged the services of a safety consultant to ensure
compliance with Cal -OSHA regulations, provide on -site safety training classes, and partner with
the Town' s Health and Safety Committee to promote a safe work environment. 

PREPARED BY: LISA VELASCO

Human Resources Director

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 • 408- 354 -6832

www.losgatosca. gov

Page 151



PAGE 2 OF 2

SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE THE TOWN MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT FOR

EMPLOYEE SAFETY COMPLIANCE AND TRAINING CONSULTANT SERVICES

WITH BSI EHS SERVICES AND SOLUTIONS ( WEST) INC., IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO

EXCEED $ 147,600

DECEMBER 11, 2017

DISCUSSION: 

The Town has contracted with BSI since February 2013 and extended the contract in May 2016
to provide additional time to conduct a formal Request for Proposals (RFP). An RFP was

initiated in August, 2017. Six firms responded to the RFP and three were invited to interview

with Town staff. Based on their formal Proposal (Attachment 2) and interviews, BSI was

selected based on their overall cost, breadth and depth of knowledge related to safety
compliance, as well as resources to offer employee trainings, tailgate trainings, and

participation at Health and Safety Committee meetings. 

In addition, during the term of the prior agreement between BSI and the Town, BSI was highly
effective in assisting the Town to contain costs associated with the Employee Health and Safety
Program by addressing potential safety issues to ensure safe work environments for
employees. BSI has also been instrumental in ensuring the Town' s compliance with legally
mandated Cal -OSHA training and requirements. 

CONCLUSION: 

Staff recommends that the Town Council authorize the Town Manager to execute a new

agreement with BSI for three years effective January 1, 2018, with an option to renew for two
additional one -year periods. 

COORDINATION: 

This report was coordinated with the Parks and Public Works Department. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The annual fiscal impact for this agreement will not exceed $49, 200 annually, or $147,600 over

the course of three years. Funding to support this agreement is included in the adopted budget
for FY 2017/ 18 in the Workers' Compensation Program. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

Attachments: 

1. Agreement for Consultant Services with BSI EHS Services and Solutions (West) Inc. 

2. Response to Town of Los Gatos RFP Environmental Health & Safety Program ( BSI Proposal
17 -0943) 

S: \ COUNCIL REP0RTS \2017 \12 -19 -17 \BSI \Staff Report - BSI Agreement Final.dou 12/ 14/ 2017 1: 26 PM LV

Page 152



 

PREPARED BY: Michelle Quinney 
 Interim Town Engineer 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Finance Director, and Director 
of Parks and Public Works 

   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 10  

 
   

 

DATE:   July 30, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council  

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manager to Execute a Certificate of Acceptance and 
Notice of Completion for the Work of Chrisp Company and Authorize 
Recording by the Town Clerk for PPW Job No. 18-813-0234 One-Way 
Downtown Street Pilot 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Authorize the Town Manager to execute a Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of Completion 
for the work of Chrisp Company and authorize recording by the Town Clerk for PPW Job No. 18-
813-0234 One-Way Downtown Street Pilot. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Town’s adopted FY 2018/19-2022/23 Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Budget 
designated funding of $130,000 for a one-way street pilot program in the downtown.  At the 
January 15, 2019 Town Council meeting, Council reviewed several options for the one-way pilot 
and approved the option for conversion of North Santa Cruz Avenue to one-way southbound 
from Bachman Avenue to Elm Street with a striped southbound Class II bicycle lane.  Staff was 
directed to proceed with the design and the project was implemented and left in place through 
October 2019.   
 
The project included a provision to slurry and restripe North Santa Cruz Avenue at the 
conclusion of the pilot project to bring the road back to a good condition.  Due to the 
completion of the project late in the year and concerns for cool weather, it was not feasible to 
slurry and restripe the road in 2019.  Staff had intended on completing this part of the project 
in the summer of 2020; however, roadway changes due to COVID-19 and the placement of k-
rail to create outdoor business areas have precluded most of that work from occurring.   
 

Page 153



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manager to Execute a Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of 

Completion for the Work of Chrisp Company and Authorize Recording by the 
Town Clerk 

DATE:  July 30, 2020 
 

   
 

DISCUSSION: 
 
The contract for this project was based on the quantities of work performed.  This allowed for 
flexibility in assigning and paying for the work needed.  Chrisp Company has satisfactorily 
completed all of the work reasonable for the project and staff recommends accepting the 
project.  Staff will program the slurry and restripe of North Santa Cruz within a future paving 
project, targeting the spring or summer of 2021. 
  
Five percent of the faithful performance bond will remain in effect for a period of two years as 
a guarantee for any needed repair or replacement caused by defective materials and 
workmanship for the project.  The execution and recordation of the Certificate of Acceptance is 
now required to finalize the Town's acceptance of the project.  
 

CONCLUSION: 
 
Authorize the Town Manager to execute a Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of Completion 
for the work of Chrisp Company and authorize recording by the Town Clerk for PPW Job No. 18-
813-0234 One-Way Downtown Street Pilot. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
The final construction costs for Chrisp Company totaled $132,829 for the work, and $47,828 for 
other construction costs, including the rental of K-rail and parklet amenities.  Project delivery 
costs, including advertising, printing, materials testing, staff, and design, have totaled $52,338.  
 
Staff costs are tracked for all projects.  Tracking of staff costs allows for accountability in the 
costs of projects, recovery of costs from grant funded projects, and identification of future 
staffing needs.  This project utilized full-time budgeted staff.  The costs for full-time staff are 
accounted for in the Department’s operating budget and will not be charged to this project. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 154



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manager to Execute a Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of 

Completion for the Work of Chrisp Company and Authorize Recording by the 
Town Clerk 

DATE:  July 30, 2020 
 

   
 

 
FISCAL IMPACT (continued): 
 
 

Bicycle & Pedestrian Improvements 
Project 813-0231 

 

  Budget Costs  

GFAR  $       238,686     

Total Project Budget  $       238,686     

       

Chrisp Company    $         132,829   

Other Construction    $            47,828   

Consultant Services    $            13,400   

Advertising    $               1,014   

Blueprint/Copy/Postage    $                 200   

Staff Costs    $            37,724   

Total Project Costs    $         232,995   

       

Project Savings Not Including Staff Costs    $            43,415   

Estimated Staff Costs    $            37,724   

Project Savings Including Estimated Staff Costs    $               5,691   

 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 
 
This is a project as defined under CEQA but is Categorically Exempt (Section 15301c).  A Notice 
of Exemption will not be filed. 
 

Attachment: 
1. Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of Completion 
 

Page 155



ATTACHMENT 1 

 
Recording Requested by: 
TOWN OF LOS GATOS  
 
 
WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 
 
CLERK ADMINISTRATOR 
TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
110 E MAIN ST 
LOS GATOS, CA 95030 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

(SPACE ABOVE BAR FOR RECORDER’S USE) 

 
(RECORD WITHOUT FEE UNDER GOVERNMENT CODE SECTIONS 27383 AND 6103)  

 
 

TYPE OF RECORDING 
CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE AND NOTICE OF COMPLETION 
PPW JOB NO. 18-813-0234 One-Way Downtown Street Pilot  

 
 

 
TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN: 
 
I do hereby certify that Chrisp Company completed the work called for in the agreement with 
the Town of Los Gatos dated June 10, 2019 The work is outlined in the Town’s bid process 
prepared by the Town of Los Gatos and generally consisted of furnishing all labor, materials, 
tools, equipment, and services required for completion of the PPW Job No. 18-813-0234 located 
in the TOWN OF LOS GATOS, County of Santa Clara, State of California and was completed, 
approved and accepted December 6, 2019. 
 
 
Bond No.:  57BCSID4344 
Date:  June 13, 2019 
  
  
      TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
        
                                                                        By: __________________________________ 
                                                                               Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 
 
 
Acknowledgement Required 
 
 

Page 156



 

 

AFFIDAVIT 
To Accompany Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of Completion 

PPW JOB NO. 18-813-0234 One-Way Downtown Street Pilot 
 

I, LAUREL PREVETTI, the Town Manager of the Town of Los Gatos, have read the foregoing 
CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE AND NOTICE OF COMPLETION and know the contents thereof.  The 
same is true of my own knowledge, except as to the matters which are therein alleged on 
information or belief, and as to those matters I believe it to be true. 
 
I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct, and that this declaration 
was executed on _____________________, 2020 at Los Gatos, California. 
 
 
 
    __________________________________________                                                                                                           

LAUREL PREVETTI, TOWN MANAGER  
    Town of Los Gatos 
 
    
RECOMMENDED BY: 
 
 
                                                            
                                                                                   Date: ____________________________ 
Matt Morley 
Director of Parks and Public Works 
                                                                                                    
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
                                                                         Date:   ____________________________ 
Robert Schultz, Town Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
Notary Jurat Required 

Page 157



 

PREPARED BY: Michelle Quinney 
 Interim Town Engineer 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Finance Director, and Director 
of Parks and Public Works 

   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 8/4/2020 

ITEM NO: 11  

 
   

 

DATE:   July 30, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manager to Execute a Certificate of Acceptance and 
Notice of Completion for the Work of Rosas Brothers Construction and 
Authorize Recording by the Town Clerk for PPW Job No. 19-813-9921 Annual 
Curb, Gutter, and Sidewalk Maintenance Project 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Authorize the Town Manager to execute a Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of Completion 
for the work of Rosas Brothers Construction and authorize recording by the Town Clerk for PPW 
Job No. 19-813-9921 Annual Curb, Gutter, and Sidewalk Maintenance Project. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Town’s adopted FY 2019/20-2023/24 Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Budget 
designated funding for this project.   
 
At the October 15, 2019 Town Council meeting, Council approved the plans and specifications 
for the Annual Curb, Gutter, and Sidewalk Maintenance Project and authorized the Town 
Manager to advertise the projects for bid and to award the project in an amount not to exceed 
the available construction budget of $1,237,841 including contingencies, and any change 
orders, to the lowest responsible bidder.   
 
The Town entered an agreement with Rosas Brother Construction for the work for the low bid 
of $835,532.   
 
 
 
 

Page 158



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT:  Authorize the Town Manager to Execute a Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of 

Completion for the Work of Rosas Brothers Construction and Authorize 
Recording by the Town Clerk 

DATE:         July 30, 2020 
 

   
 

DISCUSSION: 

Rosas Brothers Construction has satisfactorily completed all of the work for the project and 
staff recommends accepting the project.   
 
Five percent of the faithful performance bonds will remain in effect for a period of two years as 
a guarantee for any needed repair or replacement caused by defective materials and 
workmanship for each project.  The execution and recordation of the Certificate of Acceptance 
is now required to finalize the Town's acceptance of the project. 
 
CONCLUSION: 

Authorize the Town Manager to Execute a Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of Completion 
for the Work of Rosas Brothers Construction and Authorize Recording by the Town Clerk for 
PPW Job No. 19-813-9921 Annual Curb, Gutter, and Sidewalk Maintenance Project. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

The final construction costs totaled $918,107 for the work.  Project delivery costs, including 
staff, and design, have totaled $170,787. 
 
Staff costs are tracked for all projects.  Tracking of staff costs allows for accountability in the 
costs of projects, recovery of costs from grant funded projects, and identification of future 
staffing needs.  This project utilized full-time budgeted staff.  The costs for full-time staff are 
accounted for in the Department’s operating budget and will not be charged to this project. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 159



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT:  Authorize the Town Manager to Execute a Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of 

Completion for the Work of Rosas Brothers Construction and Authorize 
Recording by the Town Clerk 

DATE:         July 30, 2020 
 

   
 

FISCAL IMPACT (continued): 

 

Curb, Gutter, and Sidewalk Maintenance 

Project 813-9921 

  Budget Costs 

GFAR  $           1,373,934    

Total Budget  $           1,373,934    

      

Construction - Rosas Brothers     $      918,107.00  

Consultation Services    $           1,996.98  

Advertising    $              998.00  

Blueprint/Copy/Postage    $                76.00  

Staff Costs    $      167,716.00  

Total Expenditures    $        1,088,894  

      

Project Savings Not Including Staff Costs    $         285,040  

Estimated Staff Costs    $         167,716  

Project Savings Including Estimated Staff 
Costs 

   $         117,324  

 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is a project as defined under CEQA but is Categorically Exempt (Section 15301c).  A Notice 
of Exemption was previously filed. 
 

Attachment: 
1. Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of Completion 
 

Page 160



 
Recording Requested by: 
TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
 
 
WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 
 
CLERK ADMINISTRATOR 
TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
110 E MAIN ST 
LOS GATOS, CA 95030 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

(SPACE ABOVE BAR FOR RECORDER’S USE) 

 
(RECORD WITHOUT FEE UNDER GOVERNMENT CODE SECTIONS 27383 AND 6103)  

 
 
 TYPE OF RECORDING 

CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE AND NOTICE OF COMPLETION 
PPW JOB NO. 19-813-9921 Annual, Curb, Gutter, and Sidewalk Maintenance Project 

 
 

 
TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN: 
 
I do hereby certify that Rosas Brothers Construction completed the work called for in the 
agreement with the Town of Los Gatos dated October 15, 2019. The work is outlined in the 
Town’s bid process prepared by the Town of Los Gatos and generally consisted of furnishing all 
labor, materials, tools, equipment, and services required for completion of the PPW Job No. 19-
813-9921 located in the TOWN OF LOS GATOS, County of Santa Clara, State of California and was 
completed, approved and accepted August 4, 2020. 
 
 
Bond No.:  30083718 
Date:  December 5, 2019 
  
  
      TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
        
                                                                        By: __________________________________ 
                                                                               Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 
 
 
Acknowledgement Required 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 

Page 161



 

 

            AFFIDAVIT 
            To Accompany Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of Completion 

PPW JOB NO. 19-813-9921 Annual, Curb, Gutter, and Sidewalk Maintenance Project 
 
I, LAUREL PREVETTI, the Town Manager of the Town of Los Gatos, have read the foregoing 

CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE AND NOTICE OF COMPLETION and know the contents thereof.  The 
same is true of my own knowledge, except as to the matters which are therein alleged on 
information or belief, and as to those matters I believe it to be true. 
 
I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct and that this declaration 
was executed on _____________________, 2020 at Los Gatos, California. 
 
 
 
    __________________________________________                                                                                                           

LAUREL PREVETTI, TOWN MANAGER  
    Town of Los Gatos 
 
    
RECOMMENDED BY: 
 
 
                                                            
                                                                                   Date: ____________________________ 
Matt Morley 
Director of Parks and Public Works 
                                                                                                    
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
                                                                         Date:   ____________________________ 
Robert Schultz, Town Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
Notary Jurat Required 

Page 162



 

PREPARED BY: Jim Harbin 
 Superintendent 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Finance Director, and Director 
of Parks and Public Works 

   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 12 

 
   

 

DATE:   July 30, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manager to Execute a Fourth Amendment to the 
Agreement for Services with St. Francis Electric to Increase Compensation for 
Unforeseen Services in FY 2019/20 in an Amount of $12,818 and Extend 
Services for Four Months in FY 2020/21 in an Amount Not to Exceed $50,000 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Authorize the Town Manager to execute a Fourth Amendment to the Agreement for Services 
(Attachment 1) with St. Francis Electric to increase compensation for unforeseen services in FY 
2019/20 in an amount of $12,818, and extend services for four months in FY 2020/21 in an 
amount not to exceed $50,000. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Town of Los Gatos utilizes contractual traffic signal and streetlight maintenance services for 
Town-owned properties and rights of way.  Staff has determined that contractual services are 
the most cost-effective service delivery method for traffic signal and streetlight maintenance 
due to the technical nature, specialized and costly equipment, and right of way safety concerns. 
 
On May 5, 2015, Council authorized the Town Manager to execute an Agreement for Services 
with St. Francis Electric for maintenance and repair of traffic signals and streetlights and for 
Underground Service Alert (USA) locating (Attachment 2) with an effective date of July 1, 2015 
with options to extend through June 30, 2020 in an amount not to exceed $120,000 annually.  A 
first amendment to the agreement was approved in 2016 to increase compensation for traffic 
signal and streetlight repair services to $135,000 annually and added $10,000 due to 
unexpected repairs and increasing USA markings.  In 2017, a second amendment was made to 
add prevailing wage language and in 2018, a third amendment added $15,000 for unforeseen 
services in FY 2017/18. 

Page 163



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manager to Execute a Fourth Amendment to the Agreement 

for Services with St. Francis Electric to Increase Compensation for Unforeseen 
Services in FY 2019/20 in an Amount of $12,818, and Extend Services for Four 
Months in Fiscal Year 2020/21 in an Amount Not to Exceed $50,000 

DATE:  July 30, 2020 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The current not to exceed contract amount is $135,000 annually for routine maintenance and 
repair of traffic signals and streetlights, and for USA locating services.  In FY 2019/20, there 
were an increased number of unexpected traffic signal repairs and USA locating requests 
resulting in the contract amount being exceeded. 
 
In addition, the proposed contract extension with St. Francis Electric will allow staff the time 
necessary to issue a new request for proposal (RFP) for the traffic signal, streetlights, and USA 
locating services and bring a new contract recommendation to Town Council. 
 
St. Francis Electric has been maintaining Town traffic signals, streetlights, and USA locating 
requests for several years and have done a satisfactory job.  
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
The recommended action will allow for cleanup of the required work in the previous fiscal year 
and continued service in the current fiscal year pending the RFP outcome.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
Funds for these services have been appropriated in the Parks and Public Works annual 
operating budget for the respective fiscal years. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 
 
This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 
 
Attachments: 
1. Draft Fourth Amendment to Agreement for Services 
2. Agreement for Services Including Amendments 

Page 164



St. Francis Electric – Fourth Amendment to Agreement for Services 

Page 1 of 2 

 
 
 

FOURTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 
 

This FOURTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES is dated for identification this 
4th day of August 2020 and amends that certain third AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR 
SERVICES dated June 5, 2018, made by and between the TOWN OF LOS GATOS, ("Town,") and 
ST. FRANCIS ELECTRIC, (“Service Provider”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. Town and Service Provider entered into an Agreement for Services on July 1, 2015 
(“Agreement”), a  First Amendment on June 21, 2016, a Second on July 1, 2017, and a 
Third Amendment on June 5, 2018, copies of which are attached hereto and incorporated 
by reference as Attachment 1 to this Amendment. 

 
B. Town desires to amend the Agreement to extend the term of the agreement and increase 

the compensation of the agreement. 
 

AMENDMENT 
 

1. Section 2.3 Time of Performance is amended to read as follows:   
 

 This agreement will remain in effect through October 31, 2020. 
 

2. 2.6 Compensation is amended to read as follows: 
 

 Compensation for additional supplies and materials for Service Provider’s services  
for Fiscal Year 2019/20 shall be increased in an amount of $12,818. 

 Compensation for supplies and materials for Service Provider’s services from July 
1, 2020 through October 31, 2020 shall not exceed $50,000. 

 
3. All other terms and conditions of the Agreement remain in full force and effect. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 

Page 165



St. Francis Electric – Fourth Amendment to Agreement for Services 

Page 2 of 2 

 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Town and Service Provider have executed this Amendment. 
 
Town of Los Gatos by: St. Francis Electric, by: 
 
 
_______________________________ ______________________________ 
Laurel Prevetti                         
Town Manager    
 
Recommended by:      
 
 
__________________________________   
Matt Morley       
Director of Parks and Public Works  
 
Approved as to Form:  
 
 
__________________________________ 
Robert Schultz, Town Attorney 
 
Attest: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Shelley Neis, MMC, CPMC, Town Clerk 

Page 166



CLr - s- 1 ° AGR g•) a

IHH
THIRD AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES

This THIRD AMENDMENTTO AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES is dated for identification this 5tn
day of June 2018 and amends that certain SECOND AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES
dated July 1, 2017, made by and between the TOWN OF LOS GATOS, ( "Town, ") and ST. FRANCIS
ELECTRIC, ( " Service Provider"). 

RECITALS

A. Town and Service Provider entered into an Agreement for Services on July 1, 2015
Agreement "), a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as

Attachment 1 to this Amendment. 

B. Town and Service Provider entered into a First Amendment to Agreement for Services on

June 21, 2016 ( "Agreement'), a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated by
reference as Attachment 2 to this Amendment. 

C. Town and Service Provider entered into a Second Amendment to Agreement for Services

on July 1, 2017 ( " Agreement'), a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated by
reference as Attachment 3 to this Amendment. 

Town desires to amend the Agreement to increase the compensation of the agreement for
FY 2017/ 18. 

AMENDMENT

1. Section 2. 6 Compensation is amended to read as follows: 

Additional compensation for unforeseen services in Fiscal Year 2017/ 18 shall not
exceed $ 15, 000, for a total annual contract amount not to exceed $ 150,OOOforthis
year only. 

2. All other terms and conditions of the Agreement remain in full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Town and Supplier have executed this Amendment. 

Town of Los Gatos by: St. Francis Electric, by: 

Laurel Prevetti

Town Manager

Recommended by: Approved as to Form: 

M tt Morley Schultz e/ 

Director of Parks and Public W s 4911 Town Attorney

St. Francis Electric — Third Amendment to Agreement for Services

ATTACHMENT 2
Page 167



CLERK DEPARTNItNT

PURCHASE AND SERVICE AGREEMENT ' 4 ° rthJ.l2zj
THIS AGREEMENT is dated for identification this I` of July, 2015 and iMad r • 

w4il__ 
TOWN OF LOS GATOS, a California municipal corporation, ( " TowrFJcand CT NRA N.CIS
ELECTRIC, ( " Supplier "), whose address is 975 Carden Street, San Leaf- r' A 94 77 This
Agreement is made with reference to the following facts. °" "° 

I. RECITALS

1. 1 The Town desires to engage Supplier to provide annual traffic signal and street light
maintenance and repair services. 

1. 2 Supplier represents that it is a qualified and competent supplier of the items to be purchased
under this Agreement. 

1. 3 The Supplier represents and affirms that it is qualified and willing to perform the desired
work pursuant to this Agreement. 

II. AGREEMENTS

2. 1 Time of the Essence. Prompt installation of items and materials is essential to this
Agreement. 

2. 2 Scone of Services. Supplier shall provide supplies and services as described in that certain
Request for Proposals dated March 10, 2015 which is hereby incorporated by reference and
attached as " Exhibit A" and that certain Proposal dated April 7, 2015, which is hereby
incorporated by reference and attached as " Exhibit B ". 

2. 3 Time of Performance. This Agreement will remain in effect from July 1, 2015 to June 30. 
2016. The Town may extend the term of this Agreement up to four ( 4) additional one -year
periods, through June 30, 2020, on the same terms and conditions as in effect and subject to
Town Council budget appropriations for the scope of services. 

2. 4 Compliance with Laws. The Supplier shall comply with all applicable laws, codes, 
ordinances, and regulations of governing federal, state and local laws. Supplier represents
and warrants to Town that it has all licenses, permits, qualifications and approvals of
whatsoever nature which are legally required for Supplier to practice its profession. 
Supplier shall maintain a Town of Los Gatos business license pursuant to Chapter 14 of the
Code of the Town of Los Gatos. 

2. 5
Sole Responsibility. Supplier shall be responsible for employing or engaging all persons
necessary to perform the services under this Agreement. 

2. 6 Information/ Renort Handling. All documents furnished to Supplier by the Town and all
reports and supportive data prepared by the Supplier under this Agreement are the Town' s
property and shall be delivered to the Town upon the completion of Supplier' s services or at
the Town' s written request. All reports, information, data, and exhibits prepared or

ATTACHMENT 1Page 168



assembled by Supplier in connection with the performance of its services pursuant to this
Agreement are confidential until released by the Town to the public, and the Supplier shall
not make any of the these documents or information available to any individual or
organization not employed by the Supplier or the Town without the written consent of the

Town before sueb release. The Town acknowledges that the reports to be prepared by the
Supplier pursuant to this Agreement are for the purpose of evaluating a defined project, and
Town' s use of the information contained in the reports prepared by die Supplier in
connection with other projects shall be solely at Town' s risk, unless Supplier expressly
consents to such use in writing. Town further agrees that it will not appropriate any
methodology or technique of Supplier which is and has been confirmed in writing by
Supplier to be a trade scow of Supplier. 

2. 7 COMPMaton. Compensation for the supplies and materials delivered and for supplier' s
professional services shall not exceed $ 120 000 annually, inclusive of all costs. Payment

Me

shall be based upon Town approval of each tas . 

2. 8 Bil i . Billing shall be by invoice within thirty ( 30) days of the rendering of the services
and shall be accompanied by a detailed explanation of the work performed by whom at
what rate and on what date. Also, plans, specifications, documents or other pertinent

materials shall be submitted for Town review, even if only in partial or draft form, 

Payment shall be net thirty ( 30) days. All invoices and statements to the Town shall be
addressed as follows: 

Invoices: 

Town of Los Gatos

Attn: Accounts Payable

P. O. Box 655

Los Gatos, CA 95031 - 0655

2. 9 Availability of Records. Supplier shall maintain the records supporting this billing for not
less than three years following completion of the work under this Agreement. Supplier
shall make these records available to authorized personnel of the Town at the Supplier' s

offices during business hours upon written request of the Town. 

2. 10 Assignability and Subcontracting. The services to be performed under this Agreement are
unique and personal to the Supplier. No portion of these services shall be assigned or
subcontracted without the written consent of the Town. 

2. 11 lndegandent Contractor. It is understood that the Supplier, in the performance of the work
and services agreed to be performed, shall act as and be an independent contractor and not
an agent or employee of the Town. As an independent contractor hefshe shall not obtain

any rights to retirement benefits or other benefits which accrue to Town employee( s). With
prior written consent, the Supplier may perform some obligations under this Agreement by
subcontracting, but may not delegate ultimate responsibility foz performance or assign or
transfer interests under this Agreement. Supplier agrees to testify in any litigation brought
regarding the subject of the work to be performed under this Agreement. Supplier shall be

Page 169



compensated for its costs and expenses in preparing for, traveling to, and testifying in such
matters at its then current hourly rates of compensation, unless such litigation is brought by
Supplier or is based on allegations of Supplier's negligent performance or wrongdoing. 

2. 12 Conflict of Interest. Supplier understands that its professional responsibilities are solely to
the Town. The Supplier has and shall not obtain any holding or interest within the Town of
Los Gatos. Supplier has no business holdings or agreements with any individual member of
the Staff- or management of the Town or its representatives nor shall it enter into any such
holdings or agreements. In addition, Supplier warrants that it does not presently and shall
not acquire any direct or indirect interest adverse to those of the Town in the subject of this
Agreement, and it shall immediately disassociate itself from such an interest, should it
discover it has done so and shall, at the Town' s sole discretion, divest itself of such interest. 
Supplier shall not knowingly and shall take reasonable steps to ensure that it does not
employ a person having such an interest in this performance of this Agreement. If after
employment of a person, Supplier discovers it has employed a person with a direct or
indirect interest that would conflict with its performance of this Agreement, Supplier shall
promptly notify Town of this employment relationship, and shall, at the Town' s sole
discretion, sever any such employment relationship. 

2. 13 Equal Emoloyment Opportunity Supplier warrants that it is an equal opportunity employer
and shall comply with applicable regulations governing equal employment opportunity. 
Neither Supplier nor its subcontractors do and neither shall discriminate against persons
employed or seeking employment with them on the basis of ago, sex, color, race, marital
status, sexual orientation, ancestry, physical or mental disability, national origin, religion, or
medical condition, unless based upon a bona fide occupational qualification pursuant to the
California Fair Employment & Housing Act. 

111. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION

3. 1 Minimum Scope of insurance: 

Supplier agrees to have and maintain, for the duration of the contract, 
General Liability insurance policies insuring him/ her and his/ her firm to an
amount not less than: one million dollars ($ 1, 000, 000) combined single limit
per occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage. 

ii. Supplier agrees to have and maintain for the duration of the contract, an
Automobile Liability insurance policy ensuring him/her and his/her staff to
an amount not less than one million dollars ($ 1, 000,000) combined single
limit per accident for bodily injury and property damage. 

iii. Supplier shall provide to the Town all certificates of insurance, with original
endorsements effecting coverage. Supplier agrees that all certificates and
endorsements are to be received and approved by the Town before work
commences. 

Page 170



iv. Supplier agrees to have and maintain, for the duration of the contract, 

professional liability insurance in amounts not less than i 1, 000, 000 which is
sufficient to insure Supplier for professional errors or omissions in the
performance of the particular scope of work under this agreement. 

General Liability: 

The Toxin, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers are to be covered

as insured as respects: liability arising out of activities performed by or on
behalf of the Supplier, products and completed operations of Supplier, 

premises owned or used by the Supplier. This requirement does not apply to
the professional liability insurance required for professional errors and
omissions. 

ii. The Suppliers insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respects the

Town, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers. Any insurance or
self- insurances maintained by the Town, its officers, officials, employees or
volunteers shall be excess of the Supplier' s insurance and shall not contribute
with it. 

iii. Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies shall not
affect coverage provided to the Town, its officers, officials, employees or

volunteers. 

iv. The Supplier' s insurance shall apply separately to each insured against whom
a claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of the
insurer' s liability. 

3. 2 All Coverat es. Each insurance policy required in this item shall be endorsed to state that
coverage shall not be suspended, voided, cancelled, reduced in coverage or in limits except

after thirty ( 30) days' prior written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, has
been given to the Town. Current certification of such insurance shall be kept on file at all

times during the term of this agreement with the Town Clerk Administrator. 

3. 3 Workers' Compensation. In addition to these policies, Supplier shall have and maintain
Workers' Compensation insurance as required by California law and shall provide evidence
of such policy to the Town before beginning services under this Agreement. Further, 
Supplier shall ensure that all subcontractors employed by Supplier provide the required
Workers' Compensation insurance for their respective employees. 

3. 4 Indemnification. The Supplier shall save, keep, Bold harmless and indemnify and defend
the Town its officers, agent, employees and volunteer; from all damages, liabilities, 

penalties, costs, or expenses in law or equity that may at any time arise or be set up because
of damages to property or personal injury received by reason of, or in the course of
performing work which may be occasioned by a willful or negligent act or omissions of the
Supplier, or any of the Suppliers officers, employees, or agents or any sub - contractor. 

Page 171



IV. GENERAL TERMS

4. 1 Waiver. No failure on the part of either party to exercise any right or remedy hereunder
shall operate as a waiver of any other right or remedy that party may have hereunder, nor
does waiver of a breach or default under this Agreement constitute a continuing waiver of a
subsequent breach of the same or any other protdsion of this Agreement. 

4. 2 Severability. If any term of this Agreement is held invalid by a coup of competent
jurisdiction, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in effect. 

4. 3 Warranty. Supplier shall remedy any defects due to faulty materials and/ or workmanship
and pay for any damages to other work and /or existing facilities resulting therefrom which
shall appear within a period of one year from the date of recording of final acceptance. 

4. 4 Governing Lbw. This Agreement, regardless of where executed, shall be governed by and
construed to the laws of the State of California. Venue for any action regarding this
Agreement shall be in the Superior Court of the County of Santa Clara. 

4. 5 Termination of Agreement. The Town and the Supplier shall have the right to terminate
this agreement %Oth or without cause by giving not less than fifteen days ( 15) written notice
of termination. In the event of termination, the Supplier shall deliver to the Town all
supplies and services scheduled to be delivered to Town within that fifteen ( 15) day period. 

4. 6 Amendment. No modification, waiver, mutual termination, or amendment of this
Agreement is effective unless made in writing and signed by the Town and the Supplier. 

4, 7 Disputes. In any dispute over any aspect of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be
entitled to reasonable attorney's fees, including costs of appeal. 

4. 8 Notices. Any notice required to be given shall be deemed to be duly and properly given if
mailed postage prepaid, and addressed to: 

Town of Los Gatos St. Francis Electric
Attn: Town Clerk Attn: Monica Kint
110 E. Main Street 975 Carden Street
Los Gatos, CA 95030 San Leandro, CA 94577

OR personally delivered to Supplier to such address or such other address as Supplier
designates in writing to Town. 

4. 9 Order of Precedence. In the event of any conflict, contradiction, or ambiguity between the
terms and conditions of this Agreement in respect of the Products or Services and any
attachments to this Agreement, then the terms and conditions of this Agreamenl shall
prevail over attachments or other writings. 

Page 172



4, 10 Entire A cement, This Agreement, including all Exhibits, constitutes the complete and
exclusive statement of the Agreement between the Town and Supplier. No terms, 
conditions, understandings or agreements purporting to modify or vary this Agreement
unless hereafter made in writing and signed by the party to be bound, shall be binding on
either party. 

IN Wt7NESS WHEREOF, the TO-Wn and Supplier have executed this Agreement. 
Town of Los Ge s bye

q
Les White, term, Town Manage

St. Francis Electric, by: 

Recoed h

Matt Morley Director of tka nd Public Title
Works

Approved as to Form: 

Robcn Schu own Attotmey

Page 173



4. 10 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including all Exhibits; constitutes the complete and
exclusive statement of the Agreement between the Town and Supplier. No terms, 
conditions, understandings or agreements purporting to modify or vary this Agreement, 
unless hereafter made in writing and signed by the party to be bound, shall be binding on
either pan y. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Town and Supplier have executed this Agreement, 

Town of Los Gatos by: 

Les t , Interim o S' Manager

Recommended by: 

Matt Morley, Director of Parks and Public
Works

Approved as to Form: 

Robert Schultz, Town Attorney

St. Francis Electric, by: 

Title

Page 174



TO WN OF LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS

FOR

PROJECT 14 -5401 - 63364

LIGHTING AND TRAFFIC SIGNAL MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR SERVICE

Marcb 10, 2015

PROPOSAL DUE BY: 

April 7. 2015. 3: 00 p. m. 

In the

Town of Los Gatos

Parks & Public Works Department
41 Miles Avenue

Los Gatos, CA 95030

6X1IIBIT A

Page 175



Section Title

Notice Inviting Proposers

Distribution List

Proposal Form

Contract Specifications

Attachment A List of Street Lights

Attachment B List of Parking Lot Lights

Attachment C List of Signalized Intersections

Attachment D Service Form — Street Light

Attachment h Service Form - Traffic Signal Monthly Maintenance

Attachment F Service Form — Traffic Signal UPS

Attachment G Service Form - Traffic Signal Call -0ut Repair

Attachment H Town Standard Specifications

Insurance Requirements

Page 176



NOTICE INVITING PROPOSERS

March 9, 2015

Dear Contractors

The Town of Los Gatos is issuing this Request for Proposals ( RFP) for Street Lighting
and Traffic Signal Preventive Maintenance and Repair Services. If you are interested in
contracting with the Town to provide the services, please respond to this RFP no later
than April 7. 2015 by 3: 00 p. mt at the Parks and Public Works Department at 41 Miles
Avenue, Los Gatos, CA 95030. 

Ovenlew

The Town of Los Gatos is seeking proposals from qualified contractors to provide a
comprehensive Street Lighting and Traffic Signal Preventive Maintenance and Repair
Program for a one -year period with an option to extend the contract up to four ( 4) 
additional years. Siemens has been providing the maintenance service for the Town for
the past 12+ years. 

Proposal Format

Proposals shall be made on the Proposal Form included in this Request for Proposals. 
Proposers shall enter all requested information in the appropriate spaces on the Proposal
Form. No oral, telephone, facsimile or electronic proposals will be accepted. All costs of
proposal preparation shall be borne by the proposer, 

Five ( 5) copies of the proposal shall be submitted to the Town no later than April 7. 2015
by 3: 00 P. m. addressed as follows: 

lessy Pu, Traffic Engineer
Town of Los Gatos

Parks and Public Works Department
41 Miles Avenue

Los Gatos, CA 95030

Evaluation Criteria

The following criteria will be used by the Town in evaluating proposals. 

1. Qualification and experience of the identified key technician( s). 
2. Contractor' s equipment, facilities, and previous experience for the specified

services for municipalities. 

3. Ability to perform the service in the required manner and time frame. 
4. Reference recommendations. 

5. Contractor' s understanding and approach towards providing services to the
Town of Los Gains and other agencies. 

Page 177



6. Costs, 

Business License

The successful proposer must either possess a current, valid Town of Los Gatos business
license or must have submitted e Town of Los Gatos business license application and fee
at the time of award. 

Insuraoc_ eCovcrag

Contractor shall procure and maintain insurance against claims for the duration of the
Contract. A copy of the insurance requirements is attached. 

Scone of Work

The street lighting, trail/ parks /parking lot lights, and traffic signal preventive
maintenance and repair services involve ongoing and regular Geld preventive
maintenance and repair of street lights, parking lot lights, and traffic signals and other
related equipment by licensed oontracior( s) with properly trained, experienced and
qualified personnel. This includes approximately 1603 street lights, H9 parking lot
fights, and 30 traffic signals ( including a new traffic signal to be constructed within a few
months) which are listed in Attachment A and B, and C. The contract scope of worst also
includes a USA ( Underground Service Alen) locating and marking service. 

The contract( s) which may result from this Request for Proposals may include all or
portion of, and may not be limited to, the following provisions: 

Street Liehts

The Town seeks a contractor for the on -going maintenance and repair service of
approximately 1, 603 Town owned street lights. 

Provide 24 -how on -call services for repair of street light outages and 24 -hour
phone service taking light outage calls. 
Perform night check for light outage. 

4 Response to and repair of trouble calls within the specified time. 
Installation of ligbts, as requested. 

4 Regular submission to the Town of accurately maintained and detailed work
records. 

Traffic Signal

The Town seeks a contractor for the routine preventive maintenance and repair service
for 30 traffic signals. 

4 Monthly preventive maintenance of all traffic signals. 

Page 178



Repair and replacement of any traffic signal control devices, as requested. 
Regular submission to the Town of accurate activity records and reports of any
and all work and service calls related to the Town' s traffic signals. 

Response to all service requests in a timely manner. 

Parking Lot Lights

The Town seeks a contractor for ongoing maintenance and repair service of ) 19 lights in
the Town parking lots. 

Perform night check. 

Response to and repair light. 

Regular submission to the Town of accurately maintained work records. 

USA ( Underground Service Alert) Locating and Marking

The Town seeks a contractor for the locating and marking of Town' s underground
lighting and signal circuits. 

Petalled Protect Soeeifimtions

See attached -' Contract Specifications" for detailed project specifications. 

Contract Price

A. First Year

As full compensation for furnishing all materials and equipment and for doing all
the work contemplated and embraced, the Town shall pay the amount specified by
the contractor pursuant to the signed agreement. 

B. Successive Years

One year from the date of the signed agreement, and each anniversary thereafter, 
the monthly price paid for such services shall be adjusted according to the percent
change in the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer
Price Index, All hems, All Urban Consumers, San Francisco - Oakland -San Jose, 
198 ? -84 -100 Index. The contrector shall be responsible for submitting a written
notice no later than sixty (60) days prior to anniversary requesting an adjustment
to the current index. This index shall be used to calculate and determine annual
costs. 

C. Town Council Budget Discretion

The authority to determine annual budgets for the Town is vested by law with the
Town of Los Gatos Town Council. Nothing in the agreement shall bind the Town
Council to budget funds in successive fiscal years for payment of services under

Page 179



the signed agreement. The TwAnDepartmeni reserves the right to terminate the
signed agreement without consequences, in the event the Town Council
determines in the future not to budget funds for the agreement. 

TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT: 

If awarded, the contract will remain in effect lulu 1. 2015 through June 30. 2016, with an
option of extending the agreement up to four ( 4) additional one ( 1) year periods provided
that the Town provides an annual written notice of the intent to extend the agreement

Proposer Oualifications

Proposers shall possess a valid California State Contractor' s License, either Class " A" or
Class " C -10" throughout with contract terms, including extensions, if any, and shall be
experienced performing similar services of similar scope for other public agencies. 

Compensation

The Town reserves the right to reject any or all proposals, wholly or in part, received by
reason of this RFP. All costs incurred by the consultant due to developing their proposal
shall be borne by the consultant. 

The contract for these services shall be subject to payment of prevailing wages pursuant
to California Labor Code section 1770, et seq. 

For any questions regarding this RFP, please contact Jassy Pu, Town Traffic Engineer at
408) 395. 2859. Requests for information of clarification must be received at least ten
10) calendar days before proposals are due in order to prepare and distribute a response. 

The Town will interview with die top ranked contracior( s) and negotiate contracts) to
provide the services. 

Sincerely, 

Jessy Pu, T.E., P. E. 
Traffic Engineer

Page 180



Distribution List

Cal West

Craig Gcis
PO Box 612035

San Jose, CA 95161 - 2035

Siemens

Adam Sanchez

79 Mitchell Blvd

San Rafael, CA 94901

Team Econolfte

3390 De La Cruz, Unit R
Santa Clara, CA 95054

Bear Electrical Solutions
Robert Asuncion

1341 Archer Street

P. O. Box 924

Alviso, CA 95002

St. Francis Electric

Joshua Bailey
P.O. Box 2057
San Leandro, CA 94577

Page 181



CONTRACT SPECIFICATIONS ( 0311012015) 

A. SERVICES

1015

The Contractor shall provide ongoing and field maintenance and repair of street lights, parking lot
lights, USA ( Underground Service Alen) marking, and traffic signal equipment by duly trained and
qualified personnel. 

The Contractor shall provide and maintain emergency service response on a 24 -hour a day, 7 days
per week basis, including all holidays, utilizing trucks equipped with radio dispatch andlor cellular
communication capabilities, warning beacon/ strobe lights; traffic cones; construction warning signs; a
hydraulic bucket capable of reaching a height of 40 feet from the roadway surface; proper lighting for
illuminating the work area at night: necessary computer laptop for programming, maintenance and
testing of traffic signal controllers and various equipment. MI of the required equipment shell be
Properly maintained and functional 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. Including holidays. 

The Contractor ensure that any vehicle used within the boundaries of the Town of Los Gatos where
lane closures or work within the travel lanes is required shall be equipped with an arrow board, 
warning beecons/ strobe fights, the proper quantity and sized cones for a lone closure, and advance
warning signs. All of the Contractor's employees working within the boundaries of the Town shall be
equipped with a communication device capable of instant 2-way communications for extended
periods of time with the Contractor' s shop or with Town staff. 

The Contractor shell have available, and readily sc essible in functioning order, at required tools, 
equipment, apparatus, facilities, and materials needed to perform all work necessary to maintain and
repair the street lights, traffic signals, and psrkArail / parking lot lights listed in Attachments A, B, and C
in compliance with current State and Town standards and specifications and National Electric Code
NEC). 

The Contractor is required to provide a 24- hour phone service for taking cads for reported inoperable
signals and lighting. All calls shell be logged by Contractor. The Contractor shall respond to rail outs, 
Inspect, verity, identity problems, and perform necessary repek per the contract requirements. All
calls shall be entered into computer. 

The Contractor shall provide traffic control, lane closures, sidewalk closure and/or detour that conform
to the State and Town requirements. During emergency conditions, the Contractor shall assure iwl
cooperation with the Town of Los Gatos. 

Street Lights

Maintain all street lights ( including street lighting, and intersection safety fighting) owned by the Town
in an operable and safe condition. Respond to call outs for outage, missing pole tag, missing hand
hole cover, and any unsafe or inoperable condition. The PG&E owned street lights ( typically mounted
on wood or utility poles) are not part of the contract. 

All reported Inoperable lights shall be serviced and repeired within fire ( 5) working days or less. The
five working days shall be measured beginning the fast full day following receipt of the outage report. 
When the inoperable lights are reported for pedestrian crosswalks, it shell be repaired before dark at
the next day. When performing street fighting service, Contractor shall complete the Town' s street
light service form and report findings to Town staff. A copy of the street light service form is attached
in Attachment D. All calls and services shell be entered into computer. An electronic file of repair
records shall be submitted to Town staff for review monthly. 

The Contractor Is required to have on staff and available to perform Services under this contract, 
designated for the Town of Los Gatos, a lighting/electrical technician with a minimum of five years' of
experience In street lighting repairs. The technician shall have experience with the operation, 

Page 182



2015

maintenance, and repair of street lights. The technician shag also have knowledge and experience of
operation, maintenance, and repair of electrical service. 

A complete inventory of street lights ( based on PG &E database) is available al Parks and Public
Works Department. A summary table for the number and type of street lights Is included as
Attachment A. Town standard street light poles are Oetafmle. Other street light standards that may be
found in Town are Type 15, Octagonal, and other decorative poles. It will be the Contractor's
responsibility to verify to the extent necessary the accuracy of the inventory. 

Town will provide a copy of street light map to the Contractor for use. It will be the Contractor' s
responsibility to verily the accuracy of the map. Contractor shall verify and mark street light pole and
electric service locations on the street light map during maintenance/ repair service and provide a
copy to Town for updating the map. Contractor shag tog all light poles, ff pole ID tags are missing or
not apparently visible, in accordance with Town and PG& E requirements. 

Traffic 6ianal

Provide ongoing and routine preventive maintenance and repair of traffic signal equipment, 
associated lighting, and other pertinent apparatus by duly trained and qualified personnel. A list of
Town traffic signals is shown in Attachment C. 

The Contractor is required to have on staff and available to perform Services under this contract, 
designated for the Town of Los Gatos, a Traffic Signal Technician with a minimum of five years' of
experience in traffic signal repairs. The Traffic Signal Technician shall have experence with the

Operation and maintenance of Econolite, and various NEMA controllers currently in use by the Town
of Los Gatos. The Traffic Signal Technician shall also hove knowledge and experience of the
operation and maintenance of Inductive traffic bops, video detection systems, emergency vehicle
preemption devices, twisted pair Interconnect and fiber optic cables. The Traffic Signal Technician
shelf keep lb to dale on the operation and maintenance of all slate -oHtre -art traffic signal control
device and related equipment to ensure that the Town's needs will also be supported in the future. 
The Traffic Signal Technician shall also be familiar with and adhere to national and State standards
for programming traffic signal controllers. 

The Contractor shall furnish temporary replacement traffic signal conlrollers, preemption units, traffic
signal communications and monitoring equipment, detector amplifiers, conflict monitors, video
detection systems, power supplies, and various other standard traffic signal equipment. Contractor
famished temporary spares shall be identical to the component being replaced in manufacture, snake
and model. The Contractor shall deviate from this requirement only upon written advance approval
from the Town. The Contractor shag provide the temporary equipment at no additional charge to the
Town whenever the original units are removed for repair or servicing. 

Psi inciLotuahts

Maintain lighting In Town' s parking lots in an operable and sale condition. These lights are mounted
on poles, bollarde, wells, or garage ceiling. Respond to can outs for outage, missing pole tag, missing
hand hole cover, broken fixture, broken bollard, and any unsafe or inoperable condition. 

All reported inoperable lights shall be serviced and repaired within five ( 5) working days or less. The
five working days shag be measured beginning the first full day following receipt 01 the outage report. 
When performing lighting service, Contractor shall complete the Town's street light service tone and
report findings to Town staff. A copy of the street light service form Is attached in Attachment D. All
calls and services shag be entered Into computer. An electronic fie of repair records shall be
submitted to Town Keg for review monthly. 

The Contractor is required to have on staff and available to perform Services under this contract, 
designated for the Town of Los Gatos. a lighting/ electneel technician with a minimum of five years' of
experience In lighting repairs. The technician shall have experience with the operation, maintenance, 

Page 183



2015

and repair of lights. The technician shall also have knowledge end experience of operation, 

maintenance, and repair of electrical service. 

A complete inventory of lights is available at Parks and Public Works Department as shown in
Attachment B. The contractor is required to field locale the lights, prepare a map of the light and
service locations, and install identification tags for each of the lights within the first two months of the
contract. 

Nioirt Check

Perform a quarterly night check for outages and malfunctions of lighting and illuminated signs for the
parking lots and the following streets: Los Gatos Boulevard, Main Street, Winchester Boulevard, 
Santa Cruz Avenue, Blossom Hill Road. Lark Avenue, Los Gatos Saratoga Road, Los Gatos
Almaden Road, Pollard Road, and Knowles Drive. Also perform night check for problem locations as

needed as directed by Town staff. A copy of report with the results of night check shall be submitted
to Town within a week from night check. 

USA (Underaround Service Alert/ 

Provide USA locating and marking service for Town' s electrical circuits such as street lights, parking
lot lights, traffic signals, signal interconnect, fiber optic communication lines, and other Town owned

public lighting. 

S. TRAFFIC SIGNAL PREVENTIVE MAINT

The Contractor shall perform routine preventive maintenance service to eliminate or reduce any

incidence of malfunctions and complaints, and to maximize the useful life of the Town' s traffic signal

equipment including and may not be limited to signalized intersections. 

The Contractor shall provide monthly preventive maintenance for the signalized intersections listed in
Attachment C. The Contractor shall complete Preventive Maintenance Checklists ( Attachment E & F) 
for each maintenance inspection and shall Indicate the work performed or required for each item. The

Contractor shall maintain one copy of the completed form for each intersection and for each
inspection in the controller cabinet and In the Contractors business office throughout the term of this
contract

The monthly maintenance service shall be performed within the same week of every month for each
intersection. Between any two monthly maintenance services shall not be closer than three weeks for
each intersection. The Contractor shall notify Town staff the scheduled date for preventive
maintenance service at least one week prior to performing the service. 

When the conflict monitor test is performed, the Contractor shall maintain three copies of the full field

test results. One copy shad be left in the traffic signal controller cabinet, one copy shall be
maintained at the Contmetoi s business office, and one copy shall be sent to the Town. 

II is understood and agreed that failure on the part of the Contractor to perform monthly preventive

maintenance as requited by this contract will cause the Town to suffer an unasoartainable amount of
damage. Therefore, the Contractor sprees to pay to the Town, not as a penalty but as liquidated
damages, the amount of $ 500 per calendar day that the intersection Is overdue for monthly
preventative maintenance. The total amount of liquidated damages will be totaled and deducted from
the monthly invoice payment. 

C. TRAFFIC SIGNAL EQUIPMENT

The Contractor shall repair, replace or otherwise render in good working order any and all defective
pans of all traffic signal control equipment. Whenever the Contractor replaces any defective parts on
either a temporary and/or permanent basis, the Contractor shall identify the parts being replaced by
manufacturers make, model, and senel number, and the locations of Installation. Further, the

Page 184



2015

Contractor shall only use new pans for permanent replacement. Exceptions to this requirement shall
only occur on an individual basis upon advance written approval from the Town. 

No permanent changes of traffic signal control devices shall be done without prior written approval

from the Town. Whenever any traffic signal equipment Is removed /replaced/ modihed, the Contractor
shall notify the Town by telephone within two hours of the change, followed by written notification to
the Town within one week. Furthermore, any changes shall also be Indicated on the maintenance or
repair log within the traffic signal controller cabinet. The Contractor agrees to notify the Tam in
advance of any planned or scheduled traffic signal tumoffshum• ons necessitated by the Contractors
operations. The Contractor shall make tum- offsAurnons of traffic signals only upon prior written
approval by the Town. 

All traffic signal control equipment shell be maintained in accordance with the manufacturer' s
recommendations. When the traffic signal equipment becomes obsolete or deteriorated to ft point

of being beyond reasonable or cost effective repair, the Contractor shall report such conditions to the
Town and provide satisfactory evidence that replacements are necessary. The Contractor shall
prepare estimates showing the cost breakdown of materials and labor for replacement of such traffic
signal equipment and submit this information to the Town. 

Wten Incandescent (a any non -LED) signal lamps are burned out they shall be replaced with LED
modules unless otherwise approved by Town staff. Signal LED modules shall be replaced when the
light output and degradation fails specifications or when more than five percent of LED' s are not

working properly, such as burned out or flickering. 

D. NEW INSTALLATIONS OR DEL

The Contractor dell maintain any niew street lighting. and traffic signal equipment, which are Installed
for the Town throughout the term of the contract. These devices will be deemed to be added to the
contract when the Town notifies the Contractor of the installation thereof. These added equipment or

devices, regardless of the complexity of the technology shell be maintained In the same manner and
for the same fist rate as those devices already covered by the contract. 

Should responsibility for the maintenance of any current or future lighting or traffic signal device
cease to be the Town's, the Town will noity the Contractor in writing of the Iasi date to perform
maintenance. The flat rate maintenance for any such effected device shall be prorated on the basis
of the number of days that device was maintained by the Contractor. 

E, WAPIRA

Contractor shall manage all fighting and traffic signal related materials and devices under warranty. 
During the manufacturer' s warranty period, the Contractor shall be responsible for making contact
with the equipment manufacturer regarding any service determined to be under warranty. The
Contractor shag replace the warranted materiels ( or replace with temporary equipment pending
replacement material from manufacturer) without any charges to Town. 

A minimum of twelve- ( 12) month warranty shall apply to all work and matorialc Installed by
Contractor. During the Contractors warranty period, the Contractor shall be responsible for repairing
and /or replacing the equipment without any charges to Town. The warrantee on he repaired or
replaced equipment shall again commence with the date of repair or replacement of equipment. 

A minimum of three. ( 3) month warranty shall apply to all temporary replacement installed by
Contractor. During the warranty period, the Contractor shall be responsible for repairing and/or
replacing the equipment without any charges to Town. The warrantee on he repaired or replaced
equipment shall again commence with the date of repair or replacement of equipment. 

Page 185



2015

The Contractor shall have adequate shop and storage facilities. This facility shall house the
necessary staff, traffic signal poles, signals, traffic signal controllers, traffic signal mmmunications
devices, LEDs, controller cabinets, service cabinets, wiring, pullboxes, pullbox lids, and other
necessary materials and vehicular equipment to perform all maintenance required and to perform

temporary and permanent repair of accident damage to traffic signal equlpment/devlces. This facility
shall also be equipped to perform twenty -one day bench test of traffic signal controller cabinets in
accordance o Caltrans and Town specifications. 

The Contractor shall maintain a single local telephone number during the entire term of the contract
where he /she or a designated representative can be reached 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. 

The Contractor shall also maintain and provide direct phone numbers, cellular phone numbers, fax
numbers, and email addresses of various pertinent staff /employees with which the Town can maintain

regular and direct contact with regarding billing, estimating, service calls, status reports, scheduling, 
testing of equipment, and various other Issues. 

G. EMERGENCY SERVIC

When notified of any traffic signet device malfunction, failure, loss of indication, accident damage, 
construction damage, or any emergency traffic signal service call, the Contractor shall respond and
be at the location within one hour following notification from the Town. 

In the event of a knockdown, the Contractor shall provide temporary emergency replacement of a
type acceptable to the Town until permanent repeks can be accomplished. The Contractor shall
Install a temporary device appropriate for the situation and consult with the Town to identify a
permanent replacement. Required replacement of equipment will require prior written approval from
the Town before such replacements ere commenced in conjunction with an emergency call. 

In the case of a JAJIB, pedestrian push button pole, or street light pole knock -down where the
foundation and anchor bolts are soul Intact, the Contractor shall make all necessary repairs with
necessary new equipment to return the pole to its original, undamaged condition upon the initial
response. No additional compensation shall be provided for subsequent work to the original damage. 

At any time the Contractor is notified of an emergency situation by the Town, CHIP, County Sheriff or
other duly recognized authority, the Contractor shall immediately notify the designated contact staff at
the Parks and Public Works Department the emergency call. 

Upon completion of the response to the emergency call, the Contractor shall notiy the appropriate
Town staff by telephone and/or email the status of ft emergency work. In addition, the Contractor
shall notify the Town in writing within one week of the completion of the repair work. In the event a
follow -up permanent repair is required, the Contractor shall submit a cost proposal to Town staff
within a week from the emergency response. 

It is understood and agreed that failure on the pan of the Contractor to respond within one hour to any
emergency service call as provided will cause the Town to suffer an unescenainable amount of
damage. Therefore, the Contractor agrees to pay to the Town, not as a penalty but as liquidated
damages, the amount of $500 per hour. The time for such liquidated damages shoo commence from
the first hour after the required response time for emergency service calls Indicated In the previous
sections. The total amount of liquidated damages wit be totaled and deducted from the monthly
Invoice payment. 

The Contractor shall emer any emergency service cells onto the log at the intersection controller
cabinet along with the minimum required information as stated In the previous sections. Failure to 60
so will be construed to be a failure to respond to the emergency service calls. 

JM : ' a • is

Page 186



7015

The Contractor shall install, modify, repair and/ or upgrade lighting, traffic signals and all associated
hardware or traffic safety devices as requested by the Town. All such work, H not covered in the pat
rates, shall be considered extra work and shall be performed to the satisfaction of the Town. Please

refer to the signal monthly maintenance service forms and the ' Compensation' Section for details. 

No additional or extra work shall be commenced or undertaken by the Contracor unless authorized in
advance in writing by the Town. Said written authorization is a condition precedent to the
ContraClera entitlement to reimbursement or remuneration for such services. This work shall be

performed within a specked time limit established by the Town and for a mutually agreed upon price. 

The Town shall retain discretionary right to perform any extra work through the use of Town forces, 
by negotiated agreement, or to advertise such work by others. 

Monthly Report

The Contractor shall submit to the Town, at the same time as the submission of monthly invoices, a
computerized report covering all Contractor' s activities within the Town during the previous month. 
This monthly activity report shall be provided In Excel fge formal. Formatting shell be agreed by the
Town. The monthly activity report shall include at a minimum: 

a. Time any service calls were received by the Contractor, time at which the service call was
dispatched to the tei hnidan, the arrival time of the technician at the requested location, the
departure time, the caller' s name, and the results of diagnosis. 

K A complete record of any and all work performed on the lighting and traffic signal equipment
during the period covered by the monthly activity report, inducing the make, model, and
serial number of any replacement or newly installed equipment at each intersection. The
report shell also detail the make, model and serial number of any equipment replaced. 

c. Asset ID' s ( H applicable) and detailed location description of any repalredheplaced
equipment. 

d. The date and time that any preventive maintenance work was performed and any findings. 

e. Any and all pending repair work needed at each intersection along with Repair Order number. 

In addition, the Contractor shall submit to the Town, at the same f6ne as the submission of monthly
invoices, a separate summary fist of outstanding Hems requiring follow -up repair. 

The Contractor shall maintain and provide all required maintenanoe/ servim fors (Attachments D, E. 
F. and G). A copy of the completed maintenance and service fors, In electronic format, shall be

submitted to Town staff monthly. 

The Contractor shall be required to maintain a copy of the monthly activity report ( either electronic or
hardoopy), maintenano0service forms, conflict monitor test results, and any service records lot a
period of not leas than five years. 

Service Lou In Controller and Service Cebinett

The Contractor shell maintain a log at each signalized intersection included under this contract. The
log shall detail each inspection, repair, and/ or emergency /service call. The Contractor shall complete
at a minimum on this log, the date, arrival time, departure time, type of Inspectlordservice, any
findings or repairs, the Contractor' s employee name and/ or ID, the employee' s job tille, and in the

event of signal outageltiesh, display message on conflict monitor, controller, loodswilch position, etc. 
A similar log shall be maintained in each electric service cabinet where storage space Is available. 

Page 187



xo, s

J. MEETINGS / CONSULTATION

The Contractor shall be available to meet, when deemed necessary, with Town staff on a monthly
basis or at a mutually agreed upon time and place to review maintenance activities, operations[ and
repair activities, pending work, estimates, work quality, and any items related to Contractors work
under this contract, 

Contractor shag be available at all times to the Engineer for consultation at no added expense to the
Town. The consultation may consist of explanation of technical details, upgrade of signal equipment, 
and operational improvement. The contractor shall provide detailed work proposal and cost estimate

to the Engineer upon request for repair, installation, replacement, or any improvements containing
lighting or traffic signal components. Work associated with preparation of proposal shall be provided
at no charge to the Town. 

K. FAILURE TO PERFORM

Should the Contractor fail to properly execute the work in a timely or correct matter as provided under
the terms of this contract, the Town, after providing the Contractor with three business days' notice, 
may perform or hire another Contractor to perform such work and deduct the cost plus 25% thereof
from any payment due to the Contractor. 

L. COMPENSATION

1. STREET LIGHTING SERVICE

The Contractor shall be compensated for service required under this contrad at a flat rate per
street light. Included in the flat role Is compensation for all related labor, equipment, and materials
for ag related above ground lighting components including and not limited to fixtures and housings
and aft components within), lamps, photo cells, starers, ballasts, transformers, fuses, sockets, 

hand We covers, ID tags, and pull box lids. Also included in the flat rate are the conductors, 
fuses, terminal blocks, breakers, contedors, photo cells, and clock timers In the poles, bollards
and service enclosure. Also included in the flat rate Is compensation for the 24 -hour phone
service, response to calls, identification/ verification of problems, preparation for cost proposal, 

queredy and special night check, logging of calls, reporting of service, and any other related
service activities as specified In the Contract. 

Not included in the flat rate compensation are poles, ants, bollards, pull boxes ( except lids). 
service enclosures ( the shell), and underground and in- structure conduhs and conductors. Also

not Included Is repair / replacement for damage caused by vehicular collisions, acts of God, or
malicious damage. 

2. TRAFFIC SIGNAL SERVICE

The Contractor shall be compensated for services required under this contract at a flat rate per
Intersection. 

Induded in the flat rate shell be compensation for the preventive maintenance including labor, 
equipment, and materials, as identified In the maintenance service form. The preventive

maintenance items as identified In the maintenance service form shall be the Contractor' s

responsibility to repair, Install and/ or replace without additional charges to Town whether they ere
maintained, repaired, or replaced at call- outs or emergency call -outs, or at the time of

maintenance routine. In addition, the following items shall be the Contractors responsibility to
repair, install and/ or replace without additional charges to Town whether they are maintained, 
repaired, or replaced at call-outs or emergency call- outs, or at the time of maintenance routine: 
load switches; flashers; BILfs; detector amplifiers; audible pedestrian signal indicators; push
button assembly; louvers; visors; back plates; above ground conductors, and signal indication
LED modules ( including also replacement of bad non -LED lamps with LED modules) for all
vehicle and non- vehicle signal Indication. 

Page 188



207E

Also Included in the flat rate compensation is compensation for the logging of calls, work related
to preparation of cost proposal, investigation/ verification of trouble calls, warrantee service, 

stocking of materiels, reporting of service, record keeping, temporary equipment, and any other
associated services as specked in the Contract. 

Not included in the flat rate compensation are any items not specified above, e. g. poles, arms, 

pull boxes ( except lids), conflict monitors, power supply units, video detection, signal head
housing and brackets, underground conduits and conductors, etc. Also not included in the flat
rate compensation is repair/ replacement for damage caused by vehicular collisions, acts of God, 
or malicious damage. 

3. PARKING LOT LIGHTING SERVICE

The Contractor shall be compensated for service required under this contract at a flat rate per

light in parking lots. Included in the flat rate is compensation for all related labor, equipment, and
materials for all related above ground fighting components including and not limited to fixtures
and housings ( and all components within), lamps, photo cells, starters. ballasts, transformers, 

fuses, sockets, hand hole covers, ID tags, and pull box lids. Also Included In the flat rate are the

conductors, fuses, terminal blocks, breakers, contactors, photo cells, and clock amens in the

poles, bollards and service enclosure. Also Included in the flat rate is compensation for the 24- 

hour phone service, response to calls, IdentificalioNvedhcation of problems, preparation for cost

proposal, quarterly end special night check, logging of calls, reporting of service, and any other
related service activities as specified in the Contract. 

Not included in the flat rate compensation are poles, arms, bollards, pull boxes ( except lids), 

service enclosures ( the shell), and underground end in- structure conduits and conductors. Also

not Included is repaVlreplacement for damage caused by vehicular collisions, acts of God, or
malicious damage. 

4. USA ( Underground Service Alert) 

The Contractor shall be compensated for service required under this contract at a Oat rate per
USA ticket. Included in the flat rate is compensation for all related labor, equipment, and materials
for all related USA ticket related work. 

s"j- Wr iLr7. 1- 1

Town shall compensate the Contractor for the performed extra work and repairs in accordance
with agreed upon labor rates, material markups, equipment rates, and miscellaneous costs. 

Town may solicit competitive bids for extra work from the Contractor and alternative vendors or
contractors. 

Extra work refers to the replacement, repair, upgrade or Installation of any street lighting and
traffic signal components that are not included in the compensation of the flat roles. The

Contractor shall obtain Town approval prior to scheduling any work to be performed under this
provision. The Contractor shall provide documentation to support Invoiced charges, Including but
not limited to time cards and material invoices, upon request by the Town. 

6. RATE INCREASE

Rates may be reviewed annually by the successful proposer and the Town; and rate increases
may be requested in wrfarrg with detalled ) uatMicatlon. Nevertheless, the maximum Increase In
labor and/ or equipment costs In any calendar year shall be no more than the percent change In
the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer price Index, All Items, All
Urban Consumers, Son Francisco- Oakland - San Jose, 1982- 6a- 100Index.. 

Page 189



2016

7. PAYMENT AND INVOICES

Payments will be made within thirty days following receipt of an accurate invoice and
documentation of work performed. Invoices shell be submitted no later than 60 days after the
completion of work and not more frequently than once per month. It Is understood and agreed
invoices submitted later than 60 days offer the completion of work will cause the Town to suffer

an unascertainable amount of staff effort in reconciling late invoice. Therefore, the Contractor
agrees to pay to the Town, not as a penalty but as liquidated damages, the amount of 5250 per
invoice or 10% of the invoice, whichever is greater. The liquidated damage will be deducted from
the invoice payment and shall not exceed the Invoice amount. 

Page 190



Attachment ' A' 

Street Light Summary ( Fixture Count) 
Town Owned Lights ( A'on Parking Lot Lightsl

04

Circuit: Lamp Size Count

1

HPS 7011' 1

LED

Circuit: Mull 120v Lamp Size Count

HP510011' 105

HPS 150W 2i

HPS lion' 13

HPS 7011' 086

LED 13

AfV17511' 9

Circuit: Mult 240v Lamp Size Count

HPS 1001F i31

HPS 150W 31

111?S200W 13

LIPS 350W 1

HPS 7011' 43.1

LED 25

AYV 17.SIV 33

MV 250W a

MV 400I11 9

Circuit: Series other Lamp Size Count

HPS 10011' 1

Circuit: Unknown Lamp Size Count

lips 100W 9

M eJnn4n, 4 March 04, 2915 Pure 1 of t

Page 191



HPS 15014' a' 

IIPS 2000' 9

HPS 25011' S

HPS 7011' 26' 

LED 1

LPS 900' 1

MV 1750' 5

MY25OW I

Tutul Number Street Lightr' 1603

N' rdarsda); March 04, 2015

0........ 

Page of l

Page 192



ATTACHMENT ' 8' 

PARKING LOTS LIGHTING

150 w Induction Shoebox Los Gatos / Saratoga Long Term Lot 22

70 w Induction Cobra Head Lot 1 - Los Gatos / Saratoga / Bantham 4

70 w Induction Cobra Head Lot 1 - Los Gatos / Saratoga 1 Bantham 1

40 w Induction Conversion Lot 2 - Bantham / Royce 5

40 w Induction Shoebox Lot 3 - Royce 1 Graves 6

40 w Induction Shoebox Lot 4 21

2 x 55 w Induction box Lot 4 2

40 w Induction Wallpack Lot 4 9

55 w Induction Conversion Lot 4 7

80 w Induction Cobra Head Lot 5 - Elm / Main St 7

80 w Induction Cobra Head Lot 5 - Elm / Main St 3

40 w Induction Shoebox Monte Bello Lot 5

Beta 40 -LED lLoI 6 - Victory Lane 10

40 w Induction Shoebox Lot 7 - Main St 5

40 w Induction Shoebox Lot 8 - Main St 4

40 w Induction Conversion Southside Lot, North Santa Cruz 6
100 w Induction Cobra Head Balzer Field Lot 2

TOTAL COUN 119

Page 193



ll) I71ferseelion

1

2

3

5

b

7

E

8

10

11

12

13

15

15

18

17

1E

15

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

42

43

tlttachnient ' C' 

Town Traffic Signal List

Los Gatos b1. 6 Los Getw- Samtopa Rd

Los Gatos St. 6 KenneoyLsW mll

Los Gatos 616 Nmo

Los Gatos BL. Roberts Rtl. 6 Snannon Rd. 

Los Gales 61. 6 Bbasom H& Rd. 

Los Gates 61., Los Gato" knaden Rd. & Chiroo Dr, 

Los Galas 61. 6 Los Gabs V11I Sts. 

Los Gales BL 6 Garden Gale y

Los Was Ell, & Lark Ave. 

Blossom Hill Rd. & Cheer blossom Ln. 

Blossom Hill Rd. 6 Comel& a 7e" m

13IMM HIM Rd. & Roberts Rd. ( Eeal) 

Bloswm HA Rd. & University Ave. 

Blossom Hill Rd. & Union Ave. 

N. Santa CMZPMndresler 6 Blossom HillManposa

N. Santa Cruz Ave. & Andrews $ 1, 

W. Main St. & Sams Cnn Ave. 

W. Main SL 6 UnImMlly Am. 

Lark An. 6 Oka Rd. 

Los GalusSsratogs Rd 6 Albano Way

Winchester 61. It Lark Ave. 

Winchester BI. 6 Krowies Dr. 

Winchester Of 6 Wimbleoon Dr. 

Loa Getos- Almaden Rd. & National Ave

Knowles Dr. & Dardantth Ln. 

ltr v * s Dr. & Capri Ave. 

Blossom HUI Rd, 6 Roberts West

WinftsWr Of 6 Doves

Lark Av It LWverslty Av

Wfth&sler /AIDnVUBaY Club ( New In a low rronft) 

il' rdnnduy, Aforc6 0$, 2013 !' apr 1 of ! 

Page 194



Tom WO ID

Pole ID: 

Caller: 

Date: 

ATTACHMENT D

TOWN OF LOS GATOS SERVICE FORM — STREET LIGHTS
All work prescribed In the list Is Included In the monthly flat foes for street light service) 

Republic Work Order k: 

Location/ Address: 

Reported Problem: 

Start Time: End Time: 

A. VERIFY LIGHT - 

Verity Pole Tag ID: ( Install Pole tag If ft' s missing.) 
Verify Pole AddressJLocalion: n

t, 
fj

9EL

rZY"; N,,y I1 e ffl3{ 
W5

ff7

Lamp Type & Size? 

For wasting lights neither HPS nor LED — Replace with LED fight fiXlUfeL Notify Tom staff. 

EllOverhead or Underground Feed? 

Overhead power is to be repaired by PG& E. Notify Town staff. 
L 3M

IN
Missing/ broken hand hole cover? Yes or No

Replace missing/ broken hand We cover. 

Comments: 

B. PROBLEM AND REPAIR

Cause? Accident or Vandalism Ior others

Problem Description: 

Work Description: 

0

Found Service? Yes or No

If the service location is found, please describe the location here: 
E) 

C. FOLLOW -UP 6ERVICE

Description of Required Follow- Up service: 

TECHNICIAN NAME: SIGNUTURE; 

Page 195



ATTACHMENT E
MONTHLY - TOWN OF LOS GATOS TRAFFIC SIGNAL PREVENTIVE MAINTENANCE CHECKLIST

All work prescribed In the list is Included In flat fees for monthly routine maintenance) 

Intersection: Signal ID: 

Date: Start Time: End Time: 

A. CONTROLLER CABINET & SERVICE ENCLOSURE

Cabinets — Vacuum/ clean insidefoutside cabinets. Spray insecticide as necessary. Remove graffini, postings and
adhesive materials off cabinets. Trim vegetation off cabinets ( one loot clearance). Replace cabinet filter as
necesse

0111S, n70
t , N Mg:Nt

Fen Operation ( June through September) — Verify that fan turns on at 906F and above. Replace as necessary. 

Cabinet field wires — Verify cabinet field wires are neatly organized and properly marked. Re-mark as necessary. 

Cabinet Seal — Re-seal between cabinet and its concrete foundation as necessary. Must be Watertight. Check traces
of rust. Remove rust and paint over area of rust

0

Comments

Follow - up: 

B. CONTROLLER & OTHER EQUIPMENT

Equipment Display — Chea it equipment display properly such as controller and conflict monitor screens, telemetry
error message on master Controller, battery level in UPS. lights on preemption device, etc, 

ivgmg 07 1

I

3112 11
WMERWORM-1i" I'M
Vna

T, f I I _ U

Any visible damages - Visually inspect any damages to any equipment Inside cabinet. 
Any equipment damaged? 

VOW4_ Mf
Vehicle Detection - Verffy and label on detector cable end amplifiers. Observe operation of each detector. Replace
as necessary. 

Any detectors stuck on or missip calls? 

Timing — Verify and update Controller cook, main street on recall Observe signal cycles properly. Report to staff any
unusual Condition. 

14 RVIM M 29

Comments

Foliovsup: 

C. WALK INTERSECTION

Page 196



C. 1. SIGNAL HEADS

Lens, Lamps and LEDs - Visually check for damage and Indication. Check and adjust for operation, proper
orientation for all and Besting of lamps and LEDs. Replace LED' s 10 fit as necessary. Replace broken lens and
burned out lam a with LED modules. Replace bad LED module ($ r contracts dficaitons. 

Visors and Back Plates - Verify all in place and in good condition. Adjustireplace as necessary. 
imi ;& - 

ii ,  % --

P

R4Prill"To W1* 0#

14i
J

Re- painting - Paint faded signal head housing, vital and back plates as necessary. 
Comments

Foftwl

C. 2. PEDESTRIAN SIGNALS

Pedestrian Signal Heads - Check condition of heads and LED' s. Adjustlrei as necessary. 

Wiwi', 

Audible Pedestrian Signal ( if applicable) - Verify the operation of audible pedestrian signal indication. 

Comments

Follow -up: 

CJ. MISCELLANEOUS

Traffic S191181 Poles - Visually check all poles, mall arms, anchor bolls & nuts for ni damage and tightness. Adjust
the lightness of bolts and nuts as needed. 

O-P1

Graffiti - Remove gratiftill, postings and adhesive materials off signal poles and equipment. 
ibl 1,

MMW
Video Detection Cameras ( it applicable) - Visually inspect cameras. Remove visible obstruction, e. g. nest, webs. 
etc. Wipe clean with damped soft cloth ( dean water only) at necessary and at lent once every three months. 

V 

Red Light Detector Devices ( a. k. a. Rat Boxes) if applicable - Visually check the condition, burned devices, clean
and lightness. Adjust as needed. 

M Nil MAN AMMMOWD6Awwr

Pole Hand Hole Covers - Check hand hole covers. Replace broken arid missing covers

0

Daillictor Hand Hole Lids - Check cracked and missing fil Replace broken and missing lids. 
ITRIMM

Mik., Kill

Comments

Follow- up: 

TECHNICIAN NAME: SIGNATURE- 

Page 197



ATTACHMENT

UPS CHECK LIST

Intersection: DavesWinchester ( only one vAth UPS In Los Gatos) Signal Amps: 

Date: Start Time: End Time: 

UPS Model: Myers 1260

Visually Inspect UPS panel indicators. Clean battery terminals. 

Test end measure battery performance. 

Page 198



ATTACHIAENi G

TOWN OF LOS GATOS SERVICE FORM, — TRAFFIC SIGNAL CALL -OUT REPAIR
Town WON: 

Republic WON: 

Intersection: 

Caller: Reported Problem: 

Date: 
Start Time: End Time: 

A. ARRIVAL/ DEPARTURE

Arrival Date: 

Arrival Time:: 

Departure Time: El

S. PROBLEM AND REPAIR

Cause? Accident or Vandalism Or Others

C. FOLLOW -UP SERVICE

TECHNICIAN NAME: 
SIGNATURE: 

A

7

0

0

Page 199



Attachment H

TOWN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS
As of March 10, 2015) 

2. 37 Signals, Lighting, Electrical System

General

Signals, lighting and electrical work shall conform to the current provisions of Section
86, " Signals, Lighting and Electrical Systems," of the State of California Department of
Transportation SSS ( henceforth referred to as ' SSS'), the State of California
Department of Transportation SSP ( henceforth referred to " SSP" and these Town
Specifications. 

Town Standard Equipment

Unless specified otherwise, the following standard equipment shall be used for the
Town: 

1. NEMA TS -2, Type 1, ` P" controller cabinet. 
2. ECONOLITE ASC3 signal controllers. 

3. ITERIS Edge 2 Video Detection system. 

A. Fire Preemption - As supplied by Fire Department. 

Conduit

Conduits shall be installed using directional boring or open trench as determined by
Contractor and approved by Engineer. The top of the installed conduit shall be a
minimum of 18 Inches below finished grade. 

Directionally -bored conduits shall be installed at a minimum depth of eighteen Inches
18 ") from existing pavement surface. Directionalty - bored conduits within the public

right -of -way shall be installed within one toot ( 1) of the lip of gutter or underneath the
sidewalk, 

All traffic conduits shall be 3' or larger in diameter. All conduits shall be Schedule 80

polyvinyl chloride conduit unless otherwise speeKied. End bells shall be installed on all

PVC conduits ends. Ground bushings shall be installed for all metallic conduits. 

Contractor shall not use 90- degree elbows. Only large radius 45- degree elbows shall be
allowed. 

Interconnect cable conduit terminations into pull boxes shall be gradually swept to the
elevation where conduit enters through the side of a pull box. These conduit sweeps

shall have a minimum 3- foot radius and 45- degree radius. 

2 - 1

Page 200



All conduits shall have a pull tape and a bare 46 AWG ( minimum) copper wire for
grounding and tracing of conduits. 

All conduits placed in utility joint trenches shall be inspected and approved by the
respective utility, (PG &E, SBC, Verizon, Comcast) prior to bac kfill. The Contractor shall
coordinate all such inspections with each Utility Company. 

All conduits shall be sealed with Dud -Seal after wires are installed to prevent moisture
and rodents from entering the conduits. 

Conduits shell be installed either parallel to or perpendicular to the curb, unless
otherwise approved by the Engineer prior to placement. Conduit Stan oblique angle to
the curb will not be permitted. 

Communication conduit ( for fiber optic cable) — The sum of horizontal and vertical
conduit bends in new conduit between pull boxes and/ or splice vaults shall not exceed
160 degrees. Conduit terminations into pull boxes and splice vaults shall be gradually
swept to the elevation where conduit enters through the side of a pull box or splice
vault. These conduit sweeps shall have a minimum 3 -foot radius and 45- degree radius. 
Pull Boxes

The identification " LOS GATOS' shall be engraved, welded or cost on the top face of all
covers and followed by one of the following applicable markings: 

1. - STREET LIGHTING' ( for pull boxes containing lighting). 
2. " TRAFFIC SIGNAL" ( for pull boxes containing traffic signal circuits with or without

Meet lighting circuits). 
3. " TRAFFIC COMMUNICATION" ( for traffic signal communication). 
4. ` SERVICE' ( for pull boxes in service runs and where utilities company conduitserminate). 

5. " TREE LIGHTING" ( for tree lighting systems only). 
6. " SPRINKLER CONTROL" ( for sprinkler control systems only). 
7. ` ELECTRICAL' ( for electrical systems not mentioned above). 

Pull boxes shall be No. 5 or larger unless otherwise Indicated on the plans. Pull boxes
for signal interconnect shall be No. 6 or larger unless otherwise indicated on the plans. 
Pull boxes for fiber -optic cabling system shall have the following minimum inside
dimensions, unless speed otherwise in the contract documents: 48 -inch long by 30- inch wide by 14 -inch high. In addition, it shall be provided with one pull box extension. 
Pull box extension shall be in 12 -inch high increment. A locking lid shall be provided. 
Excess conduit for all conduit ends shall be cut back to provide stub ends of 14nch
minimum to 24nch maximum. 

Bottom of pull boxes shall be grouted over clean crushed rock sump ( 12 inches

2 -2

Page 201



minimum). All pull boxes shall have a 2 -inch drain hole in center bottom and grouted
with smooth surface sloped toward drain hole. 

Conductors

Identification stripe color shall be permanently impregnated the conductor insulating
jacket. 

No. 10 or smaller traffic signal conductors shall be solid copper with either: 

Type USE insulation with a minimum thickness of 1 mm ( 40 mils), or
Type THW insulation with a minimum thickness of 1 mm ( 40 mils). 

Splicing and Splicing Insulation

All connectors and terminals installed to the conductors including those for detector
circuits, shall be pressure connector crimp type and shall be soldered after being
applied with the applicable tool recommended by the manufacturer of the connector. 

Heat shrinkable insulating tubing shall he applied after completion of the splicing
procedure. Insulation over the connector shall consist of a heat shrinkable, mastic lined, 
1 mm minimum polyolefin cable sleeve, or cover, to which heat shall be applied at a
temperature greater than 120 degrees C. with an electric hot air gun until the sleeve or

cover shrinks and covers the connector and the mastic material has flowed completely
around and between the conductors to form a waterproof insulation. The conductor
insulation shall not be damaged due to application of the heat shrinkable insulation
sleeve. 

Signal Interconnect Cable

Signal interconnect cable shall contain 12 -pair 19 AWG PE89 stranded copper unless
otherwise noted on the plans. Unless otherwise indicated on the plans, In the Special

Provisions, or as directed by the Engineer, splicing of the SIC is not allowed. The SIC
shall run continuously and unspliced from one cabinet to the next cabinet. 

Identification Labeling

Identification shall be by TSB Ty -Rap Cable Ties No. TY553M, fastened to the
conductors /cables in such a manner that they will not move along the
conductors/ cables. The flags on the Ty-Rap shall be marked with a Ty -Rap marking pen
No. WT 163 M -1 ( Bieck), or approved equal. All phase conductors shall be labeled by
phase designation in the pull boxes nearest their termination, and in the controller

cabinet. Detector cables shall be labeled by channel designation in the pull boxes
nearest their termination, and in the controller cabinet. Detector cables shall be also

labeled by phase designation in the controller cabinet nearest their termination at the
detector amplifiers. 

2 -3

Page 202



Bonding and Grounding

Bonding and grounding shall conform to the provisions of Section 86. 2. 10, " Bonding
and Grounding," of the SSS and the following. 

All metallic electrical equipment including, but not limited to, poles, metal conduit, 
service pedestals, controller cabinets, anchor bolls, foundation reinforcement, and
metallic cable sheaths shall be tied to ground electrical potential and shall be
interconnected by means of copper conductors and clamps to form a single, grounded
and electrically bonded system. Grounding of the electrical system shall be
accomplished by means of approved 518 -inch x 10 -foot copper -dad steel or % -inch x
104001 galvanized steel ground rods installed in all cabinet foundations and in all pull
boxes that contain conduits with equipment ground conductors as shown on the project
Plans. Ground rods shall extend above the finished cabinet foundation or grouted pull
box bottom sufficiently to attach a ground clamp and # 8 AWG bare copper equipmentground conductor. 

Galvanizing

New traffic signal and street light poles shall have a galvanized finish in conformance to
the provisions of Section 86 -2. 15, ' Galvanizing,' of the SSS. 
Controller Assembly

The controller assembly shall conform to the provisions of Section 86 -3. 02, " Type 90
Controller Assemblies,' of the SSS and the following. 

The controller assembly shall be NEMA TS -2 Type ' P° traffic signal controller cabinetunless otherwise indicated on plans. 

Controller Cabinet Foundation

The controller cabinet foundation shall be 6" above the finished grade, in lieu of the 3. 5" dimension shown on Standard Plan ES -3C. 

Traffic Signal Faces and Fittings

Traffic signal faces and fittings shell conform to the provisions of Section 864, ` Traffic
Signal Faces and Fittings; of the SSS, the SSP and the following. 
Traffic signal faces shall have metal signal sections and visors conforming to Section
864. 01 ' Vehicle Signal Faces', of the SSS. Plastic signal faces and visors shall not beallowed, 

24

Page 203



Vehicle signal face reflectors shall be made of specular aluminum conforming to Section
86 -4. 01A ` Optical Units" of the SSS. 

Backplates shall be furnished and installed on all signal faces. Backplates shall be
made of aluminum and installable from the front of the signal head and conform to
Section 66 -4. 03 "Backplates' of the SSS and the SSP ES -4C. Louvers shall not be used
unless otherwise specified. Plastic backplates shall not be allowed. 

Signal mounting assemblies shall conform to Section 86 -4. 06 " Signal Mounting
Assemblies" except that terminal compartments, post top adapters, and plain side pole
mounts shall be cast bronze. " Clam Shell' mounts shall not be used. 

Color of the traffic signal housing front and back, mounting bracket, visors, and
backplates shall be black. 

All new vehicle signal heads shall have 12" red, amber and green ( circular and arrow) 

light emitting diode ( LED) modules. The LED modules shall be Gelcore brand or
approved equal. 

Pedestrian Signals

Pedestrian signal faces shall be Type A with 3/ 16 inch tempered glass message plate

and z -crate type screen conforming to Section 864.05 ' Pedestrian Signal Faces" of the
SSS and the SSP ES- 48. 

Pedestrian signal heads shall have a combination Portland orange' upralsed

hand" /countdown numeraisAunar white " walking person" LED module. The LED
modules shall be Gelcore brand or approved equal. 

The Countdown Pedestrian Signal shall be user configurable through dipswitches

allowing the user to deactivate the countdown operation or activate countdown of
Walk + Don' t Walk time, countdown of Walk time and then Don' t Walk time and

countdown of Don' t Walk time only. Outline pedestrian symbol is not permitted. 

Color of the pedestrian signal housing shall be black. 

Audible Pedestrian Signals

Color of audible pedestrian signal housing shall be black. 

Pedestrian Push Buttons

Pedestrian push button assemblies shall conform to the provisions of Section 86 -5. 02, 

Pedestrian Push Button Assemblies', of the SSS, the SSP ES -5C and the following. 

2 -5

Page 204



All pedestrian push button assemblies shall be Type B ( 5" x 7. 5 ") per State Standard
Plan ES -5C. Pedestrian push buttons shall be 2- diameter push buttons and ADA
compliant and shall be mounted on traffic signal poles at an elevation of 38 inches at
center of button above the adjacent sidewalk surface. 

Multiple push buttons on the same standard shall be mounted at the same height with a
maximum vertical offset of plus or minus 2 inches between push buttons. 

Pedestrian push buttons should be parallel to the crosswalk, within 5 feet of the
crosswalk extended, and within 10 feet of the edge of curb, shoulder, or pavement. 
When wheelchair ramps are present, pedestrian push buttons should be within 5 feet ofthe edge of ramps. 

Color of pedestrian push button assembly shall be black. 
Detector Loops

Vehicle defectors shall conform to the provisions of Section 86. 5, " Detectors", of the
SSS, the SSP and the following. 

1. Detector loops shall have circular configuration. 
2. Loop conductor shell be Type 2 loop wires. No splice Is permitted. 
3. Detector lead -In cable shall be Type B. 
4. Detector lead -in cables between pull loxes ( immediately adjacent to the detector

handhole) and controller cabinet shall nm continuously and shall be unspliced
throughout the length of the conductors. 

S. The sealant for filling slots shall be asphaltic emulsion sealant for ashpaltic
concrete pavement application and hot -melt rubberized asphafl sealant for
Portland cement concrete pavement, loth as specified In the State SSS. 

Contractor shall contact the Town Inspector 72 hours in advance of work which will cut
or damage any existing detector loop or lead -in wire. The Town will install appropriate
timing in the traffic signal controller prior to the Contractor cutting the existing loops. 
Contractor shall make arrangements to replace damaged loop detectors within five daysat the Contractor' s expense. 

Luminaires

Luminaires shall conform to the provisions of Section 86-6, " Lighting" of the SSS andthe SSP. 

Unless otherwise specified, luminaires shall be LED ( Light Emitlent Diode) light factures
with lighting level equivalent to 70 watt HPS ( High Pressure Sodium) on local and
collector streets, 100 watt on arterial streets, 150 watt HPS at Intersections, and 200
watt HPS for traffic signal safety lighting. The LED light fixture shall be Cree or Leotech, the latest model, or approved equal. 

2 -6

Page 205



Luminaire circuit splicing shall conform to Section 86 -2. 095 ` Fused Splice Connectors' 
or the SSS. 

Photoelectric Controls

Photoelectric controls for luminaires shall conform to the provisions of Section 86 -6. 07, 

Photoelectric Controls," or the SSS and the following. 

Photoelectric controls shall be as follows: 

Type II photoelectric control shall consist of a remote photoelectric unit in a

weatherproof housing, a separate contactor and a test switch located In the service
enclosure unless shown otherwise. The photoelectric control unit shall be pole -top
mounted unless otherwise specified. 

Type IV photoelectric control shall consist of a photoelectric unit in a weatherproof

housing which plugs into an EEI -NEMA twist lock receptacle integral with the luminalre. 

A switch to permit manual operations of the lighting circuit shall be provided for each
Type II photoelectric control. The ` auto -tesl" switch shall not have an ' off" position. 

Removing, Reinstalling or Salvaging Electrical Equipment

Removing and /or salvaging of equipment shall conform to the provisions of Section 86- 
7. 01, ` Removing Electrical Equipment' of the SSS and the following. 

All selvaged equipment shall be delivered to the Town of Los Gatos Service Center at

41 Miles Avenue. The Contractor shall contact the Town of Los Gatos Department of

Parks and Public Works at (408) 395 -2859, forty -eight ( 48) hours in advance to arrange
for acceptance of salvaged equipment. 

2 -7

Page 206



Lighting and Traffic Signal Maintenance and
Repair Service

Projeci No: 14- 5401 - 63364

Presented by: 

St. Francis Electric
04/ 07/ 2015

EXRIBIT B

Page 207



TABLE OF CONTENTS

COVER

STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS ............................................................................................ .............................. 4

PROPOSEDPERSONNEL ................................................ ...................... .._ .......................................... _ .... 4

SUMMAR12EDRESUME ...................................... .......................... _........................................................... 5

ONGANVATIONCHART ................................................ _ ... .. ................................... .. ............................. 10

EQUIPMENT............................................................. _ ........................ .............................................. _ ....... 11

REFERENCE................................ ............................................................ _ ............................ , ....... ........... 12

WORKPLAN ............................... .. ......................................................... _ ...... ........................................................ 14

ONLINE ELECTRONIC DATABASE SERVICE 15

QUAUTYCONTROL .........................................................................................._................._. ............................... 17

PROPOSAL FORM ( TOWN Of LOS GATOS FORM) ...... _ .......................................... ............................... 18

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

St. RonCIS DeC61C I A and CAD IJC * I d Contmcto 1 975 CC don SI. Son LeonAro CA 91577
wvn: sle. hc cem- Phon6 ( 610) 6394659- Fox 1510163$ 1. 9116 - 24p1865 IICWc Skpxg 5eMCe 1- I84) { IGM186

Gr, 

Page 208



V ^$ 

U e

Jessy Pu. Traffic Engineer
Town of Los Gatos

Parks and Public Works Department
41 Nu7es Avenue

Los Gatos. CA 95030

Proposal for Ughling and Traffic Signal Maintenance and Repair Service ( Project No: 14. 5401- 63364) 

Dear Mr. Pu

We are excited for this opportunity fo introduce you to our Maintenance Division of Si. Francis Electric. 
aka SFE). SFE agrees to accept the terms and conditions in the Contract Specifications and other

requirements In accordance within this RFP for the town of Los Gatos. 

Headquartered in Son Leandro, CA, SFE is a California licensed and bonded Class " A- Generof
Engineering" and " C - 10 Electrical" contractor ( CA license 4335324). SFE has a long history of servicing
Northern California' s transportation and electrical needs, proving to be a beneficial resource when
dealing with everyday maintenance and operations. Having a core business of traffic signal Installation
and maintenance, 5FE has established itself as one of the lop electrical service providers in Northern
California, with satellite office locations in Sacramento. Napa, Son Francisco, and San Jose. SFE' s local
office, located at the corner of Chynoweth Ave and Snell Ave in Son Jose- Is just 7 mules away from theTown of Los Gatos. 

Our company currently has 2004 employees including a solid team of skilled IMSA certified traffic signal
technicians, electricians, CA licensed traffic and civil engineers, project managers, and project
engineers. SFE is well - established In the industry and having vast amounts of Inventory allows us to serve
maintenance and construction projects effectively. in addition, SFE specializes in installing, 
programming, and maintaining Intelligent lronsportalion Systems IRS). We also offer tronsportation
engineering services to the Town of Los Gatos as part of the Irafftc signal maintenance. 

SFE sets high standards in customer service with regards to lime and budget. We constantly monitor our
staff' s service quality to satisfy our clients and ultimately lead to better and safer fives for the citizens. 

We thank you for giving SFE the opportunity to present this proposal and look forward to establishing o
working partnership with the Town of Los Gatos. Allen Chen will be the project manager for servicing the
Town of Los Gatos. ( email - QgbCr) @sfeAnc cc re and cellular phone 510 - 695- 0582) 

Sincerely, 

zj-q- --/ 
Guy Smith
Vice President

S1. Ranch Electric I A and C -10 ucensed Controcier 1 975 Caoen SI. Son Leonora CA 94577
www ste - inc cam- Phone 15101639. 0659- fox pS101 t39- 9116- 74/ 7/ 96,S lraffk Sbnol Service 1. 1044). urHre8

Page 209



Background

St. Francis Electric History

The year was 1945. World War 6 hod Just ended and Lorenzo Spinardi was discharged from Inc Army Air
Corps. Although he was born and raised on o tomato form in Merced. Colt ornio, he decided 10 settle

down and make a go of it In the lost growing San Francisco Bay Area. He started as an electrician In
Son Jose, but Mr. Spinordi soon desired his independence. 

In 1946, Lorenzo founded Si. Francis Electric while living in San Leandro, California. The company has
remained in business since that time under ownership and direction of the Spinord Family. 

In the early years. SFE offered wiring installation for homes in the numerous new housing tracts that were
popping up all over the Boy Area. It quickly gained a reputation for honest, quality work at o foil price. 
By the laic Fifties, in addition to its core business of tract homes, SFE was performing electrical work on
commercial buildings and Industrial facilities. 

Since the core management consisted of veteran airmen from the Second World war, it was inevitable

that the company would soon be doing work at the local airports. Gradually this division expanded to
outlying areas. including Nevada. In those years, SFE was one of the few electrical companies that
specialized in this type of work. In 1972. Lorenzo' s oldest son. Thomas. joined the company. Together

with their father, they expanded the company' s geographical client base and core service offerings. 

They successfully completed more complex jobs such as installation of underground utilities, traffic
signals, and airport projects. 

In the mid- 1980' s, a decision was mode to completely drop residential and commercial work, while
devoting resources towards introstructue development. This required a significant investment in
equipment and a specialized trained workforce. Several of the employees from this period ore still with

the company. They represent some of the best skilled croffspeopte in the local industry. 

In the past 2D years. SFE has dedicated Its goats of perfecting the art of infrastructure work. This quest
has involved taking on numerous and a variety of challenging projects. The company' s performance on
these projects has always been excellent. The level of expertise possessed by the personnel has risen to
the highest standard In the industry, and the equipment fleet has grown to be one of the largest owned

and operated by any contractor in the Bay Area. Thomas Spinordi retired in 2002, yet still participates in
on advisory role on special projects. 

In 2003, management was restructured in order to expand the level of previous performance. Robert

Spinordi became President, and promoted 3 long time employees to senior staff positions. Under new
management team. SFE was able to increase the volume of wort while mairdoining the some quality, 

integrity, innovation, and service that defines its culture and personality. 

Today. SFE has over 200 employees and services and clients throughout California and Nevada

St. Francis L9ectric I A and C- IOlicssmvd Controcld 1 975 Cwden St. $ on Leone CA 94577
www. slR4nc. com - Phone ( 51 a) 639- 0639- tax (5101 639 - 9116 - 24/ 7/ 365 Trol6c Signal Service 1- 18441, UGH166

Page 210



Statement of Qualifications

51, Francis Electric ( SFE) agrees to provide routine p;evenlotive mointenance services, prompt
scheduled repair, emergency response, non -emergency response, and routine Underground Service
Alert ( USA) to the Town' s 1603 street lights, 119 parking lot fights, and 30 traffic signals traffic signols. 

SFE wit make every effort to satisfy the Town of Los Gatos in responding to the 24/ 7 emergency tolls. All
Emergency calls " It be responded to within one hour following nolHicolton from the Town. SHE has large
warehouse capacity, resources and inventory in Son Jose and Son Leandro to support the Town of Los

Gatos and enables us to guarantee quick response tknes. SFE agrees to provide and maintain

emergency service response of the Town' s traffic signals on a twenty -tour ( 24) hour o day, seven ( 7) 
days per week basis, including all holidays. SFE has a 24171366 telephone service for taking calls for
reported inoperoble signals and lighting and all calls will be logged: 1- ( 844)- LiGHT88

SFE underslands the Scope of work for this Lighting and lnatfic Signal Maintenance and Repair Service. 
At a minimum, SFF will provide services to all items listed in the RFP tot the monihty routine maintenance. 
srE will also manually record inspection information and submit with recommendations to the Town of
Los Gatos. 

St. Francis Electric is one of the largest electrical companies in Northern California with a staff of
experienced traffic signal technicians, electricians, project managers/ engineers, estimators, 
fleei/ molntenonce crew 8 a California licensed Professional CMI and Traffic Engineer to support our
client' s needs. SFE' s experienced traffic signal technicians have previously worked on. or are currently
working far, local governments n providing Traffic signal and street lighting maintenance. Our
technicians are dedicated, enthusiastic and innovative in the day - today moinlenance services. SFE' s
experienced team supports the technicians and the public agencies we serve with regards to
equipment knowledge, implementation, programming, troubleshooting, and installation. One key
factor that sets as apart from the typical maintenance contractor' s the ability to provide " IN- HOUSE" 
traffic engineering services to our clients. With a local office and yard In San Jose and San Leandro, SFE
wx provide traffic signal and street light maintenance for the town of Los Gatos to the Cities utmost
salisfncliom

SFE also has complete stock of 3321NEWA cabinets, service pedestals, poles. DLC. Loop wire, traffic signal
wire, signal LEDs in assorted sizes, conduit, pug boxes, lids, etc. SFF' s vast inventory of equipment and
material enables us to support any maintenance and emergency service needs. This has proven very
critical lot emergency service such as Iroffic signallsfieetgghl knock downs. in such cases, SFE has the
inventory in house available immediately as opposed to the typical 3 -6 month wailing period fa a
permanent replacement pole that other maintenance contractor would need without the Inventory. 

Proposed Personnel

Joshua @ ge dSe / ,ipnallfechnidan' 

Allen Chen Transportation Engineering Manager

Monicohl
Vance A Gonzales Consultant Project Manager and Signal Technician

S1ept anie Amoral Prq)eci AdmiNslroli9e.5srppptl' ' 
Noriel Pangoniban Foreman/ Troffic Signal Technicion /Electricion

pintNu SeniorifglfscVginpl14chnicipnJlbbTechiklpn . 

St. Francis EKMMC I Aond C - 10 Lkft o Controcior 1 975 Cvden 51. Son Leontlro CA 94577
w, kfwnr nom- Phone 1510) 639. 0639 - Fan 7510) 639- 9116- 24/ 7/ 365 traffic Signal Service 1. 1644i- L IGHTti6

Page 211



Wes Perry Superintendent

Michael Watchers Traffic Signal/ Street. Light lecht icion/ aectricion -, 

Michael Delgado Traffic Signal /Street Light Technician

JonolhahBAlley:. TraHic3ignoV . 5lrBef: Li htjechhicipn.. 

Joseph Munoz Traffic SlgnoVStreet Light Technician

Summarized Resume

Joshua BaOey Maintenance Division MonageT/ Troffic Signal Techniclon

15 years of experience in the Traffic Signal and Street Light business in maintenance, construction, 

Inspection, testing. repairs, and modification for public agencies from the Bay Area through Central
Volley. Joshua has a reputation for providing excellent customer service and top notch lechnicol
knowledge when it comes to traffic signal and ITS. 

Y Supervisor responsible for managing 404 employees; 

Y Previously worked for the City of Livermore as a Traffic Signal Technician: 

Y IMSA Level I & II field and Bench and Level III Field Certified; 

Stale Certfed General Electrician: 

Y NCCCO Certified Crone Operator with CDL " A" License; 

Y Experienced with CCTV installation, maintenance and troubleshooting: 

Y 124 years of multiple Video Defection Instailotion and maintenance, specifically: Iteris, 
Autoscope, TraHicon 8 Atdis; 

Y Current " C -10 Eleciricol" and "A- General Engineering" License qualifier for CSLB; 
Y Versed in 170 and NEMA controller programming: 

Y Traffic signal communication: ETA Certified, ceriffied fiber optics installer. 

D Experienced in TS - 1. TS -2, and 332 cabinet troubleshooting and modification: 

Alien Chen P. E., T. E. Transportation Engineering Manager

Alien is on experienced Traffic and Civil Engineer. He specialties in traffic signal operation, traffic signal
and ITS equipment trouble shooting, signal design and modification, communication system design, 
coordination liming, / rotfic solely improvement, traffic control, and traffic coiming. Allen i3 an enthusiast
in serving the public to achieve a safer and better file for the citizens. 

Y Registered California Professional Civil Engineer ( C 67936); 

Y Registered California Professional Traffic Engineer { TR 2368); 

Y IMSA Work Zone Safety Certification H Level I Traffic Signal Field; 
Y MS Degree in Mechanical Engineering, Cal Poly, San Luis Obispo, CA: 

Y BS Degree In Civil Engineering. COI Poly, San Luls Obispo. CA; 
Y Previously worked with the City of Fremont and City of Santa Rosa as o traffic engineer, 

managing operalions of 200+ traffic signals; 
D Experienced traffic engineer ( 13 years) in operation of traffic signal, signal cabinet ( NEMA TS - 1, 

TS - 2, & 332) and controller ( 170, 207D, 8 NEMA). TMC/ TOC, traffic signal communication systems, 

51. Francis Electric I A and C d D licensed Contractor 1 975 Corden S1. Son leandro CA 94577
www. sfe- inc.com- Pnone IS I OI 639- 0639 - Fan (510) 639. 9116 - 74/ 7/ 3651raffc Signal Service 1- 18441- LIGHTBB

Page 212



Rugged Com and Actelis swilches Installation, troubleshooting, and progromming, and
Intelligent Transportation Systems ( ITS); 

Y Technical savvy in ITS: traffic signal communication system networking, fiber optic network and
switch, Ethernet over copper Switch. equipment programming, Traffic Management Center
setups, CCTV camera, various presence detection systems. and pre- emption systems, 

Extensive experience in developing traffic signal coordination and traffic signal timing; Proficient
in troubleshooting and solving traffic signal timing related issues and provide professional
solutions; 

Y Applied ono managed grant funding for transportation engineering pr,ojecls; 
Y Managed Customer Service Request( CSR) program - proficient In serving the community and

understands the importance of excellent customer service. 

s Supervisory experience In managing 15 manufacturing employees and 3 traffic engineering
technicians; 

Monica Kint Project Monager / Estimator

Ms. KIM has almost a decade of experience in the Traffic Signal, ITS, and Street Ught industry as a
distributor & project manager. Monica has excellent relolionships with monulociurers, contractor, 
municipalities. Regional Transportation Associations, and Stale Department of Transportations. Monica is
experienced also as an estimator: with extensive vendor relationships she will provide the most cost
effective equipment for any mointenonce needs. 

AAS Degree in Business Software and Accounting; 
Y Extensive experience with estimating & takeofts of Traffic Signal Equipment; 

Y Experienced in scheduling, coordinating field work, support cats and Intersection lum -on: 

Previously worked a) Western Pacific Signal as Product Monager /Estimator as the main point of
contact for all morndocturers; 

Provided inside safes supper to (3) soles technicians from N. California 10 Washington; 

Experienced in the Installation and programming of Accessible Pedestrian Systems: 
Y Provided forecasts and maintained project schedules & equipment: 

Y Experienced with certified payroll, monthly utilization reports & insurance documents; 
l Ftim111or with Coltrons Specifications and MLHCD requirements; 

Vance A. Gonzales Consulloni Project Manager and Signal Technician

Over 25 years of experience In Traffic Signal manufacturing, maintenance, troubleshooting, installation
and turn on support. Vance is cunenily with ITERIS as a Product Support Engineer and wolf provide
consultant services in SFE to lead the maintenance support. Vance has extensive experience from
manufacturing, insloilolton, engineering, trouble shooting, testing within the traffic signal industry. Vance
has IMSA level III certification. 

Y Supervising and management experience; 

D IMSA Level 1 & II & III & Senior field Level III Certified, IMSA Traffic Signal Inspector Certified, USA
Fiber Optic Certified, and IMSA Traffic Maintenance Certified ( IMSA Certification IDk: 54370 Far
Western Section); 

Y Factory trained TSt and TS2- Econolite. Siemens, and Nozfec; 

51. rroncis Beckc I A and C -10 Uoenied Contractor 1 975 Corde . Sl. Son Leon& c CA 94577
wwvr sle- me cam - Phone 1510) 639 -0639 - Fax ) 510) 639- 9 116 - 24/ R3651rotBe Spool Service 1- 1644)- LIGH186

Page 213



Extensive training from Ell - LIC Berkeley, Adaptive traffic systems, 170/ 2070 controller - Scletran
and McCain, ITS cabinet and controller, signal liming, coordination, and design: 

Experienced in video detection on all manufacturing - Ileris, Na7lec, Fill. Aldis, Auloscope, and
Leddadec; 

D Experienced in Traffic Management Center Installation & in wireless communication 900. 2 .4 4. 9
5. 8

D Experienced In traffic signal communication networks - fiber, Ethernet over copper ( Acieiis). and

various types of managed switches and servers, video management software; 

x 10 years with SMI Peek In traffic signal equipment installation and maintenance, 4 years with

Syneronex in installation and cabinet modification, 11 years with ITERIS In trolftc equipment

installation, video detection, Clary battery backup system and Encom Rodios; 

j Noriel Ponganiban Foremon7Tratfic Signal Technician / ElecMcion ( Primary Signal tech) 

NOnel nos over 2u years of experience in traffic signal and street lighting maintenance service for the
major Cities in the Boy Area such as the City of Fremont and Hayward. Noriel has been a primary
responder for many emergency calls such as traffic signal pole and cabinet knock downs and Is very
knowledgeable In trouble - shooing controllers and ITS equipment. 

D Traffic signal technician / electricion wlih IMSA cerlificatlons; 

D Resides in San Jose, CA w8hin 18 miles of Los Gatos

D Proficient with Eagle EPAC, Naztec Apogee, BI -iron Systems software; 

Y Experienced with traffic signal cabinet insfaliation. maintenance & trouble shooting ( NEMA TS - I
TS - 2, P. M. and 332): 

Y Knowledgeable in Battery Backup Systems to include Alpha. Dimensions. Myers, and Tesco: 

D Experienced with Video Detection software and maintenance. specificolly Iterls, Auloscope, 
Trafficon, Aldh: 

D Qualified for ITS equipment installation and repair; 

Y Extensive experience in traffic signal interconnect system installation and troubleshooting; 

Y Traffic Signal Maintenance & construction for 18 years

Dinh Vu Senior Troffrc Signal Technician/ Lab Technician

61nh has over 40 years of experience In traffic signal and street fighting maintenance service lot the
major cities in the Bay Area. Dinh has been a primary responder to many emergency calls such as
traffic signal pole and cabinet knock downs and is very knowledgeable in trouble - shooting controllers
and ITS equipment. 

Y 20+ years of NEMA & Non NEMA ( 332) cabinet testing, certification and repair

Y Traffic signal technician / eleclticion with IMSA traffic Signal lechnician Bench / Feld Level 11

Certifications; 

D Resides in San Jose, CA within 12 miles of Los Galas: 

D Proficient with Eagle EPAC, Nazlec Apogee, BI -Tron Systems software; 

D Experienced with traffic signal cabinet installation, maintenance & trouble shooting ( NEMA TS- 

I 7S- 2, P, M. and 332): 

Y Knowledgeable in Battery Backup Systems to include Alpha, Dimensions. Myers, and Tesco: 

St, FranCIS 50CI c I A and C -10 Licensed Contaclot 1 975 Cordon $1. Son Leandro CA 91577
wvr,.. fenhc com- PhOM 16101 63F- 009- fox 15101639. 9116 - 240/ 3651roHic Signal Service 1- 1644KIGMU

Page 214



Y Experienced wiih Video Defection software and maintenonce, specifically Ileris. Auioscope, 
bofficon, Aldis; 

Y Quaffed for ITS equipment Installation and repot

Y Extensive experience in trofiic signal interconnect system installation and troubleshooting: 
Y Traffic Signal Maintenance & Construction for 40 years; 

Y Certified electronic technician for over 30 years; 

Y CMU /MMU testing & certification with the latest ATSI PCMT- 8000letter

Wes provides support in maintenance services such as USA, detection loop installation, street fight and
traffic signal pole knockdown installation, foundations, and traffic signoUstreei lighting conduit
installations. 

Y Traffic signal maintenance & construction for 20 years; 

D Resides in San Jose, CA within 9 miles of Los Gatos

S OSHA - 30 hours of training; 

Y IMSA Work Zone Safety Certification & Level I Traffic Signal Feld; 

D Extensive knowledge of induction loop installation and repair; 

Y Extensive experience with CafTrons On -Coil TOS Maintenance; 

Y Sensys Networks Installation and Certification; 

Y VIA Solely Training and Certification; 

Y CalTrdfn Safely Training and Certification; 

Michael has over 10 years of experience in street lighting installation & maintenance service for the
major cities in the Bay Area such as the City of Fremont, Hayward and Redwood City. Michael has
been a primary lead installer for LED retrofit projects in Polo Alto, Monterey, San Ramon, San Leandro
and Sacramento County. These successful retrofit projects have a combined total of well over 30,000
tights. 

Y IMSA work Zone Safety Certification & Level l Traffic Signal Feld; 

Y Possesses strong written and oral sloth when ded ing with cutiomers and professionals; 

Y Proficient in Street Light troubleshooting and general electrician work; 
Y Slate Certified General Electrician

Y Experienced with CCTV inslollolion, maintenance and troubleshooting
Y 6+ years of multiple Video Defection Instalolion and maintenance, specifically: Hero. 

Autoscope, Trofticon & Aldis. 

Y Traffic Signal Maintenance & construction for 8 years

51. Fronds Electric I A and C- 101iceged Confracicr 1976 Carden St, son Leandro CA 91577
w . de -inc, m - Phw 15101639 A639 - Far 15101639. 9116 - 71/ 7/ 965 traffic SignolService 1. 1644iifGM8e

Page 215



Michael Delgado Traffic Signal /Slreel Light Technician / Eiectricfan

Michael Delgado has 20 years of experience in traffic signal and street lighting installation f
maintenance service and miscellaneous electrical work in conduit, conductor, and switched. 

Y IMSA Work Zone Safety Certification & Level I Traffic Signal Field; 

Y Resides In Son Jose. CA within 1 T miles of Los Gatos: 

D State Cerfifled General Electrician; 

Y Extensive knowledge of traffic signal controller programming NEMA and 170; 

Experienced with traffic signal cabinet installation, maintenance & trouble shooting ( NEMA TS - 1

TS -2, F, M, and 3321; 

F Specialized in re- romping of street fight fixtures and troubleshooting wire problems; 

D Experienced in troubleshooting communication systems and vehicle detection ( loop and video): 

Y Traffic Signal Maintenance & construction for 18 years; 

LJonathan Bailey Traffic Signal/ Street Light Technician

Jonathan is versed in fighting and maintenance repair. He is also responsive to street light and Iraffic
signal pole knockdowns and installation. 

Y Street Light/ Traffic Signal combined maintenance & repoir for 5 years; 

D USA Work Zone Safety Certification & Level I Traffic Signal Feld; 

Y Experience in re- lamping of street right fixtures and troubleshooting wire problems; 
D OSHA - 10 hours of training

Joseph Munoz Traffic Signal / Slreel Light Technician

Joseph has over 6 years of experience in traffic s

service for the major agencies in the Northern Co

has been a primary lead installer for LED retrofit
combined total of well over 15, 000 lights. 

not and street righting installation & mainlenance
lornia Area such as the Town at Los Gatos. Joseph
pro)ecis. These successful retrofit projects have a

Y O-ASA Work Zone Safety Certification & Level I Traffic Signal Field; 

Y Possesses strong written and oral skills when dealing with customers and prolessionals: 

D Trained for MMU /CMU lesfing /cedification with newest PMCT -8000 ATSI tester. 

Y Experience in re- lomping of street light fixtures and troubleshooting wire problems. 

51. Fronds Electric I A ono C -10 Lloenreo Controctd 1 976 Corcien Si. Son LEanf$ o CA 94577
wwsv sjp - Inc com- Phone 15101 639 -D639- Fax (510) 639- 9116 - 241713M Traffic signal Service 1- ( 844 )-UGHI68

Page 216



Organtxcllon Chad t
w, srMn

vr. Cpe. rlwW I• , 

FSt. rancis Electric Maintenance Team

Ymuvonuon [ ndnesrxy
Mh. Whx vAN. eo b

MenAEn  - 
MeMenan < e DIW/ rpn MANES  l SpedJly ( oauhnn

Ayn DUMem

hoym EntlnKr   

1 YAwYWbn1 l EMrrwtor

l...

v' gm EnpYne. r '. 

NoMEANeW. n - j 1- -
WM Eerry rW9MaeAm. N

t EornnM ATtl /'. 

m. l. 
j [

auvuelm I a+htl MmM/ 

1. - EknrlNn J SupeMSS. eem

r - 

l ._,_ 
1 _. 

pMV' *. Ayle

StNW 1rIMKS14N CffM EA  
MDOIf

1 ... 
TAtlMtrin I 

wEa. mm
oDMANEn

1, 
B1k1wka

lino Tfff° 
94h ENlivrwx

1 Ts 7ed./ E4Niwn j !
E" 

14MA1WIFIp! 

SUpperi
MkMetpEkWO I

anderny. nu
Tf YeCxlF4elrltlse

1
benrm

bnahAn BApeY ' I pen aMwe
7S,r4L leeMirisn j uza fyer. Ahr ' 

bsepT Mures EhAIn IDYe .. 

TvuTeshne., pkmuee.. - 

St. FianG! 6eclric j A and C- IOOOanfed Contractor j 975 Corden St. Son Leandro CA 94577
www. ste- inrcorn- Phone 15101, S39- 0639- Fox ( 5101 e,39- 9114- 24/ 7/ 365 1rolfc Signal Service 1- 18441- UGH160

Page 217



Equipment

The following is o list at equipment owned by SFE, which Is available for use on the proposed work as
required: 

5

Dump Truck ( Ford. GMC, and Ram) 

Bucket Truck, Diesel Gas + Running Great San Jose

3 Bore Machine. --  -_ -- Running Great Son Leandro

3 J Crane— Running Great Son Leandro , 

17 Dump Truck ( Ford. GMC, and Ram) Running Great San Leandro

3 Bore Machine. --  -_ -- Running Great Son Leandro

American/ Verrneer/ Ditch WBch

I
2~ Bore Truck  RunrVng Groot Son Leandro

116 Avow Board, Bemis Allmond. Eclips. Excellent Son Leandro

Wanco, SolorTech, and Avow Master

f3 Concrete Sow, Meco and Core Cut Running Great Son Leandro

123 Hotbed truck, Ford, GMC, and Chevy Running Great Sort Leandro

C4 Generator, Mutliequxpi Excellent San Leandro

3 Sow Truck, Ford Running Groot Son Leandro j

i6 Trencher, Ditch Wilch and Vermeer Running Great Son Leandro

7 Light Tower Running Great Son Leandro

J Conflict Monitor Tester ( ATSI/ PCMT Excellent Brand New Son Leandro

I 8000, CMU /MMU Tester) 
i. 
t 25+ Type - I5 Street Light Poles J New

u -- 

Son Leandro

0+ 1 A, 18, and i D Poles New Son Leandro

30+ SV and iv Framework Hardware New Son Le iild ro

i25+ Assorted C to 15' Luminaire Amu New San

Leandro100+ 70w io 400w HPS LumtnaUes New San Leandro

10+ Pod Posts New Son Leandro

20+ B" 3- section Vehicle Signals New Son Leandro

F3-0,+' 12" 3- section Vehicle Signals New Son Leandro

Si. 9ronce Electric I A and C -10 ucenwd ConiraCiar 1 975 Careen Sf. Son Leandro CA 94577
w . sfe, Inc com- Phone( 510) 639- 0639- Fa+ 16101639Afi6- 24/ 7 / 365traffic Sig SeMOe 1. 184AHIC4188

Page 218



References

the table below summarizes the list of Maintenance and On -Call Accounts that 51. Francis Electric has
established. We ore proud of our customer service and encourage the Town of Los Galas to verity the
references and ask their customer satisfaction with SFE. 

51. Francis Electric i A and C - 10 Licensed Conliocio, 1 975 Carden 51. Son Leandro CA 94577
w.» vsle - inc Phone J61014394) 639 - Fox ( 5101439- 9116 - 24/ 7/ 365 Trotlic Sgnal Sence 1- 1844)- LIGH188

City of Traffic Signal Doug 209) 831- 5619 2014/ 3 -yrti 9 Traffic Signals and 2
Mountain Maintenance b Louie diouie6sioov oro Iiluminoted Cross Walks
House CSD RepowS

ervices

City of Traffic Signal Benjamin 1530) 822 -4783 2014 / 1 - yr +4 38 Traffic Signals
Yuba City Maintenance Moody hmoodyevubacity

Services

City of Street Light Mike 925) 931 - 5555 2014/ 1 - yr +2 7003 Street Lights
Pleasanton Maintenance 6 Truscott mlruscoll@ctivotol

Repol, services easontonco.aov

city of Street Light Glenda 1209) 831. 5619 2014/ 3 -yr + 1 1444 Street Lights
Mountain Maintenance 8 Zurbito_ Dzurbilo® sioov.ora

House CSD Repair Services

City of Traffic Signal Andrew 1650) 55B -7237 201 S / Annually 14 Traffic Signals and 4
4ur8ngame Maintenance 8 Wong awongkburlinoom RRFBs

Repair Services a ora

City of Traffic Signal Or~ Jose 831) 758- 7197 2014 / Annuody On -Colt Services for 106
Salinas Coll Services Soucedo iosescuV6, solinas. traffic Signals. 4 Flash

co. us Beacons, 1 Lighted Cross

Walk, and 2 RRFBs

CRY of Traffic Signal. Chip King 925) 260 - 4874 2014 / Annually On -Call for All Public
Livermore Street Light, and Glki Lgii, ci. livermor Works Needed Services

odd -ons On -Coll g gg, from Traffic Slgnol to
Repair Services Street Lights, RRFBs, and

others

Caflrant Traffic Operation Salvador 510) 377 -4186 2013/ On going service Entire Callions
District 4 Maintenance Borrayo Satvodoe bouavo District 4 for Loop Repairs, 

and Repots 2allAco. 00 v Wine Theft and damage. 
Services

CCTV, CMS, Traffic Signal

and Street Lighting Repair
and Maintenance

City of Daly ironic Signal and Tom 650) 991 - 8167 2014 / On going On -Call fair All Public
city Street Light On Laz erir9

tlauerin4dalvcii Works Needed Services
Cod Repai• from Traffic Signal to
Services v.ora

Street Lights. RRFBs, and

others

City of Traffic Signal and Dona 925) 766. 6542 2014 10n going On -Call lot All Public
Lafayette Street Light On- Feehon DFeehan® cdolov Works Needed Services

Coll Repor ette. co. us from Traffic Signal to
Services

Street Lights, RUBS, and

other., 

51. Francis Electric i A and C - 10 Licensed Conliocio, 1 975 Carden 51. Son Leandro CA 94577
w.» vsle - inc Phone J61014394)639 - Fox ( 5101439- 9116 - 24/ 7/ 365 Trotlic Sgnal Sence 1- 1844)- LIGH188

Page 219



City of Traffic Signal Agnes Liu 1707) 259. 3251 201 t /Annuolly 69 Traffic Signals and
Vacaville Emergency On- cones Iiuccitvotvo Equipment

Cal! Repair Cavite com

Services

Fremont Engineering
Consultant

Services

u:GTxFI7u671 engineering consullont

services to the City over
traffic engineering design, 
dotty operation, and
ircinina. 

Most of our Maintenance Division staff has previously worked for either a Traffic Signal & Street Light
Maintenance Contractor or directly for a Government agency. We have a very strong and thorough
learn of Project Managers, technicians 8 engineers in order to serve the most sophisticated traffic signal

needs. St. Francis Beciric has NO Negative History to report. 

SFE Maintenance Warehouse

SFE Testing Facility

S1. Franco Electric 1 A and CA Licensed Contractor 1 975 Cara" St. Son LeorWro CA 94577
wwwsicJnccom- Prone 1510) 6394) 635 - Fax 1510) 639- 9116- 24j7/ 36S 1r01fic Sigral Service 1- 1614). 11GOSS

Page 220



Work Plan

SFE' s maintenance learn intends to approach this maintenance contract with 10D% honest mentality
and 10 provide the best customer service experience for the Town of Los Gatos and its citizens. SFE
understands that, as a maintenance contractor, we represent the Town while working on the streets. 
Many of our team members hove worked for municipalities; therefore we always thrive to provide
honest, responsive, and Innovated services to our clients. 

Once selected. SFE will work with the Town of Los Gatos 10 implement the maintenance service contract
as smoothly as possible by July 01, 2015. If necessary. SFE offers to provide interim services during the
transition before the contract begins to ovoid interrupted maintenance for the Town. SFE will assign
local electricians when responding to the routine maintenance and emergency response services. 

SFE owns and operates approximately 100 service vehicles of various types and sizes throughout
Northern California. 10 help ensure safety, our maintenance crews use hydraulic " bucket" truck with
aerial fills which are Occupational Safety and Health Administration ( OSHA) approved, inspected and
certified as required by law. Our bucket trucks are typically equipped with the most common traffic
signal gear, poles. and street light replacement parts to service most emergency responses such as pole
knock downs. In addition, SFE' s vehicles ore equipped with a permanently mounted arrow board /stick, 
warning beacon /strobe fights, traffic cones 8 construction warning signs. Our " bucket truck" hydraulic
till is capable of reaching a height of at f sosi forty ( 40) feel from the roadway surfaces. Our technicians
are equipped with necessary laptops for the programming / testing of traffic signal conirotlers. 
CMU /MMU, Camera monitoring ( CCTV, Video, etc), and various equipment. In addition, all SFE
employees wilt be equipped with a smoriphone / mobile tablet with 4G LTE access capable of email, 
text, photo, and inlernel. SFE 6 committed to maintain on inventory of o9 signal equipment used by the
Town of Los Gatos. This commitment will ensure the Town avoiding long wait time on some equipment
such as traffic signal poles. 

SFE will make every effort 10 satisfy the Town of Los Gatos in responding to the 24/ 7 emergency calls. All
Emergency calls will be responded to within one hour following notification from the Town. In addition, 
our primary technicians assigned to the Town of Las Gatos reside within Santa Clara County in order to
respond to emergency services efficiently. SFE agrees to provide and maintain emergency service
response of the Town' s traffic signals on a twenty -four ( 24) hour a day, seven ( 7) days per week basis, 
including all holidays. SFE' s 24[ 7/ 365 traffic signal telephone service: 1- ( 844)- LIGHT88. 

SfE understands the Scope of Work for this Lighting and Trolfic Signal Monlenance and Repair Service. 
This includes approximately 1603 street lights, 119 parking lot lights, 30 traffic signals, and a USA locating
and morking service. For street lights, SFE agrees to provide 24 -how on -call services for fepou of street
light outoges and 24 -hour phone service Taking fight outage calls, perform night checks jquoriedy) for
light outages, response to and repair of trouble calls within the specified time, installation of lights as
requested, and regular submission to the Town of accurately maintained and detailed work records. For
traffic signal, SFE agrees to perform monthly preventive maintenance of all 30 traffic signals, repair and
replacement of any traffic signal control devices as requested, regular submission to the Town of
accurate activity records and reports of any and all work and service calls related to the Town' s traffic
signals, and response to all service request In a timely manner. For parking lot fights, SFE agrees to
perform night checks ( quarterly), response to and repair fight and regular submission to the Town of
accurately maintained work records. Al a minimum. SFF will provide services to all Items listed in the RFF
for the monthly ma nienance. 

SL Ifonds aOCVIC I A mur CAO licensed COnlrcclor 1 975 Carden St. San leanoro CA 94577
w 51CMC cam - Ftq ( 510) 639-0679- FM( 5101839 - 9118 - 14/ 7/ 365 Lofhc SiOnplService I- fe4414IGH166

Page 221



All reported Inoperable street lights and parking lot lights will be serviced and repo'ved within five ( 5) 
working days or less. SFE agrees to provide c technician designated for the Town of Los Gatos wiih c
minimum five years of experience in lighting. general electrical operation, maintenance, and repair. In
oddHion, SFE' 3 traffic signal technician will be experienced in the operation and maintenance of

Fconollfe, and various NEMA controllers currently in use by the Town of Los Gatos. SFE' s traffic signal
technicians also have knowledge and experience of the operation and maintenance of inductive

traffic loops, video detection systems, emergency vehicle preemption devices, Iwisted par
iniermnnecf, and fiber optic coWes. SFE has o dedicated traffic engineer with extensive experience in

traffic signal design, operation, and maintenance to support our lechniclons In everyday operation and
maintenance. 

SFF agrees to manage all lighting and traffic signal related materials and devices under warranty. SFE
often o twelve ( 12) months warranty for all work and installed new materiols and three ( 31 months
warranty for all temporary Instofied replacement. SFE often o large shop and storage facility for the
town of Los Galas to house all necessary staff under the contract Including a traffic signal controller
cabinet testing IocilHy capable of twenty -one day bench testing In accordance to Catfran<_ and Town
spedicatlons. 

A monthly computerized report will be provided to the Town of Los Gatos to support every Invoice. The
report will include maintenance togs indicating doles, times, sites, work performed and technlcion' s
name as well as other required Hems Fisted in this RFP. The log shall be provided in Excel file formal
agreed by the Town. SFE agrees to maintain and provide all required maintenance /service tome
Attachment D. E. F, and G). A copy of the completed maintenance and service forms. In electronic

formal, shall be submitted to Town staff monthly. SFE agrees to maintain o copy of the monthly activity
report ( either electronic or hordcopy), maintenance / service forms. conflict monftot test result, and any
service records for o period of not less than rive years. SFE will meet with Town sloti, when deemed
necessary on a monthly basis or a muluolly agreed upon time and place to review maintenance
activities, operational and repair activities. pending work. estimates, work quolily. and any Hems related
to SFE' s work under this contract. 

SFE retains and will have readily available, in functioning order, of required tools. equipment. 
apparatus, facilities, and motenots needed to perform all work necessary to moinidn and repair the
traffic signals and other Town equipment, in compliance with current Coltrons and Town of Los Gatos
standards and specifications. 

At SFE, we understand the importonce for the Town of Los Gatos to provide quality service to its
residents: therefore. we ore here to do Just that our focus is to provide the Town with high quality, cost
effective, trouble free, and innovative maintenance. 

In order to better service the Town of Los Gatos, SFE will provide on online real -time electronic database
service. SFE recognizes that speed, efficiency. and comprehensive service ore the keys to customer
satisfaction In our Industry. Wflh this In mind, we ore constantly seeking innovative ways to Improve our
service delivery. SFE is proud to present Sdestace"", our computerized electronic maintenance and
inventory management system. This cloud -based application iepresenis what we believe to be the
forefront of customer account management and maintenance tracking in our industry. Los Gatos' 
Soleslorce'" account wdl include o complete fist of all of the Town' s intersections, equipment inventory. 
o log of repair and replacement ports, and records of oil emergency calls received Lot the Town. 

51. Fonds Elecirr I A antl C- 10 ticen d CoMrodor 1 975 Corden 51. Son Leandro CA 94577
www f : nccm- Phone ( 5101 639-0 699 - Fox ( 510) 639- 9116 - $ 4/ 7/ 365 ironic 319M, service 1. 18441- LIGMes

Page 222



Essential key lunctions of this online database are mode ovoilabie to the Town Traffic Engineer and
oufhorizrd agent( s) to monitor maintenance, service call history and review an octivitles performed by
SFE lechnicians working in the Town. 

The information handled by Salesforcem includes: 

Service Request Management and Scheduling. Including time stomping and dispatching. 
Scheduled Maintenance Management and Scheduling. 
Intersection Defogs, inventories of equipment, maps, CAD drawing, timing sheets, etc. 
Report Generation: including invoices, materials use, etc. 

Inventory control, Including real -time frocking of available and installed equipment. 
Information available fo view or download through the Customer Portal, which includes: 

Real -time status of Scheduled Maintenance and Service Request calls. 
Real- time Intersection Inventories. 

Reol -time Equipment Inventories. 

Intersection maintenance histories, maps, CAD drawings, digital photographs, 

Account Information, such as contacts and billing. 

Li,N a.. a. a: yn_. t, [ «.r «ti:mioi ypu uamrrr.. 

SalesforceTM customer Portal

SI. hands Electric I A and C• 10 LiMMd Contractor 1 97$ Carden St. Son Leandro CA 94577
www.stc -im. rom - Phone 15101 639-0639- Fox 15101639. 9116 - 2417/ 365 Trarfic Sbace, Service 1. 1844) dIG11108

1 I

Page 223



Quality Control
In order to ensure good quolity from SFE staff. we believe in proper foresight and preparation. We train
our technicians to IMSA, OSHA, State speck requirements, Coltrons specs, and Vendor Specific
stondards. We supply the " right fools" for the job. from hand fools to heavy equipment. Once the
proper toots and training are supplied, we can then progressively inspect and ensure proper production
and quality levels are met. 

Inspection: We regularly and randomly inspect our technician' s qualify and thoroughness. We strive to
see things" from our customer' s perspective. When performing maintenance on Traffic Signals and

Street Lights, we believe that the efforts we put into the qualify of our service prolongs the life and

efficiency of the components. 

It /when poor workmonst-Jp were to arise. SFE will assume o professional position and will make every
effort to bring quality back up to the proper standards immediately. Our quality of work not ony gives
us prolonged business, but more importantly ensures the safety of the general public. We stand behind
our work I OD%. 

St, Francis Eleekic I A and C• 10 tiwnwc1 Co iraclor 1 975 Carden St. Son tewdra CA 94577
my aM4rra. c om - Phoro 16101639- 0639- Fox 15101699. 9116 - 74/ 7/ 365 Irolk Sipnol Service 1. 16441- 1IGh188

Page 224



rr15

Proposal Form

lfe u'eflerWied proposer hereby oaere to perform ie negjaed services for the loaowinp prlce(s) In strut
compliance wuh the specifications, term. and wriddwns set fotth m Bias Reoresl for Proposals

A. Street Ltoht Maintenance and Repair Flat Rates

Montfdy Rates 9' 1. 1 a P. Sheet Light

B. Traffic Siam[ Preventive Maintenance F M Rates

Monthly Rates $ 1 DS Per Intersection

C. Parking Lot Liaht Maintenance and Repair Fiat Rates

Monthly Rates 31 . I q Rs Lig1Y

0. USA lUnderaround Service Alert] Locatino and Markina Fiat Rates

Pei ThArel Rates $ 70 Per Trcket

E. labor Rates for Eatra Wwk, As Required

Work. as Required

FAulognent catecion, 

Lehor Costs rt 51 lefiecl Prevailing wago$ 

Buckel truck 30

Lahor Category straight Mre Overtime

65

limier noun K per ` 1
Ioumeymon 110 4190

Foiemon 125 220

Laborer 65 5105

Clone Opafalol 65 9. 150

F. Equipment Rates for Fatra Work. as Required

FAulognent catecion, 1 Fat hour

Buckel truck 30

Dump 1 wck 9. 25

Crone iruct. 65

Compressor D

Arrow Board U

51. Fronde Bechlc I A and C - 10 Licensed Contractor 1975 Colden St. Son Lc ndro CA 91577
w , sig- inter., p - Phone 15101639-0639 - Fog 15101639. 9116- 24/ 7/ 3651rofl,c Signal Serice I• 1644)- LIGHIBB

Page 225



nl,, 

G. Miscellaneous Liahtine Services. ExUa Repair

l4dass othemise note& rands shall include labor. equiprrwnl. and malerials. 

1 Incbk Town Standard HMS Fixture ( nonEecoralare) b265 Each

2 Insist Town Slandard LED aght 6dwe( rondeco2lrve) 5550 Each

3 Inaba Town Iumshed IV% fedunt 5110 Each

4 IMIEN NN pole with arm on ekibfing founaellon- Octeflule pole 524500 Each

5 Insist 62m Fide wen erm on eMausts foods lion - Type 15 Fide 1. 850 Each

6
htcal aght pole with Town furnished arm on exidirig loundelton - 
Octellule pole

y2, 1 OD Each

7
1 pde

Installl amNpole with Town furnished a on eKsUM loandation - Type 51. 650 Each

B. Construct kgM pole foutioaaon and reatere affected sidewalk 13. 400 Each

9 Construct agnt pole foundation all realm alreoted area ( M odewelk) Each

10 6lslea Town furnished 1gM pole and am
9 Each

11 install lumYeae arm on exist lg Octalfule Fide
3325 Each

12. Insss hminaue arm on erg" Type 15 pole+ 325 Each

13, Insall Town lvra6hed laminae arm 205 Each

14 small pule box ( 03 ri) and resters a" ected dMwalk 5800 Each

16 Install pus box ( 03 ri> and reatae *" acted sale ( no sidewalk) 285 Each

H. MisceRarleous Traffic Sianal Services, Extra Repair

llnloss othemiuo noted. ralex Shall ineludo lab". equipment, arid materials. All vehicle signuf

indications Shull he 12- LED' s, ( 191, 0 or appnn' od equal. Ali lx d&xIrian signal indications shall he
pedestrian mmidnlsn. GcWn: LED' s or approved equal. 

1 frewlationol Pole

a) 113 Pole on new foundation and restore afecteel sidewalk 12. 800 Each

b) 1B Polo on new foundation and testae a" ectedaree( no 6Foew21k) 11, 450 EaM

C) 18 Pole on ekietntg Foundation
1575 Each

d) PPS post with ADA push bed" assembly on new pow demon
900 EaM

e) PPBpeat win ADApwhbu " ona66eodlfonekl6lirpbvWe " on Each

2 asuaxation of naluf} We Leaps' 

51. Fronoh EiechiC I A Find C. 10 OCerned COnIrOCla 1975 Callen St. Son Leondm CA 94577
ww-w•_ I h ern - phone 15101 639 -0639- Fox( 5101639. 9116 - 2417 /3651roflic Signd Service l- (Bl4)- LIGFIr86

Page 226



wl. 

St. koncd ElechiC I A dnd C - 10 4oensed Conkacfor 1 975 Cordon St. San Lednd o CA 94577
y+ww.sl_ a -inc cam - phone 1510109 -0639 - fax 15 10; 6394116 - 24/ 7/ 365 1ral6c Signal Service 1- 16441. 11GMS6

at 6Y6 TypE A 6. D. E and C 500 Each Loop

b) 2W Type C Bicycle Loop 4Q0 Each Loop

3. Ord" Iston of LED lmd Am

a) For Won•PV Howie

1) Red 185 Each Module

2) Yelbw 285 Eacn IAWUle

31 Green M5
Each MMLAF

0) For PV Mead ReltofN

1) Red 3130 Each MOmde

2) YaNOw 150 EeM MmLoe

3) Green 180 Each Modue

e) PedeaUien Couradown IComco) 21D EeM Module

4. IhM 1a1N0n IX 12- Sgrrol Reek wth LID M&Aea ion ezisling
kamework , wa0ra, wolf pules, and lowers as needed

a) Non4 -V Meads

1) 3- Sedion 850 Each

2) 4 -Section 405 Each

3) Ai- Sedion 100 Each

o) W Meads

1) 3- Seclum 000 Each

2) 4 -Sm- on 13. 500 Each

3) 5 -sedwn 14. 000 Each

5. Installation of Moawrg 8radtel

a) MA-- 650 Eacn

0) MAT 40D Each

c) TV-1. 1 325 Each

dl TV -24 350 _ Eadn

e) TV -3-T 75 Each

f) EV -1 - T Each

p) 9V 2 -T 375 Each

St. koncd ElechiC I A dnd C - 10 4oensed Conkacfor 1 975 Cordon St. San Lednd o CA 94577
y+ww. sl_ a -inc cam - phone 1510109 -0639 - fax 15 10; 6394116 - 24/ 7/ 365 1ral6c Signal Service 1- 16441. 11GMS6

Page 227



ass

1. A401" al lntomiatlon

1 Con{ any Name St. ho Cds Elec) ric

2. Address lfom WN- h gennce vnll be provided

9 ? 5 Coiden St. P. O. box 2057. Son Leondo CA94577

3. Location d Stop And Storage Fecsdy ( muss be wdM 30 Imes from Town Ams

Son Joie Office / YCrd: Snell Ave and Chynoweth Ave, Sort Jose CA95136

4. NuM. Yr of Years ProvOV the Specified Servim

5. Susirms Organization ( Crock One) 

In ev" I Propnetorahip
Psrtneianp
Corpontlon

SL Froncls Electric 1 A ono C - 10 Livened Ccnlroctor 1 975 Cordon St. Son Leonora CA 94577
rtww. slc - ins cam- Phone 16 10) 639 -0639 - Fm ( 5) 0) 639 -9116 - 24/ 7136$ Innit a Signal Service )- ( 8447- LIGHi88

h) SV -3 -1 38D Each

it SP -1 - 1 5200 Each

g SP 2 -7 1330 Each

5. tm1almtwn of Pedeatnar Sgnel Head ( with LED Counldo n) C41 5 Each

7 Insldlstnn of Audlcie Pedectnan Big 1 52ED Each

6 Inalallatgn of Pedestrian Ran Button Ataembly Each

o Irstahationd Town lmli6hetl vgnel conadlerudnet assemb'y on
fYialnlg Ia4Ygallon

1 950 Each

10 Install pull oak and restore aaaded stdewass

4, 7RD Each 04

815
Each 05

855 Each 06

1 t Install pLdl box In sl" t (UathC grade) and restore aHectea arse

Each a4

1, 100 Each 05

1. 200 FACh * 

12 Reoscehrstsh psal box to om and racoon aftwed arts

zxfo Earnx4

315 each e5

385 Eachue

13 Corinct m rator ( CMU /MMU) teal 85 Ehrn

14 Relent Markup on Matenab
15 PatoeM

1. A401" al lntomiatlon

1 Con{ any Name St. ho Cds Elec) ric

2. Address lfom WN- h gennce vnll be provided

9 ? 5 Coiden St. P. O. box 2057. Son Leondo CA94577

3. Location d Stop And Storage Fecsdy ( muss be wdM 30 Imes from Town Ams

Son Joie Office / YCrd: Snell Ave and Chynoweth Ave, Sort Jose CA95136

4. NuM. Yr of Years ProvOV the Specified Servim

5. Susirms Organization ( Crock One) 

In ev" I Propnetorahip
Psrtneianp
Corpontlon

SL Froncls Electric 1 A ono C - 10 Livened Ccnlroctor 1 975 Cordon St. Son Leonora CA 94577
rtww. slc - ins cam- Phone 16 10) 639 -0639 - Fm ( 5) 0) 639 -9116 - 24/ 7136$ Innit a Signal Service )- (8447- LIGHi88

Page 228



015

II Incwporalec, prwak it* ) allowing nfonrehan

Date of iruorporabon 1971 Stare of Iranrpomtlon State of colilomto

Names Oral inlet Of AV DOicem and Direclom Robert Spinordl, President

Guy Smith, Secretory 6 Randy Krebs. Ireasurer

It an indw outl or pannefsiep, prwxte the tokoairg irdorma6on

FormsUon date of Company

Ida me and addrest of a8 partners, inftstirp wheller they ais general of limled pare m: 

Us] the remes Iklers, and quelifimlwis of the key peasonnel who will perorm work VhW this ooNfact as well ea
then False m relblim to INN co" fact Werdily the p'hrory signs) technician In be desowed IV the Town Include
Ih2ncenbcmliora experienceendtmkvng

NNW Panganbon: Pdnan Signal technician - DiM vu: Secondary Signol lechmcion

Josh BO1ev. Moinlenonce Monger S. Suppofl tech. 

Mire Walchels, Md.e OeIPOde. and JonalhoO sodey: Llehling leahrkalorlr a Suppoil SignN tech. 

MOrtica Kint. Pfole cl Monopel P. Eslimole /ouofofron - Allen Chen: Iroft Erxgkreeimg Support

Slephonie Ammol: DkpolchiiProjed AdminuholioNlnvome

e Additional information is provided in the proposal see page 5

fndicate whether proposer has ever failed b aOnplele any Oordrom awarded Io it d m rote ~ where and

why Attach addaional sheela d necessary

SPE hot never roiled to comp)ele ony convoct owaded to us. 

lnok:me whether proposer has Oven or is the sub)ecl of a bankruptcy of insolvency proceeding a suso)w to
estigrrrrers for the bensfd of wedilors. 

Not Appl; coble

List sibCOntractom, If arty, who will perform work urger this mnbscl. / Wash add6orol sheets, 4 rsecessary, 
Compar,y Not Applicoble

Location

SL Francis Flcctdc l A and C- I013Censed Contmclof 1 975 Corden St. Son Leondro CA 94577
wwwsl__e - inc. rnm- Phone ( 510) 639-0639 - lax 1510) 639- 9116 - 24171365 Traffic SipnolSeniCe 1- 1644)- LIGH186

Page 229



015

Describe work to be subcontracted

b compory

Describe work to W sulxonlraded

C company

LOcuLIon

Desork* work to se wbconlradeo

10 List as weenl organdesons within 60 miles from Los Gatos for whom propose, perlome simlar Sams of a
smMr conInad era snipe

City of 6usLnga c: Post: Signal btainienonce - Ciit at Pieasonion. Shtti LipMmg kianfenoove

lvl unloin House CSD: traffic Signal and Lighting Maintenance

City of Solmas / LWtrmortlDaly CilyyLOfoyttle: an Cop Trollic signal and Lighting $ evicts

11 List free oiganalicns for whom proposer penormeypedomtrd srrMer serwoes of s simi4s snipe o the soul trret
Veers

a ckpanizeacr, City of Burlingame

Locilion Budingome. California

Como Person Anchew Wong Tereptone Number 1650; 558 -1237

Descnbe work penorn* d by proposef Insioil traffic signal pedestrian signal heads, Polora
push buttons and RRFB Systems ono IrotliC sional maintenance services. 

Date work was penormea Maich 2015 - Curient

b organization City of Pleasanton -- 

ro... Pleasanton, CoMornia - -. 

Contact Person Mike lruscoll Telephow Niot, cer
19251931 - 5500

Dezcrrw workpenosmed W proposer Tioubleshool and repair lighting throughout the City
facility port and polhway. Street Aahling moinienonce services. 

organzation City of Fremont

Location
Fiemonl, Calftomio

coNad Person Donya Amiri Telephone Numbel 1510; 494 -4757

St. Francis Electric I A and C- 10 Ucertsetl Contractor 197S Carden St. Son Leonora CA 94577
vv wsie4nc. com - PhorM IS1UJ 639 -0639 - Fax 15101639- 9116- Z4 / 7/ 3651ralfi[ Signal 5en4Ca 1- I & <) { IGHi66

Page 230



M6

Describe work pelf0m" by praprraer _ Design, program and install SherrieI over copper

Actelis and Ethernet over seliol devices, moke connection to the exist„ Ta fiber n(Awod.. 

Additional information is provided in the proposal see page 12

ADDENDA

PIOposM 00krpwled0eo receipt of tle lollowmp Ame da: 
Number _ Date

Number_ Dole

Nurtber_ Date

5'r- — Vice Resident

Sm( Finalve 7rye

Guy Smith 04/ 0712015
Name m typed) Dale

1510) 639. 0639 EXi 211 1510) 639. 6453
Telaphorle Number Fax Number

94- 2378349 385151Exp ) 2! 31/ 20151
Tax ID Number Los UMOS eusnras L c Number

Si. ROnC( 5 Electric I A Wd C, 10 Ilceraed COftI= Ibr 1975 Carden 51. Son LeOnl* O CA 94577
www. +feJnr mom- Phone ( 5 101 639-0639- Fax (5101 W. 9116 - 2417136 1WMC Sipml Service 1- 16441dIGM80

Page 231



ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

INM1 ••• r• a - Fi

Contractor H and C10 Licenses

s, _" 

C 1, . ha 
43'3+. d 1T.Af,ldC STq TE WrNsr SOARCfALTfYf LICENSE (/

j

335324 _ 
CORP

ST FRANCIS ELECTRIC INC

CfDA

OdIZ91/ 2015

Department of Industrial Relation ( S9 854) registration Number: } 000004346

insurance Requirements

SFE carries General Uob4tty and Automotive Liability insurance to meet or exceed the minimum
requirements of this RFP. SFE carries Worker' s Compensation Insurance per State Law. SFE will meet
all additional required Insurance provision said In this RFP. 

Key Contact Information

Allen Chen P. E.. I. E. 

Transportation Engineering Manager

St. Francis Electric, Inc. 

975 Carden St

San Leandro, CA 94577

510) 639 -0639 EA. 268 Office

510) 639 -9116 Fax
510) 695. 0582 Mobile

achen0sfe- inc. com

24/ 7/ 365 Traffic Signal Telephone Service 1- ( 844)- LIGHT88
www. ste- inc. com Web -site

m.ainlenance@sie- inc. com

St. Prone¢ Heclric I A and C -10 LiCenfed COnt1UCt0r 1 975 Coroen Si. Son Leandro CA 94577
W. Aeinc cam- Phone 15 101 639 -0639 - Paz t51D1639 - 971 t - Z4 /7J3d51wlbc 5gnol Service 1- ib «)- UGHit36

Page 232



FIRST AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES p

This FIRST AMENDMENTTOAGREEMENTFORSERVICESisdatedforidentification _
Rthis 21 " day ofJune, 2016 and amends that certain AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES -& ed Augusi I _ 

2015, made by and between the TO' 1',' N OF LOS GATOS, ( " Town, ") and, ST. FRANCIS " 
ELECTRIC, ("Supplier'), 

RECITALS

A. Town and Supplier entered into an Agreement for Services on July 1. 2015 ('`Agreement'), a
copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Attachment I to this
Amendment. 

13. Town desires to amend the Agreement to increase the cost of the service agreement, reduce
the maintenance cost for streetlights that remain in the agreement and extend the term of the
agreement. 

AMENDMENT

1. Section 2. 3 Time of Perf ce is amended to read as follows: 

This Agreement will remain in effect from July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017. The Town may
extend the term of this Agreement up to three ( 3) additional one -year periods, through June
30. 2020, on the same terms and conditions as in effect and subject to Town Council budget
appropriations for the scope of services. 

2. Section 2. 6 Compensation is amended to read as follows: 

Compensation for traffic signal and streetlight maintenance and repair services shall
not exceed $ 135. 000 annually, effective July 1, 2016. 

Additional compensation for unforeseen repair services in Fiscal Year 2015110 shall
not exceed 510,000. 

r-- 

3. Page 18 of Proposal Fotm submitted ( Attachment 2) is amended to read as follows: 

Item ( A) Street Light Maintenance and Repair Flat Rates
Monthly Rates 1. 05 each Per Street Light

Item ( C) Parking Lot Light Maintenance and Repair Flat Rates
Monthly Rates $ 1. 05 each Per Light

Item ( D) USA ( Underground Service Alen) Locating and Marking Flat Rates
Per Ticket Rates 5140 per TickeUService Call

4. All other terms and conditions of the Agreement remain in full force and effect. 

ATTACHMENT2

Page 233



First Amendment to Lease Agreement
St. Francis Electric

June 21. 2016

rN A' ITNESS WHEREOF, the Town and Supplier have executed this Amendment. 

Town of Los Gatos by: 

n

Lautel Prevetti

Town Manager

Recommended by: 

Matt Morley
Director of Parks and Pu ' Works

St. Francis Electric, by: 

VP

Approved as to Form: 

Robert Schultz

Town Attorney

Page 234



1 = t• ly?, 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES IHH _ ^
V

This SECOND AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES is dated for
identification this I` day of July, 2017 and amends that certain FIRST AMENDMENT TO
AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES dated June 21, 2016, made by and between the TOWN OF LOS
GATOS, (' "Town. ") and ST. FRANCIS ELECTRIC, ( '-Supplier"). 

RECITALS

A. Town and Supplier entered into an Agreement for Services on July 1, 2015 ( "Agreement "), a
copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Attachment 1 to this
Amendment. 

B. Town and Supplier entered into a First Amendment to Agreement for Services on June 21, 
2016 ( " Agreement'), a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as
Attachment 2 to this Amendment

C. Town desires to amend the Agreement to exercise an option to extend the agreement. 

AMENDMENT

1. Section 2. 3 Time of Performance is amended to read as follows: 

The effective date of this Second Amendment shall begin on July 1, 2017 and will continue
through June 30, 2020, subject to appropriation of funds, notwithstanding any other
provision in this agreement. 

2. Section 2. 6 Comoensation as amended in the First Amendment dated June 21, 2016. remains
unchanged. 

Add Section 4. 11 to Section IV. General Terms as follows: 

4- 11 Prevailing Wages. In accordance with the provisions of Sections 1770 et seq., of the
Labor Code, the Director of the Industrial Relations of the State ofCalifornia has determined
the general prevailing rate of wages applicable to the work to be done. Service Provider will
be required to pay to all persons employed on the project by the Service Provider sums not
less than the sun' s set forth in the documents entitled " General Prevailing Wage
Determination made by the Director of Industrial Relations pursuant to California Labor
Code, part 7, Chapter 1, Article 2, Sections 1770, 1773, 1773. 1." These documents may be
obtained from the State of California. 

Pursuant to Labor Code section 1725. 5, no contractor or subcontractor may be awarded a
contract for public works on a public works project unless registered with the Department of
Industrial Relations. 

This project is subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the Department of
Industrial Relations and /or the Town of Los Gatos. 

The Contractor is required to post notices on Public Works requirements. 

4. All other terms and conditions of the Agreement remain in full force and effect. 

ATTACHMENT 3
Page 235



Second Amendment to Lease Agreement

St. Francis Electric

FY 2017118

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Town and Supplier have executed this Amendment. 

Town of Los Gatos by: St. Francis Electric, by: 

Laurel Preveni mVcK
y V Ge_ Pies \cGu

Town Manager
to

t

Recommended by: 

Matt Morley
Director of Parks and li I Works

Approved as to Form: 

mar MOT

Page 236



tifl! t

TOWN OF LOS GATOS MEETING DATE: 06/ 05/ 18
r 4

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT ITEM NO: 10

DATE: MAY 24, 2018

TO: MAYOR AND TOWN COUNCIL

FROM: LAUREL PREVETTI, TOWN MANAGER

SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE THE TOWN MANAGER TO EXECUTE A THIRD AMENDMENT TO

THE AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES WITH ST. FRANCIS ELECTRIC TO

INCREASE COMPENSATION FOR UNFORESEEN SERVICES FOR FISCAL YEAR

2017/ 18 IN THE AMOUNT OF $ 15, 000, FORA TOTAL CONTRACT AMOUNT

NOT TO EXCEED $ 150, 000 FOR FY 17/ 18 ONLY. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Authorize the Town Manager to execute a third amendment to the Agreement for Services with

St. Francis Electric to increase compensation for unforeseen services for Fiscal Year 2017/ 18 in

the amount of $15, 000 for a total contract amount not to exceed $ 150,000 for FY 17/ 18 only. 

BACKGROUND: 

On May 5, 2015, Council authorized the Town Manager to execute an Agreement for Services
with St. Francis Electric for maintenance and repair of traffic signals and street lights and for

Underground Service Alert ( USA) locating ( Attachment 1). The agreement became effective
July 1, 2015, with options to extend through June 30, 2020 in an amount not to exceed

120, 000 annually, subject to Town Council budget appropriations for the scope of services. 

On June 21, 2016, Council authorized a first amendment to the Agreement for Services to

increase the compensation for traffic signal and street light repair services to $ 135, 000 annually

effective July 1, 2016. In addition, the amendment added $ 10,000 for Fiscal Year 2015/ 16, due
to unexpected repairs and increasing number of USA markings. Finally, the first amendment
extended the contract period to June 30, 2017. 

In 2017, a second amendment to the Agreement was made to add prevailing wage language
and extend the contract period through June 30, 2020 while all other terms and compensation

remained unchanged. 

PREPARED BY: JESSY PU

Traffic Engineer

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Finance Director, Assistant
Parks and Public Works Director / Town Engineer, and Parks and Public Works Director

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 • 408 - 354 -6832

www. losgatosca. gov

Page 237



PAGE 2 OF 2

SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE THE TOWN MANAGER TO EXECUTE A THIRD AMENDMENT TO
THE AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES WITH ST. FRANCIS ELECTRIC TO
INCREASE COMPENSATION FOR UNFORESEEN SERVICES FOR FISCAL YEAR
2017/ 18 IN THE AMOUNT OF $ 15, 000, FORA TOTAL CONTRACT AMOUNT
NOT TO EXCEED $ 150, 000 FOR FY 17/ 18 ONLY. 

MAY 24, 2018

DISCUSSION: 

The current not to exceed contract amount is $ 135, 000 annually for routine maintenance and
repair of street lights and traffic signals, and for USA locating services. In Fiscal Year 2017/ 18, 
there were unexpected extra repairs and additional maintenance costs for the Town' s traffic

signal fiber optic cable, which resulted in higher than expected repair costs. Staff estimates an
additional $ 15, 000 will be needed to fund the unforeseen expenses through the end of the
2017/ 18 Fiscal Year. 

CONCLUSION: 

Authorize the Town Manager to execute a third amendment to the Agreement for Services with

St. Francis Electric to increase compensation for Fiscal Year 2017/ 18 in the amount of $ 15, 000, 

for a total contract amount not to exceed $ 150, 000 for this single fiscal year. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The one -time increase of $15,000 for the unforeseen repair services will be absorbed within the
FY 2017/ 18 Streets & Signals program budget. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project as defined under CECA, and no further action is required. 

Attachments: 

1. Third Amendment to Agreement for Services

2. Original agreement and two previous amendments

5: \ COUNCIL REPORTS \ 2018 \ 06- 05 -18 \10 St. Francis Electric \Staff Report. FINAL. dccx 5/ 25/ 2018 9:56 AM

Page 238



 

PREPARED BY: Michelle Quinney 
 Interim Town Engineer 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Finance Director, and Director 
of Parks and Public Works 

   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 13 

 
   

 

DATE:   July 17, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Authorize the Following Actions for the Massol Intersection Improvements 
Project (19-813-0236): 
a. Authorize the Town Manager to Award and Execute a Construction 

Agreement with Tennyson Electric in an Amount of $328,792, and 
Authorize $65,758 as a Construction Contingency for a Total Amount Not 
to Exceed $394,550; 

b. Authorize Staff to Execute Future Contract Change Orders in an Amount 
Not to Exceed Twenty Percent of the Agreement Amount; 

c. Approve a Budget Transfer of $57,148 in FY 2020/21 from the School Bus 
Pilot Program 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Authorize the following actions for the Massol Intersection Improvements Project (19-813-
0236): 
a. Authorize the Town Manager to award and execute a construction agreement with 

Tennyson Electric in an amount of $328,792, and authorize $65,758 as a 20% construction 
contingency for a total amount not to exceed $394,550; 

b. Authorize staff to execute future change orders in an amount not to exceed twenty percent 
of the agreement amount; 

c. Approve a budget transfer of $57,148 in FY 2020/21 from the School Bus Pilot Program 
budget. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 239



PAGE 2 OF 4 
SUBJECT: Authorize Actions for the Massol Intersection Improvements Project 
DATE:  July 17, 2020 

   
 

 
BACKGROUND: 

The adopted FY 2019/20-2023/24 Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Budget designates 
funding for the Massol Intersection Improvements Project (19-813-0236).  This project is 
consistent with the Town’s goal to improve public safety, primarily by enhancing pedestrian 
safety crossing State Route 9. 
 
On June 2, 2020, the Town Council authorized the Town Manager to approve the plans and 
specifications and advertise the project for bid.  The Town Manager was also authorized to 
award and execute a construction agreement in an amount not to exceed $349,760, including a 
20% contingency.   
 
A 20% construction contingency was recommended due to the fact that the project is within 
the Caltrans right of way and will require the contractor to obtain a permit and abide by 
Caltrans requirements throughout completion of the project.  Additionally, should a changed 
condition occur during the course of construction, remedies would require Caltrans approval 
and would likely require additional funds to complete.  
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The project was advertised, and three bids were submitted to the Town on July 1, 2020.  Three 
bids were received electronically and opened remotely through a secure system in order to 
meet the needs for social distancing during the COVID 19 pandemic.  The bid results are as 
follows: 
 
Tennyson Electric - $328,792 
Bear Electrical -       $340,237 
Columbia Electric - $474,654 
 

Tennyson Electric was the lowest responsive bidder and was approximately 12% higher than 
the engineer’s estimate of $293,000, which can be attributed to the uncertainties in the 
construction field given the current pandemic.  Staff has reviewed Tennyson’s bid and has 
determined the bid to be reasonable and responsive and is recommending award of the project 
to Tennyson Electric, Inc. with a 20% construction contingency allocated to the project.  
 
Additional budgeted funds will be needed in order to award the construction contract with the 
recommended contingency.  These additional budgeted funds are available from unspent funds 
in the School Bus Pilot Program budget.  Re-appropriating the funds will allow for project 
adjustments to meet changing needs and avoid any delays once the project begins.  Any funds 
not utilized for this project specifically will remain available for re-appropriation by the Town 
Council in the future.  
 
 

Page 240



PAGE 3 OF 4 
SUBJECT: Authorize Actions for the Massol Intersection Improvements Project 
DATE:  July 17, 2020 

   
 

 
CONCLUSION: 
 
Authorize the following actions for the Massol Intersection Improvements Project (19-813-
0236): 
 

a. Authorize the Town Manager to award and execute a construction agreement with 
Tennyson Electric in an amount of $328,792, and authorize $65,758 as a 20% 
construction contingency for a total amount not to exceed $394,550; 

b. Authorize staff to execute future change orders in an amount not to exceed twenty 
percent of the agreement amount; 

c. Approve a budget transfer of $57,148 in FY 2020/21 from the School Bus Pilot Program 
budget. 

 
COORDINATION: 
 
This project has been coordinated with the Finance Department and the California Department 
of Transportation (Caltrans) as highlighted in the June 2, 2020 report.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
The Parks and Public Works Department continues to plan for, and track costs associated with 
capital improvement projects.  Where projects can be delivered within the workload of staff 
already budgeted in the Department’s operating budget, no costs will be associated with the 
project.  This project requires the use of some temporary staffing not included in the 
Department budget in order to meet schedule and workload commitments.  The costs of the 
temporary employees will be charged to the project budget. This project also requires some 
permanent staff that are already budgeted in the Department’s operating budget, and will not 
be charged to the project.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 241



PAGE 4 OF 4 
SUBJECT: Authorize Actions for the Massol Intersection Improvements Project 
DATE:  July 17, 2020 

   
 

 
FISCAL IMPACT (continued): 
 

Massol Intersection Improvements 

Project 813-0236 

  Budget Costs 

GFAR  $   450,000    

Budget Requested with the Staff Report  $       57,148  

Total Budget  $   507,148   

      

Construction - Tennyson Electric    $     328,792  

Contingency    $       65,758  

Design    $       72,965  

Temporary Staff Costs    $       27,633  

Materials Testing  $       12,000 

Total Expenditures    $    507,148  

      

   

Staff Costs     

Operating Budget (Full time with benefits)    $         8,744  

Total    $         8,744  

 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is a project as defined under CEQA but is Categorically Exempt (Section 15301 (c)).  A 
Notice of Exemption has been filed. 

 

Attachment: 
1. Construction Agreement including Exhibit A 

Page 242



Tennyson Electric Project #813-0236 Page 1 of 9  

CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT 
 
 
 This Agreement is dated for identification this 4th day of August, 2020, and is made by and 
between the TOWN OF LOS GATOS, a California municipal corporation, whose address is 110 East Main 
Street, Los Gatos, California 95030 (hereinafter "TOWN"), and Tennyson Electric, Inc. whose address is 
7275 National Drive, Suite A-2, Livermore, CA 94550 (hereinafter "CONTRACTOR"). 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree: 
 

ARTICLE I:  WORK TO BE DONE AND DOCUMENTS FORMING THE CONTRACT. 
 
 That for and in consideration of the payments and agreements hereinafter mentioned, to be 
made and performed by the said TOWN, and under the conditions expressed in the two bonds hereunto 
annexed, the said CONTRACTOR agrees with the said TOWN, at his own proper cost and expense, to do 
all the work and furnish all the materials and equipment necessary to construct and complete, in 
accordance with the plans and specifications hereinafter mentioned, in a good, workmanlike and 
substantial manner, under the supervision of the Town Engineer, or his, of the TOWN OF LOS GATOS, 
California, all the works and improvements described, mentioned and set forth in those plans and 
specifications on file in the Office of the Parks and Public Works of said TOWN, entitled: 
 

"Plans and Specifications for 
Project #19-813-0236 Crosswalk Improvements on State Route 9 at Massol Avenue” 

  
which said plans and specifications and all the documents therein contained, including the TOWN OF LOS 
GATOS's Standard Provisions, are hereby specially referred to and by such reference made part of this 
contract. 
 

ARTICLE II:  CONTRACTOR'S ACCEPTANCE 
 
 CONTRACTOR agrees to receive and accept the prices shown on Exhibit A ($328,792), which is 
attached hereto and incorporated by reference herewith, as full compensation for furnishing all materials 
and equipment and for doing all the work described in the contract documents; also for all loss or damage 
as provided in the contract documents in the prosecution of the work until its acceptance by the Town 
Council of the TOWN OF LOS GATOS, and for well and faithfully completing the work, and the whole 
thereof, in the manner and according to the contract documents, plans and specifications, and the 
requirements of the Town Engineer. 
 

ARTICLE III:  ACCEPTANCE BY TOWN 
 
 The said TOWN hereby promises and agrees with the said CONTRACTOR to employ, and does 
hereby employ the said CONTRACTOR to provide the materials and to do the work according to the terms 
and conditions herein contained and referred to, for the prices aforesaid, and hereby contracts to pay the 
same at the time, in the manner and upon the conditions above set forth; and the said parties for 
themselves their heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns, do hereby agree to the full 
performance of the covenants herein contained. 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 

Page 243



Tennyson Electric Project #813-0236 Page 2 of 9  

ARTICLE IV:  COMPLETION OF AGREEMENT 
 
 Reference is made to Part I – Page 1 of the TOWN's Project Specifications Notice to Contractors 
which are hereby made a part of this contract.  Inasmuch as the work called for under this contract 
concerns a needed public improvement, the time of performance and completion of this work is of the 
essence of this contract.  It is expressly understood and agreed by the parties hereto that all the work 
called for under this contract, in all its parts and requirements, shall be completed forty (40) working days 
from Notice to Proceed. 
 

ARTICLE V:  HOURS OF LABOR 
 
 The CONTRACTOR shall forfeit, as a penalty, to the TOWN, Twenty-Five Dollars ($25) for each 
workman employed in the execution of the contract by him or by any subcontractor for each calendar day 
during which any workman is required or permitted to labor more than eight (8) hours in violation of the 
provisions of Sections 1810-1815 inclusive of the Labor Code and all amendments thereto. 
 

ARTICLE VI:  APPRENTICES 
 
 Attention is directed to the provisions in Sections 1777.5, 1777.6 and 1777.7 of the Labor Code 
governing the employment of apprentices by the CONTRACTOR or any subcontractor under him.  
CONTRACTOR and any of his subcontractors shall comply with the requirements of said sections of the 
Labor Code; CONTRACTOR shall have full responsibility for compliance with the said sections regardless 
of any other contractual or employment relationships alleged to exist. 
 
 Information relative to apprenticeship standards and other requirements may be obtained from 
the Director of Industrial Relations ex officio the Administrator of Apprenticeship, San Francisco, California 
or from the Division of Apprenticeship Standards at its branch offices. 
 

ARTICLE VII:  NONDISCRIMINATION 
 
 The CONTRACTOR sub recipient or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, 
national origin or sex in the performance of this contract.  CONTRACTOR shall carry out applicable 
requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award and administration of DOT-assisted contracts.   
 

Failure by CONTRACTOR to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this contract, 
which may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy as recipient deems appropriate. 
 

ARTICLE VIII:  INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 
 It is agreed that CONTRACTOR is an independent contractor, and all persons working for or under 
the direction of CONTRACTOR are CONTRACTOR's agents, servants and employees, and said persons shall 
not be deemed agents, servants or employees of TOWN. 
 

 
ARTICLE IX:  OWNERSHIP OF DATA AND DOCUMENTS 

 
 CONTRACTOR agrees that all records, specifications, data, maps, designs, graphics, writings, 
recordings and other tangible materials regardless of form or format, including, without limitation, 

Page 244



Tennyson Electric Project #813-0236 Page 3 of 9  

electronically transmitted documents and ACAD files, and other collateral materials collected, compiled, 
drafted, prepared, produced and/or generated in the performance of this Agreement shall be the 
property of TOWN.  CONTRACTOR shall regularly provide such documents to TOWN upon TOWN's 
request.  In the event that this Agreement is terminated prior to completion of the scope of work, 
CONTRACTOR shall provide all such data and documents to TOWN forthwith. 
 

ARTICLE X:  INSURANCE 
 
 a. Commercial General Liability/Automobile Liability Insurance: 
 
  CONTRACTOR shall obtain and maintain Commercial General Liability insurance and 
Automobile Liability insurance in the amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence.  If a 
general aggregate limit is used, either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to this contract 
or the general aggregate limit shall be twice the required occurrence limit.  CONTRACTOR's insurance 
coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis. 
 
 b. Workers' Compensation Insurance: 
 
  CONTRACTOR shall obtain and maintain statutory Workers' Compensation insurance and 
Employer's Liability insurance in the amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per accident. 
 
  CONTRACTOR is familiar with the Workers' Compensation laws of California (generally 
contained in Section 3700 of the Labor Code), including those provisions which provide for specific 
exemptions from the requirement that all employers must carry Workers' Compensation insurance, and 
CONTRACTOR maintains they are exempted under the law from the requirement to maintain Workers' 
Compensation insurance coverage. 
 
 In addition, during the term of any work for TOWN under said agreement:  (1) CONTRACTOR will 
not employ any person in any manner so as to become subject to the Workers' Compensation laws of 
California, or (2) should CONTRACTOR become subject to the Workers' Compensation provisions of 
Section 3700 of the Labor Code for any reason, CONTRACTOR shall forthwith comply with those provisions 
and send evidence of financial compliance to TOWN. 
 
  c. Acceptability of Insurers:  Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current Best 
Rating of A:VII unless otherwise acceptable to TOWN. 
 
  d. Verification of Coverage:  Insurance, deductibles or self-insurance retentions shall be 
subject to TOWN's approval.  Original Certificates of Insurance with endorsements shall be received and 
approved by TOWN before work commences, and insurance must be in effect for the duration of the 
contract.  The absence of insurance or a reduction of stated limits shall cause all work on the project to 
cease.  Any delays shall not increase costs to TOWN or increase the duration of the project. 
 
 e. Other Insurance Provisions: 
 
   (1) The TOWN OF LOS GATOS, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers are to 
be covered as additional insured by Endorsement CG 20 10 11 85 or other endorsement approved by 
Town Attorney for Commercial General and Automobile Liability coverage. 
 

Page 245



Tennyson Electric Project #813-0236 Page 4 of 9  

   (2) For any claims related to this project, CONTRACTOR's insurance coverage shall be 
primary and any insurance or self-insurance maintained by TOWN, its officers, officials, employees and 
volunteers shall not contribute to it. 
 
   (3) Each insurance policy required shall be endorsed that a thirty (30) day notice be 
given to TOWN in the event of cancellation or modification to the stipulated insurance coverage. 
 
  (4) In the event CONTRACTOR employs subcontractors as part of the work covered 
by this Agreement, it shall be the responsibility of CONTRACTOR to ensure that all subcontractors comply 
with the same insurance requirements that are stated in this Agreement. 
 
  (5) Approval of the insurance by TOWN or acceptance of the Certificate of Insurance 
by TOWN shall not relieve or decrease the extent to which CONTRACTOR may be held responsible for 
payment of damages resulting from CONTRACTOR's services or operation pursuant to this Agreement, 
nor shall it be deemed a waiver of TOWN's rights to insurance coverage hereunder. 
 
  (6) If, for any reason, CONTRACTOR fails to maintain insurance coverage that is 
required pursuant to this contract, the same shall be deemed a material breach of contract.  TOWN, at its 
sole option, may terminate this contract and obtain damages from CONTRACTOR resulting from said 
breach.  Alternately, TOWN may purchase such required insurance coverage, and without further notice 
to CONTRACTOR, TOWN may deduct from sums due to CONTRACTOR any premium costs advanced by 
TOWN for such insurance. 
 

ARTICLE XI:  HOLD HARMLESS 
 
 CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to and shall hold TOWN, its elective and appointive boards, 
commissions, officers, agents, registered volunteers, and employees harmless from any liability for 
damage or claims for damage for personal injury, including death, as well as from claims for property 
damage and any other claims of any sort whatsoever, including, but not limited to, any liabilities, claims, 
losses, or expenses in any manner caused by, arising out of, or in connection with, either directly or 
indirectly, the construction or installation of the work, the guarding of the work, the use of improper 
materials in construction of the work, or the negligent, willful, or intentional acts or omissions by 
CONTRACTOR or CONTRACTOR's subcontractors, agents, or employee operations under this Agreement, 
whether such operations by CONTRACTOR or by any of CONTRACTOR's subcontractors, or by any one or 
more persons directly or indirectly employed by, or acting as agent for CONTRACTOR or any of 
CONTRACTOR's subcontractors during the progress of the work or at any time before its completion and 
final acceptance, excepting suits and actions brought by the CONTRACTOR for default of this Agreement 
or arising from the sole active negligence or willful misconduct of the TOWN.  The Town Council may retain 
so much of the money due to the CONTRACTOR as shall be reasonably necessary to protect the TOWN, 
until disposition has been made of such suits or claims for damages as aforesaid. 
 
 CONTRACTOR agrees to and shall pay TOWN's cost of defense (or, at the sole option of the TOWN, 
CONTRACTOR shall defend with counsel approved by the TOWN Attorney) and indemnify TOWN and its 
elective and appointive boards, commissions, officers, agents, and employees from any suits or actions at 
law or in equity arising out of the execution, adoption or implementation of this Agreement (exclusive of 
any such actions brought by CONTRACTOR), such indemnification to include all costs of defense, 
judgments, and any awards of attorneys' fees. 
 

Page 246



Tennyson Electric Project #813-0236 Page 5 of 9  

 Should any accident or incident causing death, personal injury or property damage occur between 
the date CONTRACTOR is notified that its General Liability and/or Workers Compensation Insurance is 
canceled and the effective date of such cancellation, CONTRACTOR's obligation to indemnify, defend and 
save harmless the TOWN, as provided for hereinabove, shall in no manner be affected by the fact that the 
TOWN had not received the notice of cancellation prior to the date of such accident or incident. 
 

ARTICLE XII:  BONDING REQUIREMENT 
 
 CONTRACTOR agrees to post a Faithful Performance Bond and a payment bond for Labor and 
Materials, or other guarantees, in the required amounts upon bond forms provided by the TOWN, 
guarantying the performance of the terms of this Agreement.  Surety issuing bonds for CONTRACTOR shall 
be approved by the U.S. Department of Treasury's Financial Management Service and shall be listed on 
the most current Treasury Circular 570 as contained in the Federal Register. 
 
Contractor agrees to allow five percent of the faithful performance bond to remain in effect for a period 
of two years following Town Council project acceptance as guarantee for any needed repair or 
replacement caused by defective materials and workmanship. 
 

ARTICLE XIII:  MAINTENANCE AND GUARANTY 
 
 CONTRACTOR shall promptly repair, replace, restore, or rebuild, as the TOWN may determine, 
any finished product in which defects of materials or workmanship may appear or to which damage may 
occur because of such defects, during a two (2) year period subsequent to the date of final acceptance. 
 
 This article does not in any way limit the guaranty on any items for which a longer guaranty is 
specified or on any items which a manufacturer gives a guaranty for a longer period, nor does it limit the 
other remedies of the TOWN in respect to a latent defect, fraud or implied warranties.  CONTRACTOR 
shall furnish the TOWN all appropriate guaranties or warranty certificates upon completion of the project. 
 

ARTICLE XIV:  SHORING FOR TRENCHES 
 
 If the contract specifies an expenditure of Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000) or greater for 
trenching, and if the depth of the trench is five feet (5') or more, then Section 6705 of the Labor Code shall 
also be applicable. 
 

ARTICLE XV:  APPLICABLE LAWS AND ATTORNEY'S FEES 
 
 This Agreement shall be construed and enforced pursuant to the laws of the State of California.  
Should any legal action be brought by a party for breach of this Agreement or to enforce any provision 
herein, the prevailing party of such action shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees, court costs, and 
such other costs as may be fixed by the court.  Reasonable attorneys' fees of the TOWN Attorney's Office, 
if private counsel is not used, shall be based on comparable fees of private attorneys practicing in Santa 
Clara County. 
 

ARTICLE XVI:  LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
 

It is mutually agreed by CONTRACTOR and TOWN that in the event that completion of the 
construction by CONTRACTOR under this Agreement is delayed beyond DATE, TOWN will suffer damages 

Page 247



Tennyson Electric Project #813-0236 Page 6 of 9  

and will incur other costs and expenses of a nature and amount which is difficult or impractical to 
determine.  The Parties agree that by way of ascertaining and fixing the amount of damages, costs and 
expenses, and not by way of penalty, CONTRACTOR shall pay to TOWN the sum of One Thousand Dollars 
($1,000.00) per day in liquidated damages for each and every calendar day such delay in completion of 
the services under this Agreement continues beyond DATE.  In the event that the liquidated damages are 
not paid, CONTRACTOR agrees that TOWN may deduct the amount of unpaid damages from any money 
due or that may become due to CONTRACTOR under this Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE XVII:  INTERPRETATION OF CONTRACT 

 
 It is further expressly agreed by and between the parties hereto that should there be any conflict 
between the terms of this instrument and the bid or proposal of said CONTRACTOR, then this instrument 
shall control and nothing herein shall be considered as an acceptance of the said terms of said proposal 
conflicting herewith. 
 

ARTICLE XVIII:  AMENDMENTS AND CHANGE ORDERS 
 
 This Agreement may be amended from time to time as necessary by formal and written 
amendment or authorized change order executed by the Town Manager or designee and principal acting 
on behalf of the CONTRACTOR. 
 

ARTICLE XIX:  DBE RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 For projects that are State or Federal funding; With respect to Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprises, CONTRACTOR shall do the following: 
 
 (1) Pay each subcontractor under this prime contract for satisfactory performance of its 
contract no later than ten (10) days from the receipt of each payment the prime contractor receives from 
TOWN.  Any delay or postponement of payment from the above-referenced time frame may occur only 
for good cause following written approval of TOWN.  This clause applies to both DBE and non-DBE 
subcontractors. 
 
 (2) Release all retainage owed to a subcontractor for satisfactory completion of the accepted 
work within thirty (30) days after TOWN's payment to CONTRACTOR.  Any delay or postponement of 
payment from the above-referenced time frame may occur only for good cause following written approval 
of TOWN.  This clause applies to both DBE and non-DBE subcontractors. 

ARTICLE XX:  PREVAILING WAGES 
 
 Prevailing Wage.  This project is subject to the requirements of Section 1720 et seq. of the 
California Labor Code requiring the payment of prevailing wages, the training of apprentices and 
compliance with other applicable requirements. Contractors and all subcontractors who perform 
work on the project are required to comply with these requirements.  Prevailing wages apply to all 
projects over $1,000 which are defined as a “public work” by the State of California. This includes: 
construction, demolition, repair, alteration, maintenance and the installation of photovoltaic systems 
under a Power Purchase Agreement when certain conditions are met under Labor Code Section 
1720.6.  This include service and warranty work on public buildings and structures. 

 

Page 248



Tennyson Electric Project #813-0236 Page 7 of 9  

1. The applicable California prevailing wage rate can be found at www.dir.ca.gov and are on file 
with the Town of Los Gatos Parks and Public Works Department, which shall be available to any 
interested party upon request.  The contractor is also required to have a copy of the applicable 
wage determination posted and/or available at each jobsite. 

 
2. Specifically, contractors are reminded of the need for compliance with Labor Code Section 1774-

1775 (the payment of prevailing wages and documentation of such), Section 1776 (the keeping 
and submission of accurate certified payrolls) and 1777.5 in the employment of apprentices on 
public works projects. Further, overtime, weekend and holiday pay, and shift pay must be paid 
pursuant to applicable Labor Code section. 

 
3. The public entity for which work is being performed or the California Department of Industrial 

Relations may impose penalties upon contractors and subcontractors for failure to comply with 
prevailing wage requirements.  These penalties are up to $200 per day per worker for each wage 
violations identified; $100 per day per worker for failure to provide the required paperwork and 
documentation requested within a 10-day window; and $25 per day per worker for any overtime 
violation. 

 
4. As a condition to receiving progress payments, final payment and payment of retention on any 

and all projects on which the payment of prevailing wages is required, the contractor agrees to 
present to the TOWN, along with its request for payment, all applicable and necessary certified 
payrolls (for itself and all applicable subcontractors) for the time period covering such payment 
request. The term “certified payroll” shall include all required documentation to comply with the 
mandates set forth in Labor Code Section 1720 et seq, as well as any additional documentation 
requested by the Agency or its designee including, but not limited to: certified payroll, fringe 
benefit statements and backup documentation such as monthly benefit statements, employee 
timecards, copies of wage statements and cancelled checks, proof of training contributions 
(CAC2 if applicable), and apprenticeship forms such as DAS-140 and DAS-142. 

 

5. In addition to submitting the certified payrolls and related documentation to the TOWN, the 
contractor and all subcontractors shall be required to submit certified payroll and related 
documents electronically to the California Department of Industrial Relations.  Failure to submit 
payrolls to the DIR when mandated by the project parameters shall also result in the withholding 
of progress, retention and final payment. 

 
6. No contractor or subcontractor may be listed on a bid proposal for a public works project unless 

registered with the Department of Industrial Relations pursuant to Labor Code section 1725.5 
[with limited exceptions from this requirement for bid purposes only under Labor Code section 
1771.1(a)]. 
 

7. No contractor or subcontractor may be awarded a contract for public work on a public works 
project, unless registered with the Department of Industrial Relations pursuant to Labor Code 
section 1725.5. Contractors MUST be a registered “public works contractor” with the DIR AT THE 
TIME OF BID. Where the prime contract is less than $15,000 for maintenance work or less than 
$25,000 for construction alternation, demolition or repair work, registration is not required. 

 
8. Should any contractor or subcontractors not be a registered public works contractor and perform 

work on the project, Contractor agrees to fully indemnify the TOWN for any fines assessed by 

Page 249

http://www.dir.ca.gov/


Tennyson Electric Project #813-0236 Page 8 of 9  

the California Department of Industrial Relations against the TOWN for such violation, including 
all staff costs and attorney’s fee relating to such fine. 
 

9. The TOWN shall withhold any portion of a payment; including the entire payment amount, until 
certified payroll forms and related documentation are properly submitted, reviewed and found 
to be in full compliance.   In the event that certified payroll forms do not comply with the 
requirements of Labor Code Section 1720 et seq., the TOWN may continue to hold sufficient 
funds to cover estimated wages and penalties under the contract.  

 
ARTICLE XXI:  ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

 
 This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties with respect to the subject 
matter herein.  There are no representations, agreements or understandings (whether oral or written) 
between or among the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement which are not fully 
expressed herein.   
 

ARTICLE XXII:  PUBLIC RECORDS 
 
 The parties recognize and acknowledge that TOWN is subject to the California Public Records Act, 
California Government Code Section 6250 and following.  Public records are subject to disclosure. 

 
ARTICLE XXIII:  NOTICES 

 
 Any notice required to be given to CONTRACTOR shall be deemed to be duly and properly given 
if mailed to CONTRACTOR, postage prepaid, addressed to: 
 

Tennyson Electric, Inc. 
7275 National Drive, Suite A-2 

Livermore, CA 94550 
 

or personally delivered to CONTRACTOR at such address or at such other addresses as CONTRACTOR may 
designate in writing to TOWN. 
 
 Any notice required to be given TOWN shall be deemed to be duly and properly given if mailed to 
TOWN, postage prepaid, addressed to: 
 

Town Engineer 
TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

41 Miles Avenue 
Los Gatos, California 95030 

 
or personally delivered to TOWN at such address or at such other addresses as TOWN may designate in 
writing to CONTRACTOR. 
 

ARTICLE XXIV:  SECTION 7106 FORM 
 

Page 250



Tennyson Electric Project #813-0236 Page 9 of 9  

 Attached to the Agreement is a fully executed and sworn non-collusion affidavit as required by 
Section 7106 of the California Public Contracts Code.  Said affidavit is incorporated herein by this 
reference. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties to these presents have hereunto set their hands the year and date first 
written above. 
 

APPROVED AS TO CONTENT: 
 
 
  
Matt Morley 
Director of Parks and Public Works  
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
  
Robert Schultz 
Town Attorney 
 

"TOWN": 
TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
 
By:   
Laurel Prevetti 
Town Manager 
 
Attest:   
Shelley Neis 
MMC, CPMC, Town Clerk 
 
 

CONTRACTOR: 
 
Name:   _____________________________ 
 
Address:    

  

  
 
Tax ID No. or SSAN: 
  
 

By:    
 
Title:    
 
 
By:    
 
Title:    
             
 

Page 251



   

CONTRACTOR'S BOND FOR LABOR AND MATERIAL 
 
 
 KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 
 
 That                                                                , as Principal, and 
 , 
incorporated under the laws of the State of                                                                            
and authorized to execute bonds and undertakings as Surety, are held and firmly bound unto any and all 
materialmen, persons, companies or corporations furnishing materials, provisions, provender or other 
supplies used in, upon, for or about the performance of the work contracted to be executed or performed 
under the contract hereinafter mentioned, and all persons, companies or corporations renting 
implements or machinery, or hiring crews, for or contributing to said work to be done, and all persons 
who perform work or labor upon the same, and all persons who supply both work and materials, and 
whose claim has not been paid by the contractor, company, or corporations in the just and full sum of 
__________________________ Dollars ($__________), for the payment whereof, well and truly to be 
made, said Principal and Surety bind themselves, their administrators, successors and assigns, jointly and 
severally firmly by these presents. 
 
 The condition of the foregoing obligation is such that; WHEREAS, the above-bounden Principal 
has entered into a certain contract attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as though fully 
set forth, with the TOWN OF LOS GATOS, to do and perform the following work; to wit: 
 

Project #19-813-0236 Crosswalk Improvements on State Route 9 at Massol Avenue 
  

as required by the plans and specifications, pursuant to the award made to said contractor by the Council 
of the TOWN OF LOS GATOS, on June 2, 2020, as will more fully appear by reference to the minutes of 
said Council of said TOWN of said date. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, if the above-bounden Principal, contractor, person, company, or corporation, 
or his agent, or the subcontractors, fails to pay for any materials, provisions, provender, or other supplies, 
or crews used in, upon, for, or about the performance of the work contracted to be done, or for any work 
or labor done thereon of any kind, or for amounts due under the Unemployment Insurance Act with 
respect to such work or labor, or for any amount required to be deducted, withheld, and paid over to 
Franchise Tax Board, from the wages of employees of the contractor or subcontractor, pursuant to 
Section 18806 of the Revenue and Tax Code, then the Surety of this bond will also pay the same in an 
amount not exceeding the sum specified in the bond; and also, in case suit is brought upon this bond, a 
reasonable attorney's fee, which shall be awarded by the court to the prevailing party in said suit, said 
attorney's fee to be taxed as costs in said suit and to be included in the judgment therein rendered. 
 
 The surety hereby stipulates and agrees that no change, extension of time, alteration or addition 
to the terms of the agreement or to the work to be performed thereunder or to the specifications 
accompanying the same shall in any way affect its obligation on this bond and it does hereby waive notice 
of any such change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the agreement or to the work 
or to the specifications. 
 
 This bond is executed and filed to comply with the provisions of Sections 3247, et seq., of the Civil 
Code. 

Page 252



   

 
 Signed and sealed this                                day of                                                 , 2020. 
 
 

BY:    

  

  

  
     CONTRACTOR 
 
    (CORPORATE SEAL) 

BY:    

  

  

  
     SURETY (Address and Phone No.) 
 
    (SURETY SEAL) 

 
  

Page 253



   

 
 The amount of the within obligation is hereby fixed by the TOWN Council in the sum of Three 
Hundred Twenty Eight Thousand Seven Hundred Ninety Two Dollars ($328,792), that sum being one 
hundred percent (100%) of the contract price, is by said TOWN Council deemed adequate, and is the sum 
fixed by it for that purpose and the TOWN Manager is hereby authorized to approve said bond. 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
_____________________________   ________________________________ 
Robert Schultz, Town Attorney    Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  _____________________________ 
                  Shelley Neis, Town Clerk 
                                        
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 254



   

CONTRACTOR'S BOND FOR FAITHFUL PERFORMANCE 
 
 
 KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 
 
 That                                                                                      , as Principal, and 
______________________________________________________________________, 
incorporated under the laws of the State of _______________, and authorized to execute bonds and 
undertakings as Surety, are held firmly bound unto the TOWN OF LOS GATOS, a municipal corporation of 
the State of California, in the sum of __________________ Dollars ($_________), for payment whereof, 
well and truly to be made, said Principal and Surety bind themselves, their administrators, successors and 
assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. 
 
 The condition of the foregoing obligation is such that:  WHEREAS, the above-bounden Principal 
has entered into a certain contract attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as though fully 
set forth, with the TOWN OF LOS GATOS, to do and perform the following work; to wit: 
 

Project # 19-813-0236 Crosswalk Improvements on State Route 9 at Massol Avenue 
  

as required by the plans and specifications, pursuant to the award made to said contractor by the Council 
of the TOWN OF LOS GATOS, on June 2, 2020, as will more fully appear by reference to the minutes of 
said Council of said date. 
 
 The surety hereby stipulates and agrees that no change, extension of time, alteration or addition 
to the terms of the agreement or to the work to be performed thereunder or to the specifications 
accompanying the same shall in any way affect its obligation on this bond and it does hereby waive notice 
of any such change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the agreement or to the work 
or to the specifications. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, if the above-bounden Principal shall well and truly perform the work 
contracted to be performed under said contract, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise, to remain 
in full force and effect. 
 

Page 255



   

Signed and sealed this                                day of                                                 , 2020. 
 
 

BY:    

  

  

  
     CONTRACTOR 
 
    (CORPORATE SEAL) 

BY:    

  

  

  
     SURETY (Address and Phone No.) 
 
    (SURETY SEAL) 

 

Page 256



   

 The amount of the within obligation is hereby fixed by the TOWN Council in the sum of Three 
Hundred Twenty Eight Thousand Seven Hundred Ninety Two Dollars ($328,792), that sum being one 
hundred percent (100%) of the contract price, is by said TOWN Council deemed sufficient and adequate, 
and is the sum fixed by it for that purpose. 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_________________________________   ____________________________ 
Robert Schultz, Town Attorney     Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
___________________________ 
Shelley Neis, Town Clerk 
                                        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 257



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Page 258



Town of Los Gatos Parks and Public Works Department
Project #19-813-0236 Crosswalk Improvements on State Route 9 at Massol Avenue 

ITEM
NO

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT
 EST.
QTY. 

 UNIT
PRICE 

EXTENSION

1. Traffic Control L.S. 1 $45,269.00 $45,269.00

2. Changeable Message Signs Ea. 2 $2,600.00 $5,200.00

3. Adjust Sanitary Sewer Manhole to Grade Ea. 1 $1,100.00 $1,100.00

4. Install Curb (Type A1-8) L.F. 167 $185.00 $30,895.00

5. Detail 25A Striping - Thermoplastic L.F. 168 $15.00 $2,520.00

6. "Yield" Legend - Thermoplastic Ea. 2 $900.00 $1,800.00

7.
"Green Bike Lane Symbol with Arrow" 
Legend - TLG Std. TR-A - Thermoplastic 

Ea. 4 $2,650.00 $10,600.00

8.
5.0' Wide Dashed Green Bike Lane - 
Thermoplastic 

L.F. 468 $25.00 $11,700.00

9. Install New R1-5 (CA) Sign on New Post Ea. 2 $700.00 $1,400.00

10. Electrical Systems L.S. 1 $158,308.00 $158,308.00

11. Irrigation Systems L.S. 1 $18,500.00 $18,500.00

12. Landscape Planting L.S. 1 $37,500.00 $37,500.00

13. Remove Tree Ea. 2 $2,000.00 $4,000.00

TOTAL $328,792.00          

Tennyson Electric

Page 1 of 1

EXHIBIT A

Page 259



 

PREPARED BY: Stefanie Hockemeyer 
 Executive Assistant, Parks and Public Works 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Finance Director, and Director 
of Parks and Public Works 

   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 406-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 14 

   

 

DATE:   July 29, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Open and Close a Public Hearing to Consider Objections to the 2020 Weed 
Abatement Program Assessment Report and Adopt a Resolution Confirming 
the Report and Authorizing Collection of the Assessment Charges 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  

Open and close a public hearing to consider objections to the 2020 Weed Abatement Program 
Assessment Report (Attachment 1) and adopt a resolution (Attachment 2) confirming the 
report and authorizing collection of the assessment charges. 
 
BACKGROUND: 

The purpose of the Weed Abatement program is to prevent fire hazards posed by vegetative 
growth and the accumulation of combustible materials, as defined in the Town Code, Chapter 
11, Article II, Section 11.20.010.  This is a monitoring program and the primary objective is to 
mitigate the spread of fire via voluntary compliance. 
 
Typically, a property is placed in the program after a County inspector identifies a potential fire 
hazard on the premises.  Fire Departments, Code Enforcement, Public Works and other public 
agencies also submit complaints to the County's Consumer and Environmental Protection 
Agency - Weed Abatement Program (County).  Once a parcel is placed in the program, it will 
remain until it displays compliance for three consecutive years, at which point it will be 
removed. 
 
The Program is administered by the County on behalf of the Town and is funded from fees 
charged to residents.  Every year while in the program, the property owners are charged the 
inspection fee, and abatement fees if performed by the County.  
 
 

Page 260



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT:  Open and Close a Public Hearing to Consider Objections to the 2020 Weed 

Abatement Program Assessment Report and Adopt a Resolution Confirming the 
Report and Authorizing Collection of the Assessment Charges 

DATE:  July 29, 2020 
 

   
 

BACKGROUND (continued): 
 
On December 3, 2019, the Town Council passed Resolution 2019-060 (Attachment 3) declaring 
hazardous vegetation (weeds) a public nuisance, providing for their abatement, and set January 
21, 2020 as a public hearing date for the annual program. 
 
The County mailed property owners a notice of the January 21, 2020 Public Hearing for the Los 
Gatos jurisdiction and guidelines on the Los Gatos Weed Abatement Program.     
 
DISCUSSION: 

The 2020 Weed Abatement Assessment Report list includes assessment charges for inspection 
fees and for performing weed abatement.  The attached resolution affirms these costs and 
acknowledges the costs will be assessed by the County Tax Collector against the respective 
properties. 
 
The Town of Los Gatos mailed property owners a notice of the August 4, 2020 Public Hearing 
for the Los Gatos jurisdiction, along with the assessment charges.  This public hearing is an 
opportunity for residents who received an assessment to object to that assessment.  
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
Open and close a public hearing to consider objections to the 2020 Weed Abatement Program 
Assessment Report and adopt a resolution confirming the report and authorizing collection of 
the assessment charges. 
 
COORDINATION: 
 
This program has been coordinated with the County's Consumer and Environmental Protection 
Agency - Weed Abatement Program. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
Funds allocated in the adopted Operating Budget cover the cost of publishing the legal notices 
for the program.  The County’s cost to administer and carry out the program are recovered 
through the tax roll assessment charges levied against the affected properties. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 
 
This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 
 

Page 261



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT:  Open and Close a Public Hearing to Consider Objections to the 2020 Weed 

Abatement Program Assessment Report and Adopt a Resolution Confirming the 
Report and Authorizing Collection of the Assessment Charges 

DATE:  July 29, 2020 
 

   
 

Attachments: 

1. 2020 Weed Abatement Program Assessment Report. 
2. Resolution 2020-XX Confirming the Report and Authorizing Collection of the Assessment 

Charges. 
3. Resolution 2019-060 Declaring Hazardous Vegetation (Weeds) a Public Nuisance and 

Providing for their Abatement. 
 
 
 

Page 262



TRA

2020 WEED ABATEMENT PROGRAM
ASSESSMENT REPORT
TOWN OF LOS GATOS

Situs APN OWNER ADDRESS
TAX ROLL

AMT B

4708 Grimsby Dr SAN JOSE 95130-2037 3003Gupta, Mohit  And Apan, Parul $683.00Calle Marguerita01 409-04-049 TA
10031 Foothills Blvd ROSEVILLE 95747 3003Union Pacific Corporation $683.00Wedgewoodrail2 409-04-052 S
10031 Foothills Blvd ROSEVILLE 95747 3003Union Pacific Corporation $3,244.0003 409-08-001 S
0 Po Box 3390 SARATOGA 95070-1390 3003Yamaguchi, Judy C Trustee $101.00Castlewood9354 409-11-021 TA
48817 Deer View Tr FREMONT 94539 3003Saffarian, Babak  Trustee & Et Al $683.00Wedgewood172915 409-14-013 TA
14333 Mulberry Dr LOS GATOS 95032-0000 3003Bolandi, Hooman $101.00Mulberry143336 409-15-022 TA
14311 Mulberry Dr LOS GATOS 95032-0000 3003Lee, Kwangho  And Yunsun $101.00Mulberry143117 409-15-038 TA
777 1st St N Fl 5 SAN JOSE 95112 3003Swenson, C B Trustee $683.00Burton162458 424-06-115 TA
965 Page Mill Rd PALO ALTO 94304 300314823 Lgb Llc $683.00Los Gatos148239 424-07-065 TA
1851 First St E 10th Fl SANTA ANA 92705 3003Aurora Loan Services Llc $101.00National1543910 424-12-137 TA
15710 Winchester Bl LOS GATOS 95030-3305 3003Donnelly, Tessa I Et Al $683.00Winchester1571011 424-27-013 TA
19 Asanta Cruz Av N LOS GATOS 95030-5968 3003Dickinson, Patricia J $101.00Overlook1848112 510-40-019 TA
1080 College Av MENLO PARK 94025 3003Gertridge, John H Et Al $101.00Laurel013 510-41-068 TA
2185 California Bl N Ste 275 WALNUT CREEK 94596-3508 3003Covia Communities $101.00Wood11014 510-47-038 TA
138 Wood Rd LOS GATOS 95030-6740 3003Frenkel, Lily M And Draa, Justin S $101.00Wood13815 510-47-044 TA
779 Blossom Hill Rd LOS GATOS 95032-3502 3003Blanton, Louise C Trustee $101.00Blossom Hill77916 523-04-037 TA
15931 Blossom Hill Rd LOS GATOS 95032-4808 3003Terry, Naka K $101.00Blossom Hill1593117 523-25-028 TA
1466 Sutter Creek Dr EL DORADO HILLS 95762 3003Capriola, Joan C Trustee $101.00Stephenie1600918 523-26-006 TA
263 Pinehurst Av LOS GATOS 95032-3917 3003Gorman, Robert L And Theresa A $101.00Pinehurst26319 523-43-019 TA

Page 1Report Date: 6/24/2020 (List Sorted by APN)

ATTACHMENT 1
Page 263



TRA

2020 WEED ABATEMENT PROGRAM
ASSESSMENT REPORT
TOWN OF LOS GATOS

Situs APN OWNER ADDRESS
TAX ROLL

AMT B

Exhibit A1

15941 Quail Hill Rd LOS GATOS 95032-4819 3003Khosravi, Arvin  And Mozafar, $683.00Quail Hill1594120 527-02-006 TA
5950 Country Cruz Py SAN JOSE 95138 3003Diep, John  And Allison $101.00Quail Hill1592521 527-02-007 TA
145 Drysdale Dr LOS GATOS 95032-4847 3003Zukin, Margaret S Trustee $101.00Drysdale14522 527-03-003 TA
0 Gum Tree Ln LOS GATOS 95032-0000 3003Quint, Robert A Trustee & Et Al $101.00Gum Tree023 527-03-007 TA
16200 Greenridge Tr LOS GATOS 95032-4914 3003Ormandy, Roman  And Bibiana $101.00Greenridge1620024 527-15-001 TA
952 5th St N SAN JOSE 95112-4411 3003Luu, Richard T $683.00Greenridge1608425 527-15-002 TA
14975 Larga Vista Dr LOS GATOS 95032-4917 3003Guevara, Maria E Trustee & Et Al $101.00Larga Vista026 527-16-013 TA
14960 Larga Vista Dr LOS GATOS 95032-4918 3003Prouty, Kymberly K And Paul R $101.00Larga Vista1496027 527-16-016 TA
110 Belvale Dr LOS GATOS 95032 3003Bate, Rosemary S $683.00Surmont40128 527-20-002 TA
2470 Winchester Bl S D CAMPBELL 95008 3003Cashmere Bouquet 1031 Llc $101.00Union25829 527-44-012 TA
2470 Winchester Bl S D CAMPBELL 95008 3003Cashmere Bouquet 1031 Llc $101.00Union25830 527-44-013 TA
3553 Meadowlands Ln SAN JOSE 95135-0000 3003Cross Creek Los Gatos Llc $101.00Woodlandland31 529-06-072 TA
301 Alta Loma Ln SANTA CRUZ 95062 3003Dunn Properties Lp Etal $2,489.35Blossom Hill61532 529-16-026 TA
385 Bella Vista Ave LOS GATOS 95032-5416 3003Charlene And Tony $101.00Bella Vista033 529-21-010 TA
331 Bella Vista Av LOS GATOS 95032-5416 3003Runyan, Peter  And Choi, Hyung Mee $101.00Bella Vista034 529-23-003 TA
0 P O Box 3486 KETCHUM 83340 3003Peters, Jake C And Katherine H $683.00Bella Vista035 529-23-015 TA
188 Villa Av LOS GATOS 95030-0000 3003Ross, Daniel Lee  Trustee $683.00Bella Vista036 529-23-016 TA
4168 Riva Ridge FAIR OAKS 95628-6429 3003Harlan, Marilyn S Trustee $683.00Bella Vista037 529-23-019 TA
350 Bella Vista Av LOS GATOS 95032-5400 3003Hedberg, Pernilla  And Claes J $683.00Bella Vista038 529-23-020 TA

Page 2Report Date: 6/24/2020 (List Sorted by APN)

Page 264



TRA

2020 WEED ABATEMENT PROGRAM
ASSESSMENT REPORT
TOWN OF LOS GATOS

Situs APN OWNER ADDRESS
TAX ROLL

AMT B

Exhibit A1

0 Reservoir Rd LOS GATOS 95032-7028 3003Douglas, Vasiliki $101.00Reservoir39 529-29-065 TA
0 Reservoir Rd LOS GATOS 95030-0000 3003Kidder, Vasiliki $101.00Reservoir040 529-29-066 TA
148 Cleland Av LOS GATOS 95030-0000 3003Hattar, Marie C $101.00Cleland14841 529-34-043 TA
107 Foster Rd LOS GATOS 95030-0000 3003St Ward Props Lp $683.00(vacant)042 529-39-047 TA
16386 Hilow Road Los Gatos 95032 3003Ganapathy Govindaswamy & $101.00Hilow1638643 532-04-080 TA
4100 Moorpark Av  Ste 205 SAN JOSE 95117 3003Lin, Arthur W And Chang, Christine $101.00Topping1666644 532-09-018 TA
16510 Kennedy Rd LOS GATOS 95032-6431 3003Mckenzie, Jaclyn J Trustee $683.00Kennedy1651045 532-17-025 TA
16461 Kennedy Rd S LOS GATOS 95030-0000 3003Chaudhry, Faisal  And Reem C $101.00Kennedy1646146 532-17-027 TA
7 Shore Pine Dr NEWPORT COAST 92657 3003Hakhu, Jai K And Nalini $683.00Kennedy1648147 532-17-028 TA
1901 Nobili Av SANTA CLARA 95051-2229 3003Pan, Sam Shiwei $101.00Jared24848 532-34-071 TA
251 Llewwllyn Av CAMPBELL 95008 3003Uplift Family Services $101.00Phillips1751149 532-39-009 TA
17652 Tourney Rd LOS GATOS 95030-7166 3003Yu, Margaret  And Rolandi, Marco $101.00Tourney1765250 537-04-043 TA
15220 Kennedy Road Los Gatos 95032 3071Susan K. Bezecny And James R. $101.00Kennedy Rd1522051 537-15-004 TA
0 Po Box 27421 SAN FRANCISCO 94127 3003Jackson Street Equities Llc $683.00Forrester23352 537-21-010 TA
229 Forrester Rd LOS GATOS 95032-6508 3003Satia, Jagat B And Indira $101.00Forrester22953 537-22-011 TA
0 P.o. Box 9277 SAN JOSE 95157 3003Ownbey, Douglas V Trustee $101.00Wooded View15554 537-23-028 TA
210 Wooded View Dr LOS GATOS 95032-5738 3003Cunningham, James $101.00Wooded View21055 537-23-046 TA
409 Casselino Dr SAN JOSE 95136-0000 3003Live Well Homes Inc $101.00Shannon1587656 537-26-009 TA
15760 Shannon Rd LOS GATOS 95032-5759 3050Kellermann Marc Et Al $101.00Shannon Rd1576057 537-26-018 TA

Page 3Report Date: 6/24/2020 (List Sorted by APN)

Page 265



TRA

2020 WEED ABATEMENT PROGRAM
ASSESSMENT REPORT
TOWN OF LOS GATOS

Situs APN OWNER ADDRESS
TAX ROLL

AMT B

Exhibit A1

16060 Cerro Vista Dr LOS GATOS 95032-0000 3003Brezoczky, Blasius  Trustee & Et Al $683.00Cerro Vista1606058 537-30-004 TA

$21,865.35TOTAL

Page 4Report Date: 6/24/2020 (List Sorted by APN)

Page 266



1 of 2  
 Resolution 2020-  August 4, 2020 

RESOLUTION 2020- 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWNOF LOS GATOS 
ADOPTING REPORT DESCRIBING PARCELS OF REAL PROPERTY, 

AND SHOWING AMOUNT OF HAZARDOUS VEGETATION (WEEDS) 
ABATEMENT ASSESSMENTS TO BE COLLECTED ON THE 

SECURED PROPERTY TAX ROLL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS IN 
THE OUNTY OF SANTA CLARA, FOR 2020 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos, pursuant to Sections 39501 and 

39502 of the Government Code of the State of California, has adopted by ordinance a procedure 

for the abatement of hazardous vegetation (weeds) and the collection of the charges therefore 

on the tax roll, as contained in Chapter 11, Article II, Sections 11.20.010 through 

11.20.45 of the Los Gatos Town Code; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant thereto, Resolution No. 2019-060 declaring weeds a public nuisance 

and providing for their abatement, was adopted by the Town Council on December 3, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to notice duly and regularly given, the public hearing was held with 

respect thereto on January 21, 2020, overruling objections and ordering abatement of weeds as 

a public nuisance, was adopted by the Town Council; and 

WHEREAS, a written report has been filed with the Town Clerk of the Town of Los Gatos, 

containing a description of each parcel of real property, and showing the amount of the charge 

to be collected on the secured property tax roll with respect thereto, computed in conformity 

with the charges prescribed by said ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the Town Clerk has set the 4th day of August 2020, utilizing teleconferencing,  

as the time and place when and where said Town Council would hear and consider all objections 

or protest, if any, to said report. 

RESOLVED, by the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos, County of Santa Clara, State of 

California, that the Town Council does hereby find and declare: 

1. That notice of said public hearing was duly and regularly published and given as 

required by Section 11.20.035 of the Los Gatos Town Code and as otherwise 

required by law; and 

 

ATTACHMENT 2 

Page 267



2 of 2  
 Resolution 2020-  August 4, 2020 

2. All persons desiring to be heard during said hearing were given an opportunity to 

do so, all matters and things pertaining to said report were fully heard and 

considered by the Town Council, and all protests and objections, if any, are hereby 

overruled. 

FURTHER RESOLVED, that said report, and each charge thereon, with any charges that 

may be noted on the face of said report pursuant to action taken by this Town Council, is hereby 

confirmed and approved. 

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the charges are affirmed and shall be assessed against the real 

properties listed on the property tax bill if not sooner paid. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los 

Gatos, California, held on the 4th day of August 2020, by the following vote: 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES:  

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

 

       SIGNED: 
 
 
 

      MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
       LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
       DATE: __________________ 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
TOWN CLERK OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
DATE: __________________ 

 
 

Page 268



RESOLUTION 2019- 060

RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS

DECLARING WEEDS TO BE A PUBLIC NUISANCE AND

SET HEARING DATE OF JANUARY 21, 2020 TO CONSIDER OBJECTIONS FOR
PROPOSED REMOVAL

WHEREAS, Section 39501 and Section 39502 of the Government Code of the State of

California authorize the Town of Los Gatos to prescribe a procedure for compelling the owner, 

lessees or occupant of buildings, grounds, or lots to remove hazardous vegetation ( weeds) from

such buildings or grounds and adjacent sidewalks, and, upon his failure to do so, to remove such

hazardous vegetation ( weeds) at owner' s expense, making the cost thereof a lien upon such

property; and

WHEREAS, the Town of Los Gatos, by ordinance, has adopted such a procedure, codified

in Chapter 11, Article II, Sections 11. 20. 010 through 11. 20. 045 of the Los Gatos Town Code. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: that the Town Council hereby finds that hazardous

vegetation " weeds," as that term is defined in Section 11. 20. 010, are growing upon and adjacent

to private property within the Town of Los Gatos, and declares that all hazardous vegetation

weeds) growing upon any private property or properties, and in any sidewalk street, or alley

within the Town of Los Gatos are a public nuisance and should be abated. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that unless such nuisance be abated by the destruction or

removal of such hazardous vegetation ( weeds) within thirty ( 30) days after the adoption of this

resolution, or within the time specified in a written agreement with the Town of Los Gatos

Director of Parks and Public Works, or his representative, whichever time shall be later, as

provided in Chapter 11, Article II, of the Los Gatos Town Code, the Town of Los Gatos shall cause

such nuisance to be abated, and the expense thereof assessed upon the lots and lands from

which, or in the front and rear of which, such hazardous vegetation ( weeds) shall have been

destroyed or removed, such expense constituting a lien upon such lots or lands until paid, and to

be collected upon the next tax roll upon which general municipal taxes are collected. 

1of2

Resolution 2019- 060 December 3, 2019

ATTACHMENT 3
Page 269



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Director shall execute a " Notice to Destroy Hazardous

Vegetation ( Weeds)" in the form set forth in Section 11. 20. 020( b) and shall cause same to be

published and posted in the manner prescribed by Section 11. 20. 020( c). 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that on the 211` day of January, 2020 at a meeting of the Town

Council beginning at 7: 00 p. m. in the Council Chambers of the Civic Center, 110 E. Main Street, 

Los Gatos, California, a public hearing will be held during which all property owners in the Town

of Los Gatos having any objections to the proposed destruction or removal of such hazardous

vegetation (weeds) will be heard and given due consideration. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los

Gatos, California, held on the 3` d day of December 2019 by the following vote: 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES: Steve Leonardis, Rob Rennie, Marico Sayoc, Barbara Spector, Mayor Marcia Jensen

NAYS: None

ABSENT: None

ABSTAIN: None

SIGNED: 

MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS

LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA

DATE: 10- 111' 19
ATTEST: 

TOWN CLERK OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS

LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA

DATE: 

2of2

Resolution 2019- 060 December 3, 2019
Page 270



 

PREPARED BY: Stefanie Hockemeyer 
 Executive Assistant, Parks and Public Works 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Finance Director, and Director 
of Parks and Public Works 

   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 406-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 14 

DESK ITEM 

 
   

 

DATE:   August 4, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Open and Close a Public Hearing to Consider Objections to the 2020 Weed 
Abatement Program Assessment Report and Adopt a Resolution Confirming 
the Report and Authorizing Collection of the Assessment Charges 

 
REMARKS:  

Attachment 4 contains public comments which contain five protests received between 
Wednesday, July 29, 2020 and 11:00 a.m., Tuesday, August 4, 2020.  Two of which were 
received by County Weed Abatement staff on July 29th and inadvertently not received by the 
Town Clerk until August 4, 2020; therefore, not included with the staff report, but instead with 
this Desk Item. 
 
The protests are for parcel numbers: 
424-07-065 
527-03-003 
532-17-028 
537-30-004 
537-23-028 
 
Town staff reviewed the protests of the proposed assessments with the County and 
recommend the fees should be assessed.   
 
Attachments previously received with the August 4, 2020 Staff Report:  
1. 2020 Weed Abatement Program Assessment Report. 
2. Resolution 2020-XX Confirming the Report and Authorizing Collection of the Assessment 

Charges. 
3. Resolution 2019-060 Declaring Hazardous Vegetation (Weeds) a Public Nuisance and 

Providing for their Abatement. 
 

Page 271



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT:  Open and Close a Public Hearing to Consider Objections to the 2020 Weed 

Abatement Program Assessment Report and Adopt a Resolution Confirming the 
Report and Authorizing Collection of the Assessment Charges 

DATE:  August 4, 2020 
 

   
 

Attachment received with this Desk Item: 
4. Public comments received between Wednesday, July 29, 2020 and 11:00 a.m., Tuesday, 

August 4, 2020 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 272



From: zukinp@comcast.net <zukinp@comcast.net>  
Sent: Monday, August 03, 2020 7:31 PM 
To: Clerk <Clerk@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: Protesting 2020 weed abatemennt assessment 

My property, APN 527-03-003 at 145 Drysdale Drive has had the weeds abated by RN Pearman 
Landscaping Co every May. This year the work was done on May 20, 2020, at the cost of $1500.00 paid 
by my personal WellsFargo check #13672. 
Thank you. 
Margaret S. Zukin 

ATTACHMENT 4Page 273

mailto:zukinp@comcast.net
mailto:zukinp@comcast.net
mailto:Clerk@losgatosca.gov
SHockemeyer
Highlight



From: Jai Hakhu   
Sent: Sunday, August 02, 2020 1:05 PM 
To: Clerk <Clerk@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: Written Protest - Proposed 2020 Weed Abatement Assessment Charges APN 532-17-028 

Dear Town Clerk: 

We have been owners of 16481 S Kennedy Rd property for the last 22 years and have been completing 
weed abatement.  We understand the value and importance of the annual Weed Abatement program 
and strive to comply with the necessary deadlines for the benefit of everyone in the Los Gatos 
community and in the Bay Area.  Unfortunately due to COVID-19, this year we were unable to enlist the 
services on our own for weed abatement by the April 15, 2020 deadline.  When it was possible, 
however, we were able to complete the weed abatement in late May 2020 (please see the attached 
pictures).   

Due to the unique circumstances this year, we kindly request the $582.00 first administrative fee (failed 
inspection/work order processing) be waived from our proposed assessment of $683.00 indicated on 
Exhibit A1 in the 2020 Weed Abatement Program Assessment Report Town of Los Gatos (report date: 
June 24, 2020) from the July 17, 2020 notice we received. 

Thank you for your time and consideration. 

Kind regards, 

Jai and Nalini Hakhu 
16481 S Kennedy Rd 
Los Gatos, CA 95030 
408-307-8807

Page 274

mailto:Clerk@losgatosca.gov
SHockemeyer
Highlight



APN 532-17-028 

Page 275

SHockemeyer
Highlight



From: Balazs, Blasius, Bo Brezoczky   
Sent: Sunday, July 26, 2020 4:52 PM 
To: Clerk <Clerk@losgatosca.gov> 
Subject: [EXTERNAL] CONTESTING THE 2020 WEED ABATEMENT PROGRAM ASSESSMENT on 16060 
Cerro Vista Dr. APN 537-30-004 

According to the S.C. county inspector; they came and took some pictures on March 13 2020. 
We have cleared the property: bulldozed the growing bushes, and cut the grass prior April 1st 2020. 
($2500.-), therefore we are opposing your assessment of   $623. 
Sincerely: B. Brezoczky 

P.S.: Prior year S.C. in mail specified the clearing until April 1.

From: Kumre, Moe <Moe.Kumre@cep.sccgov.org>  
Sent: Monday, August 03, 2020 7:06 AM 
To: Stefanie Hockemeyer <SHockemeyer@LosGatosCA.gov> 
Subject:  CONTESTING THE 2020 WEED ABATEMENT PROGRAM ASSESSMENT on 16060 Cerro Vista Dr. 
APN 537-30-004  

Parcel 537-30-004 was inspected on May 13 pictures are attached the property failed that inspection 
and is being charged for the inspection and the work order processing fee for a total on $683. 

Moe Kumre 
Weed Abatement manager 

County of Santa Clara 

Consumer and Environmental Protection Agency 

office: (408)282-3123  email: moe.kumre@cep.sccgov.org 

Page 276

mailto:Clerk@losgatosca.gov
SHockemeyer
Highlight



APN 537-30-004

Page 277

mailto:moe.kumre@cep.sccgov.org
SHockemeyer
Highlight



SCC WeedAbatement 

From: Red Dogue  

Sent: Wednesday, July 29, 2020 2:34 PM 

To: SCC WeedAbatement 

Subject: [EXTERNAL] Contestation of weed abatement fine/tax 

Hello. 

My name is Doug Ownbey. I own the property at 155 Wooded View Drive in Los Gatos, APN: 537‐23‐028. Please 
consider this my contestation of the weed abatement fine/tax proposed by the Town of Los Gatos and Santa Clara 
County. 
 

Until this past week, when I contacted the SCC weed abatement department, I was not aware that my property was in 
violation. Apparently, my propery was in violation in 2017 and 2018. 
 

Had I known I was in violation, I would have taken immediate action to fix the problems. I have made multiple requests 
for copies of the violation notices, but have received nothing but a picture of my property from 5/11/2018 showing tall 
green grass. 
 

I was told that my property was not in violation for 2019 and 2020, and that it will be removed from the list if it is not in 
violation in 2021. 
 

I request that my property not be fined/taxed under the weed abatement program. I was not notified of previous years' 
violations and my property has been in compliance for the past two years. 

Respectfully, 

Doug Ownbey 

On Jul 29, 2020, at 1:52 PM, Red Dogue <reddog1106@gmail.com> wrote: 
Who do I submit them to, the Town? 

Get BlueMail for Android 
On Jul 29, 2020, at 12:19 PM, SCC WeedAbatement < scc.weedabatement@cep.sccgov.org> wrote: 

Hello, 

APN: 537‐23‐028 has had the same mailing address since at least 2016, notices are sent to the mailing address on file. 

We send notices to the same place the tax bill is sent. 

Submit you written contest for fees associated with 2020 fees by 3pm today. 

 
Brian Rosa Weed Abatement Inspector 
County of Santa Clara 

 
Consumer and Environmental Protection Agency Weed Abatement Service Number: (408) 282-3145 Building 1, 1553 Berger Drive - San Jose, CA. 
95112 

 

Page 278

mailto:reddog1106@gmail.com
mailto:scc.weedabatement@cep.sccgov.org


From: Rosa, Brian <brian.rosa@cep.sccgov.org>  
Sent: Tuesday, August 04, 2020 2:08 PM 
To: Stefanie Hockemeyer <SHockemeyer@LosGatosCA.gov> 
Subject: RE: Weed abatement assessment - APN 537-23-028 
 
Hey Stefanie, 
 
I attached the contests I am aware of in the Town. Parcel 537-23-028, last violation on record, 
5/11/2018.  Owner never contacted program on the appropriate years to request or contest decisions 
made by the program.  First communications on record was on 7/23/2020.  The fee is $101 – initial 
inspection. 
 
Request is inappropriate for the purpose of the hearing.  Purpose of the hearing is to contest fees 
associated with this fiscal year, Aug 2019 – Aug 2020.  My notes indicate I replied with the 2018 notice, 
he could have replied for more data.  Please detail what you would like from previous years, I can 
provide that in the form of a snip from the database. 
  

Page 279



1

SCC WeedAbatement

To: Christina Le
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] RE: APN 424-07-065 Contest

Hey Christina, 
 
I placed the updated contest into the Los Gatos folder for submission to the Town Council.  
 
 

 

Brian Rosa   Weed Abatement Inspector 
County of Santa Clara  
Consumer and Environmental Protection Agency 
Weed Abatement Service Number: (408) 282-3145 
Building 1, 1553 Berger Drive - San Jose, CA. 95112 

 
 
 

From: Christina Le <cle@shpco.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, July 29, 2020 3:21 PM 
To: SCC WeedAbatement <SCC.WeedAbatement@cep.sccgov.org> 
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] RE: APN 424‐07‐065 Contest 
 
Hi Brian, 
  
Thank you for the call just now. As we clarified over the phone, this property is located in Los Gatos so the contest 
request is for the August 4th Los Gatos meeting. 
  
Here is the updated written request to contest: 
  
To The Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos, 
  
This request is acknowledging receipt of the notice dated July 17, 2020 regarding the Weed Abatement Program for 
parcel number #424‐07‐065 located at 14823 Los Gatos Blvd, Los Gatos, CA 95032, owner (14823 Lgb LLC, 965 Page Mill 
Road, Palo Alto, CA 94304). We would like to contest the inspection fee of $101 and Non Compliance fee of $582 due to 
hardship from the COVID‐19 pandemic. We have been maintaining the landscape and weeds on the property, which was 
last addressed the end of 2019. Unfortunately, due to the global pandemic of COVID‐19 and the Public Health Ordinance 
to shelter in place, our day to day operations were significantly impacted. We have corrected our operations to make 
sure this does not happen again. The weeds on the 14823 LGB property have been addressed and we are requesting to 
have the fees waived. Please see photos attached.  Thank you in advance for your understanding and consideration 
regarding this matter. I look forward to your response. 
  
Thank you,  
  
  

Page 280

SHockemeyer
Highlight

SHockemeyer
Highlight

SHockemeyer
Highlight



2

 

Page 281



3

  
Christina Le 
Property Manager 
  
Direct: 650 413 9876 
cle@shpco.com 

 
  

From: SCC WeedAbatement <SCC.WeedAbatement@cep.sccgov.org>  
Sent: Wednesday, July 29, 2020 2:23 PM 
To: Christina Le <cle@shpco.com> 
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] RE: APN 424‐07‐065 Contest 
  
Hearing Officer requires a couple of weeks normally, this is not a normal year, maybe 3 weeks?  Not sure. 
  

From: Christina Le <cle@shpco.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, July 29, 2020 1:16 PM 

Page 282



4

To: SCC WeedAbatement <SCC.WeedAbatement@cep.sccgov.org> 
Subject: [EXTERNAL] RE: APN 424‐07‐065 Contest 
  
Hi Brian, 
  
Thank you for confirming our submission. 
  
Unfortunately we did not receive the notice dated 5/6. How and when will we know if our request was approved? 
  
Thank you, 
  
Christina Le 
Property Manager 
  
Direct: 650 413 9876 
cle@shpco.com 

 
  

From: SCC WeedAbatement <SCC.WeedAbatement@cep.sccgov.org>  
Sent: Wednesday, July 29, 2020 1:12 PM 
To: Christina Le <cle@shpco.com> 
Subject: APN 424‐07‐065 Contest 
  
Hello, 
  
Thank you for participating in the County Weed Abatement Program Assessment Hearing process. 
  
Your written contest has been processed for submittal to the hearing officer. 
  
The Hearing Officer is a neutral party whose decision is final.  According to the record a courtesy notice was sent to the 
mailing address on file.  Inspected 4/29 & Notice Sent 5/6. 
  
  

 

Brian Rosa   Weed Abatement Inspector 
County of Santa Clara  
Consumer and Environmental Protection Agency 
Weed Abatement Service Number: (408) 282-3145 
Building 1, 1553 Berger Drive - San Jose, CA. 95112 

  
  
  
  
  

From: Christina Le <cle@shpco.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, July 29, 2020 12:47 PM 
To: SCC WeedAbatement <SCC.WeedAbatement@cep.sccgov.org> 
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] RE: Weed Abatement 
  
Hi Brian, 
  
Was there a notice sent regarding the inspection on 4/29/20? If so, we did not receive it. Yes, I would like to contest. 
Please let me know if I need to include anything further. 
  

Page 283



5

To whom it may concern, 
  
In regards to the notice dated July 17, 2020 regarding the Weed Abatement Program for parcel number #424‐07‐065 
located at 14823 Los Gatos Blvd, Los Gatos, CA 95032, owner (14823 Lgb LLC, 965 Page Mill Road, Palo Alto, CA 94304) 
would like to contest the inspection fee of $101 and Non Compliance fee of $582. We have been maintaining the weeds 
on the property and it was last addressed the end of 2019. Due to the global pandemic impact of COVID‐19, our day to 
day operations have been significantly impacted. The weeds on the 14823 LGB property are being addressed today we 
are requesting to have the fees waived. I can send completion photos should you require it. We appreciate your 
consideration regarding this matter. I look forward to your response. 
  
Thank you,  
  
Christina Le 
Property Manager 
  
Direct: 650 413 9876 
cle@shpco.com 

 
  

From: SCC WeedAbatement <SCC.WeedAbatement@cep.sccgov.org>  
Sent: Wednesday, July 29, 2020 12:06 PM 
To: Christina Le <cle@shpco.com> 
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] RE: Weed Abatement 
  
Hello Christina, 
  
Fees were Incurred upon failed inspection on 4/29/2020. 
  
Initial inspection fee of $101 & Non Compliance fee of $582. 
  
If you want to contest, submit your written statement with an e‐mail reply by 3pm, so we can prepare it for the hearing 
tomorrow. 
  
  

 

Brian Rosa   Weed Abatement Inspector 
County of Santa Clara  
Consumer and Environmental Protection Agency 
Weed Abatement Service Number: (408) 282-3145 
Building 1, 1553 Berger Drive - San Jose, CA. 95112 

  
  
  
  

From: Christina Le <cle@shpco.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, July 29, 2020 10:55 AM 
To: SCC WeedAbatement <SCC.WeedAbatement@cep.sccgov.org> 
Subject: [EXTERNAL] RE: Weed Abatement 
  
When were the charges incurred? We had the weeds addressed last fall and due to COVID‐19, we’ve had to modify our 
facilities schedules and unfortunately was not able to address until we received the notice. 
  
Christina Le 
Property Manager 

Page 284



6

  
Direct: 650 413 9876 
cle@shpco.com 

 
  

From: SCC WeedAbatement <SCC.WeedAbatement@cep.sccgov.org>  
Sent: Wednesday, July 29, 2020 10:28 AM 
To: cle@shpco.com 
Subject: Weed Abatement 
  
The charges are to recover cost already incurred by the county. 
  
First Name: Christina 
Last Name: Le 
Street Address: 14823 Los Gatos Blvd 
City: Los Gatos 
State: CA 
ZIP Code: 95032 
Telepohone Number: 650‐413‐9876 
Best Time To Call: Weekday Midmornings 
E‐mail Address: cle@shpco.com 
  
Question or Concern  
 
Concern: Received notice of meeting regarding Weed Abatement Program letter dated July 17th. Our property made it 
to the list, but we have a landscaper addressing the weeds today. How do I go about sending photos of completion and 
having charges removed. 
APN: 424‐07‐065 
  

Page 285



 

PREPARED BY: Lynne Lampros 
 Deputy Town Attorney 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 15 

 
   

 

DATE:   August 4, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Lynne Lampros, Deputy Town Attorney 

SUBJECT: Introduction by Title Only of an Ordinance of the Town of Los Gatos 
Amending Chapter 18, by Adding Article IX, Sections 18.90.010- 18.90.050 of 
the Los Gatos Town Code Entitled Drones and Unmanned Aircraft Systems  

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Introduction by title only of an Ordinance of the Town of Los Gatos amending Chapter 18, by 
adding Article IX, Sections 18.90.010-18.90.050 of the Los Gatos Town Code entitled Drones and 
Unmanned Aircraft Systems. 
 
BACKGROUND: 

Unmanned Aircraft Systems, known commonly as “drones,” have historically been the province 
of small groups of hobbyists, kept few in number by the time-consuming construction of 
remote-controlled model airplanes that were limited in their scope of use.  Recent 
technological advancements have increased the proliferation of drones that are 
preconstructed, affordable, and can be integrated with the use of camera technology that 
dramatically increase the potential uses from government to business applications such as real 
estate or insurance, to wide ranging recreational use such as amateur photography and 
videography.   
 
With these greater numbers of drone users comes the need for local agencies to create a 
regulatory framework that provides for the appropriate uses of this technology, while also 
addressing important public safety, nuisance and other issues that arise as drones are 
increasingly used for recreational, business, and governmental purposes. 
 

 

Page 286



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Drones and Unmanned Aircraft Systems 
DATE:  August 4, 2020 
 
DISCUSSION: 

The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) rules for small unmanned aircraft (UAS) operations 
other than model aircraft – Part 107 of FAA regulations – cover a broad spectrum of 
commercial and government uses for drones weighing more than 0.55 pounds.  While the FAA 
regulates all airspace the FAA also states, “Laws traditionally related to state and local police 
power — including land use, zoning, privacy and law enforcement operations — generally are 
not subject to federal regulation.”  This statement identifies a window for local regulation of 
drone activities. 
 
Currently, the Los Gatos Monte Sereno Police Department lacks the ability to enforce federal 
law because the FAA claims jurisdiction over the airspace.  For example, a resident who is being 
disturbed by a drone circling over their home would need to call the FAA.  The League of 
California Cities adopted a drone policy in 2018 which articulates the need for local law 
enforcement to have the authority to enforce drone laws, so that a resident with a drone issue 
could call 911 and have the local Police Department respond rather than needing to contact the 
FAA.  The elements of the accompanying draft Ordinance are predicated on the League policy 
and state and federal law.  
 
The League of California Cities drone policy sets out suggested minimum rules for the state, 
including but not limited to, the following activities: 

 Ensuring that drones are properly registered with the FAA; 

 Upholding public safety standards for privacy and safety; and 

 Granting immunity from liability for jurisdictions that establish drone areas or parks. 
 

The policy advocates that local law enforcement should have the authority to enforce state and 
local drone laws to ensure that problems associated with drones can be addressed at the local 
level.  
 
Finally, the League policy identifies the role that towns/cities should play including but not be 
limited to: 
 

 Retaining the ability to impose time, place, and manner restrictions on drone operations 
under 400 feet in city airspace; 

 Retaining the ability to enact and enforce rules of general applicability to address unsafe 
drone operations, such as trespassing, nuisance or noise issues; 

 Ensuring that local drone ordinance information is readily available to drone operators; 

 Establishing clear rules for hobbyists by adopting community-based safety guidelines; 

 Adopting guidelines for how drones would be used within the city’s airspace; and 

 Planning appropriately for the use of drones in public spaces and designating “no fly” 
zones around critical infrastructure. 

 

Page 287



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Drones and Unmanned Aircraft Systems 
DATE:  August 4, 2020 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 

The proposed Ordinance incorporates the League guidance.  The  addition of this Ordinance to 
the Town Code would enable Police and Code Compliance staff to address these safety and 
land use considerations while establishing clear guidance for hobbyists and commercial users of 
drone technology. 
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
Staff recommends that Council accept public comment and then move for the introduction and 
first reading of an Ordinance, by title only, amending Chapter 18, by adding Article IX, Sections 
18.90.010-18.90.050 of the Los Gatos Town Code Entitled Drones and Unmanned Aircraft 
Systems. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
 
Council could refer the matter back to staff for consideration of any issues raised. 
 
COORDINATION: 
 
This report was coordinated through the Town Attorney’s Office and the Parks and Public 
Works Department, and the Police Department. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
There are no significant fiscal impacts associated with the approval of these amendments.  
Potential enforcement costs may be offset by penalties levied. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 
 
This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 
 
Attachment: 
1. Draft ordinance 
 

Page 288



1 of 6  
 Ordinance   Council Meeting Date 

ORDINANCE NO. _______ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
AMENDING CHAPTER 18 OF THE LOS GATOS TOWN CODE BY  

ADDING ARTICLE IX SECTIONS 18.90.010-18.90.050 ENTITLED DRONES  
AND UNMANNED AIRCRAFT SYSTEMS 

 

WHEREAS, Unmanned Aerial Systems (UAS), or “drones,” are an important technology 
that can be used in a number of beneficial ways for recreational, commercial, and 
governmental purposes; and  
 

WHEREAS, given the proliferation of this technology, while respecting the jurisdiction of 
the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA), it is important for local agencies and the state to 
craft a regulatory framework that provides for the appropriate uses of this technology, while 
also addressing important public safety, nuisance and other issues that arise as drones are 
increasingly used for recreational, business, and governmental purposes; and 
 

WHEREAS, the operation of UAS, such as model UAS and civil UAS, commonly referred 
to as drones, can at times pose a hazard to full-scale aircraft in flight, and to first responders, 
including firefighting aircraft, air ambulance helicopters, and law enforcement helicopters and 
to persons and property on the ground, including law enforcement and medical personnel; and 
 

WHEREAS, imposing community-based safety requirements and restrictions on  
the operation of UAS that do not preempt federal aviation rules or authority, or state law, 
is necessary to mitigate such risks and to protect the public from the hazards associated 
with the operation of UAS; and 
 

WHEREAS, it is proposed that the addition of Article IX, Sections 18.90.010-18.90.050 to 
Chapter 18 of the Los Gatos Municipal Code, will provide safety to the people in the Town 
through education and enforcement, while strengthening and preserving property rights. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS DOES HEREBY 

ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS. The Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos 
finds that all Recitals are true and correct and incorporate them herein by this reference. 

 
SECTION 2. LOS GATOS TOWN CODE AMENDMENTS. Chapter 18 Article IX of the Los 

Gatos Town Code is hereby added as follows: 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 
 

Page 289



2 of 6  
 Ordinance   Council Meeting Date 

Article IX - DRONES AND UNMANNED AIRCRAFT SYSTEMS 
 
Sec. 18.90.010 - Definitions.  

 
The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the 

meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a 
different meaning:  

 
(a) Civil UAS shall mean an unmanned aircraft or unmanned aircraft system operated by 

any person for any purposes other than strictly hobby or recreational purposes, 
including, but not limited to, commercial purposes or in the furtherance of, or 
incidental to, any business or media service or agency.  

(b)  Drone refers to any UAS.  
(c)  FAA means the Federal Aviation Administration.  
(d)  Model UAS shall mean an unmanned aircraft or unmanned aircraft system operated by 

any person strictly for hobby or recreational purposes.  
(e)  Person shall mean natural person, joint venture, joint stock company, partnership, 

association, club, company, corporation, business trust, organization, or the manager, 
lessee, agent, servant, officer, or employee of any of them.  

(f)  Public UAS shall mean an unmanned aircraft or unmanned aircraft system operated by 
any public agency or its authorized officers, employees, contractors, or agents for a 
governmental purpose, including but not limited to fire suppression, Emergency 
response, law enforcement and code enforcement operations, surveying and mapping 
property, inspecting infrastructure, monitoring traffic, and recording local events. 

(g)  Special event means any event as defined in Town Code Chapter 14 Article X.  
(h)  Unmanned aircraft shall mean an aircraft without a human pilot onboard, that is 

controlled by an operator on the ground, and is operated without the possibility of 
direct human intervention from within or on the aircraft.  

(i)  Unmanned aircraft system (UAS) shall mean an unmanned aircraft and associated 
elements, including, but not limited to, any communication links and components that 
control the unmanned aircraft.  

(j) Visual line of sight means that a person operating an unmanned aircraft has an 
unobstructed view of the unmanned aircraft. The operator must use his or her own 
natural vision (which includes vision corrected by standard eyeglasses or contact 
lenses) to observe the unmanned aircraft. People other than the operator may not be 
used in lieu of the operator for maintaining visual line of sight to the unmanned 
aircraft, except as otherwise permitted by federal law. The use of vision-enhancing 
devices, such as binoculars, night vision goggles, powered vision magnifying devices, 
and goggles or other devices designed to provide a "first-person view" from the 
unmanned aircraft do not constitute visual line of sight of the person operating the 
unmanned aircraft.  
 
 
 

Page 290



3 of 6  
 Ordinance   Council Meeting Date 

Sec. 18.90.030 – Regulations.  
 
The following shall apply to the operation of any UAS within the Town of Los Gatos, unless 

otherwise exempted:  
 
1.  No person shall operate any UAS within the Town of Los Gatos in a manner that is 

prohibited by any federal statute or regulation, or state of California statute or 
regulation.  

2.  No person shall operate any UAS within the Town of Los Gatos in a manner that 
interferes with manned aircraft, and any person operating any UAS shall always give 
way to any manned aircraft.  

3.  No person shall takeoff, land or operate any model UAS or civil UAS within the Town of 
Los Gatos beyond the "visual line of sight" of the person operating the model UAS or 
civil UAS.  

4.  No person shall operate any model UAS or civil UAS within the Town of Los Gatos 
other than during daylight hours defined as between official sunrise and official sunset 
for local time, except that a person may operate a model UAS or civil UAS during 
periods of civil twilight if the UAS has lighted anti-collision lighting visible for at least 
three (3) statute miles. As used herein, "civil twilight" means a period of time that 
begins thirty (30) minutes before official sunrise and ends at official sunrise, and a 
period of time that begins at official sunset and ends thirty (30) minutes after official 
sunset.  

5.  No person shall operate any model UAS or civil UAS within the Town of Los Gatos 
more than four hundred (400) feet above the earth's surface, unless the UAS is both 
flown within a 400-foot radius of a structure and does not fly higher than four hundred 
(400) feet above the structure's immediate uppermost limit.  

6.  Excluding takeoff and landing, no person shall operate any model UAS or civil UAS 
within the Town of Los Gatos closer than twenty-five (25) feet to any individual, who is 
not in a vehicle or covered structure, except the operator or the operator's helper(s).  

7.  No person shall takeoff or operate a model UAS or civil UAS on private property 
without the consent of the property owner.  

8.  No person shall takeoff, land or operate a model UAS or civil UAS over special events 
without prior notification to and authorization of the Town. Permitting fees may apply. 

9.  No person shall takeoff, land or operate a model UAS or civil UAS within one thousand 
five hundred (1,500) horizontal feet of any manned or unmanned aircraft.  

10.  No person shall operate any UAS in a manner that interferes with firefighting, 
emergency services, law enforcement, or a military operation in response to an 
Emergency. 

11.   No person shall takeoff, land or operate a model UAS or civil UAS within five hundred 
(500) feet of any emergency vehicle that is operating with lights and/or sirens.  

12.  No person shall takeoff, land or operate a model UAS or civil UAS within five hundred 
(500) feet of any active law enforcement or emergency response incident.  

Page 291



4 of 6  
 Ordinance   Council Meeting Date 

13.  No person shall takeoff, land or operate a model UAS or civil UAS within two hundred 
(200) feet of a school facility without prior notification and authorization of school 
officials.  

14.  No person shall takeoff, land or operate a model UAS or civil UAS within one hundred 
(100) feet of any public building without prior notification, and authorization of the 
Town.  

15.  No person shall operate a model UAS or civil UAS that has any type of weapon 
attached to it.  

16.  No person shall operate any model UAS or civil UAS within the Town of Los Gatos in 
violation of any temporary flight restriction (TFR) or notice to airmen (NOTAM) issued 
by the Federal Aviation Administration.  

17.  No person shall operate any model UAS or civil UAS within 500 feet of a critical 
infrastructure site, such as communication facilities, hospitals, dams, 
helicopter/helicopter pads, bridges, water treatment plant, without the prior written 
consent of the owner or operator of the critical infrastructure.   

18. No person shall operate any UAS within the Town of Los Gatos in a careless or reckless 
manner so as to endanger the life or property of another. The standard for what 
constitutes careless and reckless operation under this section shall be the same as the 
standard set forth in any federal statutes or regulations governing aeronautics 
including but not limited to Federal Aviation Rule 91.13. 

19. No person shall operate any model UAS or civil UAS within the Town in a manner 
designed, intended or which serves to harass, stalk, vex, annoy, disturb, frighten, 
intimidate, injure, threaten, victimize or place in extreme mental or emotional distress 
any person, whether that person is located on public or private property. The conduct 
described in this subsection includes, but is not limited to, using a model UAS or civil 
UAS to follow and film, video-record, live-stream or photograph a person who has not 
consented to such activity.  

20.  No person shall operate any model UAS or civil UAS within the Town to capture, record 
or transmit any visual image or audio recording of any person or private real property 
located in the Town under circumstances in which the subject person or owner of the 
subject real property has a reasonable expectation of privacy (including, but not 
limited to, inside a private office and inside a hotel room). This provision is intended to 
supplement, rather than duplicate, the prohibition against trespassing into the air 
space above the land of another person in order to capture any type of visual image or 
sound recording of a person engaging in a private, personal, or familial activity in a 
manner that is offensive to a reasonable person, pursuant to California Civil Code 
Section 1708.8. 

21. UAS operators are required to show proof of federal registration to local law 
enforcement officials upon request.  

22. No person shall operate any UAS while under the influence of alcohol or drugs that 
impair the ability of a person to operate a drone. 

23.   No person shall operate any model UAS or civil UAS while operating a motor vehicle. 

Page 292



5 of 6  
 Ordinance   Council Meeting Date 

24. Pursuant to federal law, a person must be 16 years of age or older to operate a drone 
independently. For those under the age of 16, a person over the age of 21 and a 
registered drone operator with the FAA must be present.  

25. Civil UAS users must obtain a business license pursuant to Town Code Chapter 14 
Article II and may be required to obtain a permit pursuant to Town Code Chapter 14 
Article IX to engage in commercial activity within Town borders.  

26. The noise restrictions of Chapter 16 of the Los Gatos Town Code may apply to the 
operation of any model UAS or civil UAS.  

 
Sec. 18.90.040 - Exemptions.  
 

1. The provisions of this chapter shall not apply to any public UAS operated by any public 
safety agency or code enforcement agency for lawful purposes and in a lawful manner or to any 
public agency or to the extent of delivering contracted services to a public agency.  

2. The provisions of this chapter may not apply to any civil UAS operated pursuant to and 
in compliance with the terms and conditions of a valid Town-issued film permit or special event 
that allows the use of a drone.  

3. The provisions of this chapter shall not apply to any UAS weighing less than 0.55 lbs. 
 

Sec. 18.90.050 - Violations; penalties.  
 
A violation of this Section can be charged or cited as a misdemeanor or infraction or 
administrative citation. Any person in violation of this Section may be subject to criminal, civil 
or administrative fines and penalties. Any violation of this Chapter is declared a public nuisance. 
 
SECTION 3. CONSTRUCTION. The Town Council intends this Ordinance to supplement, not to 
duplicate or contradict, applicable state and federal law and this Ordinance shall be construed   
in light of that intent. To the extent the provisions of the Los Gatos Municipal Code as amended 
by this Ordinance are substantially the same as the provisions of that Code as it read prior to 
the adoption of this Ordinance, those amended provisions shall be construed as continuations 
of the earlier provisions and not as new enactments. 
 
SECTION 4. CEQA. The Town Council finds and determines that the adoption of this ordinance is 
exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) per CEQA 
Guidelines under the General Rule (Section 15061(b)(3)), which sets forth that the CEQA applies 
only to projects which have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment. It 
can be seen with certainty that the proposed Town Code text amendments will have no 
significant negative effect on the environment. 
 
SECTION 5. SEVERABILITY. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this 
ordinance is for any reason held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such a 
decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance. The Town 
Council of the Town of Los Gatos hereby declares that it would have passed this ordinance and 
each section or subsection, sentence, clause and phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that 

Page 293



6 of 6  
 Ordinance   Council Meeting Date 

any one or more sections, subsections, sentences, clauses or phrases be declared invalid. 
Except as expressly modified in this Ordinance, all other sections set forth in the Los Gatos 
Town Code shall remain unchanged and shall be in full force and effect. 
 

This Ordinance was introduced at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of 
Los Gatos on the 4th day of August 2020, and adopted by the following vote as an ordinance of 
the Town of Los Gatos at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos on 
the ____ day of _____ 2020. This ordinance takes effect 30 days after it is adopted.  In lieu of 
publication of the full text of the ordinance within fifteen (15) days after its passage a summary 
of the ordinance may be published at least five (5) days prior to and fifteen (15) days after 
adoption by the Town Council and a certified copy shall be posted in the office of the Town 
Clerk, pursuant to GC 36933(c)(1). 
 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

       SIGNED: 
 
 
       MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
       LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
       DATE: __________________ 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
TOWN CLERK OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
DATE: __________________ 

Page 294



 

PREPARED BY: Mike Weisz 
 Senior Civil Engineer 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Finance Director, and Director 
of Parks and Public Works 

   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 16 

 
   

 

DATE:   July 30, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Adopt a Resolution Authorizing the Town Manager to Execute the North 40 In 
Lieu Traffic Fee Credit Agreement, North 40 Transportation Demand 
Management Agreement (Bellterra), and North 40 Transportation Demand 
Management Agreement (Market Hall) for Phase 1 of the North 40 
Development 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Town Manager to execute the North 40 In Lieu Traffic Fee 
Credit Agreement, North 40 Transportation Demand Management Agreement (Bellterra), and 
North 40 Transportation Demand Management Agreement (Market Hall) for Phase 1 of the 
North 40 development. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
On August 1, 2017 the Town Council approved the applications for Phase 1 of the North 40 
Specific Plan.  Phase 1 included several conditions of approval, including the requirement for a 
Traffic Demand Management (TDM) Plan and the payment of Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees.  
Staff has worked with Summerhill Homes to address both of these issues as agreements 
(Attachments 2 -4). 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
Staff provided Summerhill Homes with a target reduction of 15% of daily trips in order to 
achieve compliance with the TDM requirement.  Establishing an effective TDM plan on a 
development like the North 40 that is unsupported by significant transit can prove challenging. 
The project has programmed in standard TDM measures, such as bike racks, improved  
 

Page 295



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Adopt a Resolution Authorizing the Town Manager to Execute the North 40 In 

Lieu Traffic Fee Credit Agreement, North 40 Transportation Demand 
Management Agreement (Bellaterra), and North 40 Transportation Demand 
Management Agreement (Market Hall) for Phase 1 of the North 40 Development 

DATE:        July 30, 2020 

 

DISCUSSION (cont’d): 
 
pedestrian and bicycle access, car share parking spaces and ridesharing programs, transit  
passes, shower facilities for the Market Hall and a transportation coordinator.  In addition, staff 
recommended that the project, through future assessments on property owners, provide  
funding for future Town-wide TDM initiatives, such as a Town operated shuttle.  The TDM 
requirement may be a requirement for future developments as well.  The TDM program will 
accumulate funds until such time as sufficient funds are available to begin implementation of 
specific measures.  For the North 40 project, funds will begin to accumulate once each 
certificate of occupancy is issued. 
 
Although the Town’s work to complete vehicle miles travelled (VMT) policies is not yet 
complete, mandates for compliance with CEQA will lead to the establishment of TDM 
measures.  Establishing this program now will provide a foundation for future TDM measures 
and the limitation on the use of fees is broad enough to both meet short term goals and remain 
flexible for long term evolutions in transportation. 
 
The Town’s Traffic Impact Mitigation Fee allows for developers to complete mitigation projects 
as an offset to the calculated impact fee.  This allows for the completion of projects in the right 
of way that the Town would otherwise need to complete.  Often the developer can complete 
these projects at a more affordable cost than the Town could as they are mobilized at the site 
and have the resources ready and available.  As the first developer on the site, Summerhill 
Homes is completing all of the adjacent impact fee related projects.  Attachment 2 identifies a 
process in which traffic impact mitigation fees from future developers on the North 40 site will 
reimburse Summerhill Homes for the upfront costs of these improvements.  The Town benefits 
by not needing to deliver capital projects, by having the impact fee related projects completed 
all at once, and by having Summerhill Homes front all of the project costs. 
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
Staff recommends that Council adopt a resolution authorizing the Town Manager to execute 
the above-listed agreements for Tract Number 10441 (North 40 Phase 1). 
 
COORDINATION: 
 
This project has been coordinated with the Town Attorney. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

Page 296



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Adopt a Resolution Authorizing the Town Manager to Execute the North 40 In 

Lieu Traffic Fee Credit Agreement, North 40 Transportation Demand 
Management Agreement (Bellaterra), and North 40 Transportation Demand 
Management Agreement (Market Hall) for Phase 1 of the North 40 Development 

DATE:        July 30, 2020 

The Town will see revenue accumulation for TDM measures. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 
 
As part of the Specific Plan preparation process, the Town also prepared and circulated an 
Environmental Impact Report (EIR) that analyzed the potential environmental consequences of 
the Specific Plan, in accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  The EIR 
can be found at the following link: www.losgatosca.gov/DocumentCenter/Index/413.  The 
Town Council certified the Final EIR on June 17, 2015. 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. Resolution 
2. North 40 In Lieu Traffic Fee Credit Agreement 
3. North 40 Transportation Demand Management Agreement (Bellaterra) 
4. North 40 Transportation Demand Management Agreement (Market Hall) 
 
DISTRIBUTION: 
 
SummerHill N40 L.L.C., 777 California Avenue, Palo Alto, CA 94304 
 

Page 297

http://www.losgatosca.gov/DocumentCenter/Index/413


 

ATTACHMENT 1 

RESOLUTION 2020- 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL 

OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

AUTHORIZING THE TOWN MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE NORTH 40 IN LIEU 

TRAFFIC FEE CREDIT AGREEMENT, NORTH 40 TRANSPORTATION DEMAND 

MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT (BELLATERRA) AND NORTH 40 

TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT (MARKET HALL), IN 

SUBSTANTIAL CONFORMANCE WITH THE CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL AND 

SUBJECT TO FINAL TOWN ATTORNEY APPROVAL. 

 

 WHEREAS, on August 1, 2017, the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos approved 

the Architecture and Site Application S-13-090 and Vesting Tentative Map Application M-13-

014, with conditions; and  

 

 WHEREAS, those conditions required the Owner or Subdivider to do the following: 

1. That the Owner or Subdivider shall enter into and execute an agreement between the Town 

of Los Gatos and the said Owner or Subdivider on that certain proposed in lieu traffic fee 

credit agreement ("Credit Agreement") on file in the Office of the Town Clerk, entitled, 

"North 40 In Lieu Traffic Fee Credit Agreement", wherein the Town and the Owner or 

Subdivider shall agree to reimburse the construction costs for eligible off-site 

improvements per the Town’s traffic mitigation fee policy. 

2. That the Owner or Subdivider shall enter into and execute an agreement between the Town 

of Los Gatos and the said Owner or Subdivider on that certain proposed traffic demand 

management agreement ("Bellaterra TDM Agreement") on file in the Office of the Town 

Clerk, entitled, "North 40 Traffic Demand Management Agreement (Bellaterra)", wherein 

the Owner or Subdivider shall prepare a Transportation Demand Management (TDM) Plan 

for the residential and commercial uses for Town approval, within which a minimum of 

those measures identified in the Specific Plan shall be included. 

3. That the Owner or Subdivider shall enter into and execute an agreement between the Town 

of Los Gatos and the said Owner or Subdivider on that certain proposed traffic demand 

management agreement ("Market Hall TDM Agreement") on file in the Office of the Town 

Clerk, entitled, "North 40 Traffic Demand Management Agreement (Market Hall)", 

wherein the Owner or Subdivider shall prepare a Transportation Demand Management 

Page 298



 

 

 

(TDM) Plan for the residential and commercial uses for Town approval, within which a 

minimum of those measures identified in the Specific Plan shall be included; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Owner or Subdivider has complied with the conditions of Architecture 

and Site Application S-13-090 and Vesting Tentative Map Application M-13-014; and 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Town Manager is hereby authorized 

to execute the North 40 In Lieu Traffic Fee Credit Agreement, North 40 Traffic Demand 

Management Agreement (Bellaterra) and North 40 Traffic Demand Management Agreement 

(Market Hall), in substantial conformance to the Conditions of approval as set forth above and 

subject to final Town Attorney approval.  

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Town Council held on the 4th day of 

August, 2020, by the following vote:   

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

 

AYES: 

 

NAYS: 

 

ABSENT: 

 

ABSTAIN: 

  

       SIGNED: 

 

 

 

                                                                        MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

                                                                        LOS GATOS, CA 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

TOWN CLERK OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 

 

Page 299



 

 Page 1 of 4 ATTACHMENT 2 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

  

 

NORTH 40 IN LIEU TRAFFIC FEE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 

This North 40 In Lieu Traffic Fee Credit Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into effective 

this ___ day of August, 2020, by and between the Town of Los Gatos, a California General Law City 

(“Town”) and SummerHill N40 LLC, a California limited liability company (“SummerHill”), each a 

“Party” and collectively “Parties,” with respect to the following facts and circumstances:  

 WHEREAS, in 2017, the Town approved Phase 1 of the North 40 project (“Project”) to be 

developed on part of the property known as the North 40 site, bounded generally by California State 

Route 17 to the west, Lark Avenue to the south, California State Route 85 to the north and Los Gatos 

Boulevard to the east. SummerHill is the developer of the Project; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town by Resolution 2014-59 adopted a Traffic Impact Policy (the “Policy”).  

Under the Policy, developments such as the Project must pay Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees based 

upon trip generation of the development.  The Policy contains a Traffic Improvements Project List, 

which identifies traffic improvement for which a developer that installs such improvements is granted 

a credit against its Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees; and 

 

 WHEREAS, per the conditions of approval of Architecture and Site Application S-13-090 for 

the Project, the Project's Traffic Impact Mitigation Fee shall be paid before issuance of a building 

permit.   

 
 WHEREAS, SummerHill N40 LLC is ready to pull building permits for Lots 1-22, 24-27, and 

30-39 of Tract 10441 recorded on October 11, 2018 that will result in the generation of 2,338 average 

daily trips resulting in a Traffic Impact Mitigation Fee obligation (the "Phase 1 Traffic Fees") of Two 

Million One Hundred Seventy–Four Thousand and Seventy-Five Dollars ($2,174,075);  

 

 WHEREAS, the Project is required by its conditions of approval to construct four 

improvements that are on the Traffic Improvements Project List: (1) Westbound Lark to Hwy 17 

northbound ramps, (2) Lark/Los Gatos Intersection Improvements, (3) Complete street Improvements 

– Lark from Garden Hill to Los Gatos, and (4) Local Bikeway Improvements (collectively, the “Phase 

1 Traffic Improvements”); and 

 WHEREAS, the Town and SummerHill have worked together to refine the exact scope of the 

Phase 1 Traffic Improvements.  Pursuant to such agreed-upon scope, SummerHill has caused its 

contractor DeSilva Gates to prepare a detailed estimate of the cost of each of these Phase 1 Traffic 

Improvements based on actual bids.  These estimates (the “Current Estimates”) are memorialized in 

SummerHill’s letter of February 20, 2020 to the Town. The two-page letter (including the eight-page 

attachment from DeSilva Gates) is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated herein by this 

reference; and 

 WHEREAS, the Town and SummerHill agree that SummerHill shall have credits applied to 

the Traffic Impact Mitigation Fee that it pays to the Town in order to obtain building permits for the 

Project in amounts based upon the Current Estimates, with adjustments detailed below. 

Page 300



 

 Page 2 of 4 ATTACHMENT 2 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the conditions and covenants 

contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows 

1) Traffic Improvements. The amount of credits that shall be applied against the Phase 1 

Traffic Fees to determine the amount of such fees that Summerhill must pay to obtain building permits 

shall be based upon the Current Estimates.  For each of the four Phase 1 Traffic Improvements listed 

above, the applicable amount of the Current Estimates for each improvement shall be as listed below: 

a) Westbound Lark to Hwy 17 northbound ramps: Construction total of $1,268,000 plus 

12% for both soft costs and contingencies, for a total of $1,572,320. 

b) Lark/Los Gatos Intersection Improvements: Construction total of $769,000 plus 12% for 

both soft costs and contingencies, for a total of $953,560. 

c) Complete street Improvements – Lark from Garden Hill to Los Gatos: Construction total 

of $213,000 plus 12% for both soft costs and contingencies, for a total of $264,120. 

d) Local Bikeway Improvements: No credit requested. 

2) Initial Amount of Credits.  The total credit based upon paragraph 1 above shall be in the 

amount of $2,790,000 (the "Baseline Costs"), which includes the construction costs, soft costs and 

contingencies.  Subtracting the Phase 1 Traffic fees from the Baseline Costs leaves a potential credit 

amount for future reimbursement to SummerHill (the “Baseline Credit”) of Six Hundred Fifteen 

Thousand Nine Hundred and Twenty-Five Dollars ($615,925).  Thus, the parties agree that 

SummerHill’s obligation to pay Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees to obtain building permits for the 

Project shall be satisfied by the completion of the Phase I Traffic Improvements.   

3) Adjustment of Credits.  Should significant changes to the scope of work occur due to 

unforeseen circumstances, adjustments to the credits may be granted by the Town up to a total of ten 

percent. This adjustment is not intended to address minor variation in quantities, labor, or other 

construction costs.  Following completion of the Phase 1 Traffic Improvements, SummerHill may elect 

to provide to the Town a summary of expenses reasonably supported by invoices from their general 

contractor, subcontractors, and soft cost vendors in the event that the actual costs of completing the 

Phase 1 Traffic Improvements (the “Actual Costs”) have exceeded the Baseline Costs. The Town may 

reasonably audit these numbers at its own expense, with any such audit to be completed within sixty 

(60) days of submission of the supporting documentation.  If the Actual Costs as finally agreed upon 

by the Parties exceed the Baseline Costs, then the Baseline Credit shall be increased by the difference 

between the Actual Costs and the Baseline Costs.  The increased amount, together with the original 

amount of the Baseline Credit, shall be deemed to be the "Adjusted Credit."  If an Adjusted Credit has 

not been computed pursuant to this paragraph, then the Adjusted Credit as used in paragraph 4 herein 

shall be deemed to be the Baseline Credit. 

4) Reimbursement From Other Development That is a Part of Tentative Map M-13-014.  Each 

time that one or more building permits are ready for release by the Town for any or all lots 23, 28, 29 

of Tract 10441 or APN 424-07-036 and 037, the Traffic Impact Mitigation Fee for each such lot shall 

be calculated per the impact fee policy in effect at the time and paid by the building permit applicant. 

 If the Adjusted Credit is a positive number, then such amount of such fees will be paid by the Town as 

a reimbursement to SummerHill N40 LLC within thirty (30) days of receipt thereof.  Each time a 

payment is made to SummerHill pursuant to this paragraph 4, the Adjusted Credit shall be reduced by 

such payment. This obligation shall cease once the Adjusted Credit reaches zero or the original 

Page 301



 

 Page 3 of 4 ATTACHMENT 2 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

building permits as identified in this section have been issued. This section shall be in effect for a 

period of five years. 

5) No Reimbursement.  No reimbursement for the Phase 1 Traffic Improvement from future 

projects that are not a part of Tentative Map M-13-014 shall be paid to SummerHill. 

6) Dispute Resolution.  Any dispute under this agreement, including with regard to the payment 

amounts to be paid pursuant to paragraph 3 hereunder shall first be negotiated by the Parties.  If 

negotiation fails, either Party may demand binding arbitration, which shall be conducted under the 

auspices of the Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Service (JAMS).  Each party shall bear its own costs 

and attorneys’ fees in the arbitration, regardless of the outcome thereof.  

7) Good Faith Cooperation.  The Parties shall cooperate and use their good faith efforts to 

expedite the issuance of any necessary permits or permissions from the Town or from third parties for 

the construction of the Phase 1 Traffic Improvements.  The Parties to this Agreement agree to execute 

any and all documents reasonably necessary to effectuate the terms, conditions, purposes, and aims of 

this Agreement. 

8) Integrated Agreement.  This Agreement, together with the exhibit attached hereto, shall be 

deemed the complete and total agreement of the parties concerning the subject matter hereof, which 

supersedes memoranda or correspondence, if any, and any previous drafts or oral understandings, if 

any, made by the parties concerning the subject matter hereof.  Nothing herein shall preclude the 

parties from executing such other documents as are necessary to perfect this Agreement. 

9) No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement is intended exclusively for the benefit of the 

Parties hereto, and no third parties are entitled to any rights hereunder or to claim to be beneficiaries 

hereof. 

10) Successors and assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, 

the Parties and their respective successors, transferees and assigns.  

11) Amendments to be in Writing.  This Agreement may not be altered, amended, modified or 

changed in any respect or particular whatsoever except by writing duly executed by all the parties to 

this Agreement.  

12) Miscellaneous.  This Agreement may be signed in counterparts.  Each executed duplicate 

hereof shall be considered as an original.  Facsimile or signatures on electronically transmitted 

documents in PDF form and copies of signatures shall have the same force and effect as original 

signatures.  The captions and titles herein are for convenience only and shall not be used to interpret 

this Agreement. 

 

 

Page 302



 

 Page 4 of 4 ATTACHMENT 2 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The Parties acknowledge and accept the terms and conditions of 

this Agreement as evidenced by the following signatures of their duly authorized representatives. It is 

the intent of the Parties that this Agreement shall become operative on the Effective Date. 

SummerHill N40 LLC, a California limited liability company 

By: SummerHill Homes LLC, its Manager 

 By: ____________________________ 

 Its: ____________________________ 

 

 By: ____________________________ 

 Its: ____________________________ 

  

 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS, a California municipal corporation 

By: Laurel Prevetti 

 

 

 

 

  

Its: Town Manager   

 

 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM:  

  

Robert Schultz  

Town Attorney  

 

ATTEST: 

__________________________________ 

Shelley Neis  

Town Clerk 

 
 

Page 303



 

 Page 1 of 7 ATTACHMENT 3 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

 

 

WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 

 

 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

110 E. MAIN STREET 

LOS GATOS, CA 95030 

ATTN: TOWN CLERK 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

NO FEE PER GOVERNMENT CODE 

SECTIONS 6103 AND 27383 

 

NORTH 40 TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT 

(BELLATERRA) 

 

This North 40 Transportation Demand Management Agreement (“TDM Agreement”) is 

entered into effective this ___ day of _________, 2020, by and between the Town of Los Gatos, 

a California General Law City (“Town”) and SummerHill N40 LLC, a California limited liability 

company (“SummerHill”), each a “Party” and collectively “Parties,” with respect to the 

following facts and circumstances:  

 WHEREAS, in 2017, the Town approved Phase 1 of the North 40 project (“Project”) to 

be developed on part of the property known as the North 40 site, bounded generally by 

California State Route 17 to the west, Lark Avenue to the south, California State Route 85 to the 

north and Los Gatos Boulevard to the east; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Project includes (i) approximately two hundred fifty-three (253) for-

sale residential units, and (ii) forty-nine (49) affordable senior apartments, and one (1) manager’s 

apartment (the “Senior Affordable Units”); and  

 

 WHEREAS, that portion of the North 40 site to be benefitted and burdened by the effect 

of this Agreement (the “Property”) is more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto 

and incorporated herein by this reference; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Property comprises the Bellaterra residential development 

(“Bellaterra”); and  

 

 WHEREAS, a Homeowners Association (the “HOA”) will be formed to manage and 

own common property of Bellaterra within the Project; and  

 

Page 304



 

 Page 2 of 7 ATTACHMENT 3 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

 WHEREAS, the requirements of development approved for the Project include the 

implementation of a TDM program (the “TDM Program”); and 

 WHEREAS, it is not practicable for the Project to mitigate transportation impacts on and 

through Project site only TDM Program; and 

 WHEREAS, the TDM program will serve the North 40 and other Town locations and 

measure effectiveness by total reductions in vehicle miles for travel originating and concluding 

both within and outside the Property, in order to offset the impact of the Property; and  

 WHEREAS, the Town is best positioned to implement, monitor, and adjust such a 

program. 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the conditions and 

covenants contained herein, the Parties hereto agree as follows 

1. TDM Contribution.  The total SummerHill contribution to the TDM Program shall 

be in the form of annual payments, each of the sum of Forty-one Thousand Two Hundred Eighty-

Three Dollars ($41,283) funded from Bellaterra. The Bellaterra HOA CC&Rs shall incorporate 

and reference this agreement and the funding requirement for the TDM Contribution.  

  

2.  The first such payment shall be due and payable within ten (10) days after the 

issuance by the Town of the Certificate of Occupancy for the 215th unit of Bellaterra.  Subsequent 

annual payments shall be due and payable on each annual anniversary of the date of the first 

payment.  Each annual payment shall be adjusted by the San Francisco-Oakland-San Jose 

Metropolitan Area Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers, all items (CPI).  The 

adjustment shall be based upon the CPI published on December 31 of the preceding year. 

 
2) Use of Funds.  The Town shall program the use of funds for townwide TDM 

measures, such measures being at the Town’s sole discretion.  The funds shall be used toward 

TDM measures, which may include the accrual of funds over time without limit, to be used 

toward future TDM measures.   

3) Satisfaction.  The above contribution in Section 1 also satisfies any and all obligation 

of the Senior Affordable Units to contribute to the TDM Program. 

4) Term.  As the transportation impact from the Property will continue in perpetuity, so 

shall the TDM Program and fees shall continue in perpetuity or until such point as the Town acts 

to cancel the TDM Program.  

5) Operation of TDM Program.  The Parties acknowledge that the TDM Program is a 

Town-operated and managed program.  SummerHill’s role is limited to providing funding as 

required by this Agreement.  No relationship of agency, partnership, or joint venture exists 

between the Parties with respect to the TDM Program.  The Town shall defend, indemnify, and 

hold harmless SummerHill and its agents, members, managers, employees, officers, directors, 

shareholders, successors and assigns from any third party claims, lawsuits, damages, liabilities, 

costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and costs) for personal injury or property damage 

Page 305



 

 Page 3 of 7 ATTACHMENT 3 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

arising out of, or relating to, the operation of the TDM Program, except to the extent the claim at 

issue is caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of SummerHill. 

6) Dispute Resolution.  Any dispute under this TDM Agreement, including with regard to 

the payment amounts to be paid pursuant to Section 1 hereunder, shall first be negotiated by the 

Parties.  If negotiation fails, either Party may demand binding arbitration, which shall be 

conducted under the auspices of the Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Service (JAMS).  Each 

Party shall bear its own costs and attorneys’ fees in the arbitration, regardless of the outcome 

thereof.  

7) Integrated Agreement.  This TDM Agreement shall be deemed the complete and total 

agreement of the Parties concerning the subject matter hereof, which supersedes memoranda or 

correspondence, if any, and any previous drafts or oral understandings, if any, made by the 

Parties concerning the subject matter hereof.  Nothing herein shall preclude the Parties from 

executing such other documents as are necessary to perfect this Agreement. 

8) No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  This TDM Agreement is intended exclusively for the 

benefit of the Parties hereto, and no third parties are entitled to any rights hereunder or to claim 

to be beneficiaries hereof. 

9) Successors and assigns.  This TDM Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the 

benefit of, the Parties and their respective successors, transferees and assigns.  This TDM 

Agreement may be assigned by SummerHill to any entity that controls, is controlled by or is 

under common control with SummerHill.  In addition, the Parties acknowledge that it is 

expressly contemplated that this TDM Agreement will be assigned by SummerHill to the HOA, 

which will assume all obligations of SummerHill hereunder.  SummerHill shall give written 

notice of such assignment to the Town.  Upon the giving of such notice, SummerHill shall be 

released from all obligations and duties of any nature hereunder.  If requested by SummerHill, 

Town shall record a document releasing SummerHill or its affiliated assignee(s) from all such 

obligations in the Official Records of Santa Clara County 

10) Amendments to be in Writing.  This TDM Agreement may not be altered, amended, 

modified or changed in any respect or particular whatsoever except by writing duly executed by 

all the Parties to this TDM Agreement.  

11) Notice.  All notices shall be given personally or by first class mail, postage prepaid, 

addressed as shown below.  Notices shall be deemed given on the earlier of the date delivered or 

the second day following the date on which the same have been mailed in the manner required 

by the prior sentence.  Any of the Parties may, by notice given in the manner required by this 

Section, designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent notices shall be sent. 

a) Notice to the Town: 

Town of Los Gatos 

110 E. Main St. 

Los Gatos, CA 95030 

Attn: Town Manager 

 

Page 306



 

 Page 4 of 7 ATTACHMENT 3 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

b) Notice to SummerHill 

SummerHill N40 LLC 

3000 Executive Parkway, Suite 450 

San Ramon, CA  94583 

Attn:  Chief Operating Officer 

 

with a copy to 

 

SummerHill N40 LLC 

777 South California Ave. 

 Palo Alto, CA 94304 

Attn: General Counsel 

 

12) Recording. The Parties shall cause this TDM Agreement and all amendment and 

supplements to it, to be recorded against the Property in the Official Records of Santa Clara 

County. 

13) Covenants to Run with the Land. All rights and obligations under this Agreement are 

intended by the Parties to be, and shall be construed as, covenants running with the Property.  All 

persons who may have or may acquire an interest in the Property, including but not limited to the 

HOA, shall be deemed to have notice of, and be bound by, the terms of the Agreement.   

Individual homebuyers and individual owners of lots and/or condominiums upon which 

residential other uses are constructed (“Individual Owners”) benefit from the right to use TDM 

Agreement program.  However, with respect to Bellaterra only, upon the transfer of title to the 

first condominium under the authorization of a final subdivision public report issued by the 

Department of Real Estate, Individual Owners in Bellaterra shall have none of the rights and 

obligations described in this Agreement except for the obligation to fund regular or special 

assessments to the HOA.  At the point of such initial transfer of title, the HOA shall be 

responsible alone for performing the obligations of this Agreement.   

14) Mortgagee Protection.  No breach of this Agreement shall defeat or render invalid the 

lien of any deed of trust or mortgage recorded against all or any portion of the Property.  No 

lender taking title to all or any portion of the Property through foreclosure or deed in-lieu of 

foreclosure shall be liable for any defaults or monetary obligations of SummerHill arising prior 

to acquisition of possession of such property by such lender.  The foreclosing lender shall have 

the right to find a substitute developer to assume the obligations of SummerHill, which substitute 

shall be considered for approval by the Town pursuant to this Agreement, which approval shall 

not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  The Town agrees to provide any lender 

of SummerHill who has recorded a deed of trust or mortgage against all or any portion of the 

Property of which the Town has been given notice (each, a “Lender”) with written notice of any 

default relating to SummerHill and/or the Property given by the Town to SummerHill.  The 

Town agrees that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, Lender 

shall have an additional ninety (90) days from the date Lender receives notice of a default to cure 

any such default, provided that Lender shall not have any obligation to cure any such default.   

Page 307



 

 Page 5 of 7 ATTACHMENT 3 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

15) Miscellaneous.  This TDM Agreement may be signed in counterparts.  Each executed 

duplicate hereof shall be considered as an original.  Facsimile or signatures on electronically 

transmitted documents in PDF form and copies of signatures shall have the same force and effect 

as original signatures.  The captions and titles herein are for convenience only and shall not be 

used to interpret this TDM Agreement. 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 

Page 308



 

 Page 6 of 7 ATTACHMENT 3 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The Parties acknowledge and accept the terms and 

conditions of this TDM Agreement as evidenced by the following signatures of their duly 

authorized representatives. It is the intent of the Parties that this TDM Agreement shall become 

operative on the date first above written. 

SummerHill N40 LLC, a California limited liability company 

By:  SummerHill Homes LLC, its manager 

 

 By: ____________________________ 

 Its: ____________________________ 

 

 By: ____________________________ 

 Its: ____________________________ 

  

 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS, a California municipal corporation 

By: Laurel Prevetti 

 

 

 

 

  

Its: Town Manager   

 

 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM:  

  

Robert Schultz, Esq.   

Town Attorney  

 

ATTEST: 

__________________________________ 

Shelley Neis  

Town Clerk 

 
  

Page 309



 

 Page 7 of 7 ATTACHMENT 3 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

 

Real property located in the Town of Los Gatos, County of Santa Clara, State of California, described as 

follows: 

 

 

LOTS 1-22, 24-26 AND 30-39, AND PARCELS A-U, Z-OO, QQ-QQQ, and TTT AS SHOWN ON THE 

MAP OF “TRACT 10441”, FILED FOR RECORD ON OCTOBER 11, 2018 IN BOOK 918 OF MAPS, 

AT PAGES 4 THROUGH 18, SANTA CLARA COUNTY RECORDS. 

 

 

 

Page 310



 

SMHH-54443\2295352.2  Page 1 of 7 ATTACHMENT 4 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

 

 

WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 

 

 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

110 E. MAIN STREET 

LOS GATOS, CA 95030 

ATTN: TOWN CLERK 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

NO FEE PER GOVERNMENT CODE 

SECTIONS 6103 AND 27383 

 

NORTH 40 TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT 

(MARKET HALL) 

 

This North 40 Transportation Demand Management Agreement (“TDM Agreement” or 

“Agreement”) is entered into effective this ___ day of _________, 2020, by and between the 

Town of Los Gatos, a California General Law Town (“Town”) and SummerHill N40 LLC, a 

California limited liability company (“SummerHill”), each a “Party” and collectively “Parties,” 

with respect to the following facts and circumstances:  

 WHEREAS, in 2017, the Town approved Phase 1 of the North 40 project (“N40 Phase 

1”) to be developed on part of the property known as the North 40 site, bounded generally by 

California State Route 17 to the west, Lark Avenue to the south, California State Route 85 to the 

north and Los Gatos Boulevard to the east; and 

 

 WHEREAS, N40 Phase 1 includes a commercial condominium development that will be 

created on Lot 27 of Tract 10441 (within N40 Phase 1) that is expected to contain a commercial 

condominium containing approximately 20,761 square feet of commercial space plus 2,772 

square feet of community space (the “Market Hall Commercial Condo”), a garage condominium, 

and forty nine (49) affordable senior apartments and (1) manager apartment within one 

commercial condominium (the “Senior Affordable Condo”), collectively known as the “Market 

Hall Development”; and  

 

 WHEREAS, that portion of the N40 Phase 1 site to be benefitted and burdened by the 

effect of this Agreement is, initially, the entire Market Hall Development, more particularly 

described in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (provided that 

the legal description of the burdened property is subject to adjustment as provided in Section 13 

hereof); and 

 

Page 311



 

SMHH-54443\2295352.2  Page 2 of 7 ATTACHMENT 4 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

 WHEREAS,  the requirements of development approved for the Market Hall Condo 

include the implementation of a TDM program (the “TDM Program”); and 

 WHEREAS,  it is not practicable for the Market Hall Condo  to mitigate transportation 

impacts on and through a Market Hall Condo site-only TDM Program; and 

 WHEREAS, the TDM program will serve N40 Phase 1 and other Town locations and 

measure effectiveness by total reductions in vehicle miles for travel originating and concluding 

both within and outside the Market Hall Development, in order to offset the impact of the Market 

Hall Development; and  

 WHEREAS, the Town is best positioned to implement, monitor, and adjust such a 

program. 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the conditions and 

covenants contained herein, the Parties hereto agree as follows 

1. TDM Contribution.  The total SummerHill contribution to the TDM Program for 

the Market Hall Condo shall be in the form of annual payments, each of the sum of Seventeen 

Thousand Six Hundred Forty-Nine and 75/100 Dollars ($17,649.75) (the “TDM Contribution”).  

The first such payment shall be due and payable within ten (10) days after the issuance by the 

Town of the Certificate of Occupancy for the tenant improvements of the Market Hall Condo.  

Subsequent annual payments shall be due and payable on each annual anniversary of the date of 

the first payment.  Each annual payment shall be adjusted by the San Francisco-Oakland-San 

Jose Metropolitan Area Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers, all items (CPI).  The 

adjustment shall be based upon the CPI published on December 31 of the preceding year. 

  

2) Use of Funds.  The Town shall program the use of funds for townwide TDM 

measures, such measures being at the Town’s sole discretion.  The funds shall be used toward 

TDM measures, which may include the accrual of funds over time without limit, to be used 

toward future TDM measures.   

3) Senior Affordable Condo Is Not Obligated by this TDM Agreement.  Although 

Exhibit A to this Agreement initially describes all of the Market Hall Development (Lot 27 of 

Tract 10441), it is the intent of SummerHill and the Town that this TDM Agreement not bind or 

burden the Senior Affordable Condo consisting of forty nine (49) affordable senior apartments 

and (1) manager apartment because the TDM Program funding obligation for the Senior 

Affordable Condo is being met by a separate TDM Agreement that has been entered into 

between SummerHill and the Town with respect to an adjacent residential project knows as 

“Bellaterra.”  Accordingly, the TDM Contribution referenced above and this TDM Agreement 

shall not bind the Senior Affordable Condo or the garage condominium that will be created 

within Lot 27 when a condominium plan is recorded, which separation shall be effected pursuant 

to the terms of Section 13, below. 

4) Term.  As the transportation impact from the Market Hall Condo will continue in 

perpetuity, so shall the TDM Program and fees shall continue in perpetuity or until such point as 

the Town acts to cancel the TDM Program.  

Page 312



 

SMHH-54443\2295352.2  Page 3 of 7 ATTACHMENT 4 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

5) Operation of TDM Program.  The Parties acknowledge that the TDM Program is a 

Town-operated and managed program.  SummerHill’s role is limited to providing funding as 

required by this Agreement.  No relationship of agency, partnership, or joint venture exists 

between the Parties with respect to the TDM Program.  The Town shall defend, indemnify, and 

hold harmless SummerHill and its agents, members, managers, employees, officers, directors, 

shareholders, successors and assigns from any third party claims, lawsuits, damages, liabilities, 

costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and costs) for personal injury or property damage 

arising out of, or relating to, the operation of the TDM Program, except to the extent the claim at 

issue is caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of SummerHill. 

6) Dispute Resolution.  Any dispute under this TDM Agreement, including with regard to 

the payment amounts to be paid pursuant to Section 1 hereunder, shall first be negotiated by the 

Parties.  If negotiation fails, either Party may demand binding arbitration, which shall be 

conducted under the auspices of the Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Service (JAMS).  Each 

Party shall bear its own costs and attorneys’ fees in the arbitration, regardless of the outcome 

thereof.  

7) Integrated Agreement.  This TDM Agreement shall be deemed the complete and total 

agreement of the Parties concerning the subject matter hereof, which supersedes memoranda or 

correspondence, if any, and any previous drafts or oral understandings, if any, made by the 

Parties concerning the subject matter hereof.  Nothing herein shall preclude the Parties from 

executing such other documents as are necessary to perfect this Agreement. 

8) No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  This TDM Agreement is intended exclusively for the 

benefit of the Parties hereto, and no third parties are entitled to any rights hereunder or to claim 

to be beneficiaries hereof. 

9) Successors and assigns.  This TDM Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the 

benefit of, the Parties and their respective successors, transferees and assigns.  This TDM 

Agreement may be assigned by SummerHill to any entity that controls, is controlled by, or is 

under common control with SummerHill.  In addition, the Parties acknowledge that it is 

expressly contemplated that this TDM Agreement will be assigned by SummerHill to the Market 

Hall Commercial Condo owner, which will assume all obligations of SummerHill hereunder.  

SummerHill shall give written notice of such assignment to the Town.  Upon the giving of such 

notice, SummerHill shall be released from all obligations and duties of any nature hereunder.  If 

requested by SummerHill, Town shall record a document releasing SummerHill or its affiliated 

assignee(s) from all such obligations in the Official Records of Santa Clara County, California. 

10) Amendments to be in Writing.  This TDM Agreement may not be altered, amended, 

modified or changed in any respect or particular whatsoever except by writing duly executed by 

all the Parties to this TDM Agreement.  

11) Notice.  All notices shall be given personally or by first class mail, postage prepaid, 

addressed as shown below.  Notices shall be deemed given on the earlier of the date delivered or 

the second day following the date on which the same have been mailed in the manner required 

by the prior sentence.  Any of the Parties may, by notice given in the manner required by this 

Section, designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent notices shall be sent. 

Page 313



 

SMHH-54443\2295352.2  Page 4 of 7 ATTACHMENT 4 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

a) Notice to the Town: 

Town of Los Gatos 

110 E. Main St. 

Los Gatos, CA 95030 

Attn: Town Manager 

 

b) Notice to SummerHill 

SummerHill N40 LLC 

3000 Executive Parkway, Suite 450 

San Ramon, CA  94583 

Attn:  Chief Operating Officer 

 

with a copy to 

 

SummerHill N40 LLC 

777 South California Ave. 

 Palo Alto, CA 94304 

Attn: General Counsel 

 

12) Recording. The Parties shall cause this TDM Agreement and all amendments and 

supplements to it, to be recorded against the property described in Exhibit A in the Official 

Records of Santa Clara County, California. 

13) Covenants to Run with the Land. All rights and obligations under this Agreement are 

intended by the Parties to be, and shall be construed as, covenants running with the Market Hall 

Development, subject to the provisions of this section.  All persons who may have or may 

acquire an interest in the Market Hall Development shall be deemed to have notice of, and be 

bound by, the terms of the Agreement, subject to the provisions of this section.  When 

SummerHill closes escrow on the sale of any or all of the condominiums within the  Market Hall 

Development, SummerHill will assign all of its rights and obligations under this Agreement to 

the new owner of the Market Hall Commercial Condo only (excluding the garage condominium 

and/or the Senior Affordable Condo), and thereafter SummerHill shall be released from all 

obligations under this Agreement that arise from and after the date of such closing and 

assignment.  Written notice of such assignment shall be provided to the Town. 

At any time after a condominium plan has been recorded that creates the condominiums 

within the Market Hall Development, at the request of the Town, SummerHill, or the owner of 

the Senior Affordable Condo, the Parties to this Agreement shall enter into an amendment to this 

Agreement that replaces Exhibit A of this Agreement with the legal description for only the 

Market Hall Commercial Condo and excluding the Senior Affordable Condo and the garage 

condominium.   

14) Mortgagee Protection.  No breach of this Agreement shall defeat or render invalid the 

lien of any deed of trust or mortgage recorded against all or any portion of the Market Hall 

Development.  No lender taking title to all or any portion of the Market Hall Development 

Page 314



 

SMHH-54443\2295352.2  Page 5 of 7 ATTACHMENT 4 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

through foreclosure or deed in-lieu of foreclosure shall be liable for any defaults or monetary 

obligations of SummerHill arising prior to acquisition of possession of such property by such 

lender.  The foreclosing lender shall have the right to find a substitute developer to assume the 

obligations of SummerHill, which substitute shall be considered for approval by the Town 

pursuant to this Agreement, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or 

delayed.  The Town agrees to provide any lender of SummerHill that has recorded a deed of trust 

or mortgage against all or any portion of the Market Hall Development of which the Town has 

been given notice (each, a “Lender”) with written notice of any default relating to SummerHill 

and/or the Market Hall Development given by the Town to SummerHill.  The Town agrees that, 

notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, Lender shall have an 

additional ninety (90) days from the date Lender receives notice of a default to cure any such 

default, provided that Lender shall not have any obligation to cure any such default.   

15) Miscellaneous.  This TDM Agreement may be signed in counterparts.  Each executed 

duplicate hereof shall be considered as an original.  Facsimile or signatures on electronically 

transmitted documents in PDF form and copies of signatures shall have the same force and effect 

as original signatures.  The captions and titles herein are for convenience only and shall not be 

used to interpret this TDM Agreement. 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 

Page 315



 

SMHH-54443\2295352.2  Page 6 of 7 ATTACHMENT 4 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The Parties acknowledge and accept the terms and 

conditions of this TDM Agreement as evidenced by the following signatures of their duly 

authorized representatives. It is the intent of the Parties that this TDM Agreement shall become 

operative on the date first above written. 

SummerHill N40 LLC, a California limited liability company 

By:  SummerHill Homes LLC, its manager 

 

 By: ____________________________ 

 Its: ____________________________ 

 

 By: ____________________________ 

 Its: ____________________________ 

  

 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS, a California municipal corporation 

By: Laurel Prevetti 

 

 

 

 

  

Its: Town Manager   

 

 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM:  

  

Robert Schultz, Esq.   

Town Attorney  

 

ATTEST: 

__________________________________ 

Shelley Neis  

Town Clerk 

 

Page 316



 

SMHH-54443\2295352.2  Page 7 of 7 ATTACHMENT 4 

DRAFT – FOR DISCUSSION ONLY 

4845-2286-0215v1 
ALF\09427065 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY SUBJECT TO THIS TDM AGREEMENT 

 

Real property located in the Town of Los Gatos, County of Santa Clara, State of California, 

described as follows: 

 

 

LOT 27 AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF “TRACT 10441”, FILED FOR RECORD ON 

OCTOBER 11, 2018 IN BOOK 918 OF MAPS, AT PAGES 4 THROUGH 18, SANTA CLARA 

COUNTY RECORDS. 

 

 

 

Page 317



 

PREPARED BY: Arn Andrews 
 Assistant Town manager 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Director of Parks and Public Works 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 17 

 
   

 

DATE:   July 20, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Approve the Santa Clara County Fire District Emergency Route 
Recommendation for Alpine Avenue and Remove Parking on One Side of the 
Street 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Approve the Santa Clara County Fire District (SCCFD) emergency route recommendation for 
Alpine Avenue and remove parking on one side of the street. 
 
BACKGROUND: 

At the June 2, 2020, Town Council meeting, two residents inquired about the safety associated 
with the ingress/egress of Alpine Avenue in the event of emergencies and/or evacuations.  One 
of the residents provided a photo (Attachment 1) illustrating the varying widths of Alpine 
Avenue.   
 
The Town Council referred the item back to staff for research and any further action.   
  
DISCUSSION: 

As noted in the Town’s October 2019 Wildland Urban Interface Evacuation Assessment, “Many 
of the hillside collector and local roadways are one-way in and one-way out designs potentially 
complicating any evacuation.  During wildfire events, the routes emergency responders take to 
the fire are often the same routes being used by residents who may be attempting to flee from 
the fire.  Due to the critical importance of roads for providing ingress for firefighting 
apparatuses while simultaneously evacuating the public, certain factors such as width, grade, 
and turning radius need to be considered in an evacuation”. 
 
 

Page 318



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Santa Clara County Fire District emergency route recommendation for Alpine Avenue 
DATE:        July 20, 2020 
 
DISCUSSION (Continued): 
 
In addition, the assessment identified “Special Concerns” regarding characteristics of the Civic 
Center Community Emergency Response Team (CERT) zone:  “The existing roadway network 
throughout the zone is entirely comprised of one-way in and one-way out ingress/egress 
options.  Some of the same routes that allow access to the area for responders are the same 
routes that could be needed for evacuation.” 
 
Based on the Council direction, Town staff reached out to the Santa Clara County Fire District 
Fire Chief to assess the resident concerns and provide any recommendations.  On June 22, 
2020, SCCFD and Town staff toured Alpine Avenue.  Based on the site tour and other factors, 
Fire Chief Bowden provided the Town with a memorandum recommending that Alpine Avenue 
be converted to allow parking on only one side of the street (downhill or northeasterly side) at 
all times (see Attachment 2).  
 
Staff conducted Alpine Avenue resident outreach regarding the emergency route 
recommendation through email and doorhanger distribution.  The email list was generated 
through resident contact informnation from 2016 outreach and current Alpine Avenue parking 
permit emails.  Doorhangers were distributed to each residence located on Alpine Avenue.   
 
CONCLUSION: 

Based on the recommendation of the Fire Chief, and the Town’s own recognition of the 
ingress/egress complexities of the Civic Center CERT zone, staff concurs with removing parking 
on the southwesterly side of Alpine Avenue at all times.  
  
COORDINATION: 

This staff report was coordinated with the Town Manager, Town Attorney, Director of Parks 
and Public Works, and Santa Clara County Fire District.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

If approved by the Town Council, the implementation of no parking on one side of the street 
can be absorbed in the Parks and Public Works budget. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

Attachments: 
1. June 2, 2020 Council Meeting Verbal Communication 
2. June 25, 2020 Memorandum and Recommendation from Fire Chief Bowden 

Page 319



Parking on Alpine Avenue 

10 feet tire to tire

8'4" mirror to mirror

24+ feet curb to curb
Firetruck 10 feet wide, Alpine offers 8-9 feet of "clear width"

ATTACHMENT 1
Page 320



MEMORANDUM 
June 25, 2020 

MEMO_Alpine Ave/er/06.25.20 Page    1 

TO: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager / Los Gatos 

FROM: Tony Bowden, Fire Chief 

SUBJECT:  Alpine Avenue 

BACKGROUND 

At a recent Town Council Meeting, a Los Gatos resident raised concerns 
regarding the street width, parking, and the impacts to ingress/egress on Alpine 
Avenue should a wildfire and/or emergency occur. The Santa Clara County Fire 
Department was contacted by the Assistant Town Manager to assess the 
concerns raised by the Town resident and to provide a recommendation should 
the Fire Department determine that a potentially hazardous condition exists.  

Staff was able to confirm the following: Alpine Avenue has an approximate 
average width of 25 feet from curb to curb. On June 22, 2020 at 11:00, the 
Santa Clara County Fire Department staff, including: the Fire Chief, the Assistant 
Fire Chief, Fire Prevention Deputy Fire Marshals, Battalion 83, Engine 77, and 
the Town of Los Gatos staff, met at Alpine Avenue. This is a two-way street and 
parking is currently allowed on both sides of the street. Multiple cars were 
present on both sides of Alpine Avenue on June 22nd. The current width of 
emergency fire response vehicles in Los Gatos is 100 inches, not including the 
mirrors. With small to average vehicles parked on both sides of the street, the fire 
engine had approximately 12-18 inches of clearance on either side when driving 
on Alpine Avenue. (See Attachment A)  A parked full-size vehicle or truck would 
significantly reduce this clearance. 

The current requirement for road width, in new residential developments, is 
a minimum road width of 36 feet to allow parking on both sides of the road, 
between 28 feet and 35 feet to allow parking on one side of the road, and 
roads that are less than 28 feet in width are not allowed to have on-street 
parking. It is well understood that codes and ordinances have evolved over time 
and there are many streets/roads throughout the county of Santa Clara that do 
not meet this current standard. However, in areas with limited ingress/egress, or 
in high-hazard fire severity zones, it is important that local jurisdictions assess 
these situations on a case-by-case basis as there are many factors to consider 
such as the fire severity zone, emergency vehicle response routes, alternate 
access routes, and traffic flow, to name a few.

ATTACHMENT 2

Page 321



 
Memo_Alpine Avenue 
June 25, 2020 
Page 2 of 4  

 
  
 

MEMO_Alpine Ave/er/06.25.20  Page    2 

BACKGROUND (cont’d) 
 
Alpine Avenue serves as the most direct means of ingress for emergency 
response vehicles and the most direct means of egress for residents of the 
Alpine Avenue, Foster Road, Tourney Road, and the Sund Avenue 
neighborhoods. Alpine Avenue is in a Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) area and 
a very high-hazard severity zone, according to the California State Fire Marshal. 
(See Attachment B)  Johnson Avenue and Loma Alta Avenue serve as 
secondary means of egress for the above mentioned as they are not the most 
direct route of egress. This is further complicated by a very narrow section of 
road connecting Foster Road to Johnson Avenue and by a section of one-way 
roadway on Johnson Avenue.    
 
IMPACT 
 
Understanding the current road width, parking conditions, wildland fire risk 
and emergency response vehicle width, a fire engine responding to an 
emergency response via Alpine Avenue would be directly impeded, should 
it encounter a vehicle driving in the opposite direction, with vehicles 
parked on both sides of the street. In this scenario, the direct impacts 
would be: a delayed response to the emergency (fire, medical, etc.);  
reduced ability/inability of residents to evacuate; and the reduced 
ability/inability for emergency response vehicles to get to the emergency 
during an evacuation. 
 
The impact of restricted ingress/egress can be better understood by examining 
past wildland fires in communities with similar access issues, such as the 
Oakland Hills, Tunnel Fire of 1991 and the Camp Fire in the city of Paradise in 
2018. During both of these fires, the ability for citizens to evacuate, and the ability 
for first responders to access the fires, was impacted due to narrow and blocked 
roads. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Santa Clara County Fire Department staff recommend that the Town of Los 
Gatos restrict parking on Alpine Avenue to one side of the street at all 
times. We recommend that parking be allowed on the North side of the 
street only, which would place parked vehicles in a position to quickly 
evacuate in the direction of egress, should a fire occur. If vehicles were 
allowed to park on the South side of Alpine Avenue, it would require vehicles to 
make a multipoint turn in the middle of the street during an evacuation. This 
action would directly impede emergency response vehicles responding to the 
emergency and slow the evacuation of other citizens.  
 

Page 322



 
Memo_Alpine Avenue 
June 25, 2020 
Page 3 of 4  

 
  
 

MEMO_Alpine Ave/er/06.25.20  Page    3 

 
 
 
Attachment A 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 323



 
Memo_Alpine Avenue 
June 25, 2020 
Page 4 of 4  

 
  
 

MEMO_Alpine Ave/er/06.25.20  Page    4 

 
 
 
Attachment B 
 
 

 

Page 324



 

PREPARED BY: Arn Andrews 
 Assistant Town manager 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Director of Parks and Public Works 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 17  

ADDENDUM 

 

 

   

 

DATE:   July 20, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Approve the Santa Clara County Fire District Emergency Route 
Recommendation for Alpine Avenue and Remove Parking on One Side of the 
Street 

 

REMARKS:  

Attachment 4 contains public comment received since the issuance of the staff report on 
Thursday, July 30, 2020, and before 11:00 a.m. Monday, August 3, 2020. 
 
Attachments previously received with the Staff Report: 

1. June 2, 2020 Council Meeting Verbal Communication 
2. June 25, 2020 Memorandum and Recommendation from Fire Chief Bowden 

 
Attachment distributed with this Addendum: 

3. Public Comments received 11:01 a.m. Thursday, July 30, 2020 and 11:00 a.m. Monday, 
August 3, 2020. 

 

Page 325



From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

Janet Gutierrez
Arn Andrews
Alpine ave parking
Thursday, July 30, 2020 2:53:14 PM

Since the majority  of the traffic on Alpine Avenue comes off Main Street , has anyone considered that having
parking on the north side goes against the natural flow of traffic and will require a  lot of turning around, either in
our driveways or at the top of Alpine, to park  on the north side.  Doesn’t make sense to me.  I agree with the idea of
parking on one side, just not the side that has been chosen.

Janet Gutierrez

ATTACHMENT 3

Page 326



From:
To:
Cc:
Subject:
Date:

Dirk Franklin
Arn Andrews
Rob Rennie; Gwen Dawkins
Re: Emergency Response Street Modifications - Alpine Ave 
Saturday, August 1, 2020 11:15:31 AM

Arn,

My family is greatly disappointed with the lack of notice for this proposal.

Notice date 7/30 for a meeting on 8/4?  Does this comply with town guidelines AND best 
practices in transparency in government?

Lucky Covid has kept most in town and available to join the council meeting.  I expect a 
robust Alpine Ave turnout as usual.

The Town has some responsibility in this parking problem.  The Town issued many building 
permits on a known narrow street without ANY REQUIREMENT for a parking plan.  The 
parking issue is ONLY based on Construction parking.  Not the residents.

Health and Safety of residents is critical,  but just because there is a lack of planning and 
execution we DO NOT SEE THE NEED TO HAVE OUR PROPERTY RIGHTS 
NEGATIVELY IMPACTED.

For the record  is against this new regulation.

Dirk and Gwen Franklin

On Jul 30, 2020, at 8:53 AM, Arn Andrews <aandrews@losgatosca.gov> wrote:

Good Morning Alpine Avenue Residents,

You are receiving this email to inform you of proposed emergency response
modifications for your street.  On June 22, 2020, the Santa Clara County Fire
Department staff performed an inspection of the width of Alpine Avenue as it relates to
ingress/egress of emergency vehicles and residents in the event of an emergency
and/or evacuation.  On June 25, 2020, the Town received a recommendation from the
Santa Clara County Fire Chief to limit street parking to one side (northerly side) of
Alpine Avenue year-round.  The recommendation is intended to ensure the safe and
expeditious passage of emergency responders and residents in the event of emergency
and/or evacuation.  The recommendation is scheduled to be considered at the August
4th, 2020, Town Council meeting.  If you are not able to attend the meeting and have
questions, concerns, or comments, please contact Arn Andrews, Assistant Town
Manager, at 408-354-6836, or email aandrews@losgatosca.gov.

Thank you

Page 327



From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

Henry Richards
Arn Andrews
ALPINE AVE emergency access 
Saturday, August 1, 2020 4:19:43 PM

Dear Arn Andrews,
I am writing to you in response to your request for comments in re. the “Emergency
Response Modifications” proposed for Alpine Avenue.

First of all, let me say that I wholeheartedly support adequate access for emergency
vehicles through our street and I believe that was one of the concerns raised when street
parking was restricted as it is now. In fact, the restriction was extremely effective in
keeping Alpine Avenue clear so long as the regulations were enforced. Recent
construction along the street has created unsatisfactory “congestion” however the
current parking restrictions have not been stringently enforced and has allowed the
problem to persist.

I would like the council to consider the following:
1. Order the enforcement of current regulations to mitigate the congested parking
situation for now.
2. Defer or table any current decisions until feedback, comment and input for
those of us who are directly impacted by your decisions can be solicited.
3. Timely notification to the residents of Alpine Avenue is essential to this process.

Thank you for your attention to this matter.

Sincerely yours,
Henry Richards

Page 328



From:
To:
Subject:
Date:
Attachments:

Jeff Gallinat
Arn Andrews
Alpine Avenue Parking Change - Town Council item for Tuesday, August 4th 
Sunday, August 2, 2020 8:58:17 PM
Alpine Parking Note - Aug 2 - v3.docx

Arn,

I am attaching a letter here that several residents on our street (15 total) have helped to author
and agreed to regarding the request to implement one-way restricted parking on Alpine
Avenue.

I would appreciate it very much if you would ensure this is forwarded to the Council
members, per process, ahead of the Zoom call/discussion on this issue on Tuesday, where
many of us will be attending.  

Would appreciate return acknowledgement of this note, and should you want to clarify/discuss
anything, please feel free to give me a call.

Thanks very much,

Jeff Gallinat

Page 329


August 2, 2020






To:  Arn Andrews and the Los Gatos Town Council

Re:  Alpine Ave Parking Changes to be discussed in August 4, 2020 Town Council Meeting





We are respectfully submitting this input ahead of the council discussion on this issue.



Our request is for a 30-day delay/continuance of the implementation of the proposed changes to allow representatives of the Town, the Santa Clara County Fire Department, and the Alpine Avenue Community to fully communicate and work together to build a solution that best addresses the needs of both Los Gatos and our Alpine Avenue residents.  



As you may remember, we’ve had a number of previous discussions over the past couple of years (and subsequent positive changes) to address the unique challenges of our street, and would like to repeat that proven process on this issue as well.  We want the right solution for the ‘common good’ here – both us and the residents of Los Gatos.  There are several reasons for our request:



1. Unfortunately, we didn’t get an acceptable amount of time to understand and create an informed (and possibly collective) response to this notification.  We are an engaged set of neighbors, and many of us are surprised (and some frustrated) with the short notice here, given similar issues we’ve had in the past, and our desire to really be involved in any solution.  Specifically, we’ve had less than 5 days since any formal notification, even the Town had the fire department recommendation for more than 5 weeks.  We do understand there may be urgency to this request, but given our inability to completely discuss the recommendation, jointly assess its impact, and understand other possible solutions, we want a reasonable amount of time to properly engage here with the relevant parties.  



2. Our fellow citizens who recently raised this issue with the town (who are not residents of our street) undoubtedly could have seen congestion on Alpine.  We all have, from time to time.  Recently, thought, this has been largely due to a series of construction projects by our fellow residents, some of which were major and were done in areas with limited parking and access to the properties involved.  Most Alpine residents let this temporary inconvenience pass, in support of our neighbors.  However, if there actually was a concern within the Town about larger issues, the Town certainly had the ability and the obligation to address this within the current policy.  So, this is an exceptional and temporary situation, and one we agree needs to be addressed going forward, probably by both the town and our residents, but through planning, permitting, and enforcement.  If we actually abide by the current policies here, we believe the present parking solution will work, and represents a limited risk to the community as a whole.

3. Although we all understand and appreciate the Town’s responsibility to manage risk and ensure public safety, the proposed solution could present other potential risks that need to be considered and fully assessed in a new traffic assessment.  Today’s parking practices using both sides of the street in a “light and controlled” manner (when we are not in the “exceptional mode” we’ve been in recently).  The present restrictions actually give the residents the permitted parking they need, limit overall congestion, balance the ‘load’ of each side of the street, also serve as an additional deterrent to speeding (which is the KEY issue, highlighted in the previous HS parking situation).  We believe the proposed single-side parking solution would create a ‘clear lane’ for emergency traffic, but would also burden half of the residents and restrict their traffic views, and would also contribute to further speeding, which are also risks to our community and the public (and might be far more frequent ones).   Alpine is unique in construction, and is often used by many town residents for many different purposes (walking, biking, etc.), and that needs to be considered as well.  We believe additional study and discussion on this is proposal is warranted to understand and balance these risks.  We need to find a solution that is truly holistic and balanced, and truly safe on a daily/ongoing basis.



4. Finally, there has been no discussion or disclosure on any possible alternatives to provide emergency access to other homes that we are aware of.  We don’t know what the alternatives are here, or if they even exist.  What we DO know is that a lot of large heavy equipment already transits through our narrow street daily, and that they have done so for decades, largely to the benefit of those on Foster and other streets.  We want to understand, explore, and assess any other alternatives for emergency access that might be available to address this concern.





To conclude, there is no debate that we want Alpine to remain safe, and there is also no debate from any of us on the need for appropriate access for public safety vehicles to all town residents.  We believe if the present regulations are actually adhered to and enforced, the solution we have already created together will work to balance all interests, and we would prefer the Town take this path first.  If the Town genuinely feels there is a need to make a change here, we want the opportunity to formally exercise our rights to engage in that conversation and jointly participate in whatever solution is really the best one available.  



My wife and I will be at the meeting (as will several of our neighbors who have agreed to be included in this letter, noted below).  Please do take this letter under advisement, and please ensure the Council members see it before our item comes up for discussion on Tuesday. 





Jeff and Julie Gallinat	(126 Alpine)			John Thomsen (134 Alpine)

Tom and Ann Atkinson (75 Alpine)			Phil and Melanie Branon (121 Alpine)	

Steve and Linda Rice (58 Alpine)			Lou and Cheryl Ryan (89 Alpine)

Ernie and Nancy Boitano (127 Alpine)		Dirk Franklin and Gwen Dawkins (79 Alpine)



August 2, 2020 
 
 
 
To:  Arn Andrews and the Los Gatos Town Council 
Re:  Alpine Ave Parking Changes to be discussed in August 4, 2020 Town Council Meeting 
 
 
We are respectfully submitting this input ahead of the council discussion on this issue. 
 
Our request is for a 30-day delay/continuance of the implementation of the proposed changes 
to allow representatives of the Town, the Santa Clara County Fire Department, and the Alpine 
Avenue Community to fully communicate and work together to build a solution that best 
addresses the needs of both Los Gatos and our Alpine Avenue residents.   
 
As you may remember, we’ve had a number of previous discussions over the past couple of 
years (and subsequent positive changes) to address the unique challenges of our street, and 
would like to repeat that proven process on this issue as well.  We want the right solution for 
the ‘common good’ here – both us and the residents of Los Gatos.  There are several reasons 
for our request: 
 

1. Unfortunately, we didn’t get an acceptable amount of time to understand and create an 
informed (and possibly collective) response to this notification.  We are an engaged set 
of neighbors, and many of us are surprised (and some frustrated) with the short notice 
here, given similar issues we’ve had in the past, and our desire to really be involved in 
any solution.  Specifically, we’ve had less than 5 days since any formal notification, even 
the Town had the fire department recommendation for more than 5 weeks.  We do 
understand there may be urgency to this request, but given our inability to completely 
discuss the recommendation, jointly assess its impact, and understand other possible 
solutions, we want a reasonable amount of time to properly engage here with the 
relevant parties.   
 

2. Our fellow citizens who recently raised this issue with the town (who are not residents 
of our street) undoubtedly could have seen congestion on Alpine.  We all have, from 
time to time.  Recently, thought, this has been largely due to a series of construction 
projects by our fellow residents, some of which were major and were done in areas with 
limited parking and access to the properties involved.  Most Alpine residents let this 
temporary inconvenience pass, in support of our neighbors.  However, if there actually 
was a concern within the Town about larger issues, the Town certainly had the ability 
and the obligation to address this within the current policy.  So, this is an exceptional 
and temporary situation, and one we agree needs to be addressed going forward, 
probably by both the town and our residents, but through planning, permitting, and 
enforcement.  If we actually abide by the current policies here, we believe the present 
parking solution will work, and represents a limited risk to the community as a whole. 

Page 330



3. Although we all understand and appreciate the Town’s responsibility to manage risk and 
ensure public safety, the proposed solution could present other potential risks that need 
to be considered and fully assessed in a new traffic assessment.  Today’s parking 
practices using both sides of the street in a “light and controlled” manner (when we are 
not in the “exceptional mode” we’ve been in recently).  The present restrictions actually 
give the residents the permitted parking they need, limit overall congestion, balance the 
‘load’ of each side of the street, also serve as an additional deterrent to speeding (which 
is the KEY issue, highlighted in the previous HS parking situation).  We believe the 
proposed single-side parking solution would create a ‘clear lane’ for emergency traffic, 
but would also burden half of the residents and restrict their traffic views, and would 
also contribute to further speeding, which are also risks to our community and the 
public (and might be far more frequent ones).   Alpine is unique in construction, and is 
often used by many town residents for many different purposes (walking, biking, etc.), 
and that needs to be considered as well.  We believe additional study and discussion on 
this is proposal is warranted to understand and balance these risks.  We need to find a 
solution that is truly holistic and balanced, and truly safe on a daily/ongoing basis. 
 

4. Finally, there has been no discussion or disclosure on any possible alternatives to 
provide emergency access to other homes that we are aware of.  We don’t know what 
the alternatives are here, or if they even exist.  What we DO know is that a lot of large 
heavy equipment already transits through our narrow street daily, and that they have 
done so for decades, largely to the benefit of those on Foster and other streets.  We 
want to understand, explore, and assess any other alternatives for emergency access 
that might be available to address this concern. 

 
 
To conclude, there is no debate that we want Alpine to remain safe, and there is also no debate 
from any of us on the need for appropriate access for public safety vehicles to all town 
residents.  We believe if the present regulations are actually adhered to and enforced, the 
solution we have already created together will work to balance all interests, and we would 
prefer the Town take this path first.  If the Town genuinely feels there is a need to make a 
change here, we want the opportunity to formally exercise our rights to engage in that 
conversation and jointly participate in whatever solution is really the best one available.   
 
My wife and I will be at the meeting (as will several of our neighbors who have agreed to be 
included in this letter, noted below).  Please do take this letter under advisement, and please 
ensure the Council members see it before our item comes up for discussion on Tuesday.  
 
 
Jeff and Julie Gallinat    John Thomsen  
Tom and Ann Atkinson    Phil and Melanie Branon   
Steve and Linda Rice    Lou and Cheryl Ryan  
Ernie and Nancy Boitano (   Dirk Franklin and Gwen Dawkins  

Page 331



From:
To:
Subject:
Date:
Attachments:

Lisa Roberts
mjensen@losgatosc.gov; BSpector; Rob Rennie; Marico Sayoc; Arn Andrews 
Agenda Item 17, August 4, 2020 Town Council Meeting: Alpine Avenue 
Monday, August 3, 2020 9:31:52 AM
Letter Town Council re Parking Proposal 8 3 2020.pdf

Dear Mayor Jensen, Vice Mayor Spector, Council Member Rob Rennie, Council Member Marico
Sayoc, and Assistant Town Manager Arn Andrews:

Attached is a letter from my husband Peter Rehon and me regarding the above-referenced agenda
item. We would appreciate your careful consideration of this letter, along with other letters and
emails sent in this matter by other Alpine Avenue residents.

Thank you very much,

Lisa Roberts

_________________________
Lisa C. Roberts

Page 332




























Page 333



Page 334



Page 335



Page 336



Page 337



Page 338



From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

Bruce D Mitchell
Arn Andrews
Re: Alpine Avenue Emergency Response Street Modifications 
Saturday, August 1, 2020 1:31:43 PM

Mr. Andrews:

A few questions for Town staff, and as appropriate, elected/appointed personnel:

-There must be alternatives to the changes proposed by the Santa Clara County Fire Chief.
What are the alternatives?

-Alpine Avenue residents were notified by email and by a flyer on July 31st, just four business
days before the Town Council meeting on which this item is on the Town Council agenda.
The Town received the  the Fire Chief’s report on or about June 25.  This is over a month
before the Alpine Avenue residents were notified of the Fire Chief’s report or that the Fire
Chief’s report is on the Council’s
August 4th meeting agenda.

Why such an unnecessarily short notice to the residents of Alpine Avenue, the people most 
impacted by the contents of the report?

-The Santa Clara County Fire Chief’s report is on the agenda as “approve” at the August 4th
Town Council meeting.  Why “approve” when “review” or “consider” would be a more
appropriate for a public hearing.

Connie and I, and the majority of our Alpine Avenue neighbors have many concerns including 
but not limited to:

-Increased speed. on Alpine Avenue.  The closing of parking on the south side of Alpine
Avenue will effectively add a lane which will increase the already excessive speed that many
(Foster Road) drivers travel on Alpine Avenue.  As evidenced by the speed bumps, installed at
the request of Alpine Avenue residents, excessive speed is a problem.

-To better maintain safe speeds on Alpine Avenue the posted speed limit should be 20 miles
per hour (similar to College Avenue) with routine enforcement of the posted speed limit.

-Parking on Alpine Avenue will be reduced by 50%.  This will negatively impact Alpine
residents ability to entertain, have house guests, and similar activities.

-The inevitable “U” turns.

Please feel free to contact Bruce at .

Bruce and Connie Mitchell

Page 339



From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

JANE BROGNA
Arn Andrews
Support of one-side street parking 
Thursday, July 30, 2020 6:34:23 PM

We are fully in support of one-side street parking on Alpine Ave. We own the property at both
 and . 

Jane and Sal Brogna 

Sent from Xfinity Connect App

Page 340



 

PREPARED BY: Arn Andrews 
 Assistant Town manager 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Director of Parks and Public Works 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 08/04/2020 

ITEM NO: 17  

DESK ITEM 

 

 

   

 

DATE:   August 4, 2020 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Approve the Santa Clara County Fire District Emergency Route 
Recommendation for Alpine Avenue and Remove Parking on One Side of the 
Street 

 

REMARKS:  

Attachment 4 contains public comments received after 11:01 a.m. Monday, August 3, 2020, and 
11:00 a.m. Tuesday, August 4, 2020. 
 
In addition, this Desk Item corrects the Addendum of August 3, 2020, which incorrectly 
identified the date as July 20, 2020 and Attachment 3 as Attachment 4. 
 
Attachments previously received with the Staff Report: 

1. June 2, 2020 Council Meeting Verbal Communication 
2. June 25, 2020 Memorandum and Recommendation from Fire Chief Bowden 

 
Attachment distributed with this Addendum: 

3. Public Comments received 11:01 a.m. Thursday, July 30, 2020 and 11:00 a.m. Monday, 
August 3, 2020. 

 
Attachment distributed with this Desk Item: 

4. Public comments received after 11:01 a.m. Monday, August 3, 2020, and 11:00 a.m. 
Tuesday, August 4, 2020 

 
 

Page 341



From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

Tim Dombrowski
Arn Andrews
Alpine Ave Street Modifications 
Monday, August 3, 2020 9:04:15 PM

Arn:
I know you've received extensive correspondence from my neighbors here on Alpine Ave and
I'm writing to communicate my full endorsement of the position and opinions they have
offered. 
In neighborhood solidarity,
Tim & Irene Dombrowski

Page 342



From: Brent Knudsen
To: Arn Andrews
Cc: Jeff Gallinat; Lisa Roberts; KATHRYN KNUDSEN
Subject: Alpine Avenue
Date: Monday, August 3, 2020 10:28:26 PM
Attachments: image001.png

Arn.
 
Our family lives at   in Los Gatos where we have lived for 25 years. We love our
neighborhood and our neighbors. My wife and I each also have business offices in the Town of Los
Gatos with one of our daughters and her family living in Los Gatos as well. We plan to attend the
town meeting tomorrow evening and support the letters you have received from many of our
neighbors, specifically those sent by Jeff Gallinat, which was signed by many of our neighbors, and
Lisa Roberts. In short, this is an important issue for Alpine Avenue and Los Gatos which requires
additional careful consideration.
 
With our best regards.
Brent Knudsen
 
-- 
Brent R. Knudsen, 

 

 

  
 
 

Page 343




null

From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

Krista Gieselman
Arn Andrews
Alpine Ave, Los Gatos CA
Tuesday, August 4, 2020 9:50:02 AM

TO:
Arn Andrews ● Assistant Town Manager
110 East Main Street, Los Gatos CA 95030
Ph: 408.354.6836 ● aandrews@losgatosca.gov
www.losgatosca.gov ● https://www.facebook.com/losgatosca

FROM:
Gieselman

Dear Mayor Jensen, Vice Mayor Spector, Council Member Rob Rennie, Council Member Marico
Sayoc, and Assistant Town Manager Arn Andrews; 

I concur with the dated letter (August 3, 2020) from the residents of Alpine Ave, Los Gatos CA to
“request that the matter be continued for at least 30 days to obtain necessary input”. 

Sincerely,
Krista Gieselman

Page 344



From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

jean ann moton
Arn Andrews
Alpine Avenue
Tuesday, August 4, 2020 10:15:45 AM

Hello I am Jean Morton.  I live at  and wish add my concern about restricting parking on one side of the
street.

One.  I would make it more difficult to back out of my driveway with cars on either side.

Two. In order to park would require all drivers coming up from Main Street to turn around - either at the head of
Alpine or more likely in neighbor driveways.

Three.  The traffic will increase on the Foster road extension to Johnson in order to be on the right side of the street
to park.  As you know that extension is basically a one lane country lane.  More traffic would cause liability to
nothing to say about safety.

I ask the council to delay this motion until more study can be made and more discussion with the town and fire
marshal

Yours.  Jean Morton

Page 345



From:
To:
Cc:
Subject:
Date:

Phil Branon
Arn Andrews

RE: Emergency Response Street Modifications 
Monday, August 3, 2020 8:59:15 PM

Arn,

My wife and I live at   and support the numerous letters that have been sent to you to
have the council grant a continuance on the agenda item on parking on Alpine Ave.

We respectfully ask that proper notice be granted for all parties to review the issue and to
determine the best solution moving forward.

Phil Branon

From: Arn Andrews <aandrews@losgatosca.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, July 30, 2020 8:53 AM
To: Arn Andrews <aandrews@losgatosca.gov>
Subject: Emergency Response Street Modifications

Good Morning Alpine Avenue Residents,

You are receiving this email to inform you of proposed emergency response modifications for your
street.  On June 22, 2020, the Santa Clara County Fire Department staff performed an inspection of
the width of Alpine Avenue as it relates to ingress/egress of emergency vehicles and residents in the
event of an emergency and/or evacuation.  On June 25, 2020, the Town received a recommendation
from the Santa Clara County Fire Chief to limit street parking to one side (northerly side) of Alpine
Avenue year-round.  The recommendation is intended to ensure the safe and expeditious passage of
emergency responders and residents in the event of emergency and/or evacuation.  The
recommendation is scheduled to be considered at the August 4th, 2020, Town Council meeting.  If
you are not able to attend the meeting and have questions, concerns, or comments, please contact
Arn Andrews, Assistant Town Manager, at 408-354-6836, or email aandrews@losgatosca.gov.

Thank you

Arn Andrews ● Assistant Town Manager
110 East Main Street, Los Gatos CA 95030
Ph: 408.354.6836 ● aandrews@losgatosca.gov

Page 346



From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

JANE BROGNA
Arn Andrews
Re: Emergency Response Street Modifications 
Tuesday, August 4, 2020 9:03:51 AM

While we understand the need to provide a safe passage for emergency vehicles up Alpine
Ave as a neighborhood we feel there are other unintended consequences that should be
considered as a plan is proposed to allow emergency vehicles to pass freely up Alpine. 

As a group we felt that giving us more time to discuss options with the fire marshall and town
would be appropriate. 

Thank you for taking our concerns into consideration before a final decision is made. 

Jane and Sal Brogna
 

Sent from Xfinity Connect App

------ Original Message ------

From: Arn Andrews
To: Arn Andrews
Sent: July 30, 2020 at 8:53 AM
Subject: Emergency Response Street Modifications

Good Morning Alpine Avenue Residents,

You are receiving this email to inform you of proposed emergency response modifications for your
street.  On June 22, 2020, the Santa Clara County Fire Department staff performed an inspection of
the width of Alpine Avenue as it relates to ingress/egress of emergency vehicles and residents in the
event of an emergency and/or evacuation.  On June 25, 2020, the Town received a recommendation
from the Santa Clara County Fire Chief to limit street parking to one side (northerly side) of Alpine
Avenue year-round.  The recommendation is intended to ensure the safe and expeditious passage of
emergency responders and residents in the event of emergency and/or evacuation.  The
recommendation is scheduled to be considered at the August 4th, 2020, Town Council meeting.  If
you are not able to attend the meeting and have questions, concerns, or comments, please contact
Arn Andrews, Assistant Town Manager, at 408-354-6836, or email aandrews@losgatosca.gov.

Thank you

Arn Andrews $B!| (B Assistant Town Manager
110 East Main Street, Los Gatos CA 95030
Ph: 408.354.6836 $B!| (B aandrews@losgatosca.gov
www.losgatosca.gov $B!| (B https://www.facebook.com/losgatosca

Page 347



Civic Center Hillside Neighborhood Authorization for Oral Comments 
Town Council Meeting – August 4, 2020 

Agenda Item 17: Approve the Santa Clara County Fire District Emergency Route Recommendation for 
Alpine Avenue and Remove Parking on One Side of the Street. 

 

The Leadership Team, Jon Witty, Mike Shields and Rob Stump, from the Civic Center Hillside 
Neighborhood have been authorized to offer oral comments on Agenda Item 17 on behalf of the 
residents listed below. 

 

# Last Name First Name Address
Bakke Karl  Foster Road

Bakke Shelley  Foster Road

Bartlett Steve  Foster Road

Bartlett Mary  Foster Road

Boyle Amber  Foster Road

Boyle Dan  Foster Road

Brady John  Foster Road

Brady Judy  Foster Road

Guyart Christelle  Foster Road

Callaud Christophe  Foster Road

6 Coker Scott  Foster Road

Cotton Bill  Foster Road

Cotton Kathy  Foster Road

DiNapoli Phil  Foster Road

DiNapoli Jennifer  Foster Road

Fitzhenry Jack Dishman Drive

Fitzhenry Pam Dishman Drive

Freeburger Patrick Foster Road

Sweet Sue Foster Road

Garneau Tara Foster Road

Darveau-Garneau Nicolas Foster Road

Hansen Eric Foster Road

Hansen Alice Foster Road

13 Hsing Michael Foster Road

Jatou Ross Foster Road

Nessan Susan Foster Road

15 Long Richard Foster Road

16 Mitchell Sandra Foster Road

Morton Dave Foster Road

Morton Claudia Foster Road

Pastrone Paul Dishman Drive

Pastrone Lauri Dishman Drive

19 Reynolds Brendan Foster Road

Shields Mike Foster Road

Shields Karen Foster Road

Stump Robert Foster Road

Stump Nancy Foster Road

Ackerson Peter Foster Road

Ackerson Alana Foster Road

Sund Steve Foster Road

Sund Cynthia Foster Road

Weinstein Jeff Tourney Road

Weinstein Susan Tourney Road

Wendt Melanie Foster Road

Wendt Tom Foster Road

Weiner Ronald Foster Road

Stanley Deborah Foster Road

Witty Jon Foster Road

Noel Amy Foster Road

28 Zeidler Brendon Tourney Loop

3

24

5

9

7

12

17

18

27

26

20

2

1

4

21

22

25

10

11

23

14

8

Page 348



Written Authorizations from Civic Center Hillside Neighbors 

Alpine Avenue – Town Council Meeting 

August 4, 2020 

1 
 

 

August 3, 2020 

1. Please feel free to speak on my behalf to convince whomsoever you need, in order to restrict 

parking on Alpine Avenue so that vital emergency services can reach residents and property 

on Foster Rd 24/7/365! 

 

Thank you, Tom Thorpe. 

 

 

2. Hello Rob and team, 

  

On this particular issue, I am in full support and you can certainly speak on our behalf. 

  

Thanks, Ross Jatou and Susan Nessan 

 

 

3. Please accept this email as authorization to speak on my behalf. 

 

Keep up the good work. 

 

Brendan Reynolds 

 

 

4. Thanks for attending to this critical fire safety issue. Please be assured that Kathy and I fully 

support your efforts to increase our safe egress during a wildfire and open up clear access to 

our hillside neighborhood for fire crews and equipment. Parking only on the north side of 

Alpine Avenue will provide an increased level of safety and thus dramatically lower the level 

of wildlife risk to our hillside.  

 

Thanks again for your efforts on our behalf.  

      Bill & Kathy Cotton 

           

 

5. Yes, we are grateful if you speak on our behalf at the meeting!! 

 

Jack and Pam Fitzhenry 

 

 

6. Yes, we support the effort. Same with Johnson Avenue but at least it has 2 ways in for access 

I suppose.  

 

Steven and Cynthia Sund 

 

 

7. Hi! Please feel free to reference the Morton’s. Thanks & best of luck!  

 

Dave and Claudia Morton 

Page 349



Written Authorizations from Civic Center Hillside Neighbors 

Alpine Avenue – Town Council Meeting 

August 4, 2020 

2 
 

 

8. You have my authorization to speak on my behalf on this matter on Alpine Avenue 

 

Scott Coker 

 

 

9. Jennifer and I give you authority to speak our behalf at the town meeting August 4, 2020. 

 

Phil and Jennifer DiNapoli 

 

 

10. You have our permission to represent us.  

 

Thanks – Peter and Alana Ackerson 

 

 

11. Nick and I strongly support you speaking on our behalf on this important safety issue. Thank 

you for your continued work and leadership. We are very grateful.  

 

Kind regards, 

Tara Garneau and Nick Darveau 

 

 

12. This email serves to authorize Rob Stump to speak on my behalf at the Civic Center Hillside 

Neighborhood meeting on August 4. 

 

Thank you – Brendon Zeidler 

 

 

13. You Have my permission to speak on our behalf in favor of this recommendation. Parking on 

both sides of the street creates an unusually dangerous hazard given the number of houses 

that exist beyond Alpine and Foster. 

 

Thank you for doing this…Ron Weiner and Deborah Stanley 

 

 

14. Pertaining to your email below, we support representatives of the Civic Center Hillside 

Neighbors presentation to LG Town Council on August 4. 

 

John and Judy Brady 

 

 

August 2, 2020            

15. Thanks for taking leadership on the Alpine issue. All 3 of us here support making one side of 

Alpine no-parking, and we authorize you to speak on our behalf at the town council meeting. 

 

Jeff and Sue Weinstein 

Page 350



Written Authorizations from Civic Center Hillside Neighbors 

Alpine Avenue – Town Council Meeting 

August 4, 2020 

3 
 

 

16. We are grateful that you are taking the time to represent our neighborhood and our concerns 

about vehicle movement to and from the Civic Center Hillside area should there be an 

emergency. On many occasions we have driven down Foster to Alpine Avenue and felt 

horror at the difficulty we often experience in getting down the street due to so many (often 

large, construction-related) vehicles parked on both sides of the road. 

  

Please know that you have our full authorization to speak on our behalf and that we are in 

synch with your concerns as you address the Town of Los Gatos. We feel that the only way 

for us to be able to safely exit the neighborhood – and to have safety vehicles such as fire 

trucks and ambulances reach us – is to allow parking on only one side of Alpine Avenue. 

  

Thank you for your representation – Laurie and Paul Pastrone 

 

 

17. To: Los Gatos Town Council and/or any other government agency 

 

Rob Stump has unlimited authority to speak for us on fire or any other safety issues. This has 

no time limit. 

 

Eric A. Hansen MD 

Alice H Hansen 

 

 

18. Thanks for your help on improving the situation on Alpine Avenue. We agree 100% with 

your assessment that allowing parking on two sides is a significant danger to Foster Road. 

Please feel free to convey to the Town Council that we agree with you. 

 

Best, 

Sue Sweet & Patrick Freeburger 

 

 

19. We fully support your initiative.  Feel free to talk on our behalf 

 

Thanks for all you are doing for our community 

 

Christelle & Christophe Callaud-Guyart  

 

 

20. Thanks much for continuing to fight for this important topic. You have our full authority to 

speak on our behalf.   

 

Let us know if there is anything else, we can do.  

 

Tom & Melanie Wendt 

 

 

Page 351



Written Authorizations from Civic Center Hillside Neighbors 

Alpine Avenue – Town Council Meeting 

August 4, 2020 

4 
 

 

21. I authorize the CCHN Leadership Team to speak on my behalf on being in favor of requiring 

Alpine parking to be one sided only.  

 

Not only in case of emergency but almost every day I take my kids to school is it a total 

mess.  

 

Dan and Amber Boyle  

 

 

22. You have permission to speak on our behalf.  

 

Thank you, 

Shelley and Karl Bakke 

 

 

August 4, 2020 

 

23. To Town of Los Gatos Council, 

 

Please let it be known, the Civic Center Hillside Neighborhood, (Rob Stump, Jon Witty, and 

Mike Shields) are representing me, (Richard Long) concerning street parking on Alpine 

Avenue. I have lived at 17810 Foster Road for 28 years, and have personally experienced 

“blocked” traffic many, many times. I can’t imagine how a fire truck could respond to a fire 

up the hillside. 

 

Regards, 

Richard Long 

 

 

24. Sandra Mitchell provided authorization by phone on August 4, 9:00 AM.  She does not use 

email. 

 

 

25. Hi Rob, you have my support and you can speak for me. Thank you for doing this. Very 

much appreciated  

 

Michael Hsing. 

 

Page 352



From:
To:
Cc:
Subject:
Date:
Attachments:

Tessa Keating
Arn Andrews
Jeff Gallinat;  
Alpine Avenue Parking
Monday, August 3, 2020 10:18:51 PM 
Alpine Parking Note - Aug 2 - v3.docx

Dear Mr Andrews
This email is to express our support for the letter submitted to the Los Gatos Town Council by
our neighbor Jeff Gallinat, (attached.)  We support his request for a delay in the process that
has been proposed in order to more fully understand the issue and the solutions.  

We respectfully request that the residents of our street are given adequate time to work with
the Town and the Los Gatos Fire Department to come to a workable solution that does not
create unintended consequences for our community. 

We will be attending the Town Council meeting tomorrow night and have asked Mr Gallinat
to represent our views. 

Kind regards 

Tessa Keating and Stephen Rothrock 

 
 

--

Tessa Keating

Page 353


August 2, 2020






To:  Arn Andrews and the Los Gatos Town Council

Re:  Alpine Ave Parking Changes to be discussed in August 4, 2020 Town Council Meeting





We are respectfully submitting this input ahead of the council discussion on this issue.



Our request is for a 30-day delay/continuance of the implementation of the proposed changes to allow representatives of the Town, the Santa Clara County Fire Department, and the Alpine Avenue Community to fully communicate and work together to build a solution that best addresses the needs of both Los Gatos and our Alpine Avenue residents.  



As you may remember, we’ve had a number of previous discussions over the past couple of years (and subsequent positive changes) to address the unique challenges of our street, and would like to repeat that proven process on this issue as well.  We want the right solution for the ‘common good’ here – both us and the residents of Los Gatos.  There are several reasons for our request:



1. Unfortunately, we didn’t get an acceptable amount of time to understand and create an informed (and possibly collective) response to this notification.  We are an engaged set of neighbors, and many of us are surprised (and some frustrated) with the short notice here, given similar issues we’ve had in the past, and our desire to really be involved in any solution.  Specifically, we’ve had less than 5 days since any formal notification, even the Town had the fire department recommendation for more than 5 weeks.  We do understand there may be urgency to this request, but given our inability to completely discuss the recommendation, jointly assess its impact, and understand other possible solutions, we want a reasonable amount of time to properly engage here with the relevant parties.  



2. Our fellow citizens who recently raised this issue with the town (who are not residents of our street) undoubtedly could have seen congestion on Alpine.  We all have, from time to time.  Recently, thought, this has been largely due to a series of construction projects by our fellow residents, some of which were major and were done in areas with limited parking and access to the properties involved.  Most Alpine residents let this temporary inconvenience pass, in support of our neighbors.  However, if there actually was a concern within the Town about larger issues, the Town certainly had the ability and the obligation to address this within the current policy.  So, this is an exceptional and temporary situation, and one we agree needs to be addressed going forward, probably by both the town and our residents, but through planning, permitting, and enforcement.  If we actually abide by the current policies here, we believe the present parking solution will work, and represents a limited risk to the community as a whole.

3. Although we all understand and appreciate the Town’s responsibility to manage risk and ensure public safety, the proposed solution could present other potential risks that need to be considered and fully assessed in a new traffic assessment.  Today’s parking practices using both sides of the street in a “light and controlled” manner (when we are not in the “exceptional mode” we’ve been in recently).  The present restrictions actually give the residents the permitted parking they need, limit overall congestion, balance the ‘load’ of each side of the street, also serve as an additional deterrent to speeding (which is the KEY issue, highlighted in the previous HS parking situation).  We believe the proposed single-side parking solution would create a ‘clear lane’ for emergency traffic, but would also burden half of the residents and restrict their traffic views, and would also contribute to further speeding, which are also risks to our community and the public (and might be far more frequent ones).   Alpine is unique in construction, and is often used by many town residents for many different purposes (walking, biking, etc.), and that needs to be considered as well.  We believe additional study and discussion on this is proposal is warranted to understand and balance these risks.  We need to find a solution that is truly holistic and balanced, and truly safe on a daily/ongoing basis.



4. Finally, there has been no discussion or disclosure on any possible alternatives to provide emergency access to other homes that we are aware of.  We don’t know what the alternatives are here, or if they even exist.  What we DO know is that a lot of large heavy equipment already transits through our narrow street daily, and that they have done so for decades, largely to the benefit of those on Foster and other streets.  We want to understand, explore, and assess any other alternatives for emergency access that might be available to address this concern.





To conclude, there is no debate that we want Alpine to remain safe, and there is also no debate from any of us on the need for appropriate access for public safety vehicles to all town residents.  We believe if the present regulations are actually adhered to and enforced, the solution we have already created together will work to balance all interests, and we would prefer the Town take this path first.  If the Town genuinely feels there is a need to make a change here, we want the opportunity to formally exercise our rights to engage in that conversation and jointly participate in whatever solution is really the best one available.  



My wife and I will be at the meeting (as will several of our neighbors who have agreed to be included in this letter, noted below).  Please do take this letter under advisement, and please ensure the Council members see it before our item comes up for discussion on Tuesday. 





Jeff and Julie Gallinat	(126 Alpine)			John Thomsen (134 Alpine)

Tom and Ann Atkinson (75 Alpine)			Phil and Melanie Branon (121 Alpine)	

Steve and Linda Rice (58 Alpine)			Lou and Cheryl Ryan (89 Alpine)

Ernie and Nancy Boitano (127 Alpine)		Dirk Franklin and Gwen Dawkins (79 Alpine)



August 2, 2020 
 
 
 
To:  Arn Andrews and the Los Gatos Town Council 
Re:  Alpine Ave Parking Changes to be discussed in August 4, 2020 Town Council Meeting 
 
 
We are respectfully submitting this input ahead of the council discussion on this issue. 
 
Our request is for a 30-day delay/continuance of the implementation of the proposed changes 
to allow representatives of the Town, the Santa Clara County Fire Department, and the Alpine 
Avenue Community to fully communicate and work together to build a solution that best 
addresses the needs of both Los Gatos and our Alpine Avenue residents.   
 
As you may remember, we’ve had a number of previous discussions over the past couple of 
years (and subsequent positive changes) to address the unique challenges of our street, and 
would like to repeat that proven process on this issue as well.  We want the right solution for 
the ‘common good’ here – both us and the residents of Los Gatos.  There are several reasons 
for our request: 
 

1. Unfortunately, we didn’t get an acceptable amount of time to understand and create an 
informed (and possibly collective) response to this notification.  We are an engaged set 
of neighbors, and many of us are surprised (and some frustrated) with the short notice 
here, given similar issues we’ve had in the past, and our desire to really be involved in 
any solution.  Specifically, we’ve had less than 5 days since any formal notification, even 
the Town had the fire department recommendation for more than 5 weeks.  We do 
understand there may be urgency to this request, but given our inability to completely 
discuss the recommendation, jointly assess its impact, and understand other possible 
solutions, we want a reasonable amount of time to properly engage here with the 
relevant parties.   
 

2. Our fellow citizens who recently raised this issue with the town (who are not residents 
of our street) undoubtedly could have seen congestion on Alpine.  We all have, from 
time to time.  Recently, thought, this has been largely due to a series of construction 
projects by our fellow residents, some of which were major and were done in areas with 
limited parking and access to the properties involved.  Most Alpine residents let this 
temporary inconvenience pass, in support of our neighbors.  However, if there actually 
was a concern within the Town about larger issues, the Town certainly had the ability 
and the obligation to address this within the current policy.  So, this is an exceptional 
and temporary situation, and one we agree needs to be addressed going forward, 
probably by both the town and our residents, but through planning, permitting, and 
enforcement.  If we actually abide by the current policies here, we believe the present 
parking solution will work, and represents a limited risk to the community as a whole. 

Page 354



3. Although we all understand and appreciate the Town’s responsibility to manage risk and 
ensure public safety, the proposed solution could present other potential risks that need 
to be considered and fully assessed in a new traffic assessment.  Today’s parking 
practices using both sides of the street in a “light and controlled” manner (when we are 
not in the “exceptional mode” we’ve been in recently).  The present restrictions actually 
give the residents the permitted parking they need, limit overall congestion, balance the 
‘load’ of each side of the street, also serve as an additional deterrent to speeding (which 
is the KEY issue, highlighted in the previous HS parking situation).  We believe the 
proposed single-side parking solution would create a ‘clear lane’ for emergency traffic, 
but would also burden half of the residents and restrict their traffic views, and would 
also contribute to further speeding, which are also risks to our community and the 
public (and might be far more frequent ones).   Alpine is unique in construction, and is 
often used by many town residents for many different purposes (walking, biking, etc.), 
and that needs to be considered as well.  We believe additional study and discussion on 
this is proposal is warranted to understand and balance these risks.  We need to find a 
solution that is truly holistic and balanced, and truly safe on a daily/ongoing basis. 
 

4. Finally, there has been no discussion or disclosure on any possible alternatives to 
provide emergency access to other homes that we are aware of.  We don’t know what 
the alternatives are here, or if they even exist.  What we DO know is that a lot of large 
heavy equipment already transits through our narrow street daily, and that they have 
done so for decades, largely to the benefit of those on Foster and other streets.  We 
want to understand, explore, and assess any other alternatives for emergency access 
that might be available to address this concern. 

 
 
To conclude, there is no debate that we want Alpine to remain safe, and there is also no debate 
from any of us on the need for appropriate access for public safety vehicles to all town 
residents.  We believe if the present regulations are actually adhered to and enforced, the 
solution we have already created together will work to balance all interests, and we would 
prefer the Town take this path first.  If the Town genuinely feels there is a need to make a 
change here, we want the opportunity to formally exercise our rights to engage in that 
conversation and jointly participate in whatever solution is really the best one available.   
 
My wife and I will be at the meeting (as will several of our neighbors who have agreed to be 
included in this letter, noted below).  Please do take this letter under advisement, and please 
ensure the Council members see it before our item comes up for discussion on Tuesday.  
 
 
Jeff and Julie Gallinat    John Thomsen  
Tom and Ann Atkinson    Phil and Melanie Branon   
Steve and Linda Rice    Lou and Cheryl Ryan  
Ernie and Nancy Boitano (   Dirk Franklin and Gwen Dawkins  

Page 355


	Top
	1.	Draft Minutes of the June 16, 2020 Closed Session Town Council Meeting
	Staff Report.Draft Closed Session Minutes

	2.	Draft Minutes of the June 16, 2020 Town Council Meeting
	Staff Report.Draft Minutes

	3.	Ratify Youth Commission Appointments
	Staff Report.Youth Commission Appointments
	Attachment 1 - Recommended Youth Commissioner Appointments
	Attachment 2 - Youth Commission Enabling Resolution 2018-008

	4.	Approve Voting Delegate for League of CA Cities Annual Conference
	Staff Report.Appoint League Delegates

	5.	Accept Report on Town Manager Approved Actions During Council July Recess
	Staff Report.TM Recess Authority
	Attachment 1 - Resolution 2019-033.TM Authority.rev.June.2019)
	Attachment 2 - TMAuthority.Memo.IT.SoftwareONE

	6.	Authorize the Town Manager to Execute Long Term Lease Agreements with Tait Firehouse LLC and Forbes Mill LLC for the Property Located at 4 Tait Avenue and 75 Church Ave, Los Gatos
	Staff Report.Tait.ForbesMill.LeaseAgreements
	Agr.finaldraft.LAG Imwalle Master Lease Los Gatos .Tait.200728.Final
	Agr.finaldraft.LAG Imwalle Master Lease Los Gatos .forbes. .200723.final

	7.	GANN Limit
	Staff Report.GANN
	Attachment 1 - Resolution establishing the GANN Appropriation Limit for FY 2020-21

	8.	Adopt Amendment to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) Regarding Vehicle Sales
	Staff Report.Vehicle Sales.Adopt
	Attachment 1 - Draft Ordinance

	9.	Amendment to BSI Agreement
	Staff Report.Amendment to BSI Agreement
	Attachment 1-Second Amendment
	Attachment 2-First Amendment
	Attachment 3-Agreement for Consultant Services

	10.	One-Way Downtown Pilot Program Project Acceptance
	Staff Report.One Way Downtown
	Attachment 1-Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of Completion

	11.	Annual Curb, Gutter and Sidewalk Maintenance Project Acceptance
	Staff Report.Annual Curb, Gutter, and Sidewalk Maintenance Project
	Attachment 1 - Certificate of Acceptance and Notice of Completion

	12.	Traffic Signal and Streetlight Maintenance Contract
	StaffReport.Signals and Streetlights Maintenance
	Attachment 1 - Fourth Amendment to Agreement for Services
	Attachment 2 - Agreement including Amendments

	13.	Crosswalk Improvements on State Route 9 at Massol Avenue
	Staff Report.Massol Intersection Improvements
	Attachment 1 - Construction Agreement including Exhibit A

	14.	Weed Abatement Program
	Staff Report.Weed Abatement
	Attachment 1 - 2020 Weed Abatement Assessment Report
	Attachment 2 - Resolution 2020-XXX Confirming the Report and Authorizing Collection of the Assessment Charges
	Attachment 3 - Resolution 2019-060 Declaring Hazardous Vegetation (Weeds) a Public Nuisance and Providing for their Abatement
	Desk Item.Weed Abatement
	Attachment 4 - Public Comment

	15.	Drones and Unmanned Aircraft Systems
	Staff Report.Drones Ordinance
	Attachment 1 - Draft Ordinance

	16.	North 40 TDM and Traffic Impact Fee Agreements
	N40 Agreement Staff Report
	Attachment 1 - Resolution
	Attachment 2 - North 40 In Lieu Traffic Fee Credit Agreement
	Attachment 3 - North 40 Transportation Demand Management Agreement - Bellaterra
	Attachment 4 - North 40 Transportation Demand Management Agreement - Market Hall

	17.	Santa Clara County Fire District Emergency Route Recommendation
	Staff Report.SCCFD Emergency Route Recommendation
	Attachment 1 - Verbal Communications Resident Submission
	Attachment 2 - SCCFD Recommendation Memorandum
	Attachment 3 - Public Comment
	Staff Report.Desk Item
	Alpine.DeskItem

	Bottom

